Contributions from Science Education Research 6

Eilish McLoughlin Odilla E. Finlayson Sibel Erduran Peter E. Childs *Editors*

Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education

Selected Papers from the ESERA 2017 Conference



Contributions from Science Education Research

Volume 6

Series Editor

Robin Millar, University of York, York, UK

Editorial Board

Costas P. Constantinou, University of Cyprus, Nicosia, Cyprus Justin Dillon, University of Exeter, UK Doris Jorde, University of Oslo, Norway Dimitris Psillos, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece Iva Stuchlikova, University of South Bohemia, Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic Andrée Tiberghien, University of Lyon II, France Veli-Matti Vesterinen, University of Turku, Finland Manuela Welzel-Breuer, University of Education Heidelberg, Germany Albert Zeyer, Bern University of Applied Sciences, Switzerland Contributions from Science Education Research is the international, multidisciplinary book series of the European Science Education Research Association (ESERA). The aim of the series is to synthesize, for the benefit of the scholarly community, the findings of high quality, theoretically-framed research in the domain of science education as well as comprehensive explorations of specific methodological strands in science education research. The series aims to publish books that are innovative in attempting to forge new ways of representing emergent knowledge in the field. The series includes edited collections of chapters, monographs and handbooks that are evaluated on the basis of originality, scientific rigor and significance for science education research. The book series is intended to focus mainly on work carried out in Europe. However, contributions from researchers affiliated with non-European institutions and non-members of the European Science Education Research Association are welcomed. The series is designed to appeal to a wide audience of researchers and post-graduate students in science education. Book proposals for this series may be submitted to the Publishing Editor: Claudia Acuna E-mail: Claudia. Acuna@springer.com

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/11180

Eilish McLoughlin • Odilla E. Finlayson Sibel Erduran • Peter E. Childs Editors

Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education

Selected Papers from the ESERA 2017 Conference



Editors Eilish McLoughlin CASTeL, School of Physical Sciences Dublin City University Dublin, Ireland

Sibel Erduran Department of Education University of Oxford Oxford, UK Odilla E. Finlayson CASTeL, School of Chemical Sciences Dublin City University Dublin, Ireland

Peter E. Childs EPI-STEM, University of Limerick Limerick, Ireland

 ISSN 2213-3623
 ISSN 2213-3631
 (electronic)

 Contributions from Science Education Research
 ISBN 978-3-030-17218-3
 ISBN 978-3-030-17219-0
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG. The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Introduction

This edited volume is composed of selected papers that were presented at the 12th European Science Education Research Association (ESERA) Conference, held in Dublin, Ireland from 21 to 25 August 2017. The ESERA community consists of professionals with diverse disciplinary backgrounds, ranging from natural sciences to social sciences. Such diversity provides a broad range of research, practice and policy of science teaching and learning as reflected in this volume.

ESERA is an international organization for science education researchers and science educators, and it aims to (i) enhance the range and quality of research and research training in science education; (ii) provide a forum for collaboration in science education research; (iii) represent the professional interests of science education researchers in Europe; (iv) seek to relate research to the policy and practice of science education in Europe; and (v) foster links between science education researchers in Europe and elsewhere in the world (www.esera.org). The biennial ESERA conference is the main forum for direct scientific discourse within the community, for exchange of insightful practices, and for extending networks among the researchers and educators.

The contributions in this volume showcase current orientations of research in science education. Overall, this book will be of interest to an international audience of science teachers, teacher educators and science education researchers who have a commitment to evidence-based and innovative science teaching and learning.

Reflecting on the ESERA 2017 Conference

The ESERA 2017 Conference theme was Research, Practice and Collaboration in Science Education, and underlying aspects that are of great relevance in contemporary science education research. The conference theme called on researchers to reflect on different approaches to enhancing our knowledge of learning processes and the role of context, designed or circumstantial in learning and instruction - across formal, informal and non-formal contexts.

The organization of the ESERA 2017 conference was jointly undertaken by Dublin City University and the University of Limerick through their STEM education research centers of CASTeL and EPI-STEM. In total, 1519 single and multipaper proposals were submitted to the conference in early 2017. Of the 986 proposals submitted for single oral presentations, 663 were presented as such at the conference. A total of 260 proposals were presented as interactive posters and this included contributions from 62 young researchers who had attended the ESERA summer schools - 39 of the participants of the ESERA 2016 Summer School and 23 of the participants of the ESERA 2017 Summer School. In total, 59 symposia (each with four papers) were presented at the conference, of which 16 were invited symposia. Each symposium was organized by a coordinator around a specific topic and each of the papers addressed the topic from different perspectives by authors from different countries. Twelve sessions were presented in the format of an ICT demonstration, hands-on workshop or as a World Café.

The conference week was thus highly scheduled with single oral presentations, symposia, interactive posters, ICT demonstrations and workshops divided into 18 different strands based on their topic (see www.esera2017.org). In addition, the conference also invited four plenary talks by prominent researchers, focusing on (i) Equity in Science Education: Science as a Tool Rather than a Destination; (ii) Science Education: A Balancing Act Between Research in University, Daily Instruction in Schools and Politics in Education Ministries; (iii) The Good Science Teaching Quest(ion): Constructions and Contestations; and (iv) Broadening our understanding of transformative science learning contexts: the role of design, collaboration, and digital technologies. After the conference, all presenters were invited to submit revised and extended papers on their conference presentation to the electronic proceedings of the ESERA 2017 Conference, which is available at https:// www.esera.org/publications/esera-conference-proceedings (Finlayson, O.E., McLoughlin, E., Erduran, S., & Childs, P.E. (Eds.) (2018). Electronic proceedings of the ESERA 2017 Conference: Research, Practice and Collaboration in Science Education. Dublin, Ireland: Dublin City University ISBN 978-1-873769-84-3).

The ESERA 2017 Conference was attended by 1522 science education researchers from 53 countries around the world and thus the conference was indeed a very international meeting. About two thirds of the participants came from 29 European countries, with the remainder of the participants coming from 24 different countries across North America, South America, Asia, Australia, Africa, and Middle East. While presenting one's own research and engaging with others in discussion was one of the most important aspects of the conference, having an opportunity to meet other science education researchers was just as valuable. The discussions at conference sessions provided opportunities for researchers and practitioners to exchange their experiences and approaches. The countless encounters with other researchers throughout the week enabled the participants to strengthen their existing networks, make new acquaintances and set seeds for future cooperation. For the first time in an ESERA conference, one of the workshop sessions was conducted in the form of a World Café discussion on how to combine content knowledge and pedagogical content knowledge learning during university teacher education. At thematic

discussion tables, the participants at this World Café were invited to present their ideas (e.g., using printed materials or short oral/poster presentations) and to codevelop ideas for how to improve the integration of different aspects of teachers' professional knowledge and competencies across the participating countries.

In addition to the formal conference program, the participants had an opportunity to attend pre-conference workshops and different receptions, and take part in other excursions around Dublin City and other Irish tourist destinations. The general atmosphere at the conference was one of collaboration and collegiality. The participants were delighted to be at ESERA in Ireland for the first time and received a "Céad Míle Fáilte"—a hundred thousand welcomes—from the local organizers. A local group of 54 individuals formed the support team for presenters throughout the conference week. This team consisted of academic faculty members, postdoctoral researchers, postgraduate and undergraduate students in science education from the two host universities of Dublin City University and the University of Limerick. ESERA 2017 participants got the opportunity to flavor the famous Irish "ceol agus craic" (music and fun) at the Traditional Irish Céilí night on the evening before the final conference day and it was wonderful to see hundreds of participants joining in Traditional Irish Dancing—an experience they will hopefully cherish for many years to come.

Highlights of the Chapters

This volume presents research identified at the ESERA 2017 conference as particularly interesting in the field of science education. The topics discussed will generate interest and spark debate within the community of science education researchers and science educators. We, the editors, are very grateful for all the work carried out by the international panel of strand chairs and reviewers who made it possible to include these selected papers in this compilation. Following the conference, the strand chairs recommended interesting conference contributions as possible papers for this book. We invited 44 recommended authors to submit full manuscripts. Based on at least two reviewer reports, we determined the 22 papers selected for this book. Thus, the papers underwent a rigorous scientific review process, guided by the editors, before being accepted into this volume in their final form.

This volume contains 22 papers as chapters that each take a specific perspective of an aspect of contemporary science education. The chapters are multifaceted and examine different science education phenomena. To help the reader, the chapters are discussed under four themes: Innovative Approaches to School Science, Emerging Identities in Science Education, Learning Progressions and Competences, and Enhancing Science Teacher Education.

In what follows, we will highlight the main aspects in each particular theme. This will provide the reader with an overview of the variety of different subjects, contexts, and research approaches.

Innovative Approaches to School Science

The volume begins with a collection of six contributions that discuss approaches for bridging research and practice to enhance science education in our schools and report on a range of innovative approaches carried out with students aged from 5 to 16 years old. In this context of enhancing science teaching and learning in our schools, **Peter Labudde**, one of the keynote speakers at ESERA 2017, highlights eight foci that are pertinent for science educators to consider. Each of these foci is presented and illustrated by paradigmatic examples from recent research projects in science education. Foci 1 to 4 consider how research in science education can be translated into everyday practice and policy, e.g., developing concepts for instruction and responding to the needs of schools. Foci 5 to 8 are concerned with how everyday practice and policy can influence research in science education, e.g., reframing recent scientific research as science content for schools, considering non-formal teaching-learning processes.

In their chapter, **Manuel Bächtold** and **Valérie Munier** present an example of a strategy for teaching the concept of energy at high school based on history and philosophy of science and building on the historical research of Joule and Rankine. This teaching-learning sequence was created through a researcher—teacher collaboration. Evidence of the effect of this history and philosophy of science approach on student understanding in this context is presented. This chapter highlights this approach could be an effective teaching strategy for other topics in science.

The next two chapters propose that embedding multiple external representations (MERs) in science education is key to developing students' understanding of science and scientific literacy. **Marie-Annette Geyer** and **Gesche Pospiech** discuss an explorative, qualitative laboratory study in which 17 pairs of students (aged about 14 years) worked on physical-mathematical tasks requiring different transformations of representations of functional dependencies. Qualitative content analysis was used to examine students' written work and discussions to elucidate possible strategies and thinking patterns of the students while they were transforming representations becomes a premise for learning and developing representational competence. Their study analyzes the use of different representations (diagram, schema) and the relationship between representational competences (information selection and interpretation, construction, translation, and transformation) in three different biological contexts (ecology, physiology, genetics).

The authors **Andreas Larsson**, **Matilda Stafstedt**, and **Konrad J. Schönborn** remind us that our everyday language is filled with all sorts of metaphoric relations (e.g., analogies, metaphors, and metonyms). Metaphoric relations—the idioms in which we talk about one phenomenon in terms of another—are linguistic units that are an important constituent in the way we reason about and understand the world around us. Their study investigated eight groups (3–4 pupils per group) of

fourth-grade pupils' use of metaphoric relations while using thermal cameras to explore "heat" at a science center. The pupils' use of the thermal cameras provided them access to thermodynamic phenomena through unique sensory and nonsensory experiences in an informal learning context. The authors raised the need for future research to explore how these metaphoric relations can be exploited as sense-making activities in the classroom.

Estelle Blanquet and **Eric Picholle** discuss a study involving 62 five-year-old children. These young learners were presented with a bottle in which a hole had been pierced and asked if it was possible to stop the water from flowing through the hole without closing it. The pupils were then shown that this result can be obtained by screwing the bottle's cap. The focus of this study was to investigate the ability of children to consider a counterintuitive experiment as "science," and able to consider its reproducibility—or do they consider this experiment as magic? Are the children able to justify their position? How do they consider the needs for further observations to establish whether an explicit focus on the reproducibility of an experiment performed in the frame of scientific inquiry would allow pupils to get a better grasp of scientific concepts and the notion of reproducibility.

Emerging Identities in Science Education

This section of the book includes six chapters that deal with a range of issues and themes related to students' learning of science. The themes covered include not only foundational issues such as motivation and self-efficacy but also particular skills such as computing skills and the ability to engage in scientific inquiry. The authors use a range of methods including qualitative and quantitative methods to highlight how science teaching and learning can be improved. An emerging theme is the newly conceptualized account of activism in science to encourage students to take an active role in social matters that have scientific undertones such as climate change. In her chapter, Jenny M. Hellgren highlights the importance of students' motivation in science lessons, and proposes a new model for considering motivation in science education. The author conceptualizes motivation as a multi-level and dynamic construct, and captures contextual and situational motivation of relevance for the science classroom. The proposed model combines multiple theoretical perspectives to produce a model of motivation that supports a multi-perspective view of motivation of relevance to complex classroom situations. The proposed model supports multiple methodological perspectives to study motivation in science classroom situations.

The authors **Anssi Salonen**, **Anu Hartikainen-Ahia**, **Tuula Keinonen**, **Inês Direito**, **John Connolly**, **Annette Scheersoi**, and **Lara Weiser** examine lower secondary school students' knowledge of specific working life skills. The authors report on a multinational research project involving a large sample of participants from the UK, Finland, and Germany. Using open-ended questions and content

analysis, they examine students' perceptions of working life skills needed in science-related careers. The results reveal that the students have a great deal of knowledge about working life skills - often stereotypical. The authors suggest that students need learning experiences including presentation of working life skills such as interacting with professionals and their real work-life problems, open-ended inquiries, and balanced team working to increase their awareness and perceived relevance of careers.

Anne-Kathrin Peters draws attention to students' computing skills and reports a longitudinal study conducted with the aim of exploring computing students' changing relationship to their field of study during their university education. Students from two study programs were selected to follow through interviews at the end of the first three study years. An early insight was that students' reflections on their interests in computing can change drastically, for example, from being someone interested in combining art and computing to being interested in back-end problem solving. Hence, the author uses social identity theories to reason about changes in student reflections.

Albert Zeyer, Nuria Álvaro, Julia Arnold, J. Christian Benninghaus, Helen Hasslöf, Kerstin Kremer, Mats Lundström, Olga Mayoral, Jesper Sjöström, Sandra Sprenger, Valentín Gavidia, and Alla Keselman capitalize on the expertise and experiences of an international group of science educators to investigate complexity as a key feature for understanding the role of science knowledge in environmental and health contexts. The authors point to the fact that complex systems are, in principle, not predictable. In different contexts, different mechanisms produce various, sometimes completely unexpected results. The role of complexity in fields such as science, health, and environment implies the need to develop future citizens who understand the delicate relation between predictability and uncertainty and to empower them for wise decisions about societal and personal well-being. The authors present a series of studies which illustrate the importance and challenges of introducing the issue of complexity into science education.

The chapter from Larry Bencze, Lyn Carter, Audrey Groleau, Mirjan Krstovic, Ralph Levinson, Jenny Martin, Isabel Martins, Chantal Pouliot, and Matthew Weinstein introduces a fairly unique focus that deals with potential harms to various individuals, societies, and environments. As an example, they highlight the devastation from climate change linked to fossil fuel uses. Given apparent roles of many governments in supporting powerful problematic networks that involve fields of science and technology, many science educators recommend that school science should not only enlighten students about harms and encourage them to make logical personal decisions about associated controversies, but also prepare them to take sociopolitical actions that might contribute to their conceptions of a better world. The chapter then brings together international science education researchers to discuss their uses and analyses of a curriculum framework called "STEPWISE" which is intended to facilitate such critical and activist science education.

The final chapter in this part from Judith S. Lederman, Norman G. Lederman, Selina L. Bartels, and Juan P. Jimanez reports on a large-scale international project on students' learning of scientific inquiry during their elementary school years. Eighteen countries or regions spanning six continents including over 2000 students participated in the study. The results overwhelmingly show that students around the world at the beginning of grade 7 have very little understanding about scientific inquiry. Some countries do show reasonable understanding in certain aspects but the overall picture of understanding of scientific inquiry is not what is hoped for after completing six years of elementary education in any country. Collectively, the studies reported highlight the need for innovation in science teaching and learning to ensure that future citizens are equipped with appropriate skills and identities in dealing with scientific and socioscientific issues.

Learning Progressions and Competences

The third section of the book includes six chapters that deal with a range of issues relating to learning progressions and competences. To enhance student learning and to develop appropriate learning sequences, various models of student learning have been proposed and discussed throughout the literature. In this section, student learning is examined through various contexts.

The area of Futures Studies, a research area which investigates "building the future" is the background for the chapter presented by the authors **Giulia Tasquier**, **Laura Branchetti**, and **Olivia Levrini**. They propose the use of science as the source of knowledge to develop future-scaffolding skills. Having developed and implemented a module on climate change with a group of second level students at a summer camp, the study was evaluated to determine students' perception of time (both present and future) and also to further define the future-scaffolding skills. Interestingly, the authors highlight that their most relevant finding from the analysis of the evaluation of the module was the sense of hope and calm expressed by the students on completion of the module, suggesting the role that science education can play in supporting young people in a world where there can be negativity about the future.

According to the authors **John Airey, Josefine Grundström Lindqvist,** and **Rebecca Lippmann Kung,** physicists can view the world using a web of equations that can be considered as the culmination of a range of actions, assumptions, and historical discoveries. However, how does the undergraduate student understand these equations and what does it mean to "understand an equation"? Using data from a study of undergraduates in three countries, the authors found similar interpretations in each country, which led them to suggest eight distinct themes with regard to students' understanding of a physics equation. Using these themes, they proposed a set of questions for students to ask themselves so that they can check their own understanding of what a particular physics equation represents. This work is continuing to determine if the expert opinion, i.e., from physics lecturers, on what it means to "understand an equation" agrees with that of the undergraduate student.

Studies on learning progressions that show the sequential development of student ideas have been used in a variety of contexts in the literature including design of classroom activities, assessments and student ideas and thinking. The chapter by **Erin Marie Furtak** and **Kelsey Tayne** examines how a number of teacher communities used learning progressions to support the design of formative assessment tasks, including interpretation of student ideas and planning feedback. The authors discuss the work of the group involved and highlight the use of learning progressions to explore student ideas and setting learning goals by the group with less emphasis in using the learning progressions to interpret the student ideas and in identifying the next steps in the learning.

The development of models of student learning can influence and inform teaching strategies, curricula, and assessment practices. In the chapter presented by authors **Annette Upmeier zu Belzen, Alicia C. Alonzo, Moritz Krell,** and **Dirk Krüger**, they present the two approaches to model student learning, namely Learning Progressions and Competence Model. The chapter outlines the origin of the two models and draws comparisons between them. They conclude that while both models are valuable and worthwhile in their contribution to teaching and learning, the subtle differences between the approaches can be informative, particularly in terms of curriculum emphasis, and student achievement.

The process of learning was investigated in the chapter by **Eva Pennegård**, within the context of the physics classroom at lower second level. Using videotaped lessons, the teachers could discuss and reflect on their actions that facilitated learning by their students; using the same video lessons, the students involved also reflected on their learning and the teacher actions that facilitated their learning. Teachers were then able to reflect on the responses from the students in terms of their practice. The inclusion of the student voice was an important element for professional development of the teachers.

The final chapter in this section by authors **Anni Loukomies**, **Kalle Juuti, Jari Lavonen**, and **Katariina Salmela-Aro** emphasizes that the science-related competence beliefs of young students (in this study 7–8 years of age) can be increased by participation in science and technology workshops. In this study, the students were involved in three workshops—on electrical circuits, programming with Lego Mindstorm robots, and on computer-based data logging. It was argued that these workshops could be included in the main curriculum.

Enhancing Science Teacher Education

It is now widely acknowledged that the key to improving science education and successful curriculum development is the quality and involvement of science teachers. The same is true of science education research: instead of being done on teachers it is most effective if done with and by practicing science teachers. The failure to improve science teaching and learning, despite decades of science education research, is largely due to a failure to involve and resource science teachers, and to

make research findings available in an accessible and relevant form. The four chapters in this final section are all connected to science teacher education.

The chapter from authors **Irina Kudenko, Pauline Hoyle,** and **Ben Dunn** makes the case for subject-specific professional development (PD) in science for primary teachers in the UK. It compares two models of delivering such PD: through schoolled PD partnerships and through external-led PD by primary STEM experts. This chapter is based on sizable data sets for each model and each provides evidence of improvement in teachers, schools, and pupils STEM experience, although each model has its weaknesses. The evidence presented shows that the two approaches are complementary and that the research has led to modifications in the programs, in a blended approach, tackling the weaknesses and drawing on the strengths of each model. It is good to see research actually changing practice as examined in this study.

Hannah Sevian and Vesal Dini use a design-based research (DBR) approach to evaluate the way experienced secondary chemistry teachers use formative assessment in their science teaching and to develop a Principled Practice Knowledge (PPR) resource. This chapter gives a clear description of a DBR approach to improving teachers' competence in using formative assessment (FA). It describes a 6-year project, conducted in four phases, which developed a PD resource to help teachers use FA more effectively. The focus on the importance of the teacher as the key player in the process is a significant conclusion. The chapter shows how DBR can used to create a useful, practical resource of Principled Practice Knowledge (PPK) to help teachers implement changes in practice.

The authors **Giannis Sgouros** and **Dimitris Stavrou** focus on developing teaching modules in Nanoscience and Nanotechnology (NST) in conjunction with secondary science teachers, science education researchers, communication experts, and subject experts in NST, as a Community of Learning (CoL). As well as introducing a new topic into school science, the modules also included aspects of Responsible Research and Innovation (RRI), in the context of the IRRESTIBLE project, and also out-of-school activities. The work is a good example of collaborative curriculum design and a key finding was the importance of teachers' reflection on their own professional practice.

Iztok Devetak, Sonja Posega Devetak, and **Tina Vesel Tajnšek** discuss how to develop the competences of pre-service teachers in managing students' allergies. This topic is somewhat outside the usual scope of science education and deals with an aspect of a teacher's professional responsibility for their students' welfare. The chapter describes a program to develop the medical competence of pre-service teachers in a classroom setting. It has no specific reference to science education but clearly the topic has a place within a science course, especially if we take chemical and biological sensitivities into account.

All these four, very different, chapters highlight the importance of the teacher in the classroom and their interaction with their students but also with the wider educational community and society.

Concluding Remarks

As the reader can see, this volume deals with a wide variety of topics and research approaches, conducted in various contexts and settings, all contributing to our shared knowledge of science education. As the editors, we trust this volume will invoke discussion and ignite further interest in developing new collaborative research studies, practices, and policy in Science Education.

The internet and other digital applications and media make it possible, feasible, and attractive to organize collaborative international research groups that can jointly carry out science education research from physically distant locations. The ESERA biennial conference provides an outstanding forum for science education researchers and practitioners to present their research and expose it for discussion and examination, and further build their networks—not only within Europe but all over the world. We want to extend a sincere thank you to the ESERA Board for the opportunity and for the confidence bestowed on us to enable us to host a successful ESERA 2017 Conference in Dublin, Ireland.

CASTeL, School of Physical Sciences	Eilish McLoughlin
Dublin City University	
Dublin, Ireland	
CASTeL, School of Chemical Sciences	Odilla E. Finlayson
Dublin City University	
Dublin, Ireland	
Department of Education	Sibel Erduran
University of Oxford	
Oxford, UK	
EPI-STEM, University of Limerick	Peter E. Childs
Limerick, Ireland	

Contents

Part I Innovative Approaches to School Science	
Science Education: A Balancing Act Between Research in University, Daily Instruction in Schools, and Politics in Education Ministries Peter Labudde	3
History and Philosophy of Science: A Lever to Teach Energy at High School	19
An Explorative Laboratory Study: Changing Representations of Functional Dependencies in Physics Class of Lower Secondary School Marie-Annette Geyer and Gesche Pospiech	35
Multiple External Representations (MERs) as a Componentof Special Language in BiologyChristina Beck and Claudia Nerdel	51
Heat Angels and Paper Cups: Pupils' Use of Metaphoric Relations When Engaging Thermal Cameras to Investigate Heat Andreas Larsson, Matilda Stafstedt, and Konrad J. Schönborn	73
Science or Magic? Reactions of 5-Year-Old Pupils to a Counterintuitive Experiment Estelle Blanquet and Eric Picholle	91
Part II Emerging Identities in Science Education	
Using Theoretical and Methodological Triangulation to Study Motivation in the Science Classroom Jenny M. Hellgren	107

Students' Awareness of Working Life Skills in the UK,	
Anssi Salonen, Anu Hartikainen-Ahia, Tuula Keinonen, Inês Direito, John Connolly, Annette Scheersoi, and Lara Weiser	123
Participation and Learner Trajectories in Computing Education	139
Addressing Complexity in Science Environment Health Pedagogy Albert Zeyer, Nuria Álvaro, Julia Arnold, J. Christian Benninghaus, Helen Hasslöf, Kerstin Kremer, Mats Lundström, Olga Mayoral, Jesper Sjöström, Sandra Sprenger, Valentín Gavidia, and Alla Keselman	153
Promoting Students' Critical and Active Engagement in Socio-scientific Problems: Inter-Trans-national Perspectives Larry Bencze, Lyn Carter, Audrey Groleau, Mirjan Krstovic, Ralph Levinson, Jenny Martin, Isabel Martins, Chantal Pouliot, and Matthew Weinstein	171
Understandings of Scientific Inquiry: An International Collaborative Investigation of Grade Seven Students Judith S. Lederman, Norman G. Lederman, Selina L. Bartels, and Juan P. Jimanez	189
Part III Learning Progressions and Competences	
Frantic Standstill and Lack of Future: How Can Science Education Take Care of Students' Distopic Perceptions of Time? Giulia Tasquier, Laura Branchetti, and Olivia Levrini	205
What Does It Mean to Understand a Physics Equation?A Study of Undergraduate Answers in Three Countries	225
John Airey, Josefine Grundström Lindqvist, and Rebecca Lippmann Kung	
John Airey, Josefine Grundström Lindqvist, and Rebecca Lippmann Kung Affordances and Constraints of Learning Progression Designs in Supporting Formative Assessment Erin Marie Furtak and Kelsey Tayne	241
John Airey, Josefine Grundström Lindqvist, and Rebecca Lippmann Kung Affordances and Constraints of Learning Progression Designs in Supporting Formative Assessment Erin Marie Furtak and Kelsey Tayne Learning Progressions and Competence Models: A Comparative Analysis Annette Upmeier zu Belzen, Alicia C. Alonzo, Moritz Krell, and Dirk Krüger	241 257

Change in First Graders' Science-Related Competence Beliefs During Digitally Intensive Science Workshops Anni Loukomies, Kalle Juuti, Jari Lavonen, and Katariina Salmela-Aro	285
Part IV Enhancing Science Teacher Education	
The Value of School Partnerships in Improving PrimaryScience Teaching: A Comparison of Two PD Engagement ModelsIrina Kudenko, Pauline Hoyle, and Ben Dunn	303
A Design-Based Process in Characterizing Experienced Teachers' Formative Assessment Enactment in Science Classrooms Hannah Sevian and Vesal Dini	325
Teachers' Training in Developing Nanoscience and Nanotechnology Teaching Modules in the Context of a Community of Learners Giannis Sgouros and Dimitris Stavrou	339
Developing Pre-service Teachers' Competencies of the Management of Students' Allergies in the School Environment Iztok Devetak, Sonja Posega Devetak, and Tina Vesel Tajnšek	357

Editors and Contributors

About the Editors

Eilish McLoughlin is Associate Professor in the School of Physical Sciences and Director of the Research Centre for the Advancement of STEM Teaching and Learning (CASTeL) at Dublin City University. She received her PhD in Experimental Surface Physics in 2000. Her research interests are focussed on the development of curriculum, instruction, and assessment models in Physics/STEM education, at all levels of education, from primary school to PhD level. She has led and collaborated on many research projects at EU, national, and local levels, including coordination of EU FP-7 project ESTABLISH and partner in EU projects 3DIPhE, OSOS and SAILS. She co-leads the physics initial teacher education program at Dublin City University and has led several projects that support teachers, both in-service and pre-service, in adopting innovative practices in their classrooms and enhance student identity in Physics. She has received recognition for her leadership in STEM Education and engagement across formal and informal contexts, including the NAIRTL National Award for Teaching Excellence (2010), Institute of Physics Lise Meitner Medal (2018), Institute of Physics Young Professional Physicist of the Year (2006), and Dublin City University's President Awards for Public Engagement (2017) and for Teaching and Learning (2005).

Odilla E. Finlayson is Associate Professor of Science Education in the School of Chemical Sciences at Dublin City University. She is one of the founding members of CASTEL (Centre for the Advancement of STEM Teaching and Learning) in Dublin City University and plays an active part in its management and development. She is involved in teaching (mainly physical) chemistry to undergraduate science students and to pre-service teachers. She is interested in curriculum development at second level and was a member of the Board of Science Studies in NCCA (National Council for Curriculum and Assessment). She sits on the Council of the Institute of Chemistry of Ireland, where she is Registrar and also convenor of the Education Committee. Her current research interests are in sustaining science across transitions and in particular in development of appropriate science (chemistry) curricula and assessment. She is also involved in co-ordinating Ireland's involvement in science Olympiads, namely International Junior Science Olympiad, European Union Science Olympiad and the International Chemistry Olympiad, as Country Co-ordinator and mentor. She has been involved in many local and international research projects, including EU FP-7 project ESTABLISH and co-ordinator of EU FP-7 project SAILS.

Sibel Erduran is Professor of Science Education at University of Oxford and a Fellow of St Cross College. She also holds Visiting Professorship positions at University of Oslo, Norway and Zhejiang Normal University, China. She is an Editor for International Journal of Science Education, Section Editor for Science Education, and serves on the Executive Board of European Science Education Research Association. Her work experience includes positions in the USA (University of Pittsburgh), Ireland (University of Limerick) as well as other universities in the UK (King's College London and University of Bristol). Previously she held Visiting Professorships at Oxford Brookes University; National Taiwan Normal University; Kristianstad University, Sweden; and Bogazici University, Turkey. Her higher education was completed in the USA at Vanderbilt (PhD, Science Education and Philosophy), Cornell (MSc, Food chemistry and Chemistry), and Northwestern (BA, Biochemistry) Universities. She has worked as a chemistry teacher in a high school in Northern Cyprus. Her research interests focus on the infusion of epistemic practices of science in science education, in particular chemistry education. Her work has received international recognition through awards from NARST and EASE. She is currently the Principal Investigator of projects funded by the Wellcome Trust and Templeton World Charity Foundation. Her edited book on Argumentation in Chemistry Education: Research, Policy and Practice (Royal Society of Chemistry) and co-authored book on Transforming Teacher Education through the Epistemic Core of Chemistry: Empirical Evidence and Practical Strategies (Springer) were published in 2019.

Peter E. Childs has been involved in the work of EPI-STEM, the National Centre for Science Education at the University of Limerick, since its inception in 2008. After reading Chemistry at Oxford (1965) and completing a DPhil in Solid State Chemistry (1967), he spent 2 years in North Western University on a postdoctoral fellow with a Fulbright scholarship. He then spent 6 years teaching chemistry from 1970 at Makerere University, Kampala, Uganda, where he became interested in working with teachers to improve school chemical education. Returning to the UK he had one year each at York and Leeds on research fellowships, before coming to Ireland in 1978. Initially, he taught chemistry and chemical education at Thomond College of Education to intending second-level teachers, and in 1990 joined the chemistry department in the University of Limerick, when the two institutions merged. He then taught inorganic and environmental chemistry, and worked with intending chemistry teachers, until 2009 when he retired. Since he began his retirement he has directed the Chemistry Education Research Group and been involved in three EU-funded projects: SALiS, a Tempus project (2010–2012); TEMI, an FP7 project,

2013–2016; ARTIST, an Erasmus+ project, 2017–2019. He has worked intensively with chemistry teachers since coming to Ireland; he started the magazine Chemistry *in Action!* in 1980, the ChemEd-Ireland conferences in 1982, and the Chemistry Demonstration Workshops in 2004, as well as running many in-service courses and workshops and industry study tours. A number of people have gained PhDs and Master's in science/chemical education under his supervision. He is past Chair of the EuCheMS Division of Chemical Education, and Past-President of the Irish Science Teachers Association and of the Institute of Chemistry of Ireland. His work in chemical education has been recognized by the BP Science Educator of the year award by the ISTA, the Boyle-Higgins Gold Medal of the Institute of Chemistry of Ireland, and an education award from Pharmachemical Ireland. In addition to chemical education he is also interested in the history of chemistry, the chemical industry, and science education.

Contributors

John Airey is a senior lecturer in Science Education at Stockholm University and a Reader in Physics Education at Uppsala University. John's research interests focus on disciplinary learning and its relationship to language and other semiotic resources.

Alicia C. Alonzo is Associate Professor of Science Education in the Department of Teacher Education at Michigan State University in the United States. She has significant international collaborations, particularly in Germany, where in 2014 she served as the Fritz Karsen Chair, as a visiting professor at Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin. She received the US Presidential Early Career Award for Scientists and Engineers in 2014 and was selected as a Kavli Fellow of the US National Academy of Sciences in 2018. Most of her research concerns how assessment—broadly construed—may influence the teaching and learning that occurs in science classrooms.

Nuria Álvaro is a PhD student in the Department of Didactics of Experimental Sciences of the Universitat de València, Spain. She holds a master's degree in secondary education teaching and a master's degree in education research. Her research concerns environmental health and environmental education. She is a secondary biology teacher in Catalonia.

Julia Arnold studied Biology and English for secondary education. After her PhD in biology education at Kassel University, she has been a post-doctoral researcher at RWTH Aachen University and at the Leibniz Institute for Science and Mathematics Education in Kiel, Germany. She is currently the head of the research group Biology Education at the Centre for Science and Technology Education, University of Applied Sciences and Arts Northwestern Switzerland – School of Education in Switzerland. Her main research interests are in health education and inquiry learning. She is particularly interested in the knowledge and motivational factors in these fields.

Manuel Bächtold is Assistant Professor in Philosophy of Science and Physics Education at University of Montpellier (research center LIRDEF). He studied physics at école Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne and philosophy at Pantheon-Sorbonne University, where he also defended a PhD thesis on the interpretation of quantum mechanics, before undertaking a postdoc in philosophy of physics at Dortmund University. His current research projects concern the teaching and learning of energy in the light of history and philosophy of science, the development of students' argumentation on socioscientific questions by means of online debates, and the relations between teachers' views of science and their teaching practices.

Selina L. Bartels is currently an Assistant Professor at Valparaiso University. At VU, she serves in the role of science teacher educator where her course load is predominately teaching preservice teachers' science methods courses including grade levels, early childhood, elementary, middle, and secondary. Dr. Bartels' undergraduate degree is from Northern Illinois University where she studied elementary education; she then went on to earn both a master's and a PhD at Illinois Institute of Technology where she studied Philosophy of Science Education. Dr. Bartels spent a decade teaching in Chicago Public schools where she taught various grade levels and content areas. Dr. Bartels has presented her research at many local, national and international conferences. She also has several publications in various research and practitioners' journals and books.

Christina Beck is a postdoctoral researcher in the Biology Education at the Technical University of Munich (TUM) in Bavaria, Germany. After studying biology and chemistry for teaching profession at upper secondary schools, she started her PhD thesis, in which she addressed the role of biology-specific understanding of text–picture combinations, and then became a postdoc at TUM in 2017. Her research interests are the development of competencies, science communication with multiple external representations and their influencing factors that generate difficulty.

Larry Bencze (PhD, MSc, BSc, BEd) is Associate Professor (Emeritus) in Science Education at the University of Toronto (1998–present). Prior to this role, he worked for 15 years as a science teacher and as a science education consultant in Ontario, Canada. His research program emphasizes critical analyses—drawing on history, philosophy, sociology, etc.—of science and technology, along with student-led research-informed and negotiated socio-political actions to address personal, social and environmental harms associated with fields of science and technology. Recent publications include two edited books about proactive citizenship. He also is coeditor of an open-source activist journal (goo.gl/ir7YRj).

J. Christian Benninghaus is a Geography Education Research Associate at the Faculty of Education at Universität Hamburg, Germany. He studied geography and biology for secondary education. After preservice teaching, he began his dissertational work under Prof. Dr. Sandra Sprenger and Prof. Dr. Kerstin Kremer, while interim joining Prof. Kremer's group at Leibniz Institute for Science and

Mathematics Education in Kiel, Germany. Recently, he went back to the roots and is a secondary school teacher in Hamburg, Germany. His research area is systems thinking in Education for Sustainable Development.

Estelle Blanquet is Associate Professor in Science Education at the Ecole Supérieure du Professorat et de l'Education d'Aquitaine (ESPE) of the University of Bordeaux (France). Her main research interests are the nature of science at primary school level and the study of experimental inquiry practices in Kindergarten. She has been training primary school teachers in science since 2000. She is a part of the French e-Fran-funded project Perseverons.

Laura Branchetti is a post-doc fellow in Mathematics Education at the Department of Mathematical, Physical and Computer Sciences of the University of Parma, Italy. She received her PhD from the University of Palermo in History and Education of Mathematics, Physics and Chemistry, curriculum in Mathematics education. Her main research interests are the transition from high school to university in mathematics education from the perspective of teachers' didactical practices; interdisciplinarity in STEM education at secondary and the tertiary education; the role of language in mathematics and physics learning; instruction design on future-oriented STEM issues (climate change, artificial intelligence, quantum computing). She is member of the Italian LCOP of the European Erasmus + Project called I SEE -Inclusive STEM Education to Enhance the capacity to aspire and imagine future careers (www.iseeproject.eu).

Lyn Carter began her professional career teaching junior science and senior biology in secondary colleges and held the position of school curriculum coordinator. She moved to the tertiary sector and for many years taught science education to preservice teachers and future studies and research methods at master's and doctoral level. At present, she has the role of education doctorate degree coordinator at Australian Catholic University. She is well known in research circles, having served on various editorial boards of high-profile international research journals and written seminal articles on globalization and postcolonialism and their impacts on science education as well as on the environment.

John Connolly is a lecturer in Initial Teacher Education and leads the Physic PGCE at UCL Institute of Education (IOE). He was a physics teacher for 10 years in a London school before joining the IOE. He teaches and supervises students on the MA in Science Education at the IOE and is currently studying for his PhD researching students' self-efficacy beliefs in physics at school.

Iztok Devetak PhD, is Associate Professor of Chemical Education at University of Ljubljana, Faculty of Education, Slovenia. His research interest focuses on how students, from elementary school to university, learn chemistry at macro-, submicro- and symbolic level, how chemistry in context and active learning approaches stimulate learning, using eye-tracking technology in explaining science learning,

aspects of environmental chemistry education, developing teachers' healthmanaging competences, etc. He has been involved in research projects in the field of science education and he was the national coordinator of PROFILES project (7th Framework Program) for 4.5 years. He is a Chair of Chemical Education Division in Slovenian Chemical Society and President of the National Subject Testing Committee for chemistry in lower secondary school.

Sonja Posega Devetak MD, MS, is a pediatrician with special interest in allergology working at general and teaching hospital in Izola, Slovenia. As an European Academy of Allergy & Clinical Immunology (EAACI) member, she participates in permanent postgraduate education for clinical allergists and she is an active member of Slovenian Association of Allergology and Clinical Immunology. She holds a master's degree in biomedicine from the University of Ljubljana, Faculty of Medicine. She is a mentor to pediatric trainees and she is also engaged in teaching pre-service home economics and biology teachers at University of Ljubljana, Faculty of Education, and kindergarten and school personal about the management of children with allergies and anaphylaxis.

Vesal Dini is a lecturer in Physics at Tufts University in Medford, Massachusetts, USA. He studies the learning and teaching of science, particularly physics. He received PhD in physics at Tufts in 2017, studying how students seek coherence while learning quantum mechanics. As a graduate student, he co-developed a series of blended online professional development courses for science teachers aimed to develop their practices of eliciting, noticing and responding to students' ideas. He pursued similar work as a postdoctoral researcher at the University of Massachusetts Boston during 2016–2018, studying middle and high school science teachers' formative assessment classroom practices.

Inês Direito is a Research Associate at the Centre for Engineering Education, University College London. She holds an MSc in Cognitive Sciences and a PhD in Psychology, and has been working in engineering education research for more than a decade. Her current research focuses on gender differences in self-confidence and development of skills, and on the impact of social and psychological factors in engineering education and practice.

Ben Dunn PhD, is a researcher and evaluator for the National STEM Learning Network (NSLN) based in York, UK. His research interests include ways to increase the profile and priority of STEM education in schools, and effective professional development. He works as part of the NSLN Research and Evaluation team, who aim to embed cutting-edge academic research into the professional development courses delivered by the Network.

Erin Marie Furtak PhD, is Associate Dean of Faculty and Professor of Science Education in the School of Education at the University of Colorado Boulder. Her research investigates the ways that secondary science teachers design and enact

formative assessments, how this process informs teachers' learning, and, in turn, how improvements in teachers' formative assessment practice over time relates to student achievement. She currently directs a long-term research-practice partnership, funded by the National Science Foundation and the Spencer Foundation, with a large, economically, culturally, linguistically, and ethnically diverse school district focused on supporting high school teachers' classroom assessment practices.

Valentín Gavidia is Professor Emeritus in the Department of Didactics of Experimental Sciences of the Universitat de València, Spain. He is a doctor in biology and an expert in health education and leader of several research projects from the Spanish Ministry on Health Education Competencies. He is known for his five different levels in the complexity of the concept of health and for the eight areas of health. His most recent book is *The Eight Areas of School Health Education* (2016). He is an editor of the "revista Didáctica de las Ciencias Experimentales y Sociales".

Marie-Annette Geyer is a PhD student in Physics Education at the Faculty of Physics of the Technische Universität Dresden, Germany. Her research interests focus on the role of mathematics in physics class, especially in lower secondary school. She investigates how different mathematical representations are used and connected by the students and which difficulties occur. Thereby she uses qualitative research methods. As a physics, mathematics, and astronomy teacher for secondary schools and a researcher in physics education, she holds teacher trainings about the role of mathematical representations or the application of digital media in physics teaching. Her teaching at university mainly focuses on mentoring teacher students during their first teaching experiences and guiding their (self-)reflection processes.

Audrey Groleau has been Professor of Science and Technology Education at Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières since 2014. She teaches science education to future teachers (elementary school, high school, and special education), and contributes to the training of researchers in education (curriculum studies and research methods). Her current research interests are future engineers' and scientists' relationships with scientific experts and with citizen participation in the context of sociotechnical controversies. She holds a bachelor's degree in physics and taught physics in cégep (grade 12-13).

Anu Hartikainen-Ahia is a senior lecturer in Biology and Geography Education. She educates primary and secondary school teacher students and gives lectures focusing on science education, especially on biology and geography education. She received MSc in geography and PhD in education. Her research areas have primarily focused on inquiry-based and collaborative learning. She has participated in European science teacher education projects, i.e., JoCiTE and PROFILES, and currently in the research project MultiCO.

Helen Hasslöf PhD, is a senior lecturer in Science Education at the Faculty of Education and Society at Malmö University. Her research interests focus on complexity, political subjectification and educational challenges in environmental and sustainability education. She was previously working with a couple of interregional EU-funded project, concerning sustainability education, integration, and teacher development programs. Between 2015 and 2017, Hasslöf participated in the EU project PARRISE, which combined socioscientific issues with inquiry-based learning and citizenship education.

Jenny M. Hellgren works at the Department of Science and Mathematics Education, Umeå University, Sweden. Her current main research interests are student motivation for learning science and mathematics in secondary school with a focus on the importance of authentic learning experiences for school science, and teacher professional development in working with socioscientific issues and supporting students' development of competences such as argumentation and critical thinking. Jenny is a trained secondary-school teacher in chemistry and biology.

Pauline Hoyle is an educational consultant having previously been the Associate Director of STEM Learning, a UK organization which provides those teaching STEM subjects, access to subject specific, quality-assured CPD and resources, so they can teach effectively and inspire the young people. Pauline has extensive experience as a teacher, advisor, researcher, accredited inspector, professional development facilitator, author, examiner, and consultant. She has expertise in STEM education, school improvement, monitoring, and evaluation including the impact of professional development on teacher development and student achievement. She has experience of working in the UK, Europe, the USA, Australia, and New Zealand.

Juan P. Jimanez is a Chilean Research Assistant at Mathematics and Science Education Department (MSED) at Illinois Institute of Technology in Chicago. He was a Fulbright alumni and biology and science teacher. His teaching experience includes classrooms in Chile, France, and the USA at the elementary, middle, and high school levels. His experience in university level also includes professional development programs for pre-service and in-service science teachers and academic advising to the science Chilean ministry of education division. His research interests lie in teaching evolution, scientific inquiry, nature of science and scientific literacy. Actually, Juan is working together with the teams who participate in the VASI international studies. His main functions mostly are related to coordinate the systematic work with each international team related with translation and validation of the VASI instrument, coordinate meetings with each team for validity and reliability issues, reception and review of data sent by each team, and provide systematic support to each team.

Kalle Juuti PhD, is Associate Professor of digital learning at schools in the Department of Education at the University of Helsinki. He has been a science teacher educator over decades. His research interests focus on digital tools, gender

issues, learning environment design, teachers' professional learning, and student engagement. Kalle Juuti is the author of several scientific articles in journals and compilations. He is also an editor of books and journal theme issues.

Tuula Keinonen is Professor in Education (research on general education) especially science education. She holds PhDs in physics and in education. Her research interests include the STS approach, teachers' growth, environmental education, and medicine education.

Alla Keselman is a senior social science analyst in the Division of Specialized Information Services of the US National Library of Medicine, US National Institutes of Health. Her research interests include lay understanding of complex health concepts, the relationship between scientific literacy and health literacy, lay evaluation of online health information quality, and consumer health informatics. She coordinates the development of science and health education resources and outreach to students and teachers for her division. She is also a co-coordinator of the ESERA's SciencelEnvironment|Health Special Interest Group.

Moritz Krell is a postdoctoral researcher and biology teacher educator at Freie Universität Berlin, Germany. His research interests relate to modeling competencies, scientific reasoning competencies and views on Nature of Science. In this field, he is concerned with methodological issues of assessment and with approaches to foster these competencies.

Kerstin Kremer is Professor of Biology Education at the Leibniz Institute for Science and Mathematics Education in Kiel, Germany. She held professorships for science education at the Technical Universities of Munich and Aachen. She studied biology and chemistry to become a teacher. After attending teacher training and working 3 years as a school teacher, she completed her PhD in biology education at the University of Kassel, Germany. Her main research interests are the understanding of scientific inquiry and nature of science, Education for Sustainable Development, science outreach and science communication in informal learning.

Mirjan Krstovic taught high school science for 10 years in two different high schools in the Peel District School Board, Canada's second largest school board. While teaching full time, he completed his Master's of Education at the Ontario Institute for Studies in Education (OISE), University of Toronto. Presently, Mirjan has been an Instructional Coach for 4 years working as a member of a cross-functional and interdisciplinary team to facilitate the ongoing implementation of effective instruction and assessment practices in both elementary and secondary schools in the Peel district. Mirjan is passionate about facilitating the implementation of the special youth issue of the Journal for Activist Science and Technology Education (JASTE), which promotes students' research-informed and negotiated action projects on a variety of socioscientific issues.

Dirk Krüger is Professor of Biology Education in the Department of Biology at Freie Universität Berlin, Germany. His research interests relate to scientific inquiry, in particular to procedural and epistemological views on experimentation and modeling. He works on competence models and competence assessment within international collaborations. He is an editor of a journal in the field of science education.

Irina Kudenko PhD, is an education researcher working in the field of program evaluation and impact appraisal, with a special focus on STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics) education and teacher development and learning. At the time of the research study presented in this book, she worked in Research and Evaluation at STEM Learning ltd, a UK leading provider of professional development services for STEM educators. Dr Kudenko works as Impact Evaluation Lead at the Education Development Trust, an international NGO that implements education initiatives and offers research and policy consultancy services in the UK and worldwide. Her research interests include effective policy/program design, implementation and impact measurement and global development.

Rebecca Lippmann Kung graduated with a PhD in Physics Education Research from the University of Maryland, USA, and is currently an independent researcher. Her research interests include students' use of measurement data and the design of the physics student laboratory.

Peter Labudde is Professor Emeritus of the University of Applied Sciences and Arts Northwestern Switzerland. In 2008, he founded the Centre for Science and Technology Education and was its director from 2008 until 2017. The Centre and its staff of about 20 researchers are engaged in many national and international projects with a focus on teaching-learning-processes, teacher and school development, interdisciplinary science education, professionalization of science teachers, large scale assessments, development of teaching concepts and materials. Labudde began his professional career teaching physics, mathematics, and chemistry at the upper secondary level (1981–1988), before he became the (Vice-)Director of the School of Education at the University of Berne (1988–2008).

Andreas Larsson is a doctoral student in Technology Education at Linköping University, Sweden. He is also coordinator of the Swedish National Center for Science and Technology Education (NATDID). He is interested in the relationship between science, technology, and language, and the influence of language on cognitive processes. His doctoral research concerns pupils' use of conceptual metaphors while interacting with technical artefacts such as thermal cameras and computers.

Jari Lavonen is Professor of Physics and Chemistry Education and has been a researcher in science and technology education and teacher education for the last 30 years at the Faculty of Education, University of Helsinki. His main research interests are science and technology teaching and learning, curriculum development, teacher education, and use of ICT in education.

Judith Sweeney Lederman is Associate Professor and Director of Teacher Education in the Department of Mathematics and Science Education at Illinois Institute of Technology, Chicago, IL. She has been the Curator of Education at the Museum of Natural History and Planetarium in Providence and has taught middle and secondary level physics and biology, as well as bilingual elementary science. Dr. Lederman has over 600 national and international presentations/publications on the teaching and learning of Scientific Inquiry and Nature of Science in both formal and informal settings. She is co-editor for the Journal of Science Teacher Education, an author for a National Geographic elementary science book series and co-authored an elementary science teaching methods text. Dr. Lederman was a Fulbright Fellow working in South Africa with teachers at the Cradle of Humankind. She is on the board of directors of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching (NARST). She has served on the Board of Directors of the National Science Teachers Association (NSTA) and is past president of the Council for Elementary Science International (CESI).

Norman G. Lederman Distinguished Professor of Mathematics and Science Education at Illinois Institute of Technology, was an award winning biology/chemistry teacher. Internationally known for his scholarship on students' and teachers' conceptions of nature of science and scientific inquiry, he has authored or edited 10 books/chapters and over 200 peer reviewed articles, and made 500+ national/international conference presentations. He was co-editor of both volumes of Handbook of Research on Science Education and School Science and Mathematics. He is currently co-editor of the Journal of Science Teacher Education. Dr. Lederman is former President of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching and the Association for the Education of Teachers in Science. He served as Director of Teacher Education for the National Science Teachers Association. He is a Fellow of the American Association for the Advancement of Science and the American Educational Research Association. He received the Distinguished Contributions to Science Education through Research Award from the National Association for Research in Science Teaching and the Distinguished Service to Science Education from the National Science Teachers Association.

Ralph Levinson taught science in secondary schools in London for 12 years before taking up posts in higher education in The Open University and then the Institute of Education, University College London. His main roles included teacher education, doctoral supervision, outreach, running the master's course and research. He has written many books and articles on chemistry teaching, learning about controversial issues, bioethics, public policy and science education, understanding risk and sociopolitical issues. He has played a leading role in European projects. His current research interests comprise critical realism in science education, sustainability education and the influence of neoliberalism in school education. He has been invited many times as a guest speaker at national and international conferences. He has strong international links particularly with Europe, Brazil, and East Asia.

Olivia Levrini is Associate Professor in Physics Education and History of Physics at the Department of Physics and Astronomy of the University of Bologna, Italy. Her current research work concerns interdisciplinarity in STEM education; educational reconstruction of advanced current topics in physics (thermodynamics, relativity, quantum physics); the role of history and philosophy in teaching physics; cognition and conceptual change; identity and processes of appropriation; instruction design on future-oriented STEM issues (climate change, artificial intelligence, quantum computing). She coordinates the European Erasmus + Project called I SEE – Inclusive STEM Education to Enhance the capacity to aspire and imagine future careers (www.iseeproject.eu).

Josefine Grundström Lindqvist is studying to become an Upper Secondary School Teacher in Physics and Mathematics at Uppsala University. She participated in the research project presented here in order to learn more about Physics Education Research.

Anni Loukomies PhD, MA (Ed), is a lecturer and teacher educator in the Viikki Teacher Training School at the University of Helsinki and a post doc researcher in the Faculty of Education at the University of Helsinki. She is also a visiting researcher in the Centre for Education Practice Research (CEPR), University of Johannesburg, South Africa. Her research interests are primary and secondary school students' engagement in science learning, and coherence of teacher education.

Mats Lundström is a PhD and senior lecturer in Science Education at Malmö University. In his doctoral thesis from 2011, he investigated students' decision-making in health issues. Lundström's research interest is mainly concentrated on how scientific literacy is used (or not used) in everyday life. From 2014 to 2017, Lundström participated in the EU project PARRISE, which combined socioscientific issues with inquiry-based learning and citizenship education.

Jenny Martin has taught science in primary and secondary schools, and in teacher education for many years. She is currently a research fellow at the Institute of Learning Sciences and Teacher Education at the Australian Catholic University in Melbourne. Her research provides new directions for understanding how students, preservice and experienced teachers of science become agentic, scientifically literate citizens and professionals. She has developed methodological tools and processes in discursive psychology including grammar of agency that conceives of local practices within a structure/ agency framework. Her work is published in premier journals.

Isabel Martins is Professor of Science Education and Director of NUTES-Institute of Science and Health Education at the Federal University of Rio de Janeiro. She taught Physics in secondary schools in Brazil before receiving her PhD from University College London Institute of Education. She was the former President of ABRAPEC – Brazilian Science Education Research Association. She has led and

collaborated in several international research projects and served in editorial boards of leading journals. She is a founding member of ESERA (European Science Education Research Association). Her research interests include relationships between discourse, curriculum, education for citizenship, and social justice.

Olga Mayoral is Professor in the Department of Didactics of Experimental Sciences and researcher of the Botanic Garden of the Universitat de València, Spain. She is a coordinator of the specialization of biology and geology of the master's degree in secondary education teaching. She is a biologist, with a PhD on plant conservation and holds a master's degree in education research (2015). She leads research projects in the areas of environmental education, environmental health, and didactics of botany, as well as teaching and learning of outdoor environments.

Valérie Munier is Professor in Physics Education at University of Montpellier (research center LIRDEF). She first studied mathematics and physics and received PhD in mathematical physics, before undertaking research about physics education since 2001. Many of her research projects deal with the teaching and learning of attributes and measurement at different levels of schooling, from elementary school to university level. She especially develops interdisciplinary approaches involving mathematics and physics. More recently, she also focuses on the development of teachers' practices.

Claudia Nerdel has been Professor of Life Sciences Education in the Faculty School of Education at the Technical University of Munich in Bavaria, Germany, since 2009. Her main research interests are in the field of biology and chemistry teachers' professional knowledge, science communication with multiple external representations, and computer-based teaching and learning aspects. She is also interested in the development and evaluation of concepts for a cross-disciplinary didactics of science at lower and upper secondary school level and how this develops, and potentially becomes better integrated in higher education, over time.

Eva Pennegård is a PhD student in Science Education at Lund University in cooperation with Malmö University and Halmstad University. Part-time she is a teacher in special needs in lower secondary school. Her current study is about making students' voices explicit to teachers in purpose to promote teacher PCK to develop. In the future, she is going to work in the municipality with the purpose to improve school practice in a way that makes it more based on scientific knowledge.

Anne-Kathrin Peters PhD, is a postdoctoral researcher and teacher at the IT department at Uppsala University, Sweden. She is a member of the Uppsala Computing Education Research Group (UpCERG). The aim of her research is to understand how computing education can be developed in a way that diverse learners can grow and find learning about computing meaningful. She also did research on IT for sustainability education. Besides being an author of scientific articles and book chapters, she has recently been an invited editor of the magazine "The Computer Scientist."

Eric Picholle is a research physicist with the French CNRS at the Institut de Physique de Nice (INPHYNI). His research field is nonlinear and quantum optics. He also teaches philosophy of science at the University of Nice and his interests include the history of technics and the nature of science, including primary school.

Gesche Pospiech is Full Professor of Physics Education at the Faculty of Physics of the Technische Universität Dresden in Germany. Her main research interest concerns Modern Physics in secondary school with a focus on quantum theory from an actual perspective. The second field of research is mathematics in physics education with emphasis on secondary school. In addition, she studies the pedagogical content knowledge of teachers in this field. She has been part in European projects fostering the science interest of students and in the Network particle world in Germany. In addition, she is responsible for the physics education training of teacher students at TU Dresden.

Chantal Pouliot is Full Professor of Science Education at Laval University in Quebec (Canada). Her research focuses on the teaching and learning of sociotechnical controversies and the documentation of ongoing environmental controversies. She is also engaged in work concerning the threats to academic freedom on Canadian campuses. Her latest book is entitled Quand les citoyen.ne.s soulèvent la poussière [When citizen raise dust] (Carte blanche).

Katariina Salmela-Aro is Professor of Educational Sciences at University of Helsinki, Finland. She is a Visiting Professor in the Institute of Education in University College London, Australian Catholic University Sydney and School of Education in Michigan State University, and a President of the European Association for Developmental Psychology. Her key research themes are school engagement, burnout, optimal learning moments, experience sampling, life-span model of motivation and related interventions.

Anssi Salonen is a university teacher in Technology Education and a PhD student in Science Education at the University of Eastern Finland. His research interests are in context-based teaching and students' STEAM career awareness and interests. His present study is about developing career-related instructions for science education. He has worked in EU project MultiCO.

Annette Scheersoi is Professor in Biology Education at the University of Bonn (D). Her doctorate was on museum's exhibition concepts and the use of different media for communicating biological knowledge. Since 2005 she is a biology teacher-trainer and researcher, first at Frankfurt University, then at the University of Cologne, and now at Bonn's university. Her research on biology learning focuses on interest development in out-of-school learning environments. Annette also develops learning materials for schools as well as for museums, zoos, and botanic gardens.

Konrad J. Schönborn is Associate Professor (docent) in visualization and media technology at Linköping University, Sweden. He coordinates the Swedish National Graduate School in Science and Technology Education (FontD), and is a Member of the Royal Society of Biology (MRSB). He is interested in the role of representations, visual literacy, multimodality, and virtual environments in science education. His research explores how learners interact with different representations to visualize and construct an understanding about molecular, (bio)chemical and physical phenomena.

Hannah Sevian is Professor of Chemistry at the University of Massachusetts Boston, USA. Her research focuses on the learning and teaching of chemistry, how chemistry students and practicing chemists learn and practice sustainable and green chemistry, and the assessment practices of science teachers toward goals of developing chemical thinking. She is involved in a long-term collaboration with teachers of chemistry in Boston Public Schools to develop a professional development model for supporting mid-career science teachers to strengthen their classroom assessment practices and to study how students develop chemical thinking across training through formal schooling and onward into their careers and lives outside school.

Giannis Sgouros graduated from the Department of Physics at the University of Crete (Greece) in 2004 and holds an MSc degree in Optics and Vision since 2006. He is an upper secondary school teacher for physics education since 2008 and recently received his PhD in science education from the Department of Primary Education, at the University of Crete, Greece. He was an Assistant Researcher from the University of Crete of the FP7 Framework EU-Project "IRRESISTIBLE." His research interests include teachers' professional development in collaborative settings in order to introduce nanoscience and nanotechnology topics in school.

Jesper Sjöström is Associate Professor of Educational Science/Science Education at the Faculty of Education and Society, Malmö University, Sweden. Prior to joining Malmö University, he did postdoctoral research at the Research Policy Institute, Lund University. His current research interests encompass sustainability and sociopolitically oriented (science) education understood from the lenses of *Bildung* and *Didaktik*. Examples of journals, which have published his research, are *Studies in Science Education* and *Science & Education*. During 2015–2017, Sjöström participated in the EU project PARRISE, which combined socioscientific issues with inquiry-based learning and citizenship education.

Sandra Sprenger is a Full Professor of Geography Education and Head of Geography Education Group at the Faculty of Education at Universität Hamburg, Germany. She studied geography, biology, and German for secondary education. Her current research areas are Education for Sustainable Development (ESD), teacher professionalization, and out-of-school learning.

Matilda Stafstedt is a pedagogue at the Visualization Center C in Norrköping, Sweden. The digital science center develops and exhibits different visualization forms to raise public and pupils' interest in science and technology. In her work at the center, Matilda meets around 1500 pupils per year during various workshops, lectures, and demonstrations. Matilda is also a former arts student.

Dimitris Stavrou is Professor of Science Education in the Department of Primary Education, University of Crete, Greece. He is the Director of the Science Teaching Laboratory in this Department. He was the principal investigator from the University of Crete of the FP7 Framework EU-Project "IRRESISTIBLE" (2013–2016) and is a member of the project team of MINT – Lernen in informellen Räumen [STEM – Learning in out of school contexts], PhD Program: University of Oldenburg, Germany (2016–2020). He was also the President of the Hellenic Association for Science Education and Information Communication Technologies (ENEPHET) (2015–2017). His research interests include the educational reconstruction of modern science topics (quantum mechanics, nonlinear systems), in-service teachers training in teaching nanoscience and nanotechnology issues in school and out of school contexts, as well as pre- and in-service teachers training in using Information Communication Technologies in science topics in science teaching.

Tina Vesel Tajnšek MD, is working as a pediatrician since 2008 in University Children's hospital in Ljubljana, Slovenia in the Department of Allergology, Clinical Immunology, and Rheumatology. She actively gained additional knowledge of allergology during annual congresses of European Academy of Allergy & Clinical Immunology (EAACI) including passing EAACI exam in 2013. She teaches children with allergy and their caregivers about allergic diseases and she cooperates also with University of Ljubljana, Faculty of Education, regarding educating preservice teachers at master level on allergic diseases.

Giulia Tasquier is a post-doc fellow in Physics Education at the Department of Physics and Astronomy of the University of Bologna, Italy. She received her PhD from the University of Palermo in History and Education of Mathematics, Physics, and Chemistry, curriculum in Physics Education. Her research interests include design and implementation of innovative teaching materials on modern physics and socioscientific issue (thermodynamics, climate change); the correlation between knowledge and behaviour in climate change; the role of epistemological knowledge on models and modeling in teaching/learning physics; qualitative methods of data analysis; development of strategies, tools, and activities for transforming scientific knowledge into transversal skills about future. She is member of the Italian LCOP of the European Erasmus + Project called I SEE - Inclusive STEM Education to Enhance the capacity to aspire and imagine future careers (www.iseeproject.eu).

Kelsey Tayne is a PhD student in the School of Education at the University of Colorado Boulder. Her doctoral training is in science education and the learning sciences. Her research involves collaborating with teachers to design for and

support more equitable STEM and environmental education at the primary and secondary levels. Her main research focus is on how to design for learning opportunities that support students in taking action on environmental challenges.

Annette Upmeier zu Belzen is Professor of Biology Education in the Department of Biology at Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Germany. Her research interests relate to teaching and learning biology with regard to scientific inquiry, in particular models and modeling. She works on competence models and competence assessment as well as on competence-oriented teaching in secondary and higher education within international collaborations. She is engaged in doctoral programs and is an editor of journals in the field of science education.

Matthew Weinstein coordinates the Secondary Science Education Program at the University of Washington-Tacoma. He is the author of *Robot World: Education, Popular Culture, Science* and, with Dr. Nidaa Makki, *Bodies Out of Control: Rethinking Science Texts.* His work draws on anthropology, cultural studies, and political economy to analyze science education in and out of schools as forms of contested public culture. His recent work has analyzed the politics of human subjects, the nationalist discourse of the anthrax attacks of 2001 and the framing of disease and illness in school textbooks. His current research explores the history and culture of the street medics movements.

Lara Weiser is a PhD student in biology education at the University of Bonn, Germany. She obtained her degree as primary school teacher in 2014 from the University of Cologne in Germany and holds a state's qualification as kindergarten teacher since 2010. Her main research area is children's interest development, out-of-school learning and science education in the early years. Her present studies are about inquiry-based learning in out-of-school settings with children in the age of 3 to 8 years. Since 2016, Lara Weiser is working as a guide in the Botanical Gardens of the University of Bonn with the focus on kindergarten and school groups.

Albert Zeyer is a mathematical physicist and a physician. He has been working as a science teacher and a medical doctor in various Swiss schools and hospitals, in teacher education at Lucerne University of Teacher Education, and as a research scientist at the Institute of Education at the University of Zurich, Switzerland. He is currently Professor of medicine at Bern University of Applied Sciences, Department of Health Professions, Bern, Switzerland. He is a co-coordinator of the special interest group SciencelEnvironmentlHealth at the European Science Education Research Association (ESERA). His research interests are public understanding of science and health, medicine, and science education.

Part I Innovative Approaches to School Science
Science Education: A Balancing Act Between Research in University, Daily Instruction in Schools, and Politics in Education Ministries



Peter Labudde 🝺

Introduction

"Research, practice and collaboration in science education" was the theme of the 12th European Science Education and Research Association (ESERA) conference held in Dublin in August 2017. Within this theme several questions arise, questions to which our scientific community should respond. For example, what are the advantages, but also what are the limitations of different approaches in science education research? How strong could and should be the relationship between research and daily school practice? With whom do we have to cooperate, in order to grasp both the needs of teachers and schools and the demands of research and politics, as well as to incorporate research into practice?

Questions like these provide the framework to much of our daily work. They have to be answered by each researcher for himself or herself, by a group of science educators, e.g. by a research group in a university, and by our scientific community as a whole. There is not just one answer to each question; instead, there are many of them. Each person and each generation of researchers have to answer the questions, again and again, a never ending, but always challenging task.

One reason for the challenge is to find a balance both between research and daily school practice and between research and educational policy. For example, on one side the colleagues in science departments and the governing boards of universities ask for more research projects funded by national science foundations, for more peer-reviewed international publications and talks, and for a high citation index and h-factor; to achieve all this, a science educator has to be engaged mostly in basic research. On the other side, teacher students, teachers, schools, and policy makers

P. Labudde (🖂)

Centre for Science and Technology Education, University of Applied Sciences and Arts NorthWestern Switzerland, Windisch, Switzerland e-mail: peter.labudde@fhnw.ch

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_1

ask for a teacher training with a lot of examples and recipes for daily instruction; they ask for more developmental projects that respond to the needs of schools; to achieve this a science educator has to be engaged mostly in teacher training, professional development, and action research. How can one find a balance between these different and partly conflicting demands?

The questions mentioned in the first paragraph of the introduction also correspond to the aims of the ESERA organization, in particular the first and fourth aim:

- (i) Enhance the range and quality of research and research training in science education in Europe.
- (ii) Provide a forum for collaboration in science education research between European countries.
- (iii) Represent the professional interests of science education researchers in Europe.
- (iv) Seek to relate research to the policy and practice of science education in Europe.
- (v) Foster links between science education researchers in Europe and similar communities.

In this contribution¹, I discuss the questions introduced above and try to provide some answers through discussing eight foci and notions. The eight foci are discussed in two parts, with each part presenting a different context.

- (A) Science education research in the context of school practice and education authority policy or in other words "from science education to practice and authorities":
 - 1. Developing concepts for instruction
 - 2. Responding to the needs of schools
 - 3. Connecting researchers, teachers, and stakeholders
 - 4. Implementing research results into practice
- (B) School practice and education authority policy in the context of science education research or in other words "from practice and authorities to science education":
 - 5. Reframing recent scientific research as science content for schools
 - 6. Considering non-formal teaching-learning processes
 - 7. Helping to create curricular and structural changes
 - 8. Being aware of his/her own responsibilities

Each of the foci and notions is explained from the perspective of science education and illustrated by using examples from specific research and development projects.

¹This contribution is based on my keynote at the ESERA 2017 Conference in Dublin (August 21–25, 2017).

Focus 1: Developing Concepts for Instruction

"Developing, implementing, and evaluating – together with teachers – concepts, materials, and units for instruction" is the first focus and notion. It corresponds to the fourth aim of the ESERA organization, i.e. "Seek to relate research to the practice of science education". Many colleagues in our scientific community are engaged in developing, implementing, and evaluating teaching units, materials, and concepts for daily instruction, either at regional, national, or international level. Two characteristics of this focus are particularly important: first, the cooperation of science educators and science teachers during all phases of this development and, second, the scientific evaluation of these units, materials, and concepts.

Example MobiLab

The project "MobiLab" (2018) from my research group may serve as a paradigmatic example for this first principle. Science educators and teachers developed a total of 150 experiments for students in grades 4–6. Many of these experiments are hands-on activities. The experiments are presented in nine themes: acoustics, air, electricity, energy, magnetism, microscope, optics, substances, and water. For each of the nine themes, three to five of the central questions of the experiment focus on main phenomena. For example, in the theme air, these questions are the following: (1) Is it possible to see, feel, or hear air? (2) Is air really nothing? (3) Does air have a force? (4) Of what is air composed? Pupils attempt to answer these questions by performing experiments, with about four experiments associated with each question. Some of the experiments are given in a cookbook style, while others use an inquiry-based learning approach. The pupils perform the experiments, describe and explain them in their "research journals", and discuss questions and results with other pupils in small groups or in the whole class. Further characteristics of the MobiLab are:

- The target audience includes both grade 4–6 pupils and their teachers; for pupils, it is expected that MobiLab opens new ways for them to engage with science and increase their interest in science; for teachers, MobiLab should help to develop and improve their pedagogical content knowledge and self-confidence in science instruction.
- Almost all materials used are everyday items, i.e. pupils can perform the experiments at home and show the phenomena to their friends and parents.
- Physically, the MobiLab is a small van with 150 experiments contained in more than 150 boxes, and many of the experiments are available in multiple copies.
- Teachers and/or schools can order the MobiLab for half a day or for several days. Normally a teacher orders the MobiLab for half a day for a specific theme, e.g. the pupils of her/his class explore the main phenomena and properties of air in 3–4 h.

- A member of the MobiLab team, i.e. a primary school teacher with a background in science education, drives the MobiLab to the school and works with the pupils in cooperation with the teacher of the class.
- The MobiLab team offers half-day courses to teachers and schools. Typical courses are "Introduction to the MobiLab", "Hands-on activities with water", and "How to build up a 'research lab' in primary schools?" Teachers are only allowed to order the MobiLab after they have attended the course "Introduction to the MobiLab".

An independent researcher with a strong background in evaluation and qualitative and quantitative methods has evaluated the MobiLab over a 2-year period. The researcher gathered data using questionnaires, interviews, and videos (Holmeier et al. 2016). The findings of this study were very positive, i.e. the pupils and even more the teachers state that they have learnt much; they have developed their interest in science and would order the MobiLab again. Therefore, it is not a surprise that the number of visits of the MobiLab in schools increased from 30 half-days in the first year (2013) to more than 120 visits in 2017.

Résumé The features of the first focus have been illustrated in the MobiLab project – strong relationship to classroom practice, development in collaboration with teachers, and careful and independent evaluation. Two comments on the project are important in regard to the "balancing act" in the title: First, it is a typical development project; teachers, schools, pupils, and policy makers appreciate a project like this; but as a researcher who is involved in this project, one cannot improve his/her citation index. Second, in many development projects, the evaluation is missing; but in order to find a balance between development and research, it seems necessary to me to evaluate a project that, e.g. deals with a science lab, with teaching development (see focus 2) or implementing research results into practice (focus 4).

Focus 2: Responding to the Needs of Schools

"Analysing the needs of teachers and schools: initiating, implementing, and evaluating teaching and school development". This second issue focuses on the needs of teachers and schools. What are the challenges in science education for these? What do they want to improve in their daily instruction or in their school? Finding answers to questions like these and implementing solutions in schools demand for in-service professional development and action research to be carried out. The European Commission (2015) postulates "the quality of teaching, teacher induction, preservice preparation, and in-service professional development should be enhanced to improve the depth and quality of learning outcomes". The report asks for improvements at all levels and at all phases of teacher education programmes and in particular in-service professional development. But, how far is a national educational system and its stakeholders and how far is our community substantially engaged in in-service professional development?

Example SWiSE

The project SWiSE (2018, Swiss Science Education) is an almost nationwide project in Switzerland. For the pupils, the main objectives are to offer children and young people access to science and technology that is appropriate for their age, to promote self-organized learning and to explore and implement new pathways in competence-oriented education. With regard to the teachers and the schools, the objectives are to reflect and further develop science and technology education according to the local needs, to exchange experiences among schools and to build networks. The project team consists of science educators from eight universities and teachers colleges, two institutions specialized in in-service professional development and the Swiss Science Centre Technorama. The institutions called for applications from schools to become a so-called SWiSE school for a period of 3 years. A SWiSE school obligates oneself to engage in a school-specific developmental project based on its needs, to delegate two so-called SWiSE teachers to initiate and implement the project in collaboration with the SWiSE team and the science teachers in the school. What does the SWiSE team offer to the schools?

- The reduction of the teaching load of the two SWiSE teachers by one period per week during 3 years; foundations and cantonal education ministries financed this reduction.
- Mentoring of the two SWiSE teachers in a school by an expert of the SWiSE team.
- Regional and interregional network meetings.
- Modules for continuous teacher professional development.
- Participation at the annual conference «SWiSE-Innovation».
- In-school coaching and training.
- A programme in order to get a Certificate of Advanced Studies (CAS, 10 credit points) in science education.

After 3 years of collaboration, science educators and teachers published three books on good practice examples of SWiSE (Stübi et al. 2017), science education concepts applied in SWiSE (Metzger et al. 2016), and the evaluation of SWiSE (Koch et al. 2016). Although aspects of the project have been reduced due to financial restrictions, SWiSE is still going on, e.g. the annual conference "SWiSE-Innovation", workshops for teachers, and summer schools for science educators.

Résumé Although researchers have initiated SWiSE, the project is based on the needs of schools (and on science education findings). It focuses on cooperation and networking, and it involves teachers, school managers, and other stakeholders. If our scientific community wants to respond to the needs of schools and teachers, we have – of course – to collaborate with them. We must resist and fight against the opinion I have heard from colleagues of universities like scientists, pedagogues, and even science educators saying that this kind of work is "dirty", not as "clean" as lab work and "real" research.

Focus 3: Connecting Researchers, Teachers, and Stakeholders

"Connecting and integrating researchers, teachers, and stakeholders – from the beginning" is a focus that goes well with the fourth aim of the ESERA, i.e. to "seek to relate research to the policy and practice of science education in Europe". It also fits the theme of the ESERA 2017 conference "Research, practice and collaboration in science education". Science educators are responsible for this connecting and integrating. It is their obligation to deliver their knowledge to teachers and stakeholders to collect the results of research in science education.

Example ASSIST-ME (Assess Inquiry in Science, Technology, and Mathematics Education)

The European Union financed this project (2013–2016) within the seventh European Framework Program. The project had two general aims:

- Development and implementation of formative and summative assessment methods that are suitable for inquiry-based learning in science, technology, and mathematics (STM)
- Elaboration of guidelines for policy makers and other stakeholders to ensure that assessment enhances inquiry-based learning in STM

Based on an analysis of what was known about summative and formative assessment of knowledge, skills, and attitudes, the project designed a range of combined assessment methods. These methods were tested in primary and secondary schools in different educational cultures and contexts across Europe. Nine universities across eight countries participated in the project with the University of Copenhagen as the coordinating institution (ASSIST-ME 2016). The twofold aim of the project, i.e. the development of assessment methods for daily practice and the elaboration of guidelines for policy makers and other stakeholders, made it necessary to collaborate with teachers and stakeholders – from the beginning of the project. This is why in each of the eight participating countries, a so-called Local Working Group, i.e. a group of about 20 teachers, and a so-called National Stakeholder Panel, i.e. a group of about 10 stakeholders, were set up. The teachers came from the vicinity of each University to form the Local Working Groups. The stakeholders, including policy makers, school-inspectors, experts for the development of curricula, unionists, and researchers, came from across the nation and formed the National Stakeholder Panel. The international research team presented the results of the project online for the three different communities that engaged in the project (ASSIST-ME 2016). The project team stated that the information presented on the project website allowed:

• "Teachers to develop effective combinations of formative and summative assessment in daily practice in primary and secondary schools

- Researchers to study formative and summative assessment methodologies and practices in different educational systems
- Policy makers to inform decision-making on curriculum design, teacher training, and assessment strategies at institutional, regional, and national levels taking into account relevant system characteristics and variables."

Résumé ASSIST-ME is a paradigmatic example of research in (science) education as an interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary venture: interdisciplinary in the sense that different disciplines, like biology, chemistry, mathematics, science, and technology education plus cognitive psychology, statistics, and educational policy, were part of the project, and transdisciplinary in the sense that on one side, science educators and teachers and, on the other side, policy makers participated in the project, i.e. research and politics, were connected (for other examples see foci 7 and 8). Without this connection, research and development often remain ineffective.

Focus 4: Implementing Research Results into Practice

"Grasping the demands of research and implementing them in projects that are oriented towards daily school practice". I distinguish between the needs of schools, see, e.g. focus 2, and the demands of research. Typically, the needs of schools and teachers are (new) materials for the laboratory, new concepts for science teaching in the kindergarten, improved content knowledge for primary school teachers, and ideas for interdisciplinary science units. Typically, the demands of science education research are the improvement of teaching-learning processes, including conceptual changes, the analysis of the quality of instruction in physics (Fischer et al. 2014), and the development of general concepts like scientific literacy or the development of new formats for large-scale assessments. The claim of the fourth focus is that when grasping the demands of research and/or doing so-called fundamental research, relate it to daily classroom practice and cooperate with teachers.

Example Diagnostic Instruments

Over the last 30 years, the development of instruments for formative and summative assessment has become an important issue. These instruments are needed for the individual diagnosis of students' competences and for giving them feedback on their learning. They are also needed for large-scale assessments like PISA (Programme for International Student Assessment) and nationwide tests. Therefore, both, researchers and policy makers, are interested in new instruments. Von Arx and Korsak (2014) initiated a project that was funded by the Swiss National Science Foundation. The focus of their study was to address the research question: Are tests with concept map problems and/or multiple-choice problems suitable to measure – in a valid and reliable manner – competences in regard to ordering, structuring, and

modelling? This question is typical in fundamental research, because it is driven mainly by the demands of the research. The roots of the project were not in daily instruction, nor did the project fit the main needs of teachers or schools. However, from the perspective of science education research, it is interesting. The two researchers developed a model for the assessment of competences in relation to ordering, structuring, and modelling; they developed suitable instruments with multiple-choice and concept map problems, questionnaires, and interview questions; they analysed the data using sophisticated statistical methods – and their results showed that the instruments were suitable to measure the competences in a valid and reliable manner. Although this project was fundamental research, it has been related to daily instruction and science teacher education:

- · Chemical substances and reactions as the content of the tests
- Tests in 25 classes (grade 9)
- · Teacher training and continuous professional development
- · Publications in journals addressing teachers

Résumé Balancing the needs of schools and the demands of research is a challenge for all science educators. Projects that focus on fundamental research questions like the development of new assessment instruments should be aligned as closely as possible to daily practice. The development of multiple-choice and concept map problems to assess competences in ordering, structuring, and modelling showed different ways of how to do this. One of the ways is the collaboration with teachers. It is important not only when responding to the needs of schools (focus 2) but also when implementing research results into practice.

The foci 1–4, described and illustrated above, belong to the part I "from science education to practice and authorities" of the eight foci discussed in this chapter. The following foci 5–8 belong to part II "from practice and authorities to science education". This part is focussed on when practice and authorities take their questions to science educators. I use practice and authorities as an overall term that includes not only teachers, schools, inspectors, policy makers, and education ministries but also institutions like museums, mass media, and science laboratories.

Focus 5: Reframing Recent Scientific Research as Science Content for Schools

"Reframing recent research in biology, chemistry, and physics as science content for schools: A major task for science education". Tens of thousands of scientists all over the world are engaged in research. The knowledge in biology, chemistry, physics, and in other disciplines like astronomy, agriculture, material science, or climate science is still exploding. Some of this new knowledge should become part of the science curricula – but it needs to be reframed for instruction. The reframing is a major task of science educators.

Example Nanoscience

In the last 20 years, nanoscience has become a major interdisciplinary research focus in biology, chemistry, physics, and other disciplines. Due to the importance and success of this research and its results, many science education groups have developed teaching concepts, units, and materials, in order to bring nanoscience to schools. A typical example is the EU-Comenius project "Quantum Spinoff". The aim of the project was to bring science teachers and their students of grades 11–12 into direct contact with research and entrepreneurship in nanoscience. In this way, the project wanted to educate a new generation of scientifically literate European citizens and inspire young people to choose science and technology careers (Quantum Spinoff 2014). During the project, authentic inquiry activities were developed and implemented, which enabled students to:

- Come in contact and understand the basic insights of quantum physics and nanoscience
- · Interact with researchers who develop applications based on scientific results
- Interact with entrepreneurs doing business based on these applications
- Develop their own virtual product or service based on the studied technologies and present it like real scientists to a jury of experts and to a public audience of students just like themselves

About 30 teachers and classes of grades 11–12 from 4 different countries participated in this project. During an international summer school and in their own schools, the teachers developed teaching units of 6 to 12 periods, planned visits, and cooperation with research institutions and high-tech companies and created opportunities for their students to develop their own virtual spinoff product or service.

Résumé Nanoscience is a paradigmatic example of reframing recent research for instruction in the upper secondary level. Furthermore, the project Quantum Spinoff has features that make it paradigmatic in different ways. The project is international, it is interdisciplinary (including entrepreneurship and economics), and it links practice, science education, science, and industry. For many scientists, the reframing of recent research for instruction is the most important and – sometimes – only task of science education. I agree that it is important, but it is definitely not the only task of science education.

Focus 6: Considering Non-formal Teaching-Learning Processes

"Considering non-formal and informal teaching-learning-processes as domains for research and development" is an issue that aligns with the focus of the ESERA 2017 conference. The organizers claim, "the theme of the conference – research, practice, and collaboration in science education – underlines aspects of great relevance in contemporary science education research: the need to reflect on different approaches

to enhancing our knowledge of learning processes and the role of context, designed or circumstantial, formal or non-formal, in learning and instruction". The focus of science education research should not only be on formal learning and instruction, i.e. in schools, it should also focus on non-formal and informal learning and instruction, such as in science museums, outdoors, or on the television.

Example the TV programme Quarx

In 2015, the Swiss Radio and Television (Schweizer Radio und Fernsehen (SRF)) asked our research team to develop teaching materials in German for the international TV programme Quarx (2015), a series of 26 episodes of about 5 min each, produced by the BBC for the school television. The SRF sent a description for the programme, a trailer (Quarx 2015), and the titles of the 26 episodes. The brief description of the producer says: "Quarx is a madcap series of scripted films for kids. Have you ever wondered what would happen if we could change the laws of physics? Watch this and find out. But we warn you – it isn't pretty. From a pet black hole that goes out of control to a world overrun with giant insects, the Ouarx lurch from the brink of one apocalypse to another". Our research team decided to accept the challenge of developing teaching materials for a TV programme that is so different to daily formal instruction and learning at schools. For each of the 26 episodes, the team developed teaching notes of about two to four pages, including learning objectives, links to the curriculum, and lesson planning. Furthermore, two to four pages of background information, i.e. the underlying physics, chemistry, biology, and engineering (SRF 2017), was developed. Like the authors of a textbook, the team developed teaching materials, based on the TV episodes and based on their knowledge of science and science education. One aspect that was missing from this project was the evaluation of the episodes and the materials.

Résumé Writing teaching materials for a TV series proved to be a venture of many challenges and joys. It offered the chance to reflect on formal education from the viewpoint of non-formal education, and it can broaden the horizon in regard to media and their use in science instruction. Most of the research projects of the ESERA community focus on formal education in schools. A shift to more projects focussing on non-formal or informal teaching-learning processes could "enhance the range and quality of research and research training in science education", as stated as the first aim of the ESERA association (see the introduction of this contribution).

Focus 7: Helping to Create Curricular and Structural Changes

"Creating and supporting curricular and structural changes that have been initiated by politics – looking for and cultivating the cooperation and partnership with authorities, parliaments, and other institutions". At least once per generation, i.e. almost every 20 years, policy makers and other stakeholders, e.g. teachers, unionists, parents associations, and researchers, initiate and develop new curricula and sometimes even new school structures. This is a normal and necessary process, because changes in society, values, knowledge, methods, information, and communication technologies demand for new curricula. Science educators should be part of these teams that develop new curricular and/or new teaching materials.

Example Curriculum STEM

The two cantons Basel-Stadt and Basel-Landschaft are just introducing a new curriculum K-9 in Switzerland. This curriculum includes common subjects like mathematics and nature and technology. The policy makers of the two cantons decided to offer compulsory optional subjects in grades 8 and 9 with two periods per week. These compulsory optional subjects are STEM (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics), Latin Language and Culture, Italian Language and Culture, Art and Design, Technology and Design, and Music. It should be noted that pupils who choose STEM as a compulsory optional subject have already taken the common subjects mathematics and nature and technology. Therefore, the curriculum of the subject STEM must go further than the curricula of mathematics and nature and technology. On behalf of the policy makers, a team of science educators from our university and science teachers developed the STEM curriculum, teaching units and materials, teaching notes, and background information. The curriculum comprises of 8 interdisciplinary topics, i.e. 8 units of about 16 periods each (Basel-Stadt 2017): micro-cosmos, water wheel, energy makes mobile, from the binary system to the paper plane, creative cascade, a view to the sky, robotics, and noise pollution. Each topic includes several parts, e.g. (1) creating a noise map with a smartphone, (2) what GPS is and how does it function, (3) interpretation of noise maps and conclusions, and (4) protection against noise and the psychology of noise.

Résumé Similar to the examples discussed in foci 1, 2, 3, and 5, science educators and teachers have worked together to develop new teaching units, materials, and curricula. In this case, however the collaboration was not initiated by science educators, teachers, or scientists but by policy makers. Science educators have counselled and collaborated with the politicians and administrators. The science educators were both critical friends and supportive, loyal, and cooperative experts. It is a good example of transdisciplinarity, as described in the résumé of focus 4.

Focus 8: Being Aware of His/Her Own Responsibilities

"Being aware of his/her own responsibility with regard to science and society". Researchers have always taken on responsibility, e.g. the responsibility to perform research in an honest and ethical manner or the responsibility to inform other stake-holders about possible positive and negative consequences of their research and its results. For researchers in genetics, medicine, or nuclear physics, the focus of being aware of his/her own responsibility seems to be obvious, but has this been made explicit for science educators? On the website of the ESERA association (www.esera.org), the word responsibility is missing.

Example Competence Models, Standards, and Monitoring

Triggered by PISA (Programme for International Student Assessment), over the past 20 years, several countries have developed new competence models, standards, monitoring systems, and nationwide tests (Waddington et al. 2007). Switzerland has also developed national standards (EDK 2011), new curricula, and a nationwide monitoring system. For a nation that did not use any nationwide test up until then and where the educational system is highly decentralized, the introduction of standards and monitoring were quite a revolution. The four cantons of Northwestern Switzerland went even further and introduced cantonal examinations, so-called checks, at the end of grade 3 (only mathematics and German) and grades 6, 8, and 9 in mathematics, German, French, English, and Science. The checks were a summative assessment, where a mark of check 9 is part of the final report at the end of grade 2013).

Science educators developed the checks in science on behalf of the four cantonal ministries of education. In collaboration with policy makers and teachers, the science educators had to address questions such as "Which competences should (and could) be tested? What should be the content of the problems? Which test methods can be used? What signals do we want to send to teachers, pupils, parents, and other stakeholders?" Science educators had a significant responsibility in addressing these questions. In Northwestern Switzerland, the educators decided on the following types of checks in science: firstly, the pupils, working in small groups, had to perform a laboratory experiment of 45-60 min in either biology, chemistry, or physics. A choice of three experiments was given to the science teacher, and he/she chose one of them for his/her class. The experiments were common investigations, e.g. measuring and analysing a person's heart rate during different activities and measuring and calculating currents and potential differences in electric circuits. Secondly, the pupils answered an online adaptive test, i.e. the check. This online test included two types of problems relating to the experiment that the pupil had just performed several problems on different topics in biology, chemistry, and physics. The checks were evaluated, not only by examining the results of the tests but also through the use of questionnaires and interviews with the teachers.

Résumé The check emphasizes, by its specific format, the importance of experiments in science education, i.e. firstly doing a laboratory experiment and then completing an online test relating to the experiment and other science topics. This approach gives a clear message to pupils, teachers, parents, curriculum developers, and textbook authors. The developers of these checks, which include science educators, make the decision on what type of check is used and take a lot of responsibility for this decision. They determine what type of science instruction and what type of scientific literacy in their country. However, are these developers aware of this significant responsibility?

Conclusion

In my keynote at the ESERA 2017 conference and correspondingly in this chapter, I described and illustrated science education as a balancing act between research in university, daily instruction in schools, and politics in education ministries. As researchers in science education, we should ask ourselves, what is the range and what are typical features of our research? How far and in what way do we relate our research to the policy and practice of science education? Do schools and authorities come with their needs to us and – vice versa – do we impart and pass on our research to schools and authorities?

One could ask why it is a balancing act for a single person and why it is not for our scientific community as a whole. The following reflections and conclusions are explicitly stated as *black and white*, but the reality is much more differentiated.

For the individual, i.e. for a PhD-student, a post-doc or a professor, it is of big relevance if she/he:

- (i) Is engaged in teaching and school development and by this appreciated and accepted by teachers, principals, and policy makers *or* is engaged in basic research funded by the national science foundation and by this appreciated and accepted by the colleagues of the science department and the governing board of the university
- (ii) Has broad and long experience in teaching science at different school levels and has by this the right pedigree *or* has a broad and long experience in research including sophisticated designs, instruments, and analyses and has by this the right pedigree for many university people
- (iii) Collaborates just with teachers students, teachers, and schools and is therefore a colleague of these *or* collaborates just with scientists, psychologists, educators, and psychometrists and is therefore a colleague of those
- (iv) Is a critical friend and colleague of policy makers and by this in some sense doing effective research and development *or* does not have any contact with policy makers and is by this independent but, to a certain degree, ineffective

For the scientific community of science educators, it is of big relevance if their research:

- (v) Is based on the needs of teachers and schools *or* on the demands of research and of the scientific community: Which are the "forces" and "currents" pushing their research forward?
- (vi) Is published and discussed in journals and conferences just for teachers *or* in journals and conferences just for researchers: For whom does the community publish? What are the criteria for "good" research?
- (vii) Is situated in a science department *or* in a school of education: What is the institutional frame of the research? How are the members of the community and the community itself socialized?

The seven reflections and conclusions, i. to vii., is *explicitly* black-white painting. I hope that the eight foci, 1 to 8, with their illustrative examples can be a base for more sophisticated answers, answers given by the individual and by the community.

Acknowledgement My contribution, the foci, and the examples are based on the work of many other people in schools, ministries, and universities. Thanks a lot! In particular, I want to thank all my colleagues of the Centre for Science and Technology Education in Basel, Switzerland, for their creative ideas and helpful critics, for the continuous support and wonderful collaboration.

References

- ASSIST-ME. (2016). Assess inquiry in science, technology and mathematics education. https:// assistme.ku.dk. Assessed 4 Dec 2018.
- Basel-Stadt, Erziehungs Department. (2017). MINT. www.edubs.ch/unterricht/unterrichtsmaterialien/mint. Accessed 4 Dec 2018.
- EDK. (2011). *Nationale Bildungsziele*. Bern: EDK (Erziehungsdirektorenkonferenz). www.edk. ch/dyn/12930.php. Website in German, French, and Italian. Accessed 4 Dec 2018.
- ESERA. (2017). European Science Education Research Association (ESERA). https://www.esera. org/about/about. Accessed 4 Dec 2018.
- European Commission. (2015). Science education for responsible citizenship. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. http://ec.europa.eu/research/swafs/pdf/pub_science_education/KI-NA-26-893-EN-N.pdf. Accessed 4 Dec 2018.
- Fischer, H. E., Labudde, P., Neumann, K., & Viiri, J. (Eds.). (2014). Quality of instruction in physics – Comparing Finland, Germany and Switzerland. Münster/New York: Waxmann.
- Holmeier, M., Stotz, T., Till, M., Nachtigal, S., Keller-Bauhofer, K., & Labudde, P. (2016). *MobiLab: Buchungen, Evaluationsergebnisse, Folgerungen*. http://www.mobilab-nw.ch/index. php/evaluation.html. Accessed 4 Dec 2018.
- Kanton Aargau. (2013). Checks. https://www.ag.ch/de/bks/kindergarten_volksschule/leistungsbeurteilung_uebertritte/leistungstests/checks.jsp. Accessed 4 Dec 2018.
- Koch, A. F., Felchlin, I., & Labudde, P. (Eds.). (2016). Naturwissenschaftliche Bildung fördern Indikatoren und Zusammenhänge bei Entwicklungsprozessen in SWiSE. Bern: Haupt.
- Metzger, S., Colberg, C., & Kunz, P. (Eds.). (2016). Naturwissenschaftsdidaktische Perspektiven Naturwissenschaftliche Grundbildung und didaktische Umsetzung im Rahmen von SWiSE. Bern: Haupt.

MobiLab. (2018). Mobiles Lernlabor für Kinder. www.mobilab-nw.ch. Accessed 4 Dec 2018.

- Quantum Spinoff. (2014). *Quantum Spinoff*. http://www.researchinflanders.be/en/focus-on-research/quantum-spinoff-ku-leuven-university-of-leuven-university-of-antwerp-imec/. Accessed 4 Dec 2018.
- Quarx. (2015). Quarx Series 1. http://www.screenglue.com/projects. Accessed 4 Dec 2018.
- SRF. (2017). SRF mySchool Physik, Chemie, Biologie Quarx. https://www.srf.ch/sendungen/ myschool/quarx. Accessed 4 Dec 2018.
- Stübi, C., Wagner, U., & Wilhelm, M. (Eds.). (2017). Naturwissenschaften unterrichten Praxisbeispiele aus SWiSE-Schulen. Bern: Haupt.
- SWiSE. (2018). Swiss science education. www.swise.ch. Accessed 4 Dec 2018.
- Von Arx, M., & Korsak, O. (2014). Ordnen, Strukturieren, Modellieren Diagnosewerkzeuge für einen zentralen naturwissenschaftlichen Kompetenzbereich. http://p3.snf.ch/Project-149596. Accessed 4 Dec 2018.
- Waddington, D., Nentwig, P., & Schanze, S. (Eds.). (2007). *Making it possible: Standards in science education*. Münster: Waxmann.

History and Philosophy of Science: A Lever to Teach Energy at High School



Manuel Bächtold 🕞 and Valérie Munier 🕞

Learning Difficulties and Issues

Energy is both a fundamental concept of physics and a major component of current socio-scientific issues. Accordingly, this concept lies at the core of the science curricula in numerous countries (Lee and Liu 2010; Eisenkraft et al. 2014). For instance, in the USA energy is considered as a "crosscutting concept" which helps to "organize" the "disciplinary core ideas" (NGSS Lead States 2013). However, understanding this concept is far from obvious. Energy does not depict a particular phenomenon but can be applied to a wide range of phenomena in all branches of physics; it is therefore very abstract (Warren 1982; Millar 2005). Although a definition of energy is available, namely, the one proposed by Rankine (see below), this definition remains disputed and is not always introduced in classrooms; often, energy is defined merely as a conserved quantity (Bächtold 2018). As a matter of fact, students develop a variety of erroneous conceptions (Watts 1983; Duit 1984; Gilbert and Pope 1986; Trumper 1993). Moreover, energy is embedded in a highly complex conceptual network: first, energy has several associated sub-concepts, such as the sources, forms and modes of transfer of energy; second, it is closely related to other quantities, such as force, temperature or power. As a consequence, students tend to make several kinds of confusions: e.g. they often wrongly consider work and heat as forms of energy (Cotignola et al. 2002; Jewett 2008); they tend to confuse energy and force (Watts 1983; Trellu and Toussaint 1986) or heat and temperature (Lewis and Linn 1994; Harrison et al. 1999). Finally, the principle of energy conservation is very difficult to master (Driver and Warrington 1985; Solomon 1985; Trumper 1990; Neumann et al. 2013). To apply it accurately, students need

M. Bächtold (🖂) · V. Munier

e-mail: manuel.bachtold@umontpellier.fr

LIRDEF (EA 3749), University of Montpellier and University Paul Valery of Montpellier, Montpellier, France

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_2

first to master the ideas of energy transformation and transfer; they also have to understand the notion of dissipation (Duit 1984; Solomon 1985; Lacy et al. 2014), and they must be able to identify the relevant system and distinguish it from its environment (Arons 1999; Van Huis and van den Berg 1993). As a consequence of all these learning difficulties, teaching energy appears to be a great challenge. Since the 1980s, several teaching strategies have been proposed (for a review, see Millar 2005; Doménech et al. 2007). Some of them are opposed, e.g. either for or against introducing the notion of energy transformation (Nordine et al. 2011; Falk et al. 1983; Brewe 2011) and either for or against introducing energy as a "quasi-material substance" (Duit 1987; Colonnese et al. 2012). However, no systematic empirical comparison between the proposed strategies has been performed yet. Nonetheless, a "learning progression" of energy has been identified, thanks to several empirical studies (Liu and McKeough 2005; Lee and Liu 2010; Nordine et al. 2011; Neumann et al. 2013): first, students tend to master several forms and sources of energy, then the notions of energy transformation and transfer and eventually the notion of dissipation and the conservation principle. These outcomes supply landmarks for organizing a teaching programme for energy throughout schooling. However, the following question remains: what specific teaching strategies should be developed at each stage of the learning progression so as to help students to overcome their difficulties and acquire a deeper understanding of energy?

The Contribution of History and Philosophy of Science

Several authors have highlighted the interest of history and philosophy of science (HPS) for the teaching of energy (De Berg 1997; Cotignola et al. 2002; Coelho 2009; Rizaki and Kokkotas 2013; Papadouris and Constantinou 2016; Lehavi and Bat-Sheva 2018). On the one hand, HPS can provide an accurate insight into the meaning of the concept of energy and help to conceive relevant teaching sequences. For instance, based on a "historiographical analysis" of the concept which puts forward the "causal and the unifying characters of energy", Rizaki and Kokkotas (2013) developed an original teaching approach for primary school. On the other hand, some elements of HPS can be introduced directly into the classroom. For instance, some historical experiments can be presented to students; following de Berg (1997), we consider that the historical reconstruction designed for the classroom can omit some experimental or mathematical details; what matters is to present the historical context and in particular the scientific problems, which enable students to understand why the scientists performed their experiments and how they could interpret the outcomes.

Research Questions

In line with the authors cited above, we undertook a collaborative work with teachers to build a new teaching strategy for energy at high school which relies on HPS. In this study, we aim at investigating the usefulness of HPS and more specifically the two following research questions: (i) Does a collaborative work aimed at introducing HPS in the teaching of energy help high school physics teachers to understand the issues of energy teaching and change their view concerning the role of HPS in this respect? (ii) To what extent does a teaching strategy built in the light of HPS and introducing some elements of HPS allow students to overcome the learning difficulties and reach a deeper understanding of the concept of energy? In the following sections, we present the way we built our HPS-based teaching strategy, the method for assessing it, before discussing our main results.

Building an HPS-Based Teaching Strategy

So as to build a relevant HPS-based teaching strategy for energy, we first carried out (1) a review of the literature in science education so as to identify students' learning difficulties which have to be taken into account; (2) an analysis of the French national programmes and of the French science textbooks in order to adapt the teaching strategy to the context of the country in which the study is undertaken; and (3) a historical and epistemological study concerning energy with the aim to get a new insight on the meaning of the concept and in particular to understand why the concept has entered the field of physics in the middle of the nineteenth century. Steps 1 and 2 are presented in Bächtold et al. (2014) and step 3 in Bächtold and Guedj (2014). We summarize here the main outcomes of the historical and epistemological study (step 3), which was based on secondary (and some primary) historical and philosophical sources concerning energy (e.g. Meyerson 1908; Kuhn 1959; Poincaré 1968 [1902]; Elkana 1974; Lindsay 1975; Harman 1982; Bunge 2000; Smith 2003). It is well-known that energy as we understand it today was introduced in physics when the principle of energy conservation was established; for this reason, many physicists consider that conservation is a fundamental property of energy (Balibar 2010). Nevertheless, there is another important part of the story which is less known. Let us present it in few words. Before the very notion of energy was introduced, in the first part of the nineteenth century, physicists performed a whole set of new experiments which could be viewed as "conversion" processes between different kinds of phenomena, that is, phenomena which were usually handled in different branches of physics (e.g. Faraday's electric motor experiment in 1821 which links electricity and movement or Joule's paddle wheel experiment in 1845 and 1847 which links movement and heat). In this context, energy was introduced as a unifying conceptual tool which allowed an explanation of how these phenomena were linked together, that is, how heterogeneous quantities (e.g. living force and heat) could be converted into one another: Thomson and Rankine proposed viewing these quantities as instances of the same quantity, namely, energy, and describing each conversion process in terms of energy transformation – the amount of energy being constant during the process. Moreover, to conceive the convertible quantities (e.g. living force and heat) as instances of the same quantity, they defined energy as the "capacity of a system to perform changes" (this definition being known as "Rankine's definition"): these quantities are equivalent with respect to the capacity of the systems under consideration to produce the same changes (e.g. the increase of temperature in the case of Joule's experiment). This historical and epistemological study brings to light two important points: the unifying function of energy and the role of Rankine's definition.

The fourth step of the research consisted in building, implementing and assessing a new teaching strategy for energy that relies on HPS and in particular on the points stressed above. We chose to focus on high school, at grade 11, a school year in France during which energy has to be studied in several teaching sequences of physics and chemistry. Taking into account the contents clarified in the previous steps of our research (steps 1-3), we came to develop a teaching strategy consisting of (a) a teaching sequence beginning with the study of a historical text of Joule (Joule 1847b) and centred on Joule's paddle wheel experiment (Joule 1847a) and Rankine's definition (Rankine 1855); (b) a prestructured conceptual map of energy (called "ID card") to be filled in by students during the school year, which is intended in particular to help them to differentiate various concepts associated to energy that are often confused (i.e. sources, forms, transformations and transfers of energy); and (c) the introduction of the conservation principle the first time the quantity energy is dealt with during the school year, followed by multiple applications of this principle. We would like to emphasize that the choice of introducing Joule's experiment was motivated by the fact this experiment can illustrate in a simple manner the notion of transformation between two energy forms (i.e. kinetic energy and thermal energy) which, moreover, are usually studied in two separate branches of physics (i.e. mechanics and thermodynamics). The relevance of introducing this experiment in the frame of energy teaching has also been stressed recently by Lehavi et al. (2016).

Following the "design experiment" method (Cobb et al. 2003, Sandoval 2013), we then undertook collaborative and iterative work involving teachers: collaborative so as to build teaching sequences meaningful for teachers, not too far from their usual practices, and compatible with the constraints of the school environment, iterative, that is, with two loops of implementation and assessment, in order to improve the teaching sequences.

In accordance with the national programme for grade 11, a total of eight teaching sequences involving the concept of energy (either as a central or a secondary item) were designed and implemented in each class. Let us describe in more details the HPS-based teaching sequence centred on Joule's paddle wheel experiment and Rankine's definition. This sequence consisted of three activities and had a total duration of around $4\frac{1}{2}$ h. In the first activity (around $1\frac{1}{2}$ h), teachers first provide a

document describing the scientific and technical context at the time of Joule. Students are then asked to study a historical text of Joule published in 1847 (an extract from "On matter, living force, and heat"). The first part of the text deals with the notion of living force and is used as a support for a discussion with students about the difference between force and energy. The second part explains the problem faced by Joule concerning the disappearance of living force and sets out the solution he proposed (i.e. interpretation in terms of conversion of living force into heat; experiences performed to support this interpretation). Teachers then describe Joule's paddle wheel experiment in terms of energy transformation (i.e. kinetic energy into thermal energy). Finally, they formulate and discuss Rankine's definition of energy (i.e. they discuss the terms "capacity" and "changes") paying attention to the unifying role of energy. In the second activity (around 2 h), the teachers ask students (in small groups of 3-5 students) to conceive a similar experiment with current materials available at home or in the teacher's laboratory, to perform it and to present and discuss their outcomes. In the last activity (around 1 h), students complete an exercise with mathematical calculations concerning Joule's experiment which compels the use of the notions of energy dissipation and energy conservation.

Method

The teaching sequence has been implemented in grade 11 classrooms for 2 consecutive years, with three experienced high school teachers (T1, T2 and T3) during the first loop of implementation and assessment (year 1) and two teachers (T1 and T2) during the second loop (year 2). To address our first research question (i), related to teachers' view on HPS-based teaching of energy, we analyse the two implementations. As regards the effectiveness of the teaching strategy (research question (ii)), we restricted our analysis to the results of the 2nd implementation, those concerning the first experimentation being presented in Bächtold et al. (2016). During the second year, T1 implemented the teaching strategy in 1 class (27 students) and T2 in 2 classes (35 students and 33 students). Both teachers described the students of the second year as having overall a "rather low level" in physics compared to the students in the classes they had taught in the past.

To address the two research questions, we collected the following data. The HPS-based sequence was videotaped, and evidence of students' activities was collected. Note that the detailed analyses of the videos are presented elsewhere (Bächtold & Munier, submitted). As regards teachers, three working meetings were audio-recorded in the context of which we performed semi-structured interviews, on the basis of selected video extracts of classroom activities. At the end of the school year, in the context of a final meeting with the teachers, we also gathered complementary information concerning the other teaching sequences where the quantity energy was involved, concerning the way the ID card of energy was used and the number of applications of the conservation principle.

As regards students, they were asked, during the teaching sequence, to perform an experiment similar to the one carried out by Joule ("raise as much as possible the temperature of a quantity of water in 10 minutes, starting with kinetic energy") and to make a short video of this experiment presenting the protocol and discussing the outcomes. These videos (15 video recordings of students' experiments, each 1 of an average duration of 2'30'') were analysed, focusing on students' use of the notion of energy transformation. We also proposed written pre- and post-tests to assess the evolution of pupils' knowledge about energy.

The pretest (N=95) consisted of five open-ended questions. Six questions were added in the post-test (N=87), one open-ended question and five multiple-choice questions adapted from the questionnaire of Neumann et al. (2013). This questionnaire was distributed by these authors to a large number of pupils, which allows us to have a reference level when we analyse the answers and assess the level of the students involved in our experiment. These six further questions dealt with quantities and notions which were introduced during the school year, so we considered it meaningless to include them in the pretest.

In question 1, students were asked to describe in terms of energy the following situation: a person turns the crank of a flashlight, which emits some light. We wanted to determine whether pupils were able to describe this situation in terms of forms and transformations of energy. In question 2, to determine whether students confuse energy with other quantities closely related to energy (e.g. force and power), students were asked to provide all of the energy units they know. Question 3 addressed the unifying role of energy. We remind students that the curriculum for their level emphasizes the concept of energy, and we ask them whether they have an idea about the reasons for this emphasis. We want to determine whether students spontaneously mention the unifying role of energy. In questions 4 and 5, students were asked to explain what energy is for them and what the properties of energy are. These two questions were analysed together in order to determine if students are able to provide Rankine's definition and if they spontaneously mention energy transformation and the conservation principle. The remaining questions were included only in the post-test. Question 6 concerned the gap between how energy is addressed in physics and in everyday life. We remind students that in everyday life, we often speak of "production" or "consumption" of energy before asking them whether, from the point of view of physics, energy could be produced or consumed and to justify their answer. We want to determine whether students are capable of translating these expressions into scientific terms (e.g. in terms of "transformation" or "dissipation") and what is the status they grant to energy conservation. Questions 7–11 were multiple-choice questions addressing concrete physical situations. In Question 7, the picture of a marble held at the top of a bowl is presented, and students must choose between several statements claiming that the ball has or does not have various forms of energy. We wanted to determine whether students confuse the different forms of energy or whether they associate energy with motion or with a human action. In questions 8 and 9, the picture of a ball dropped and making round trips in a bowl is presented. Question 8 aims at determining whether students are able to correctly describe the situation in terms of transformation of a form of energy into another, whereas question 9 examines whether they can explain the slowing down of the ball in terms of energy dissipation without dismissing the conservation principle. Questions 10 and 11 concern the working principle of a wind turbine that produces electricity. We aim at knowing whether students are able to explain its functioning in terms of energy transfer and of energy transformation and are capable of analysing the situation in terms of dissipation and conservation of energy. The complete questionnaire and the detailed coding grid are presented in a paper currently under review (Bächtold and Munier 2018).

Results

With regard to our first research question, the classroom video recordings and the collective semi-structured interviews with teachers yielded the following outcomes. The interviews brought out that the three teachers were enthusiastic concerning the activity based on Joule's experiment. Teachers stressed that students were very motivated to conceive their own experiment, to perform it and to film it. They then considered the activity based on Joule's experiment as a very good tool for raising students' interest for energy. They also consider that performing their own experiment allows students to make the idea of energy transformation more concrete for them, helping them to understand the notion of energy transformation.

The three teachers were also enthusiastic with respect to the introduction of history of science in their classrooms via the study of the historical text. They stressed that such an activity can contribute to the cultural literacy of their students. At the end of year 1, the teachers viewed the historical text as "too long" and some parts of it as too difficult for students to understand. They viewed the expression "living force", used by Joule, as confusing for students. This feedback led us to adapt the activity for year 2 by removing parts of this text, reformulating the questions aimed at guiding the students and proposing a slide to be projected at the end of the activity to summarize the difference between force and energy. Recall that our assumption is that the discussion of the expression "living force" is a good opportunity to clarify the distinction between force and energy. At the end of year 2, the two remaining teachers no longer considered the text too long or difficult.

Concerning Rankine's definition, at the end of year 1, teachers did not appear to understand well its role in the strategy for teaching energy. Thus, in their classrooms, they only mentioned it in passing (as we could see in the video recordings). In year 2, after longer discussions about the role of this definition in the understanding of energy, we decided with the teachers to devote more time to the discussion of this definition in the classrooms. In the interview at the end of year 2, both T1 and T2 agreed that the introduction of Rankine's definition, by discussing the terms "changes" and "capacity", was more meaningful.

The three teachers were very positive regarding the training their received through this collaborative work. They initially ignored how energy was introduced in the history of physics and had no idea of the unifying role fulfilled by this quantity.

Our meetings helped them to understand this point. At the end of the second year, the two remaining teachers emphasized that the ID card of energy was very useful in order to integrate this unifying role in their classrooms. This tool was described as a "guideline" so as to establish links between the various lessons during the year where energy is at play. The word "guideline" was used both by T1 and T2. In the view of T2, this tool could also be very helpful for his students during their next year (grade 12), as it provides an overview concerning all the aspects of energy that have been studied during this year. According to T1, the ID card "has a role of binder [...], it gives a meaning to energy throughout the school year, [this meaning being] hidden in some words, in some chapters;" otherwise, the chapters appear as merely "juxtaposed". Note that the teachers proposed adding a timeline in the ID card and using this as a means of constructing historical landmarks concerning the contribution of famous physicists (e.g. Joule, Rankine, Planck, Einstein, etc.) to the history of energy in the various domains of physics.

Finally, taking into consideration the low results concerning the application of the conservation principle year 1, we chose to introduce it earlier year 2. Teachers were in favour of this strategy, but in their view, the mastery of this principle by their students seemed to be only one pedagogical goal among others, and not the overarching goal of energy teaching.

Concerning the efficiency of the teaching strategy (research question ii), the answers to the pre- and post-tests are summarized in Table 1.

Let us provide details on some of the outcomes provided in Table 1. In question 1, the number of students providing a description in terms of energy transformation, at least of one element of the chain, increases significantly.

Concerning question 2, we note that the percentage of students able to name one or more correct units of energy without also stating an incorrect unit increases from 7% to 39%. However, the number of students providing an erroneous unit remains important. In particular, the number of students providing a unit of force remains similar between the pretest and the post-test (difference not statistically significant), which suggests that confusion persists between energy and force. Concerning question 3, the percentage of students able to mention spontaneously the unifying role of energy increases, but the difference is not statistically significant. When they are asked to provide a definition of energy (Q4), Rankine's definition or a distorted but acceptable version of this definition (e.g. with the idea of capacity) is more frequent after teaching than before, by an amount that is statistically significant.

Answers to question 6 show that a large percentage of students after teaching is able to interpret correctly the expressions "production" and "consumption" of energy, namely, in terms of energy transformations.

According to answers to questions 7–9, most students, in the specific situation of a marble in a bowl, have acquired well the notions of kinetic and potential forms of energy and are able to describe this situation accurately in terms of energy transformation. In this case, the difference from students assessed by Neumann et al. (2013) is statistically very significant. Nevertheless, the outcomes concerning the notion of energy transformation are comparable with the outcomes of Neumann et al. in the case of another physical situation (i.e. wind turbine generating electric-ity (Q10 and Q11)).

						Outcomes from
						Neumann et al.
			Skills and		Answers	(2013) (details
	Physical	Kind of	confusions	Answers to	to the	given in private
	situation	question	assessed	the pretest	post-test	communication)
Q1	A crank flashlight	Open	Notion of energy transformation	Description with a clear idea of transformation		
	nasingit			26%		
				Significant evolution		
				$(\chi^2=14.58)$		
Q2	Not	Open	Measurement	Correct(s) measurement		
	specified		units of energy	units without erroneous unit		
				7%	39%	
				Significant evolution $(\chi^2 = 26.17)$		
				Confusion with force		
				11%	7%	
				Non-significant evolution $(\chi^2=0.75)$		
Q3	Not	Open	Unifying role of	16%	28%	
	specified	1	energy	Non-significant evolution $(\chi^2=3.75)$		
Q4	Not	Open	Definition of	Rankine's definition or		
and	specified		energy	distorted but acceptable		
Q5				versions of this		
				definition (e.g. with the idea of capacity)		
				5%	40%	
				Significant evo	olution	
				(χ^2 =30,85)		
			Notion of energy transformation	Idea of transformation		
				23%	48%	
				Significant evolution $(\chi^2=12.57)$		
			Conservation principle	Conservation principle		
				5%	53%	
				Significant evolution $(\gamma^2 - 51.04)$		
06	Not	Open	Enorgy "maduation	$(\chi - 51.04)$	610%	
Q6	specified	Open	consumption" inte	rpreted in	01%	
			terms of energy tra	ansformations		
07	A marble	Closed	Notion of kinetic	and potential 86%		45%
×'	held at the	Closed	forms of energy			
	top of a					
	bowl					

 Table 1
 Students' answers to the pre- and post-tests (year 2)

(continued)

						Outcomes from Neumann et al.
			Skills and		Answers	(2013) (details
	Physical	Kind of	confusions	Answers to	to the	given in private
	situation	question	assessed	the pretest	post-test	communication)
Q8 A marble rolling in a bowl Q9		Closed	Notion of energy transformation		88%	48%
			Confusion between energy and force		6%	/
		Closed	Conservation principle with the relevant system		37%	20%
			Confusion between energy and mechanical energy conservation		16%	/
Q10 A wind turbine generating		Closed	Identification of various forms of energy and notion of energy transformation		42%	49%
	electricity		Confusion between energy and force		35%	/
Q11		Closed Conservation print notion of dissipation		ciple and	51%	31%
			Confusion between energy and force		38%	/

Table 1 (continued)

Answers to questions 9 and 11 show that the percentage of students mastering the principle of energy conservation is higher in our study than in the one of Neumann et al. (2013), this difference being statistically significant. This is the case in a situation in which they might confuse it with the conservation of mechanical energy and in which they must identify the relevant system (Q9), as well as in a situation in which dissipation must be considered (Q11). Another outcome that must be emphasized is that the force-energy confusion remains latent for many students. For example, although few of them appear to confuse these two quantities in the situation of a marble in a bowl (6%), more than one-third experience this confusion in the situation of the wind turbine.

Let us turn finally our attention to students' videos. Our analysis shows that 5 groups out of 15 spontaneously described the experiment in terms of energy transformation, 4 groups spoke about kinetic energy and heat without using explicitly the idea of transformation and 6 did not even mention the notion of energy. More details concerning this analysis are given in Bächtold and Munier (2018).

Discussion and Conclusions

Let us recall our first research question: Does a collaborative work aimed at introducing HPS in the teaching of energy help high school physics teachers to understand the issues of energy teaching and change their view concerning the role of HPS in this respect? Our case study suggests that teachers can be very receptive to the contribution of HPS. The three teachers participating in this study particularly acknowledged the insight that HPS gave them into the unifying role of energy in physics. Understanding this unifying role was very helpful for them to give meaning to the high school programme of physics and chemistry, which involves numerous chapters dealing with energy without apparent relationships. This new insight for teachers into their understanding of energy has been manifest in the interest they showed for the ID card of energy.

Overall, the teachers in this case study were very involved in the collaborative work, not only for the implementation of the teaching sequence but also for its design by making several proposals (e.g. they proposed to add a timeline in the ID card that students provide a video recording of their experiment and changes concerning the selected historical texts). This commitment can be viewed as evidence they considered the introduction of HPS meaningful in their teaching.

More specifically, although the teachers did not assign a major role to Rankine's definition, they were very positive concerning the study of Joule's paddle wheel experiment and its replication with their students. It has been identified not only as a good means for raising their interest concerning energy but also, and more fundamentally, as a meaningful illustration of the idea of energy transformation. As further evidence, let us note that one of the two teachers who took part in our study the second year is still implementing the HPS-based sequence (with Joule's experiment) 3 years later and outside the frame of our research (the other one is now teaching students at other grades).

These outcomes are in line with previous studies which emphasize the interest generated by providing science teachers with training about HPS. As Matthews (1994) argues: "many examples have been given where HPS can contribute to better, more coherent, stimulating and critical teaching of specific curriculum topics" (pp. 200–201). Irrespective of the introduction of HPS in classrooms, training teachers about HPS can give them an insight into the meaning and the role of experiments and concepts they teach.

Concerning our second research question about the effectiveness of the teaching strategy, data analysis shows that the implemented teaching strategy allowed a large proportion of students to identify correctly and distinguish the energy forms and to apply accurately the notion of energy transformation in various situations. However, this level of mastery seems dependent on the forms of energy involved: students seem to master the potential-kinetic energy transformation, two forms of energy with which they have been familiar for several years and which can be more easily associated with a system. They have more difficulties with light and electrical energy, "forms" which are not consensually defined in the scientific community and which are more difficult to associate to a system.

The comparison with the results of Neumann and colleagues shows that the teaching strategy seems more effective than a classical one for helping students to apply correctly the conservation principle without confusing it with the conservation of mechanical energy, taking into account dissipation and identifying the relevant system. It seems to confirm the relevance of introducing this principle from the

first time energy is studied in the school year and applying it several times during the year (and not only after having studied mechanical energy).

Results are more mixed concerning the energy-force confusion; depending on the context, up to a third of students made this confusion. The study of a historical text designed to discuss this confusion can be an interesting tool but can also have a possible counterproductive effect with less skilled students.

A limitation to the assessment of the teaching strategy is the relative gap between the sequence as it was envisaged by the researchers and the sequence actually implemented, due to various uncontrollable constraints of the school environment. By carrying on the iterative process of implementation and adjustment of the sequence, we may reduce this gap, better determine the relevance of the strategy and imagine possible improvements.

Even if we do not claim that HPS should be introduced systematically in science teaching, this research points out its usefulness for building new science teaching strategies and illustrates how HPS may be introduced in classrooms. Indeed, the historical and epistemological study carried out as a preliminary step of this research provided us with a new insight into the meaning of energy: in particular, it brought to light both the unifying function of the concept and the important role of Rankine's definition. These two points have been decisive in the development of our teaching strategy. Concerning the introduction of some elements of HPS directly into the classroom, Joule's paddle wheel experiment appears to be a simple and easily understandable experiment and, at the same time, a powerful illustration of the notion of energy transformation. Thereby our research shows that historical experiments can help students to understand better the scientific contents and possibly play the role of a paradigmatic example. In this regard, HPS does not merely supply a cultural extra to the study of the scientific knowledge; it appears as a reservoir of potentially fruitful tools for teaching and learning this knowledge.

Acknowledgements We would like to thank Muriel Guedj, Alain Lerouge and André Ranquet for their contribution to the development of the HPS-based teaching strategy. We are also grateful to the three teachers who took part in the research: Delphine Ferran-Broussou, Régis Galmiche and Pierre Méjean.

References

- Arons, A. (1999). Development of energy concepts in introductory physics courses. American Journal of Physics, 67(12), 1063–1067. https://doi.org/10.1119/1.19182.
- Bächtold, M. (2018). How should energy be defined throughout schooling? *Research in Science Education*, 48(2), 345–367. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-016-9571-5.
- Bächtold, M., & Guedj, M. (2014). Teaching energy informed by the history and epistemology of the concept with implications for teacher education. In M. Matthews (Ed.), *International handbook of research in history, philosophy and science teaching* (pp. 211–243). Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer.

- Bächtold, M., & Munier, V. (2018). Teaching energy at high school by making use of history and philosophy of science: A sequence based on Joule's experiment and Rankine's definition. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21522.
- Bächtold, M., Munier, V., Guedj, M., Lerouge, A., & Ranquet, A. (2014). Quelle progression dans l'enseignement de l'énergie de l'école au lycée ? Une analyse des programmes et des manuels. *Recherches en Didactique des Sciences et des Technologies*, 10, 63–92. https://doi. org/10.4000/rdst.932.
- Bächtold, M., Munier, V., Guedj, M., Lerouge, A. & Ranquet, A. (2016). Teaching energy in the light of the history and epistemology of the concept. In *Proceedings of the GIREPEPEC 2015 conference*, Wrocław, Poland, 6–10 July 2015.
- Balibar, F. (2010). Énergie. In D. Lecourt (Ed.), Dictionnaire d'histoire et philosophie des sciences (pp. 403–408). Paris: Presses Universitaires de France.
- Brewe, E. (2011). Energy as a substance like quantity that flows: Theoretical considerations and pedagogical consequences. *Physical Review Special Topics – Physics Education Research*, 7, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevSTPER.7.020106.
- Bunge, M. (2000). Energy: Between physics and metaphysics. Science & Education, 9, 457–461. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025364722916.
- Cobb, P., Confrey, J., diSessa, A., Lehrer, R., & Schauble, L. (2003). Design experiments in educational research. *Educational Researcher*, 32(1), 9–13. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/ stable/3699928.
- Coelho, R. (2009). On the concept of energy: How understanding its history can improve physics teaching. Science & Education, 18, 961–983. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-007-9128-0.
- Colonnese, D., Heron, P., Michelini, M., Santi, L., & Stefanel, A. (2012). A vertical pathway for teaching and learning the concept of energy. *Review of Science, Mathematics and ICT Education*, 6(1), 21–50.
- Cotignola, M., Bordogna, C., Punte, G., & Cappannini, O. (2002). Difficulties in learning thermodynamic concepts: Are they linked to the historical development of this field? *Science & Education*, 11, 279–291. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015205123254.
- De Berg, K. (1997). The development of the concept of work: A case study where history can inform pedagogy. *Science & Education*, 6, 511–527. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008642713225.
- Doménech, J.-L., Gil-Pérez, D., Gras-Marti, A., et al. (2007). Teaching of energy issues: A debate proposal for a global reorientation. *Science & Education*, 16, 43–64. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11191-005-5036-3.
- Driver, R., & Warrington, L. (1985). Students' use of the principle of energy conservation in problem situation. *Physics Education*, 5, 171–175. https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-9120/20/4/308.
- Duit, R. (1984). Learning the energy concept in school: Empirical results from the Philippines and West Germany. *Physics Education*, 19, 59–66.
- Duit, R. (1987). Should energy be introduced as something quasi-material? *International Journal* of Science Education, 9, 139–145. https://doi.org/10.1080/0950069870090202.
- Eisenkraft, A., Nordine, J., Chen, R., Fortus, D., Krajcik, J., Neumann, K., & Scheff, A. (2014). Introduction: Why focus on energy instruction? In R. Chen, A. Eisenkraft, D. Fortus, J. Krajcik, K. Neumann, J. C. Nordine, & A. Scheff (Eds.), *Teaching and learning of energy in K-12 education* (pp. 1–11). Cham: Springer.
- Elkana, Y. (1974). The discovery of the conservation of energy. London: Hutchinson Educational.
- Falk, G., Hermann, F., & Schmid, G. (1983). Energy forms or energy carriers? American Journal of Physics, 51(12), 1074–1077. https://doi.org/10.1119/1.13340.
- Gilbert, J., & Pope, M. (1986). Small group discussions about conception in science: A case study. *Research in Science and Technological Education*, 4, 61–76. https://doi.org/10.1080/0263514860040107.
- Harman, P. (1982). *Energy, force and matter: The conceptual development of nineteenth century physics*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Harrison, A., Grayson, D., & Treagust, D. (1999). Investigating a grade 11 student's evolving conceptions of heat and temperature. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 36(1), 55–87. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-2736(199901)36:1<55::AID-TEA5>3.0.CO;2-P.

- Jewett, J. (2008). Energy and the confused student III: Language. *The Physics Teacher*, 46(3), 149–153. https://doi.org/10.1119/1.2840978.
- Joule, J. (1847a). On the mechanical equivalent of heat, as determined by the heat evolved by the friction of fluids. *Philosophical Magazine*, *3*(31), 173–176.
- Joule, J. (1847b). On matter, living force, and heat. Published in the Manchester Courier newspaper, May 5 and 12. Reprinted in The Scientific Papers of James Prescott Joule, Vol. 1, 1884 (pp. 265–276). Taylor & Francis.
- Kuhn, T. (1959). Energy conservation as an example of simultaneous discovery. In M. Clagett (Ed.), *Critical problems in the history of science* (pp. 321–356). Madison: The University of Wisconsin Press.
- Lacy, S., Tobin, R. G., Wiser, M., & Crissman, S. (2014). Looking through the energy lens: A proposed teaching progression for energy in grades 3-5. In R. Chen et al. (Eds.), *Teaching and learning of energy in K-12 education* (pp. 241–265). Cham/Heidelberg/New York/Dordrecht/ London: Springer.
- Lee, H.-S., & Liu, O. (2010). Assessing learning progression of energy concepts across middle school grades: The knowledge integration perspective. *Science Education*, 94(4), 665–688. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.20382.
- Lehavi, Y., & Bat-Sheva, E. (2018). Integrating science education research and history and philosophy of science in developing an energy curriculum. In M. Matthews (Ed.), *History, philosophy* and science teaching: New perspectives (pp. 235–260). Cham: Springer.
- Lehavi, Y., Yosovich, A., & Barak, S. (2016). Bringing joule back to school. School Science Review, 97(361), 9–14.
- Lewis, E., & Linn, M. (1994). Heat energy and temperature concepts of adolescents, adults, and experts: Implications for curricular improvements. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 31(6), 657–677. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.3660310607.
- Lindsay, R. (1975). *Energy: Historical development of the concept*. Stroudsburg, Pa: Dowden, Hutchinson & Ross.
- Liu, X., & McKeough, A. (2005). Developmental growth in students' concept of energy: Analysis of selected items from the TIMSS database. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 42(5), 493–517. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20060.
- Matthews, M. (1994). Science teaching: The role of history and philosophy of science. New York/ London: Routledge.
- Meyerson, E. (1908). Identité et réalité. Paris: Alcan.
- Millar, R. (2005). Teaching about energy. Department of Educational Studies: Research paper 2005/11. Retrieved from: http://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/129328/1/2005_Millar_Teaching_ about_energy.pdf. Accessed 20 Dec 2018
- Neumann, K., Viering, T., Boone, W., & Fischer, H. (2013). Towards a learning progression of energy. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 50(2), 162–188. https://doi.org/10.1002/ tea.21061.
- NGSS Lead States. (2013). *Next generation science standards: For states, by states.* Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- Nordine, J., Krajcik, J., & Fortus, D. (2011). Transforming energy instruction in middle school to support integrated understanding and future learning. *Science Education*, 95(4), 670–699. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.20423.
- Papadouris, N., & Constantinou, C. (2016). Investigating middle school students' ability to develop energy as a framework for analyzing simple physical phenomena. *Journal of Research* in Science Teaching, 53(1), 119–145. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21248.
- Poincaré, H. (1968 [1902]). La science et l'hypothèse. Paris: Flammarion.
- Rankine, W. (1855). Outlines of the science of energetics. The Edinburgh New Philosophical Journal, 3, 121–141.
- Rizaki, A., & Kokkotas, P. (2013). The use of history and philosophy of science: As a core for a socioconstructivist teaching approach of the concept of energy in primary education. *Science* & *Education*, 22, 1141–1165. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-009-9213-7.

- Sandoval, W. (2013). Educational design research in the 21st century. In R. Luckin, J. Underwood, N. Winters, P. Goodyear, B. Grabowski, & S. Puntambekar (Eds.), *Handbook of design in educational technology* (pp. 388–396). London: Taylor & Francis.
- Smith, C. (2003). Force, energy, and thermodynamics. In M. J. Nye (Ed.), *The Cambridge history of science: The modern physical and mathematical sciences* (pp. 289–310). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Solomon, J. (1985). Teaching the conservation of energy. *Physics Education*, 20, 165–170. https:// doi.org/10.1088/0031-9120/20/4/307.
- Trellu, J.-L., & Toussaint, J. (1986). La conservation, un grand principe. Aster, 2, 43-87.
- Trumper, R. (1990). Being constructive: An alternative approach to the teaching of the energy concept, part one. *International Journal of Science Education*, 12(4), 343–354. https://doi. org/10.1080/0950069910130101.
- Trumper, R. (1993). Children's energy concepts: A cross-age study. International Journal of Science Education, 15, 139–148. https://doi.org/10.1080/0950069930150203.
- Van Huis, C., & van den Berg, E. (1993). Teaching energy: A systems approach. *Physics Education*, 28, 146–153. https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-9120/28/3/003.
- Warren, J. (1982). The nature of energy. *European Journal of Science Education*, 4(3), 295–297. https://doi.org/10.1080/0140528820040308.
- Watts, D. (1983). Some alternative views of energy. *Physics Education*, 18, 213–217. https://doi. org/10.1088/0031-9120/18/5/307.

An Explorative Laboratory Study: Changing Representations of Functional Dependencies in Physics Class of Lower Secondary School



Marie-Annette Geyer D and Gesche Pospiech D

Introduction

In physics functional dependencies and their representations enable us to describe, explain and investigate physical phenomena or relations. Tables, graphs, algebraic expressions or verbal descriptions representing physical relations matter as well in different teaching and learning situations, e.g. analysing experimental data or solving tasks and problems.

According to Airey and Linder (2009), students can only understand a physical concept in an appropriate way if they know how to make use of different representations. Only when they know how to extract information from these representations, construct them, and change between them, a holistic experience of the physical relation is possible. Ainsworth (2008) states as well that multiple representations can support learning and can lead to a deeper understanding in science. Yet, to take advantage of multiple representations, learners have to know how to relate them to each other and to the content they are representing. Changing between different representations is crucial for learning and understanding physics. However, there is also evidence that it is a highly complicated task for learners, especially for novices (cf. Ainsworth 2008).

So far research in physics education has investigated how students succeed in changing between different representations in the context of physics in comparison to the context in mathematics (cf. Ceuppens et al. 2018). However, researchers have not focused on how students proceed during this transformation of representations in physics. This process will be explored in the presented project.

M.-A. Geyer (🖂) · G. Pospiech

School of Science, Faculty of Physics, Chair of Physics Education, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany e-mail: marie-annette.geyer@tu-dresden.de

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_3

An investigation of the students' activities, rationales and difficulties during a transformation of representations in physics will lead to a better understanding of this process and could finally result in the design of supporting teaching and learning situations in that respect.

Change of Representations in Physics

The process of changing between or rather transforming two different representations of functional dependencies in physics can be described by the model in Fig. 1 (cf. Geyer and Pospiech 2015; Geyer and Kuske-Janßen 2019).

When students transform a source representation, e.g. a table, into a target representation, e.g. a graph, they can follow different kinds of activities. These activities (represented by circles and ellipses in Fig. 1) can be grouped (A, B, C) and mapped to either a technical or a structural translation (cf. Pietrocola 2008; Karam and Pietrocola 2010). However, a translation between two different representations does not mean that the representations themselves are translated into each other. It rather means that their elements and structures and the contents that are represented within have to be transferred in an appropriate way.

The groups of activities A, B and C were derived from the translation-verification model by Adu-Gyamfi et al. (2012) which was initially developed for linear relationships in mathematics. The definition of its elements was adjusted to fit with general functional dependencies in physics (see Table 1).

When students apply acitvities of the groups A, B or C, they could either follow (i) a technical or (ii) a structural translation. Referring to the technical and structural



A stepwise realization

inzation

structural translation

B use of characteristics

C verification of consistency

Fig. 1 Model of changing representations of functional dependencies in physics lesson. (cf. Geyer and Pospiech 2015; Geyer and Kuske-Janßen 2019)

Activities A: stepwise realization	When students follow step-by-step actions during a change of representations, similar to applying an algorithm, these actions are categorized here. For instance, transforming a table into a graph, students insert the given values as points into the frame of the graph and draw a line between them out of habit. The origin of this group of activities is the construct <i>implementation verification</i> found by Adu-Gyamfi et al. (2012).
Activities B: use of characteristics	These activities focus on using key characteristics for the translation. That can have different forms: On the one hand, students could use explicitly given characteristics, e.g. the values of the intersections of a curve with the coordinate axes in a graph. On the other hand, they could use implicitly given characteristics, e.g. the kind of dependency between the related quantities in the source representation. Furthermore, it is possible that students assume characteristics that are not correct; for instance, they follow translation processes assuming a proportional relationship between two quantities, yet the physical laws are different from this. This group of activities is based on the <i>attribute verification</i> found by Adu-Gyamfi et al. (2012).
Activities C: verification of consistency	Activities that concern a verification of the consistency of the source and the target representation are categorized in this group. It means that students check their translation process in some way after they have created elements of the target representation. For instance, they examine if pairs of values that can be calculated by a given formula are part of the graph that they have constructed as a target representation. This group of activities was derived from the construct <i>equivalence verification</i> found by Adu-Gyamfi et al. (2012).

Table 1 Brief descriptions of activities A, B and C

role of mathematics and physics (cf. Pietrocola 2008; Karam and Pietrocola 2010), these two kinds of translations describe if and how the students connect both of these disciplines in their reasoning. This distinction enables us to investigate to which extent students think about the physical meaning of the mathematical representations and relations and if they achieve new insights through it.

(i) Technical Translation

When students do not make any connection to physics and follow routines and habits and recall memorized rules, conventions or superficial characteristics, we name this a technical translation. Students stay within a formal reasoning which is, for instance, based on surface features of the mathematical relation.

(ii) Structural Translation

Within a structural translation, a connection between mathematics and physics can be detected. However, students can have a different focus on one of the disciplines or connect them in a balanced way, as, for instance, illustrated in the study of Schoster (1998):

- *focus on maths*: The students reason with the help of mathematics and finally connect or transfer their thoughts to physics.
- *balanced*: The students connect mathematics and physics in their reasoning in a balanced way. Both disciplines are strongly intertwined.

• *focus on physics*: The students predominantly reason with the help of physics and only connect their thoughts to mathematics from time to time.

When students transform representations, they can apply activities of different groups in a different order. Furthermore, it is expected that not all of the six elements of the model in Fig. 1 will occur within one process of changing between two representations.

Research Goals

In physics, changing between different representations is an important competency in order to grasp a physical relation in a holistic way. Thus, students should start to develop the corresponding skills from the start of learning physics. This project investigates the students' perspectives concerning this topic in lower secondary school. As a first step, students' existing knowledge, the way of thinking and reasoning and difficulties should be explored. Thus, this project sets out to investigate the following research questions:

- How do students work on physical-mathematical tasks that include different transformations of representations of functional dependencies?
- Which activities do they follow during the transformation of representations?
- What kind of rationales do they give for their different decisions while transforming representations?

Method

An explorative approach was chosen since it has not yet been studied how students of lower secondary school transform representations of functional dependencies in physics. The investigation of students' transforming representations was conducted by means of three to four physical-mathematical tasks. One of these tasks is presented in Fig. 2 and relates to a change from a table to a graph.

The tasks were designed in a way that they offer structural translation elements next to technical ones. Furthermore, it is not possible that students could solve these tasks only with routines. For instance, the task *Cooling process* (see Fig. 2) contains the following particularities:

- The process of cooling follows an exponential relationship that the students of the target group usually do not know. This triggers them to think more deeply about the task compared with a task with a known relationship.
- The time intervals are chosen irregularly which would not be common in a real experiment. This allows to see how profoundly they look at the data in exploring the relationship.

Cooling process

A liquid is heated to 300 °C and then taken away from the heating source. During the process of cooling the temperature of the material is measured for 30 minutes.

Draw an appropriate graph which shows the progression of the temperature of the material during the first 30 minutes of the cooling process. Describe and reason how you proceed.

The following data is known (The last value is no longer readable.).

0 th	3 rd	8 th	12 th	18 th	26 th	30 th
minute	minute	minute	minute	minute	minute	minute
300 °C	260 °C	207 °C	175 °C	136 °C	99 °C	

Fig. 2 Example of a physical-mathematical task which the students worked on

- The missing data in the table invites the students to think about the process as a whole and asks them to make predictions.
- The temperature of the environment is not given to investigate if the students consider this factor influencing the process. Furthermore, without mentioning it, a linear regression would still be technically possible.
- Choosing a material that is liquid at 300 °C and does not change its state cooling down to approximately 80 °C provides another opportunity to think about physics and not only to consider a well-known situation.

To examine the students' perspectives and lines of thought, a discussion of two students was conducted in which the test persons explained their ideas to each other while writing on an interactive whiteboard. Afterwards an interview helped to clarify inconsistencies and difficulties that had been observed.

The recorded discussions and writings of the students were completely transcribed and are analysed according to the method of qualitative content analysis by Kuckartz (2016). Thereby, students' steps are structured by means of deductive and inductive categories and allocated to the groups of activities in the model of changing representations (see Fig. 1). This will be a step towards a first validation of the model.

To increase the quality of the analysis, physics education experts and trained intercoder and interrater were included in the process: The definitions of the categories were discussed within the own research group and with researchers of other groups. An intercoder was trained in the categories derived from the model of changing representations (see Fig. 1) and coded 30% of the material. After adapting the coding manual, the intercoder agreement was 63%; Cohen's kappa was 0.6 and was calculated after Brennan and Prediger (1981). Because the categories are not thematic but evaluative, this is a good result (cf. Kuckartz 2016) and shows that manually describing all the categories works well. The rating of correct and false solutions of the students was approved with the help of a trained interrater. An agreement could be found after the discussion.

Sample

The 17 pairs of students that participated in the study in 2015 came from 8 different schools (Gymnasium) in Saxony, Germany. They were aged about 14 years. The students attended with a team partner who was their friend and usually attended the same class at the same school. In all pairs both partners had the same sex. Ten of the pairs were female, and seven pairs were male.

The grades on the students' last school report in physics and mathematics (see Fig. 3) reveal that students with different background knowledge and skills participated in the study. Usually the team partners had similar grades.

The average grades of the observed students were 2.4 and 2.5 in physics and mathematics, respectively. Although it seems that students with good grades are predominant in the sample, a comparison of 309 Saxon students of this age shows no differences (average grades: 2.3 in physics and 2.4 in mathematics).

Results: Transforming a Table into a Graph

In this article the results concerning the task *Cooling process* (see Fig. 2) are presented. Out of 17 pairs of students, 6 pairs submitted a correct solution (see, for example, Fig. 4). The results of 5 pairs were not complete, and the results of 6 pairs were evaluated as false (interrater consistency before discussion 13/17, after discussion 17/17).



Fig. 3 Physics and mathematics grades on the last school report of the 34 students that participated in the study (1 excellent, 4 sufficient, 5/6 failure). The average grades are 2.4 (physics) and 2.5 (mathematics)


Fig. 4 Result of the task Cooling process (see Fig. 2) by Julia and Rosie assessed as correct

During the change from a table to a graph, most of the students went through the following main steps:

- Choosing proper quadrant(s) and scaling the axes (different quadrants with a grid were provided at the interactive whiteboard and opened automatically when chosen)
- Relating the variables time and temperature to the axes and labelling them
- Inserting single points
- Sketching a curve
- Extrapolating temperature for the 30th minute

Students' Activities

The analysis of the data indicates that all 17 pairs applied activities that are mapped to groups *A stepwise realization* and *B use of characteristics* of the model of changing representations. Eleven pairs of students even showed retrospective elements (*C verification of consistency*).

During analysis the single steps that the students followed to represent the given data of a table within a graph are separated from each other (see Fig. 5). It can be noticed that not all three groups of activities (A, B, C) occur during every step. For



Fig. 5 Occurrence of the activities derived from the model of changing representations (see Fig. 1) in the task *Cooling process* (N = 17 pairs). The students transformed a table into a graph. Each pair of students performed several kinds of activities



Fig. 6 Appearance of the activities derived from the model of changing representations (see Fig. 1) in the task *Cooling process* (N = 17 pairs). Each pair of students performed several kinds of activities

instance, the observed students did not apply activities of group *B use of characteristics* when they inserted points. Activities of group *C verification of consistency* especially occurred when they sketched a curve or extrapolated the temperature for the 30th minute.

All three groups of activities (A, B, C) occurred both in a technical and structural way (see Fig. 6) which will be described in more detail in the following sections.

Activities A: Stepwise Realization

As expected, group A appeared predominantly within a technical translation. It is in the nature of step-by-step actions of an algorithmic character that students can apply these actions without thinking about a lot of structural elements behind it. It can lead to an efficient solving of a task. This, for instance, applies to scaling axes and inserting points. When activities of this group occurred in a structural way (12 pairs), there was mainly a focus on mathematics. For instance, some students talked about the shape of the curve to extrapolate the temperature to the last minute:

Rieke: At least it goes down. *Lena:* Thus, it must be somewhere in this lower part here. *Rieke:* And actually the descent is relatively gently. Theoretically it would continue like this, I would guess...

Activities B: Use of Characteristics

Although all 17 pairs showed activities that are classified in B, four of them related to this group of activities only in the interview afterwards. There they gave (additional) reasons for their solutions. From Fig. 6 it can be seen that activities B occurred mainly as part of a structural translation (13 pairs) either with a focus on mathematics or in a balanced way. The characteristics that the students used were predominantly connected to the kind of dependency that they assumed between temperature and time. They talked about (not) linear relations and proportional relations when they sketched the curve or tried to figure out the temperature for the 30th minute. Furthermore, this group of activities was coded in the data as well, when the students thought about the shape of the curve while they still constructed the frame of the graph, i.e. before they inserted the points.

Ulrike: I would take...this (all four quadrants, authors' note). Because for the 30th minute you don't know if it goes...into zero.

In the interview afterwards:

Ulrike: Well, firstly when you haven't anticipated yet what...curve comes out. And here you have free possibilities.

Activities C: Verification of Consistency

Activities that concern group C occurred mainly when the students had already finished the frame of the graph and were about to insert values and relations into the graph. They were performed almost evenly technically (7 pairs) or structurally (6 pairs). There were no activities of group C detected that are part of a structural translation with a focus on physics. As the students were checking single steps within the

interpretation and construction of mathematical representations, it can be assumed that this happens either in a balanced way or with a focus on mathematics if it is performed structurally.

Mostly students first started with activities coded as *A stepwise realization, technical* and then continued with activities of *C verification of consistency*. For instance, when they attempted to sketch a curve, they started with a straight line out of habit. Then they noticed that it does not fit and thought about it again.

Students' Rationales

The data reveals that the students had quite different rationales for their choices and decisions while they were working on the task. These rationales were the indicators to decide if they followed a technical or a structural translation process (according to the definitions of both of these types of translations given above). For four of the main steps referred to above, an overview of students' rationales with some examples will be presented in the further sections.

Choosing Proper Quadrant(s)

As a first step of the task, the students had to choose which part of the coordinate system they want to use to present the data in a graph. Fifteen pairs chose the first quadrant, and two pairs chose all four quadrants. Most of the students justified this step with arguments coded as a technical translation (see Fig. 7). For instance, they discussed that the values in the given table are positive, i.e. that they do not need negative values. One pair added that they usually use this part of the coordinate system in physics lessons. Some pairs stated that they only need two axes because they only have two variables (time and temperature).

There were structural rationales given as well: Students either focused on mathematics and talked about the quantities, and for these, only positive values were given. Or they focused on physics and argued that the material does not freeze, and for this reason, there are no negative values or parts of the axes required. Two pairs connected mathematics and physics in a balanced way as the following example illustrates:

- *Nuri:* Well, it cools down. When it continues dropping. [...] Well, you don't know how strongly it is dropping. [...] Okay. Yes, then we can take this (first quadrant, authors' note)...can't we?
- *Raja:* Yes, if outside, if you take it outside and there are minus 15 degrees, then it could become even colder. So this one (first and fourth quadrant, authors' note).



Fig. 7 Cited reasons of the students while choosing a proper part of the coordinate system and relating the variables time and temperature to the axes (N = 17 pairs). Sometimes one pair named several reasons

Nuri: Yes, but within the first 30 minutes. And if you look at the trend of the temperature, it isn't decreasing so drastically that it gets into the negative range.

Relating Variables to Axes

To label and scale the axes, the students had to decide how to relate the variables to the axes first. All but one pair decided to have time at the x-axis and temperature at the y-axis. Most of the reasons were again technical (see Fig. 7). They tried to recall memorized rules, such as that the time or the varied variable belongs always to the x-axis. Some took the different length of the given axes into consideration or related to conventions of presenting values in a table as the following example demonstrates:

Interviewer:	Why did you put the time here and the temperature on the y-axis?
Sandra:	Well, we needed more space for the minutes. []
Interviewer:	Could you relate them vice versa as well?
Ina:	Yeah, well, in the tables you usually have x on top.

If the rationales had a structural character, it could either be that the students focused on mathematics and, for instance, imagined the shape of the curve already:

Martin: Well, because the temperature drops we have to begin on top.

Interviewer:	Was there a reason why you put the time on the x-axis and the tem- perature on the y-axis? Or could you relate them vice versa as well?
Martin:	I guess they could be related in the opposite way, but it follows
	because the um
Ron:	<i>Eh?</i> Could you relate them the opposite way? Not at all. Then it would be like this (points from bottom right to top left). Right?
Martin:	Yes, you are right. Because the temperature is decreasing it has to godownwards. The opposite way it would go upwards to the left into the negative range.
Ron:	I guess, then it would be the wrong way
Martin:	[] The temperature would be increasing although it is actually
	That kind of doesn't work.

In the interview afterwards:

Or a balanced relation between mathematics and physics could be detected. For instance, the following pair talked about the direction of dependency between time and temperature and the setting of the experiment that lies behind the data:

Was there a reason why you related the variables like this and not the opposite way?
Well, because we wanted to represent the behaviour of the tem- perature depending on the time. Well, maybe that it will be mapped to it.
Okay. And if you would relate them the opposite way, what then?
Yes, then it would be the same but
Then you would. Well, but then you would have measured the tem- perature the whole time. And then you would say, okay, at 100 degrees well, the time, no cluewhatever. Well, 25 minutes, 55, um it exactly has the temperature 100 degrees.

Sketching a Curve

After inserting the given pairs of values as points into the graph, the students sketched a curve (or at least talked about the trend and were then asked to sketch a curve in the interview afterwards). The final results of the students showed either one straight line (3 pairs), point-to-point straight lines (2 pairs), a freehand line (8 pairs), or no curve (4 pairs).

Here again most of the pairs had technical strategies and rationales (see Fig. 8).

Some students sketched a line or even a straight line out of habit; others tested different kinds of curves. In doing so, some also talked about the monotony of the



Fig. 8 Cited reasons of the students while sketching a curve and extrapolating the temperature up to the 30th minute (N = 17 pairs). Sometimes one pair named several reasons

curve and tried to associate a kind of dependency (e.g. proportionality) with the relationship.

Relating to these rationales, some pairs connected mathematics and physics in a balanced way. For instance, they discussed as well the uncertainty of measurements to explain why the points are not at a straight line:

draws a
little bit
ctly. Now
changes
cause we
measure-

In this step, some pairs just gave a description and not really a rationale, so they could not be mapped to a technical or structural translation. Nevertheless, they talked about the monotony (6 pairs) and the kind of dependency (1 pair) and were added to the graph in Fig. 8 within the rubric "technical".

Extrapolating

As the task was to draw a graph that shows the development of the temperature within the first 30 minutes and there was solely data given up to the 26th minute, the students had to extrapolate. Some students followed a technical reasoning and tried to extend the curve until the 30th minute. Two pairs remembered the strategy to get an equation for the relationship; however, they did not follow this idea.

Only within this step of extrapolation more structural than technical rationales were observed, predominantly with focus on mathematics. Students looked at the temperature difference in the table and/or talked about the monotony of the curve to derive consequences for the continuation of the curve, as the following example demonstrates.

Enrico:	Well, I would guess at the 30th minute it is about, maybe about 75
	or 50 degrees. [] (Enrico and Emil talk more about temperature
	differences in the table)
Emil:	Well, yeah. I would estimate somewhere between 50
Enrico:	Do we say60 degrees? (marks point (30 60))
Emil:	Okay.
Enrico:	Although, when you look how the curve goes, 60 would be quite
	low. Because such a curve that flattens [] if you would connect it.
Emil:	Maybe it would be about 70, right?
Enrico:	Yes.
Emil:	Take it a bit higher. (Enrico changes point)

Others used calculation rules for indirect proportional or linear relationships to calculate a temperature with the help of the data in the table:

Well, wait. We can think this mathematically as well. [] Look,
here we have 3 minutes and here 30 (looks in the table). Then we
have to take it times 10. And because it is the other way around we
have to divide it by 10. And I guess this would be 26 degrees,
right?
Eh? Waityeah, you have to. Or you can do it like this. [] You
calculate here. [] These are 4 minutes. So we can. Wait. Here is
exactly 4 minutes difference. (compares differences between 8th
and 12th minute and between 26th and 30th minute)
Yes. []
Yeah well, these are 32degrees Celsius difference, if I am right.
(calculates temperature difference between 8th and 12th minute)
[] Well, then you actually only would have to calculate 99 minus
32 And that are 67. [] (marks point (30 67))

Discussion and Conclusion

This study gives first insights into how students change between different representations of functional dependencies in the context of physics. The analysed data points out that students show a broad range of activities and ideas while extracting information from a source representation (i.e. a table) and constructing an appropriate target representation (i.e. a graph).

All observed pairs not only followed step-by-step actions and algorithms but also attempted to use characteristics of the relation to get to the target representations. Many of the students (11 of 17 pairs) employed retrospective thoughts and tried to check or improve some of the actions during the transformation of representations. This shows that some students of lower secondary school are already able to apply strategies which would be usually expected from a more experienced learner. However, these retrospective activities were usually applied within single steps during the process and not after the target representation was finished.

Furthermore, the results show that the observed students solely applied activities during a task of change of representations that are sufficient for them to construct the target representation. This means, for instance, that the construction of the frame of a diagram and the insertion of points were dominated by step-by-step actions, whereas the use of characteristics mainly took place when they sketched a curve or extrapolated. Therefore, it is necessary to offer different kinds of tasks in learning situations to experience and train all kinds of activities.

The students employed a great variety of rationales during a change of representations. We observed that the students frequently related solely to their routines, to superficial features of the representations or to recalled rules (technical translation). Nevertheless, many students also discussed more profoundly and attempted to connect mathematical and physical thoughts (structural translation). In this case, still a focus on mathematics was observed more frequently.

Although this article is not about the difficulties of the students, difficulties emerge already from some of the students' quotations that are presented here. Difficulties can occur when students just follow their habits, when students recall rules wrongly, when they assume incorrect characteristics, when they do not check their solving process, when they connect mathematics and physics in a wrong way and so on. Further investigations about the students' difficulties will be part of this project, which also includes transformations of other representations than presented here.

In conclusion changing between representations is a complex process for the students. It requires more than a step-by-step translation. It means rearranging the given information in a meaningful way regarding the context of physics. Some details get lost and new characteristics of the embedded relation are gained or highlighted. Students should see why the use of different representations is important for a holistic understanding of physics. And teachers should help them to become expert in different representations so that they can have access to different aspects of a physical phenomenon or relation. This is only possible when the teachers know

which activities the students could apply and to which kind of rationales they could relate during a change of representations.

Furthermore, this study shows that the theoretical model that has been developed to describe a change of representations of functional dependencies in physics (see Fig. 1) goes well with the gathered data. All activities of the observed students could be coded within one of the groups of activities A, B or C. The same applies to the students' rationales: All statements that could be interpreted could be mapped to either a technical or a structural translation. Hence, the developed model can be evaluated as a first applicable theoretical framework within the qualitative research about transformations of representations of functional dependencies in physics.

References

- Ainsworth, S. (2008). The educational value of multiple-representations when learning complex scientific concepts. In J. K. Gilbert et al. (Eds.), *Visualization: Theory and practice in science education* (pp. 191–208). Berlin: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-5267-5_9.
- Airey, J., & Linder, C. (2009). A disciplinary discourse perspective on university science learning: Achieving fluency in a critical constellation of modes. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46(1), 27–49. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20265.
- Adu-Gyamfi, K., Stiff, L. V., & Bossé, M. J. (2012). Lost in translation: Examining translation errors associated with mathematical representations. *School Science and Mathematics*, 112(3), 159–170. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1949-8594.2011.00129.x.
- Brennan, R. L., & Prediger, D. J. (1981). Coefficient kappa: Some uses, misuses, and alternatives. *Educational and psychological measurement*, 41(3), 687–699. https://doi. org/10.1177/001316448104100307.
- Ceuppens, S., Deprez, J., Dehaene, W., De Cock, M. (2018). Design and validation of a test for representational fluency of 9th grade students in physics and mathematics: The case of linear functions. *Physical Review Physics Education Research*, 14(2), 020105, 1–19. https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevPhysEducRes.14.020105.
- Geyer, M.-A., & Kuske-Janßen, W. (2019). Mathematical representations in physics lessons. In G. Pospiech, M. Michelini, & B.-S. Eylon (Eds.), *Mathematics in physics education*. https://www.springer.com/de/book/9783030046262..
- Geyer, M.-A., & Pospiech, G. (2015). Darstellungen funktionaler Zusammenhänge im Physikunterricht. Darstellungswechsel in der Sekundarstufe 1. In: *PhyDid B Didaktik der Physik*, Beiträge zur DPG-Frühjahrstagung Wuppertal.
- Karam, R., & Pietrocola, M. (2010). Recognizing the structural role of mathematics in physical thought. In M. F. Tasar & G. Çakmakci (Eds.), *Contemporary science education research: International perspectives* (pp. 65–76). Ankara: Pegem Akademi.
- Kuckartz, U. (2016). Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse: Methoden, Praxis, Computerunterstützung. Weinheim/Basel: Beltz Juventa.
- Pietrocola, M. (2008). Mathematics as structural language of physical thought. In: M. Vicentini & E. Sassi (Eds.), *Connecting research in physics education with teacher education*, 2. ICPE.
- Schoster, A. (1998). Bedeutungsentwicklungsprozesse beim Lösen algorithmischer Physikaufgaben: Eine Fallstudie zu Lernprozessen von Schülern im Physiknachhilfeunterricht während der Bearbeitung algorithmischer Physikaufgaben. Berlin: Logos Verlag.

Multiple External Representations (MERs) as a Component of Special Language in Biology



Christina Beck 🕞 and Claudia Nerdel 🕞

Introduction

The main purpose of scientific education is the achievement of scientific literacy. Communicative abilities and mastering scientific language are understood as important competencies in the twenty-first century and the key to communication processes (i.e. Chung et al. 2016; Krajcik and Sutherland 2010; Osborne 2002). A plethora of verbal, visual, and symbolic representations is used in scientific education. Verbalizing and visualizing different forms of representations are central abilities for communication processes in school and university. The target of the national educational standards in Germany emphasizes these skills in the competence scope of communication (cf. KMK 2005). Central elements include an active advancement of research, literature, and construction of representations as well as assistance in switching between everyday language and scientific language appropriate to situation and recipient (cf. Stäudel et al. 2008). Studies show especially the language activity by students in class as underrepresented, while the teacher often dominates the discussion (Seidel et al. 2006). This example shows that the condition of special language being only sufficiently acquired or practiced in class. But the meaningmaking process needs verbal and visual language (Mortimer and Scott 2000). As a result, it can be presumed that the students can have some problems with technical language when entering university (Lemke 1990; Mortimer and Scott 2000). Therefore, understanding different forms of informational presentation is crucial for the acquisition of knowledge about scientific concepts, principles, and processes.

In the context of a modern education system, combinations of text and figure, so-called multiple external representations (MERs) (Ainsworth 1999), are used frequently. Exercises containing these forms of representation are often not

Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany e-mail: christina.beck@tum.de

C. Beck $(\boxtimes) \cdot C$. Nerdel

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_4

understood intuitively and trouble students of all ages (ibid.; Kozma and Russell 1997; Schnotz 2002). This process of reading and translating is cognitively demanding. For students it is especially difficult to connect single representations (Seufert 2003). These steps are an important foundation for understanding and communicating scientific structures and are crucial for solving problems in this domain (Hettmannsperger 2015; Kozma and Russell 1997, 2005). Accordingly, it is a duty for schools and universities to include the analysis and integration of more representations in class and teaching as scientific subjects rather draw on MERs instead of single representations. To promote the use of MERs in coherent knowledge structures, learners have to be capable to understand and process each of the representations as a single whole and integrate them into a mental model (Mayer 2014; Schnotz and Bannert 2003). On this account, science education should enable students to interpret, construct, translate, and transform MERs because these aspects form constituent characteristics of developing representational competence (Nitz et al. 2014; Tsui and Treagust 2013).

Current research shows no appropriate competence models concerning the integration of MER in biological science. Previous studies often either concentrate on one type of representation or refer to specific content of a biological topic (cf. Lachmayer 2008; von Kotzebue and Nerdel 2015) or illustrate learning with MER without cognitive processes (Tsui and Treagust 2013). Specifically, competence models, which support the use of a variety of different representations in schools for the integration of MER, are missing. Since not all students profit from MERs to some extent, it remains an open question, under which circumstances a learning success may be recorded and which factors influence the integration.

Theoretical Background

Specialized language is a central element of biological science education. It can be subdivided into horizontal and vertical varieties (Roelcke 2010). The former includes subjects and divisions, the latter the abstraction levels of communication and the linguistic usage types, i.e., scientific language texts. Special language is viewed holistically, and communication defined as verbalized expression and usage of a multitude of different representations (i.e. Ainsworth et al. 2011). Following this concept, scientific language is differentiated by Lemke (1998, p. 3) as a:

synergistic integration of words, diagrams, pictures, graphs, equations, tables, charts, and other forms of visual and mathematical expression

Biology lessons are characterized by an enormous variety of biology- and science-specific representations. They require context-specific, communicative competencies in learning and performance situations. Biology is characterized by technical texts showing both morphological and syntactical features as well as a variety of forms of representations simultaneously. This includes objects of nature, preparations, drawings and cut sketches, pictures, display and functional models but also bar, line and flow charts as well as chemical formulas and mathematical equations (Leisen 2015), but also especially characteristic depictions like a karyogram or the picture of a gel electrophoresis. Within the topic of photosynthesis are to be found photos of plants, microscopic shots of stomata and leaf profiles, logical depictions like line graphs showing the dependence between photosynthesis rate and external factors, as well as symbolic representations of the photosynthesis reaction balance (cf. Nitz et al. 2012). Therefore, depictions often relate to other depictions while showing a number of things at once (Jäger 2015). Process-based MERs are also frequent, in which characteristic arrows typically connect single steps (ibid.). Hence, representations are different according to the subtopic in the subject biology. That concerns their frequency as well as their underlying representation itself (Florian et al. 2015). Besides that, MERs are often accompanied by a lot of specific terminology (Enzingmüller et al. 2012). Considering the empirical evidence, only a few studies exist that investigate the extent of dependence between the content and the problem-solving ability (e.g., Lind et al. 2005). Some individual studies report on the content complexity influencing the exercises' difficulty (e.g., Bernholt 2010; Kauertz 2008). As a result, this allows to record information about the necessary domain-specific requirements for solving a problem (Schecker and Parchmann 2006).

Regarding MERs, it is necessary to consider the specific characteristics of texts, pictures, their combination, and the subject-specific features (Ziepprecht 2016). Texts are characterized by missing resemblance to the represented issue and arbitrary structure. The symbol characters are exclusively linked by convention (Schnotz 2002). For students, texts provide the advantages of being rather concrete than abstract and very expressive and that texts are easily readable based on the symbol characters' sequence (Corradi et al. 2014; Kintsch and van Dijk 1978). Whereas, subject-specific texts show impersonal style and carry features like light verb constructions, nominalizations, phrases, and complex attributes (Rincke 2010). Thus, scientific language is often conventionalized and in parts interpretable domain-specific. Pictures are depictive representations composed of iconic symbols and hence exhibit a perceptible resemblance to the represented issue (Schnotz 1994). The degree of abstraction can differ hugely between picture and context: the abstraction continuum extending from realistic over less abstract to abstract with radical reduction of details (Pozzer-Ardenghi and Roth 2010; Schönborn and Anderson 2009; Tsui and Treagust 2013). Logical pictures like diagrams contain a structural analogy of subject area and picture such as the dependent and independent variable. Furthermore, the features within the diagram correspond to those of the represented content. They show arbitrary structures which are highly conventionalized (Schnotz 1994). On the contrary, images, drawings, and sketches belong to realistic pictures, in which representing and represented features are equivalent. Dimensions can vary from realistic to schematic and from concrete to abstract. Schemas are categorized very heterogeneously in literature. They are present as realistic pictures close to reality or as schematic contour drawings (cf. Cheng and Gilbert 2015; Schnotz 1994). If the conventions are required for understanding schemas, they may be defined as drawings of different abstraction and closeness to reality. In this case, they can be assigned to the group of logical depictions (Griffard 2012). Otherwise, schematic drawings are characterized by realistic, even iconic, domain-specific, and convention-based elements (Weidenmann 1994). Such schemas are designated as semi-realistic representations and point to ascending abstraction, for example, "complex process diagrams" (Griffard 2012).

Representational Competence and Integration of MERs

Dealing with MERs requires visualization competence. "Representational competence" summarizes the mutual translation when handling with MERs and is defined as (Kozma and Russell 2005, p. 131):

a set of skills and practices that allow a person to reflectively use a variety of representations or visualizations, singly and together, to think about, communicate, and act on chemical phenomena in terms of underlying, a perceptual physical entities and processes.

The study by Florian (2012) shows more than 42% of investigated tasks in the Abitur examination demanding an information extraction or construction of a figure as approach. It implies abilities like interpreting, constructing, translating, and evaluating representations (cf. Ainsworth 1999; Kozma and Russell 1997; Rönnebeck et al. 2006). Interpreting means extracting information from one or more presented depictions and translating this information into another (e.g., text) (Mayer 2002). The construction process demands to create a new representation independently. The translation processes require comprehension in processing information and conversion between different representations (Ainsworth 1999; Schönborn and Bögeholz 2009). The integration of MERs and therefore the learning success consists of an organizing and integrating process and leads to a coherent mental model (Mayer 2005; Schnotz and Bannert 1999). It is necessary to consider principles in cognitive psychology regarding integration as well as working memory (Mayer 2005; Paivio 1986; Sweller and Chandler 1994). Further critical aspects are previous knowledge, competent reading comprehension, and willingness for deep semantic processing (Cox 1999; Schnotz et al. 2011; Seufert 2003). Students develop heightened conceptual knowledge and gain deeper understanding of specific content when working with pictures and texts (Ainsworth 2006; Hubber et al. 2010). MERs can facilitate learning and usage of higher-ranked strategies for solving problems. Different research findings document this advantage of MERs (cf. Ainsworth et al. 2002; Griffard 2012). In contrast, learners often struggle when dealing with MERs, especially where the information of text and picture is combining and integrating (Brünken et al. 2005; Levie and Lentz 1982).

Schönborn and Bögeholz (2009) complement the described processes of interpretation, construction, and translation by different types of representation and

define these as level of abstraction of a representation. A stronger focus on biology is given by emphasizing the organizational levels in biology (cf. Kozma and Russell 1997). The "cube model" by Tsui and Treagust (2013) presents all the components mentioned, distinguishing three dimensions: (1) types of representations, (2) levels of representations, and (3) domain knowledge of biology. The model presents a fundamental basis for describing learning processes when dealing with MERs and developing representational competence. Acquiring representational competence takes time and practice, while presenting factual knowledge allows for fast growth of knowledge (cf. Kozma and Russell 2005; Nitz et al. 2014). However, the three components from the cube model illustrate learning with MERs without cognitive processes. Previous studies often either concentrate on one type of representation or refer to specific content of a biological topic (Lachmayer 2008; von Kotzebue and Nerdel 2015). Lachmayer (2008) investigated the extraction of information and construction based on diagrams for the topic of photosynthesis. Von Kotzebue and Nerdel (2015) pick up these study findings and analyze the integration process when dealing with diagrams. The results of the study showed a significant difference between integration by information extraction and integration by construction. The structural model for visualization competence (Wafi and Wirtz 2016) focusses on connections of multiple representations, text-picture integration on the one hand and picture-picture integration on the other. This frequent change in representations describes especially translation and transformation when combining more than two forms of representation. In a qualitative study, Maier et al. (2010) developed and validated a categorical system for interdisciplinary task analysis considering different forms of representations of knowledge. There are certain tasks with one form of representation, integrating different forms of representations, and integration and transformation of knowledge. Current research in biology education shows no appropriate competence models concerning the integration of MERs. Neither there are competence models providing statements about the difficulties when shifting between different representations, considering fundamental design features and conventions but also the biological context. Only this can meet the needs of diverse forms of representation in classroom. Against this background, we took into account national and international standards, curricula, and school benchmarking studies but also general psychological and didactical theories and models.

Based on this, the competence model postulates three components for integrating MERs. The dimension *integration of MERs* describes the knowledge about central processes in solving tasks with representations and consists of three subcomponents: *integration by information extraction and interpretation* (MERI), *integration by construction* (MERII), and *translation and transformation of different scientific representations* (MERIII). In addition, the competence model considers three different *biological task contexts* and two *types of representation*.

A Competence Model Addressing the Biology-Specific Understanding of Pictures

In biological science education, competencies are defined (Kampa 2012, p. 43):

as learnable, cognitive, context-specific dispositions of performance enabling the solution of biology-related problems in variable situations.

The competence model focusses on the cognitive processes for the integration of MERs in different biological contexts and using different types of representations. As a result, cognitive as well as content-based features will be considered. The dimension *type of representation* consists of two forms of representation. Diagrams are still highlighted, especially the part of MERIII shall be analyzed. The focus is on diagrams in different biological contexts and not just one specific subject content. The second component of this category are schemas. The inclusion of this type of representations contributes to classifying and defining realistic and logical pictures. The dimension *biological task context* describes contexts (Muckenfuß 2004, p. 64):

as topics or topical aspects of a special subdomain (...), allowing for development of a welldefined scope of the scientific world of ideas.

Those are confined to the used special content within an exercise. In addition, these contexts relate to more or less contextualized problem situations, which serve the simplifications and clarification of concepts and therefore facilitate the application of subject contents (cf. Finkelstein 2005; Gilbert 2006; Muckenfuß 2004). The competence model refers to the model of van Vorst et al. (2014), which combines categories of contextual features based on theory. According to that, contexts should warrant authenticity, be sufficiently complex, relate to everyday life, deal with extraordinary phenomena, and ensure relevancy of treated contents. The model comprises three different biological task contexts: ecology, metabolism, and genetics. These contents play an essential role in the choice and the requirements for the written Abitur in Germany (Florian 2012). Besides, the contents exhibit a high relevance for the curricular at school and university.

Accordingly, the developed tasks are embedded into authentic everyday situations and present the subject content in a superior problem definition (cf. Finkelstein 2005; van Vorst et al. 2014). Figure 1 presents the competence model.

Aim of the Study and Research Questions

So far, it has not been investigated what forms of integration of MERs exist in general, and in what way representational competence depends on the biological context, or rather how it is influenced by other factors. This background leads to the question which aspects of integrative text-picture processing provide information concerning difficulties and complexities of tasks with MERs. To address this question, a competence model was created for dealing with MERs, which focuses



Fig. 1 Competence model addressing the biology-specific understanding of pictures

on the integration of verbal and visual representations in different contexts in order to enhance standardization of representational competence in biological science.

As a first aim, test tasks are developed by the means of the competence model. The tasks operationalize the integration of MERs (MERI, MERII, and MERIII) in the subject of biology using different types of representation (diagram, schema). Afterward the aim is to verify empirically, validate the hypothetical model, and identify further influence factors for item difficulty. These aims lead to the following three research questions:

- 1. Are different skills required for solving integration tasks, i.e., what kind of different competence constructs can be empirically confirmed concerning the integration of MERs?
- 2. Which influencing factors can be identified that generate difficulty in MER tasks in different fields of school biology?
- 3. Which personal data can be diagnosed with regard to competence profiles when dealing with MERs in different biological contexts?

Methods

Sample

Participants of the study were 548 first-year university students (48% female, 52% male). The mean age was M = 21 years (SD = 2.5 years). The study investigates students from different academic fields to achieve a high variance in the sample. Table 1 presents the distribution of the sample. It was assumed that the participants are familiar with the content as they have recently graduated from high school (German Abitur). In this context, it was important to find out if the tasks are independent of prior knowledge because the main focus of the study is the integration of MERs.

Academic field	Number
Teacher training biology	84
Teacher training	35
mathematics (and	
biology)	
Life sciences	145
Engineering	168
Mathematics	101
Other	15

B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	B6	B7	B8	B9	B10	B11	B12
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	1

Aside from the academic field, the study collected other demographic data like age, sex, and most recent grades in biology and mathematics in school in a self-disclosure.

Test Design and Elicitation Instrument

To investigate the three research questions, a booklet of test items was created. These booklets should cover the widest possible range of content and take into account a reasonable test load for the participants of the study. The item pool consists of 36 test items, chosen from the pilot study examining the model assumptions (cf. Table 2). The selected items have been proven suitable based on content and statistical parameters. We clustered three test items each in an openanswer format. We arranged the resulting 12 clusters in the test booklets based on a Youden square design (YSD) by Frey and Annageldyev (2015). The clusters appear in equal numbers in all test booklets ensuring a connection between the booklets. One booklet contains three clusters with nine test items in total. This allows us to give all test persons a realistic chance for answering. Each booklet includes two identical clusters of its precursor (e.g., test booklet four contains clusters 4, 5, 6 and booklet five contains clusters 5, 6, 7; therefore, these two booklets have clusters 5 and 6 in common). The clusters' positions within the test booklets are rotated in a way that each position is represented exactly once. The position of the test items within the clusters is not rotated (cf. Table 2).

One can therefore assume that there is a reasonable distribution, connection, and permutation of the test items in all 12 used test booklets. We choose three valid test

 Table 1
 Distribution of the students from different academic fields

Cluster	Item 1	Item 2	Item 3	Cluster	Item 1	Item 2	Item 3	Туре
1	Eco I	Gen II	Eco III	2	Met I	Met II	Met III	D
3	Gen I	Eco II	Gen III	4	Met I	Met II	Met III	S
5	Gen III	Eco I	Gen II	6	Met III	Met I	Met II	D
7	Eco III	Gen I	Eco II	8	Met III	Met I	Met II	S
9	Eco II	Gen III	Eco I	10	Met II	Met III	Met I	D
11	Gen II	Eco III	Gen I	12	Met II	Met III	Met I	S

 Table 3
 Distribution of the test items to the components of integration of MERs, considering type of representation and biological task context

items for each subcomponent of the dimension *integration of MERs* (MERI, MERII, and MERIII) and the dimensions *type of representation* and *biological task context*. In total, we used nine test items with diagrams in the context ecology and nine test items with schemas in the context genetics. To maintain the comparison within the biological task contexts anyways, both, diagrams and schemas, have been presented within the context of metabolism. This procedure allowed a distribution of n = 12 test items per subcomponent of the dimension *integration of MERs*, which is metrologically satisfactory. In clustering attention was paid to a balanced range of difficulties and ensured that each test booklet contained at least one cluster from the context metabolism and that all three components MERI, MERII, and MERIII represented all three biological task contexts. Table 3 presents the exact arrangement of the three model dimensions among the test items.

Figure 2 shows an exemplary item (PKU08MERIS) for *integration by construction* (MERII) with a schema as *type of representation* and genetics as *biological task context*.

Implementation of the Study

We conducted a pilot and a subsequent main study. The aim of the pilot testing was examining the constructed test items according to the competence model and designing a categorical framework for coding open test exercises which we elaborated using the qualitative content analysis (Mayring 2000). We evaluated the framework by two independent raters and coded the open test items by means of a coding manual (Cohen's kappa $\kappa = 0.80$). In the pilot and main study, the competence test was done in writing, using the 12 test booklets (cf. Table 2). The test time was 45 min in total. At least 95 and up to 131 students answered each of the 36 test items. We analyzed the data with one- and multidimensional Rasch models to determine forms and dimensions of representational competence and to review the postulated model structure.

Phenylketonuria (PKU) is a hereditary disease. It leads to metabolism disorders and eventually severe mental disability. Diseased people lack the enzyme degrading the amino acid phenylalanine to tyrosine. This results in heightened phenylalanine levels and simultaneously in tyrosine deficiency in the blood. PKU is inherited autosomal recessive, viz. diseased people have the genotype aa, healthy people the genotype AA. Carriers of the disease are heterozygote, they have the genotype Aa.

The family tree shown below belongs to the family Huber and shows the inheritance of PKU throughout the generations.

Analyze and interpret the family tree of family Huber considering the genotype Aa. Therefore, assign the genotypes AA, Aa or aa to the persons 1-12 and fill out the boxes below.



Fig. 2 Example item: the metabolic disorder phenylketonuria

Data Analysis

The specification of individual competence can be estimated with the Rasch model. This method makes it possible to compare the results of the participants of the different test booklets. The evaluation of the data is based on models of item response theory (IRT). The data has been analyzed by IBM SPSS Statistics 22 and ACER ConQuest. ConQuest models the probability of a correct answer by a logistic function. With regard to the research questions 2 and 3, the aim was to figure out with which probability a person knowing the item difficulty and person's ability solves an item correctly or not (Bühner 2011). In addition we consulted the Wright Map for examination of the range of abilities. The Wright Map plots the person parameters and the item difficulties on a joint logit scale. The determination of reliability of a test is made on EAP/PV reliability whose value equals the Cronbach's alpha in classical test theory (Rost 2004). We determined the quality of single items in the Rasch models using a fit statistic (Moosbrugger 2012). As reference, we consulted the weighted mean square (wMNSQ) with an ideal expectation of 1.0 (Bond and Fox 2007). Values between 0.8 and 1.2 indicate that the items are

61

Rasch-compliant (ibid.; Wright and Linacre 1994). Therefore, we even checked the T value as an additional inference statistical assessment.

We used multidimensional Rasch models measuring various forms of a competence. According to the framework of our competence model for integrating MERs, we assumed that the best fit persists empirically by the three-dimensional model consisting the components MERI, MERII, and MERIII. There are several possible measurement models: (1) one-dimensional model representing the integration of MERs with precisely one dimension; (2) two-dimensional model assigning the 12 test items of the dimension MERIII to either dimension MERI or the dimension MERII, in this case, the assignment followed by output text (assignment to MERI) or picture (assignment to MERII); (3) two-dimensional model distinguishing between the integration with diagrams and with schemas; and (4) three-dimensional model differentiating the integration amidst the contexts of ecology, metabolism, and genetics. The model fit must be verified concerning the interpretation of the competence test. Therefore, we calculated different Rasch models and, based on the data, analyzed different information criteria (AIC, BIC, CAIC) with regard to their adjustment (Rost 2004). We conducted further regression analyses to examine all relevant variables influencing the item difficulty to answer research question 2.

Results

Multidimensionality and Representational Competence

The fit statistics of the item parameter of the one-dimensional model are satisfactory (0.80 < wMNSQ < 1.20, T < 1.96, item separation reliability >0.97) and correspond to the quality criteria which are customary in the probabilistic test theory (Rost 2004).

The model with the lowest value of the BIC shows the best adjustment to the empirical data relating the final deviance (1D: 5250.84, $2D_{MER}$: 5242.51, $2D_{type}$: 5247.92, $3D_{MER}$: 5242.98, $3D_{con}$: 5241.36) to the number of parameters (1D: 37, 2D: 39, 3D: 42) and considering the sample size (N = 548). With regard to research question 1, the findings support the two-dimensional competence model, where the test items of the component MERIII were divided between MERI and MERII. Also regarding the information criteria (AIC, BIC, CAIC), the two-dimensional model shows a better adjustment than the other possible models for integration of MERs (BIC_{1D}: 5352.18, BIC_{2DMER}: 5349.32, BIC_{2Dtype}: 5354.73, BIC_{3DMER}: 5358.01, BIC_{3Dcon}: 5356.39).

Aside from that, we calculated the latent correlations between the individual dimensions. The latent correlation is r = 0.56 between the components MERI and MERII. This value is below r = 0.90, and so the answer is also the $2D_{MER}$ -model (Bond and Fox 2007). It allows us to assume two separate constructs for the integration of MERs. Figure 3 depicts the Wright Map distributing the person parameters and the item parameters at a two-dimensional Rasch model ($2D_{MER}$).

3	ion	1	 25
•	I by informat and interpreta MERI	gration by struction MERII	 4
4			
	x lor at		i
	bo U xx	I XX	i
	xxx tra	I XXX	117
		XXX	1
	XXXX	I XXXX	18
	XXXXX	I XXXXXXX	6 21 34 36
	XXXXX	XXXXXX	20 30
1	XXXXXXXX		
	**********		131
	XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX		115 24
	*****		113
	******	i xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx	14 16 23 33
	XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX	XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX	22
	*****	XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX	13 5 26 27 32
0	*****	I XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX	1 8 19
	*****	XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX	17 29
	*****		1.05
	~~~~~~~~~~		135
	******************	1 ************	110
	XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX		1 10
	XXXXXXXXXXXX	xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx	i
	XXXXXXXXXX	XXXXXXXXXXXX	i .
-1	XXXXXXXXX	XXXXXXXXX	12
	XXXXX	I XXXXXXX	1
	XXXXX	XXXXXX	111 28
	XXXX	XXXXX	12
	XXXX		
	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	1	
	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		
	x	I X	i
-2		I X	i
	x	I X	1
		I	I
		I X	1
		1	1

Fig. 3 The Wright Map shows person ability and item difficulty on the same logit scale

# Item Analyses

With regard to research question 2, we investigated the influence of various task characteristics on the item difficulty. For this, we used the item difficulties determined by one-dimensional Rasch scaling. We examined if the medium item difficulty of the defined constructs in the competence model (integration of MERs,

	M	SD		M	SD
MERI	0.05	0.87	MERII	0.79	0.71
$MERI_metabolism_D (n = 6)$	0.56	1.20	$MERII_ecology_D (n = 4)$	1.04	1.11
$MERI_metabolism_S (n = 6)$	0.14	0.39	$MERII_metabolism_D (n = 3)$	1.02	0.59
$MERI_ecology_D (n = 5)$	-0.73	0.52	$MERII_metabolism_S (n = 3)$	0.82	0.46
$MERI_genetics_S (n = 3)$	-0.97	0.45	$MERII_genetics_S (n = 6)$	0.50	0.59

 Table 4
 Item difficulty within the competence model and focus on dealing with MERs and biological contexts

type of representation, biological task context) is statistically different. Descriptive analyses relating to the item difficulty are shown in Table 4.

The analysis shows a significant difference in item difficulty between the components MERI and MERII (t(34) = -2.775, p < 0.01, d = 0.74). The value of the medium item difficulty of MERI tasks is M = 0.05 (SD = 0.87) and that of MERII tasks is M = 0.79 (SD = 0.71). Hence, the most difficult tasks to resolve were those requiring an integration by construction (MERII).

The multiple regression analysis for the prediction of the task difficulty shows that the *integration of MERs* is the strongest predictor for representational competence. Both components, MERI and MERII, have a significant influence on item difficulty (F(4,31) = 4.250, p < 0.01,  $R^2 = 0.35$ ,  $R^2_{corr.} = 0.27$ ; MER: t = 3.594, p < 0.01). The component *type of representation* is not statistically relevant. Regarding the *biological task context*, the results reveal a significant influence only on the item difficulty for genetics (t = -2.666, p < 0.05), but not for the contexts ecology or metabolism.

#### **Competency** Analyses

The person parameters of the two-dimensional Rasch model will be required to explain the differences in competence in performing tasks with MERs and between students of different academic fields. This leads us to answering research question 3. The findings indicate that there are differences in person abilities (z = -8.783, p < 0.001, N = 545, cf. Fig. 4) between the components MERI ( $M_{\theta} = -0.01$  Logits, SD = 0.05) and MERII ( $M_{\theta} = -0.65$  Logits, SD = 0.05).

Moreover, we recorded significant differences in person abilities between tasks with diagrams or schemas (z = -4.574, p < 0.001, N = 547). Average person ability for tasks with diagrams is  $M_{\rm D} = -0.52$  (SD = 0.05) and for tasks with schemas is  $M_{\rm S} = -0.19$  (SD = 0.05). The one-way ANOVA with repeated measures shows significant differences in the achievement of students regarding the biological task context ( $X^2(2) = 12.695$ , p < 0.001, N = 521). Average person ability amounts  $M_{\rm Eco} = -0.36$  (SD = 0.05) for ecology,  $M_{\rm Met} = -0.44$  (SD = 0.06) for metabolism, and  $M_{\rm Gen} = -0.09$  (SD = 0.05) for genetics. The Bonferroni method for pairwise comparison shows that the context genetics differs from the context ecology as well



Fig. 5 (a-c) Examples of answers for the test item PKU08MERIS

as from the context metabolism. The difference between the context ecology and metabolism is not statistically significant. Significant differences in the degree programs only show up between life sciences and engineering.

# **Examples of Answers**

We found out that students have problems on the level of the genotype (cf. Fig. 5).

In the first example, one sees that the test person had difficulties in matching the genotypes. This applies both to reading the data and interpreting the given symbols. In the second example, the concept of the recessive inheritance has been understood. This participant assigned healthy people and carriers of the disease PKU to the right symbols. However, the participant was unable to allocate these points to persons 8, 9, and 10 in Fig. 5b. In the third example, it is unclear which of the concepts the test person has understood. This is particularly noticeable regarding the incorrect assignment of the genotypes to persons 1 and 2.

In the framework of a qualitative study, we analyzed the answers of the sample examined. The following are examples of reasons of different test persons for the assignment of the genotypes:

Recessive means that a disease can be inherited although the trigger is not part to the dominant genes of the parents. Carriers and infected persons are exclusively women. Children do not have to fall ill, only in the case of a dominant gene.

As the preceding example illustrates, the connection between genotype and phenotype is not clear. The understanding of a recessive inheritance could not be transferred to the family tree. One of the reasons for this is that the change from phenomenal level does not succeed to the distribution of alleles:

No. 4 refers to an infected person and the person carries the genotype aa. No. 3 refers to the father, which has the genotype AA. The children may have the genotype AA or Aa. We can say that the children are healthy, because PKU is inherited recessively. However, a child that has the genotype Aa can have children with the genotype aa, if this person mate with a person having genotype Aa or aa. No. 6 carries the genotype Aa and is, therefore, healthy. Person No. 7 has genotype aa. The descendants have the genotype aa (No. 11) and Aa (No. 12).

This example shows the correct identification and assignment of diseased children. However, the connection has not been understood between carriers of the disease and healthy persons, viz., there is a lack of understanding at genotype level and at inheritance of alleles.

Nos. 1 and 2 and No. 6 are carriers of the disease. Nos. 3 and 4 only have healthy children. For this reason, No. 3 must have the genotype AA.

One can see that the connection is incompletely understood only between the carriers of the disease and healthy persons, viz., there is a lack of understanding of the genotype of diseased persons with the alleles aa, and therefore children of diseased persons are always carriers of the disease.

#### **Discussion and Practical Implications**

The study focused on learning with MERs, i.e., with more than one representation, and integration of these MERs in different biological contexts. The findings presented above indicate that in order to develop representational competence, various competences interacting with MERs are crucial.

The results confirm two distinguished cognitive processes: (1) *integration by information extraction and interpretation* (MERI) and (2) *integration by construction* (MERI). This differentiation is in line with the findings of previous studies regarding the output of a task solution. Thus, the information extraction from a diagram with the output text represents a different ability from constructing a diagram (e.g., Lachmayer 2008; von Kotzebue and Nerdel 2012). This study also found typical difficulties in dealing with diagrams such as choosing the wrong diagram type, wrong scaling, or mixing up dependent and independent variables.

The picture-based construction (MERII) is particularly difficult for students. We found that the partial competences, MERI and MERII, affect item difficulty, whereas the biological context is less critical than the demand of mapping between representations itself. We revealed significant differences between the two types of representation (diagram, schema). If learners do not understand that the energy at different nutritional levels is illustrated by the bar width, they will struggle more with interpreting this form of representation (cf. Ziepprecht 2016). The study of Schnotz et al. (2011) shows that the degree of abstraction of a representation affects the difficulty of a task and consequently tasks containing realistic pictures are more difficult to solve. Brandstetter-Korinth (2017) determined the contrary by demonstrating that learners understand better realistic pictures than abstract variations. Therefore, many components play a role, such as abstraction, convention, as well as the used elements and their relation to one another. The presented results also show that students often use only one representation and the actual text-picture integration is missing. This indicates that there is a lack of learning possibilities and application situations distinguishing various types of representations (cf. McElvany et al. 2010). We found significant differences between tasks in the biological context metabolism and genetics as well as between ecology and genetics. Contrary to the expectations that tasks in the context genetics being particularly hard to solve because they demand special prior knowledge of conventions, these tasks have been solved most successfully. The participants answered the tasks in the context metabolism less successful followed by tasks in ecology. One reason for this might be the increased requirement of physical and chemical concepts applied in a biological context. This transfer seems to be the obstacle. Dealing with MERs requires specific abilities from learners. The study of Ainsworth et al. (2002) showed that working on a task is influenced by the type of representation and the degree of abstraction of a logical picture. Our study confirms these results as well. Therefore, the text-picture integration will only be successful if every representation is understood individually, related to one another, and will integrate into a mental model (cf. Cheng and Gilbert 2015; Mayer 2014). The findings only show a significant effect on item difficulty for the biological task context genetics. It is noticeable that mathematics students show the highest ability values in these tasks. This opens up the question to what extent the knowledge and the comprehension of conventions of a specific figure type reduce item difficulty. And on the other side what influence has mathematical (prior) knowledge.

We can offer practical recommendations for higher education, teacher training, and school practice. The developed competence model can sensitize education experts and (prospective) teachers to practice continuously the abilities for dealing with MERs in different contexts and to rehearse design principles (cf. Kozma and Russell 2005; Wafi and Wirtz 2016). The construction of diagrams and schemas should be promoted reflectively and interdisciplinary using different approaches. The findings of the study show that the integration of MERs is less dependent on the content but on the reading and translation skills. As a result, it is necessary to work out and to relate to the complementary information explicitly. For that, teachers can use integration assistances and cognitive processing approaches that

help to clarify the integration for learners with learning difficulties step by step (e.g., Corradi et al. 2012). Competency-based tasks promote communicative skills. They can also be used for the diagnosis of and the feedback about difficulties in handling representations (e.g., Beck and Nerdel 2016). The presented competence model provides information about dimensions and manifestations of biologyspecific competences in dealing with MERs. The model closes the research gab by focusing on text-picture integration and discussing requirements of upper secondary level. The analysis of the competence distribution leads to possible levels in competences within the MER integration. These can be defined post hoc and validated within the framework of continuing research. The cognitive demands can be specified within the MER integration more precisely by assigning test items to competence levels. This allows a subsequent competence-related feedback. Therefore, differentiated evaluation becomes possible, which creates favorable conditions for learning and motivation (Harks et al. 2014). Regarding the figure type, further analyses are necessary. They should be linked to existing research about logical pictures and abstract schemas in different biological contexts (Ainsworth 2006; Brandstetter-Korinth 2017; Lohse et al. 1994) as well as analyzing highly conventionalized pictures separately in static and dynamic pictures (e.g., Ainsworth et al. 2002; Wu et al. 2015). Such investigations highlight the influence of representational conventions on competence levels. Finally, the competence model will be applied interdisciplinarily if the technical context is varied systematically across all three sciences and at constant kind of switching representations. For this, studies might be ideal which collect data collectively by all three sciences and by mathematics education and which foster interdisciplinary cooperation in stem education at university.

We hope this chapter is useful in promoting lecturers' awareness of the benefits of integrating MERs to student learning. In this regard, this chapter should contribute toward the development of relevant learning materials in different academic fields.

#### References

- Ainsworth, S. E. (1999). The functions of multiple representations. *Computers and Education*, 33(2–3), 131–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0360-1315(99)00029-9.
- Ainsworth, S. E. (2006). DeFT: A conceptual framework for considering learning with multiple representations. *Learning and Instruction*, 16(3), 183–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. learninstruc.2006.03.001.
- Ainsworth, S. E., Bibby, P. A., & Wood, D. J. (2002). Examining the effects of different multiple representational systems in learning primary mathematics. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 11, 25–62. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327809JLS1101_2.
- Ainsworth, S. E., Prain, V., & Tytler, R. (2011). Drawing to learn in science. *Science*, *333*(6046), 1096–1097. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1204153.
- Beck, C., & Nerdel, C. (2016). Bildverständnis im Biologieunterricht diagnostizieren und fördern. Unterricht Biologie, 417, 38–43.

- Bernholt, S. (2010). Kompetenzmodellierung in der Chemie Theoretische und empirische Reflexion am Beispiel des Modells hierarchischer Komplexität (Studien zum Physik- und Chemielernen, Bd. 98). Berlin: Logos Verlag.
- Bond, T. G., & Fox, C. M. (2007). *Applying the Rasch model. Fundamental measurement in the human sciences* (2. Auflage). Mahwah [u.a.]: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers.
- Brandstetter-Korinth, M. (2017). Abbildungen im Biologieunterricht (Biologie lernen und lehren, Bd. 19). Berlin: Logos Verlag.
- Brünken, R., Seufert, T., & Zander, S. (2005). Förderung der Kohärenzbildung beim Lernen mit multiplen Repräsentationen. Zeitschrift für Pädagogische Psychologie, 19(1/2), 61–75. https:// doi.org/10.1024/1010-0652.19.12.61.
- Bühner, M. (2011). *Einführung in die Test- und Fragebogenkonstruktion* (Psychologie, 3., aktual. und erw. Auflage). München: Pearson Studium.
- Cheng, M. M., & Gilbert, J. K. (2015). Students' visualization of diagrams representing the human circulatory system: The use of spatial isomorphism and representational conventions. *International Journal of Science Education*, 37(1), 136–161. https://doi.org/10.1080/0950069 3.2014.969359.
- Chung, Y., Yoo, J., Kim, S.-W., Lee, H., & Zeidler, D. L. (2016). Enhancing students' communication skills in the science classroom through socioscientific issues. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 14(1), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-014-9557-6.
- Corradi, D., Elen, J., & Clarebout, G. (2012). Understanding and enhancing the use of multiple external representations in chemistry education. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 21(6), 780–795. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-012-9366-z.
- Corradi, D., Elen, J., Schraepen, B., & Clarebout, G. (2014). Understanding possibilities and limitations of abstract chemical representations for achieving conceptual understanding. *International Journal of Science Education*, 36(5), 715–734. https://doi.org/10.1080/095006 93.2013.824630.
- Cox, R. (1999). Representation construction, externalized cognition and individual differences. *Learning and Instruction*, 9(4), 343–363. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4752(98)00051-6.
- Enzingmüller, C., Nerdel, C., & Prechtl, H. (2012). Lehrerüberzeugungen zur Fachsprache im Biologieunterricht. In M. Gläser-Zikuda, T. Seidel, C. Rohlfs, A. Gröschner, & S. Ziegelbauer (Eds.), *Mixed Methods in der empirischen Bildungsforschung* (pp. 183–194). Münster [u.a.]: Waxmann.
- Finkelstein, N. (2005). Learning physics in context: A study of student learning about electricity and magnetism. *International Journal of Science Education*, 27, 1187–1209. https://doi. org/10.1080/09500690500069491.
- Florian, C. (2012). Abituraufgaben im Fach Biologie. Schwierigkeitsbestimmende Merkmale schriftlicher Pr
  üfungsaufgaben (Biologie lernen und lehren, Bd. 4). Berlin: Logos Verlag.
- Florian, C., Schmiemann, P., & Sandmann, A. (2015). Aufgaben im Zentralabitur Biologie eine kategoriengestützte Analyse charakteristischer Aufgabenmerkmale schriftlicher Abituraufgaben. Zeitschrift für Didaktik der Naturwissenschaften, 21(1), 69–86. https://doi. org/10.1007/s40573-015-0026-8.
- Frey, A., & Annageldyev, M. (2015). Youden. A program for the construction of booklet designs (Version 1.0) [Computer Software]. Jena: Friedrich Schiller University, Germany.
- Gilbert, J. K. (2006). On the nature of "context" in chemical education. *International Journal of Science Education*, 28(9), 957–976. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500690600702470.
- Griffard, P. B. (2012). Deconstructing and decoding complex process diagrams in university biology. In D. F. Treagust & C.-Y. Tsui (Ed.), *Multiple representations in biological education* (pp. 165–183). Dordrecht [u.a.]: Springer. 10.1007/978-94-007-4192-8_10.
- Harks, B., Rakoczy, K., Hattie, J., Besser, M., & Klieme, E. (2014). The effects of feedback on achievement, interest and self-evaluation: The role of feedback's perceived usefulness. *Educational Psychology*, 34(3), 269–290. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2013.785384.

- Hubber, P., Tytler, R., & Haslam, F. (2010). Teaching and learning about force with a representational focus: Pedagogy and teacher change. *Research in Science Education*, 40, 5–28. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11165-009-9154-9.
- Jäger, S. (2015). Repräsentationen im Biologieunterricht eine qualitative Studie zur Perspektive von Lernenden. Kassel: Universität Kassel.
- Kampa, N. N. (2012). Aspekte der Validierung eines Tests zur Kompetenz in Biologie. Eine Studie zur Kompetenz in Biologie und ihren Teildimensionen Konzept- und Prozesswissen. Dissertation, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin. Berlin.
- Kauertz, A. (2008). Schwierigkeitserzeugende Merkmale physikalischer Leistungstestaufgaben (Studien zum Physik- und Chemielernen, Bd. 79). Berlin: Logos Verlag.
- Kintsch, W., & van Dijk, T. A. (1978). Toward a model of text comprehension and production. *Psychological Review*, 85, 363–394. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.85.5.363.
- KMK = Sekretariat der Ständigen Konferenz der Kultusminister der Länder in der Bundesregierung Deutschland. (2005). Beschlüsse der Kultusministerkonferenz – Bildungsstandards im Fach Biologie für den mittleren Bildungsabschluss (Beschluss vom 16. Dezember 2004). München: Wolters Kluwer.
- Kozma, R., & Russell, J. (1997). Multimedia and understanding: Expert and novice responses to different representations of chemical phenomena. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 34(9),949– 968. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-2736(199711)34:9<949::AID-TEA7>3.0.CO;2-U.
- Kozma, R., & Russell, J. (2005). Students becoming chemists: Developing representational competence. In J. K. Gilbert (Ed.), *Visualizations in science education* (pp. 121–146). Dordrecht: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-3613-2_8.
- Krajcik, J. S., & Sutherland, L. M. (2010). Supporting students in developing literacy in science. *Science*, 328(5977), 456–459. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1182593.
- Lachmayer, S. (2008). Entwicklung und Überprüfung eines Strukturmodells der Diagrammkompetenz für den Biologieunterricht. Elektronische Dissertation, Christian-Albrechts-Universität, Kiel, Germany. http://d-nb.info/1019667389/34. Accessed 20 Dec 2018.
- Leisen, J. (2015). Fachlernen und Sprachlernen! Verband zur Förderung des MINT-Unterrichts, 68(3), 132–137.
- Lemke, J. L. (1990). Talking science: Language, learning, and values. Norwood: Ablex Publishing Corporation.
- Lemke, J. L. (1998). Teaching all the languages of science: Words, symbols, images, and actions. Paper presented at the international conference on ideas for a scientific culture, Barcelona, Spain. http://academic.brooklyn.cuny.edu/education/jlemke/papers/barcelon.htm. Accessed 20 Dec 2018.
- Levie, H., & Lentz, R. (1982). Effects of text illustrations: A review of research. *Educational Communication and Technology Journal*, 30(4), 195–232. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF02765184.
- Lind, G., Friege, G., & Sandmann, A. (2005). Selbsterklären und Vorwissen. Empirische Pädagogik, 19(1), 1–27.
- Lohse, G. L., Biolski, K., Walker, N., & Schmidt, J. D. (1994). A classification of visual representations. *Communications of the ACM*, 37(12), 36–49. https://doi.org/10.1145/198366.198376.
- Maier, U., Kleinknecht, M., Metz, K., Schymala, M., & Bohl, T. (2010). Entwicklung und Erprobung eines Kategoriensystems für fächerübergreifende Aufgabenanalyse. In Schulpädagogische Untersuchung Nürnberg, (Forschungsbericht Nr. 38). Erlangen-Nürnberg: Friedrich-Alexander-Universität.
- Mayer, R. E. (2002). Cognitive theory and the design of multimedia instruction: An example of the two-way street between cognition and instruction. *New Directions for Teaching & Learning*, 89, 55–71. https://doi.org/10.1002/tl.47.

- Mayer, R. E. (2005). Cognitive theory of multimedia learning. In R. E. Mayer (Ed.), *The Cambridge handbook of multimedia learning* (pp. 1–48). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Mayer, R. E. (2014). Cognitive theory of multimedia learning. In R. E. Mayer (Ed.), *The Cambridge handbook of multimedia learning* (pp. 43–71). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Mayring, P. (2000). Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung (Online Jounal). https://www.ph-freiburg.de/fileadmin/dateien/fakultaet3/sozialwissenschaft/Quasus/ Volltexte/2-00mayring-d_qualitativeInhaltsanalyse.pdf. Accessed 20 Dec 2018.
- McElvany, N., Schroeder, S., Richter, T., Hachfeld, A., Baumert, J., Schnotz, W., Horz, H., & Ullrich, M. (2010). Texte mit instruktionalen Bildern als Unterrichtsmaterial – Kompetenzen der Lehrkräfte. Unterrichtswissenschaft, 38, 98–116. https://doi.org/10.3262/UW1002098.
- Moosbrugger, H. (2012). Item-Response-Theorie (IRT). In H. Moosbrugger & A. Kelava (Eds.), *Testtheorie und Fragebogenkonstruktion* (pp. 227–274). Berlin: Springer.
- Mortimer, E. F., & Scott, P. H. (2000). Analysing discourse in the science classroom. In J. Leach, R. Millar, & J. Osborne (Eds.), *Improving science education: The contribution of research* (pp. 126–142). Milton Keynes: Open University Press.
- Muckenfuß, H. (2004). Themen und Kontexte als Strukturelemente des naturwissenschaftlichen Unterrichts – Zu den Schwierigkeiten systematisches Physiklernen zu organisieren. *Phy-Did*, 2/3, 57–66.
- Nitz, S., Nerdel, C., & Prechtl, H. (2012). Entwicklung eines Erhebungsinstruments zur Erfassung der Verwendung von Fachsprache im Biologieunterricht. Zeitschrift für Didaktik der Naturwissenschaften, 18, 117–139.
- Nitz, S., Ainsworth, S. E., Nerdel, C., & Prechtl, H. (2014). Do student perceptions of teaching predict the development of representational competence and biological knowledge? *Learning* and Instruction, 31, 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2013.12.003.
- Osborne, J. (2002). Science without a literacy: A ship without a sail? *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 32(2), 203–218. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057640220147559.
- Paivio, A. (1986). Mental representations: A dual coding approach. New York: Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195066661.001.0001.
- Pozzer-Ardenghi, L., & Roth, W.-M. (2010). Toward a social practice perspective on the work of reading inscriptions in science texts. *Reading Psychology*, 31(3), 228–253. https://doi. org/10.1080/02702710903256361.
- Rincke, K. (2010). Alltagssprache, Fachsprache und ihre besonderen Bedeutungen für das Lernen. Zeitschrift für Didaktik der Naturwissenschaften, 16, 235–260.
- Roelcke, T. (2010). *Fachsprachen* (3., neu bearb. Auflage, Grundlagen der Germanistik 37). Berlin: Erich Schmidt Verlag.
- Rönnebeck, S., Schöps, K., Prenzel, M., & Hammann, M. (2006). Naturwissenschaftliche Kompetenzen im Ländervergleich. In Deutsches PISA-Konsortium (Ed.), *PISA 2006 in Deutschland* (pp. 67–92).
- Rost, J. (2004). *Lehrbuch Testtheorie Testkonstruktion* (Psychologie Lehrbuch, 2., vollständig überarb. und erw. Auflage). Bern [u.a.]: Hans Huber.
- Schecker, H., & Parchmann, I. (2006). Modellierung naturwissenschaftlicher Kompetenz. Zeitschrift für Didaktik der Naturwissenschaft, 12, 45–66.
- Schnotz, W. (1994). Wissenserwerb mit logischen Bildern. In B. Weidenmann (Ed.), Wissenserwerb mit Bildern: Instruktionale Bilder in Printmedien, Film/Video und Computerprogrammen (pp. 95–148). Bern: Huber.
- Schnotz, W. (2002). Towards an integrated view of learning from text and visual displays. *Educational Psychology Review*, 14(1), 101–120. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1013136727916.
- Schnotz, W., & Bannert, M. (1999). Einflüsse der Visualisierungsform auf die Konstruktion mentaler Modelle beim Text- und Bildverstehen. Zeitschrift für Experimentelle Psychologie, 46(3), 217–236. https://doi.org/10.1026//0949-3964.46.3.217.
- Schnotz, W., & Bannert, M. (2003). Construction and interference in learning from multiple representation. *Learning and Instruction*, 13(2), 141–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0959-4752(02)00017-8.

- Schnotz, W., Ullrich, M., Hochpöchler, U., Horz, H., McElvany, N., Schroeder, S., & Baumert, J. (2011). What makes text-picture-integration difficult? A structural and procedural analysis of textbook requirements. *Ricerche di Psicologia*, 1, 103–135.
- Schönborn, K. J., & Anderson, T. R. (2009). A model of factors determining students 'ability to interpret external representations in biochemistry. *International Journal of Science Education*, 31(2), 193–232. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500690701670535.
- Schönborn, K. J., & Bögeholz, S. (2009). Knowledge transfer in biology and translation across external representations: Experts' views and challenges for learning. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 7(5), 931–955. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10763-009-9153-3.
- Seidel, T., Prenzel, M., Rimmele, R., Dalehefte, I. M., Herweg, C., Kobarg, M., et al. (2006). Blicke auf den Physikunterricht: Ergebnisse der IPN Videostudie. Zeitschrift für Pädagogik, 52, 799–821.
- Seufert, T. (2003). Supporting coherence from formation in learning from multiple representations. *Learning and Instruction*, 13(2), 227–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4752(02)00022-1.
- Stäudel, L., Franke-Braun, G., & Parchmann, I. (2008). Sprache, Kommunikation und Wissenserwerb im Chemieunterricht. *Naturwissenschaften im Unterricht Chemie*, 19(106/107), 4–9.
- Sweller, J., & Chandler, P. A. (1994). Why some material is difficult to learn. Cognition and Instruction, 12(3), 185–233. https://doi.org/10.1207/s1532690xci1203_1.
- Tsui, C.-Y., & Treagust, D. F. (2013). Introduction to multiple representations: Their importance in biology and biological education. In D. F. Treagust & E. Tsui (Eds.), *Multiple representations in biological education* (pp. 3–18). Dordrecht: Springer. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-94-007-4192-8_1.
- van Vorst, H., Dorschu, A., Fechner, S., Kauertz, A., Krabbe, H., & Sumfleth, E. (2014). Charakterisierung und Strukturierung von Kontexten im naturwissenschaftlichen Unterricht – Vorschlag einer theoretischen Modellierung. Zeitschrift für Didaktik der Naturwissenschaften, 21, 29–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40573-014-0021-5.
- von Kotzebue, L., & Nerdel, C. (2012). Professionswissen von Biologielehrkräften zum Umgang mit Diagrammen. Zeitschrift für Didaktik der Naturwissenschaften, 18, 181–200.
- von Kotzebue, L., & Nerdel, C. (2015). Modellierung und Analyse des Professionswissen zur Diagrammkompetenz bei angehenden Biologielehrkräften. Zeitschrift für Erziehungswissenschaft, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11618-015-0639-1.
- Wafi, S., & Wirtz, M. A. (2016). Visualisierungskompetenz in didaktischen Kontexten. Eine Einführung. Wiesbaden: Springer VS. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-11134-2_3.
- Weidenmann, B. (1994). Wissenserwerb mit Bildern. Instruktionale Bilder in Printmedien, Film/ Video und Computerprogrammen (1. Auflage). Bern [u.a.]: Hans Huber.
- Wright, B. D., & Linacre, J. M. (1994). Reasonable mean-square fit values. *Rasch Measurement Transactions*, 8, 370–371.
- Wu, H.-K., Kuo, C.-Y., Jen, T.-H., & Hsu, Y.-S. (2015). What makes an item more difficult? Effects of modality and type of visual information in a computer-based assessment of scientific inquiry abilities. *Computers & Education*, 85, 35–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2015.01.007.
- Ziepprecht, K. (2016). Strategien und Kompetenzen von Lernenden beim Erschlieβen von biologischen Informationen aus unterschiedlichen Repräsentationen (Biologie lernen und lehren, Bd. 15). Berlin: Logos Verlag.

# Heat Angels and Paper Cups: Pupils' Use of Metaphoric Relations When Engaging Thermal Cameras to Investigate Heat



Andreas Larsson D, Matilda Stafstedt D, and Konrad J. Schönborn D

# **Embodied Cognition and Metaphoric Relations in Understanding**

Our everyday language is filled with all sorts of metaphoric relations (e.g. analogies, metaphors and metonyms). Metaphoric relations – the idioms in which we talk about one phenomenon in terms of another – are linguistic units that are an important constituent in the way we reason about and understand the world around us (e.g. Grady 1997; Lakoff and Johnson 1980; Johnson 2007). Our metaphoric relations are a consequence of the way the physiology of the human body and brain interacts with what we perceive as reality, where recurring sensory experiences form the basis for neural structures between everyday events and abstract concepts (e.g. Lakoff and Johnson 1980, 1999; Johnson 2007).

Lakoff and Johnson (1980) term such physical and cultural everyday events "natural kinds of experience" (p. 117). We use these natural experiences to structure and conceptualise metaphoric descriptions of phenomena (e.g. quantity in terms of verticality, similarity in terms of proximity, or arguments in terms of war) through primary metaphors (e.g. Grady 1997; Lakoff and Johnson 1999; Johnson 2007), which in turn structure the formation of other more complex concepts (e.g. love in terms of a journey) that expand our ability for abstract reasoning (e.g. Grady 2005; Lakoff and Johnson 1999). Although we take these ubiquitous metaphoric relations

A. Larsson (🖂)

#### M. Stafstedt Visualiseringscenter C, Norrköping, Sweden

K. J. Schönborn

Department of Science and Technology (ITN), Linköping University, Norrköping, Sweden

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Department of Social and Welfare Studies (ISV), Linköping University, Norrköping, Sweden e-mail: andreas.b.larsson@liu.se

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_5

between sensory experiences and abstract concepts for granted, from an embodied cognition perspective, they serve as the foundation for reasoning and understanding; they represent the "metaphors we live by" (Lakoff and Johnson 1980).

We spend our lives interacting in a physical world that exhibits constant motion as part of human behaviour. In turn, we tend to conceptualise abstract phenomena such as love, time, life, death, economics and energy in terms of movement and/or human activities (Lakoff and Johnson 1980, 1999; Johnson 2007; Wiser and Amin 2001). These conceptualisations are manifested in expressions like "we are *running* out of time" or "she *boiled* with rage", where the metaphors *Time is a Resource*¹ and *Anger is Heat* are central to our conceptualisation thereof (Lakoff and Johnson 1980, Johnson 2007).

Following the assumptions formulated above, metaphoric relations are based on everyday sensorimotor experiences. This implies that conceptualising movement is a consequence of how we perceive motion (Johnson 2007). Doing so gives rise to three necessary conditions for conceptualising a phenomenon in terms of motion:

- Since movement is only possible in a physical space, conceptualisation of a phenomenon in terms of motion requires imposing mental boundaries onto sensory experiences, thus separating parts of an experience from the whole experience (Lakoff and Johnson 1980; Johnson 2007; Grady 2005).
- Since movement can only be perceived when a physical object is present, conceptualisation of a phenomenon in terms of motion requires treating the bounded parts of an experience as separate mental entities. This leads to the formation of ontological metaphors such as an *Object is a Container* or an *Object is a Substance* (Lakoff and Johnson 1980; Johnson 2007; Grady 2005).
- Since all movement has implicit qualitative dimensions, i.e. the amount of force causing the movement, the velocity of the movement, the direction of the movement and the trajectory of the movement, conceptualisation of a phenomenon in terms of movement requires quantifying each qualitative dimension in relation to the bounded elements of the experience (Lakoff and Johnson 1980; Johnson 2007).

When all three conditions are fulfilled, we are able to conceptualise phenomena such as *heat* in terms of movement using metaphors such as "could you turn *up* the heat" or "the temperature is *gradually increasing*". In some situations, new metaphoric relations between already existing metaphoric relations are formed as the sensory elements that we perceive while interacting with the environment add qualities to the abstract target concepts. As a result, our abilities to conceptualise abstract phenomena are expanded (Grady 2005). While these events reoccur over time, novel metaphoric relations strengthen relationships between initial sensory experiences and corresponding abstract concepts (Lakoff and Johnson 1999). Thus, forming new metaphoric relations occurs in relation to already existing metaphorical structures. Moreover, as part of interpreting abstract concepts such as time, economics or physics, we are also dependent on *blending* different natural (sensory)

¹Title case letters are used in the text to depict metaphoric relations.

experiences into more complex metaphoric relations expressed in language, reasoning and behaviour (Lakoff and Johnson 1980, 1999; Johnson 2007; Grady 2005). As a consequence, our more advanced and complex conceptual metaphors, such as those manifested when reasoning about a physics problem, for example, are grounded in a blend of previous physical and/or cultural experiences (Lakoff and Johnson 1980, 1999).

According to Grady (2005), at least two prerequisites need to be met to form conceptual metaphors. Firstly, a conceptual metaphor has to contain a sensory (the *source*) and a nonsensory (the *target*) element. Secondly, both sensory and nonsensory elements need to share properties of the same basic metaphorical structure. For example, a sensory experience of movement provides meaning in relation to properties of physical space; the objects involved and the quality of movement (Johnson 2007; Lakoff and Johnson 1999). It then becomes possible to form conceptual metaphors relating colour to movement by utilising metaphors such as COLOUR IS AN ENTITY that structures our conceptualisation of colour in such a way that it "moves" along a linear colour scale.

In cases where the above conditions are not fulfilled, novel conceptual metaphors will not be formed. However, metaphoric relations in the form of metonymies such as "could you get me that Shakespeare from the shelf?" or "the Vietnam protesters marched through town" could still be used as referential tools that allow for interpretation of one element as standing for another (Frisson and Pickering 1999; Lakoff and Johnson 1980; Kövesces 2013). Metonymies – *Part for the Whole relations* – are therefore a significant component of both our everyday language and actions (Lakoff and Johnson 1980) and can serve as a source for the formation of novel metaphors (Kövesces 2013).

Overall, metaphor theory as communicated by theorists such as Lakoff and Johnson (1980, 1999), Johnson (2007) and Grady (2005) reflects the embodied perspective of cognition, which asserts that conceptualisation is a result of the way the body and the brain "function in interpersonal relations and in the physical world" (Lakoff and Johnson 1999, p.37). Our interaction with the world provides the origin for forming metaphoric relations that can be analysed to explore how their structural components contribute to understanding. In this regard, there is growing work in applying embodied cognition and metaphor as a perspective for exploring how students conceptualise and reason about physical (e.g. Amin et al. 2015), chemical (e.g. Myers 2008) and biological (e.g. Niebert et al. 2012) phenomena in education.

## **Understanding Thermal Phenomena**

Decades of science education research, across all levels, has demonstrated various challenges around pupils' understanding of thermal phenomena such as heat (e.g. Chu et al. 2012). One salient obstacle is the difficulty in differentiating between heat and temperature (Erickson 1979). In this case, there is a large volume of evidence showing that pupils interchange "heat" and "temperature" in their reasoning about

thermal phenomena in utterances such as "temperature measures heat" (Wiser and Amin 2001). Another difficulty is misinterpreting the temperature of substances such as metal that feels cold to the touch, to be inherently "colder" than other materials such as wood. The potential source of these challenges can be ascribed to various aspects. For example, communication of ideas associated with heat makes complete sense in everyday language (e.g. "you're letting the heat out of the window" or "don't get so heated in the debate") yet carries a completely different meaning in physical science (e.g. "heat is an energy transfer") (cf. Romer 2001). Furthermore, in comparison with other substances, metals at room temperature really *do* feel cold to the touch, and student difficulties associated with lower temperatures being assigned to the latter reflect the significant role of sensory experiences – and the manner we talk about them – in the conceptualisation of abstract ideas such as heat and temperature.

Since thermal science is an important area in many international curricula and a topic with multiple real-world applications, it remains crucial for science educators to explore students' expressions of heat-related phenomena. Recent science education research has highlighted the role of metaphor and language in students' understanding of thermal phenomena. For example, in an interview study with university physics students, Brookes and Etkina (2015) showed that solving heat-related problems is largely determined by the way students *themselves* conceptualise the term "heat" and that students often talk and reason about thermal systems in terms of heat "containers". In other work, Jeppsson et al. (2015) have explored how university students use conceptual metaphors in reasoning around heat and entropy. Their study found that solving thermodynamic problems requires coordinating various propositional (e.g. natural language) and non-propositional (e.g. sensory experiences) entities that are often mediated by implicit metaphorical structures. Such studies demonstrate the importance of investigating the influence of language and metaphor in students' understanding of educationally important thermodynamic entities such as heat.

## **Exploring Heat with Thermal Cameras**

One means for addressing the challenges around students' conceptualisation of thermal phenomena is offered through infrared (IR) imaging technology. Hand-held IR cameras (also referred to as thermal cameras) detect electromagnetic radiation emitted from the surfaces of objects. In turn, the corresponding temperatures of object surfaces are mapped to a dynamic real-time coloured visualisation of the surroundings across a respective temperature range. Consequently, a pseudo-colour scale enables humans to intuitively perceive warmer (red) and cooler (blue) surfaces (see Figs. 1, 2 and 3). In turn, engaging IR cameras as a window through which to view otherwise unseen thermal properties provides access to visual representations of heat transfer processes (Vollmer et al. 2001).



Fig. 1 Three peers observing the efficiency of their modelled paper cup thermoses using a thermal camera. The pupil in the centre directs the camera towards the thermoses (left). A corresponding thermal image viewed on the camera display and captured by the group during the activity (right)



**Fig. 2** A pupil group making hand contact with a table surface during the exploration activity. The pupil in the centre directs the camera towards a peer's hand, while her fellow peers rub the table surface (left). A corresponding thermal image captured by the pupils during the activity (right)



**Fig. 3** A thermal image of a pupil lying on a cloth-covered seat in an attempt to transfer heat from her body to the object (left). A thermal image of the resulting, otherwise invisible "heat angel" signature generated on the cloth surface (right)
Apart from industrial and commercial application, work by Xie (Xie 2018; Xie and Hazzard 2011) recognised the pedagogical potential of thermal cameras as a tool for visualising thermodynamic phenomena. The intuitive nature of the visually augmented thermal display lends itself as a candidate for inspiring various discovery- and inquiry-based learning opportunities. Our own research across multiple levels of education (e.g. Haglund et al. 2016a) has suggested that thermal cameras can serve as a catalyst for generating cognitive conflicts (Schönborn et al. 2014) and as a possibility for young students to confront thermodynamic phenomena from their everyday experiences (Haglund et al. 2016b). Our investigations have unveiled salient engagement attributes of student interaction with thermal cameras while performing simple laboratory activities. From a meaning-making perspective, a compelling characteristic of using IR camera technology is that it provides rich opportunities for pupils to combine visual, tactile and gestural experiences while they explore thermal phenomena. Furthermore, manifestation of these sensory perceptions while students express themselves through language in talking and reasoning about their experiences provides a further layer upon which to unpack the conceptualisation of abstract ideas such as heat (Lemke 1990). Furthermore, encouraging collaborative exploration in nontraditional classroom settings such as science centres can provide a multidimensional context (Falk and Storksdieck 2005) to investigate the interplay between language and interactive thermal visualisation in studying young peoples' notions of heat.

#### Aim of the Study

The objective of this study was to observe how young pupils interacted with IR cameras within inquiry-orientated collaborative activities around thermal phenomena at a digital science centre. As part of the observations, the specific aim was to discover what heat-related metaphors pupils expressed and used during a spontaneous exploration of the thermal properties of the surroundings and a thermos model-ling exercise.

#### Methods

#### Participants, Context and Activities

The study involved eight groups (three to four pupils per group) of fourth grade children's visits to a digital science centre in Sweden. The pedagogical arm of the centre is designed with the intention to promote a creative problem-solving space and intuitive out-of-school learning experiences. Signed informed consent to participate in the visits for educational research purposes was collected from all the pupils' parents. Each group visited the centre on one occasion and participated in a thermal workshop. The 1-h workshop comprised of an introduction (about 10 min duration) by author AL, where the infrared camera technology was introduced in parallel with a projection of the real-time visualised thermal output on a large screen. An animated simple heat-flow model was also introduced to represent heat transfer from a warm object in thermal contact with a cold object (Haglund et al. 2016b). Care was taken to explain heat transfer in literal terms with as little metaphorical content as possible, to avoid leading pupils into a particular way of conceptualising heat. Following the introduction, each group was provided with either a FLIR C2 or E4 thermal camera and asked to engage in a spontaneous exploration of the thermal properties of the surroundings (about 15 min). No specific instructions were given other than requesting pupils to explore what they desired with the infrared camera and that they try to express their interpretations and experiences aloud as often as possible. This was followed by a thermos building exercise (about 25 min), where pupils used provided materials (e.g. paper cups, wooden skewers, water contained at approx. 70 °C) to construct a thermos. Pupils were told that their task was to insulate the water poured into a paper cup as efficiently as possible. Pupils were asked to use the thermal camera to aid their development and measurement of thermos efficiency while observing any heat transfer processes. Pupils were also encouraged to use the snapshot facility of the cameras to take static thermal pictures (e.g. Figs. 1, 2 and 3) as they conducted the tasks. A closing session (about 10 min) facilitated by AL involved reflecting upon aspects emerging from the workshop and an opportunity for pupils to ask any questions they had.

## Data Collection

Researcher-as-participant observations (e.g. Keys 1995) were conducted using video recording as well as additional field notes during the thermal workshop. Two oppositely positioned tripod-mounted video cameras recorded the introductory and closing sessions. In addition, each of the three researchers was equipped with a hand-held video camera, and at least one researcher followed and observed each group during their interaction with the thermal camera in the exploration and thermos building tasks. Apart from observing the tasks unfold, the researchers encouraged pupils to continue pursuing emergent lines of dialogue that were relevant to the research aim by asking questions but never directed pupils' choices, hypotheses and strategies during the tasks. Furthermore, the researchers sometimes redirected pupils' attention when group focus shifted too far from the immediate task at hand. Overall, data gathering adopted a quasi-ethnographic approach (Murtagh 2007) that concentrated on listening to the dialogue and exchanges and watching the behaviours that ensued when pupils performed the tasks with, and around, the IR cameras. In this regard, the field was the digital science centre, and the researchers engaged in a reciprocal observation and interpretation of pupil visits. Immediately following each visit, at least two (and often all three) of the researchers discussed each other's observations and either audio-recorded these reflections or penned notes that were used to help inform the data analysis.

#### Data Analysis

As part of the interpretive research design, video recordings were viewed for evidence of expression and variation of metaphoric relations in pupils' dialogue and behaviour while they engaged an infrared camera in experiences and discussions about thermal phenomena. In this regard, rich exchanges, where conceptualisation of heat in terms of colour, movement and change, were identified as critical events that represented the empirical content of the study (e.g. Derry et al. 2010). Subsequently, the current work focuses on a qualitative metaphor analysis (e.g. Moser 2000) of six selected events that unfolded while two different groups of pupils performed the tasks. The selection was based on exchanges rich in metaphorical dialogue related to the display of the IR camera and the corresponding phenomenon observed.

The selected videorecorded events were transcribed verbatim in Swedish and translated into English. The video clips, corresponding transcripts including gestural and physical behaviours, thermal images captured by the pupils and researcher field notes comprised the data analysed in the study. The metaphor analysis proceeded in three overall steps. The first step consisted of *discovering metaphoric relations* in pupils' utterances (e.g. Grady and Johnson 1997; Lakoff and Johnson 1999). Here, attention was given to pupil expressions related to spatial relations, colour, movement and change. Secondly, identified metaphoric relations were designated a superscript numeral and paired to a corresponding metaphor or metonym and notated with capitalisation (e.g. Kövesces 2013; Lakoff and Johnson 1980). Thirdly, the emergent pairings are discussed in the context of the event to reveal pupils' use of metaphoric relations in their expression and conceptualisation of heat-related phenomena.

#### **Results and Discussion**

The results of this study are presented as six events that transpired in two different pupil groups while they participated in the thermal workshops. The first four events capture one of the group's interactions during the thermos modelling task. The last two events concern another group's spontaneous exploration of the thermal properties of the surroundings. Each event is presented by first describing the interaction taking place, together with corresponding transcript dialogue, and, in some cases, videographic and thermal imagery associated with the exchange. This is then followed by identifying and analysing the metaphors that pupils expressed and used in their interpretation and experiences of thermal phenomena.

## Heat Wants to Move

During this event, AL is halfway through the introduction phase. The following excerpt from the discussion took place in front of an interactive whiteboard where the pupils were about to view an animation of a simple heat-flow model that represented objects at higher and lower temperature as red and blue rectangles, respectively (cf. Haglund et al. 2016b). Prior to the event, AL had introduced the thermal camera, by projecting heat visualisation on the interactive board, where both colour and temperature scales are present. At this point, AL deliberately avoids using metaphoric relations, based on movement or colour. Consider the following exchange that occurs ("P" followed by respective numeral designates different pupil participants):

AL: And now let's see what happens if you manage to bring a hot and a cold object next to each other. You know, if you have something hot here [hand gesture] and something cold there [hand gesture], what happens when you put them together?

P1: It gets... maybe *it wants*^{2,3} to get *yellow*¹ or it will get *slightly warm*¹ in the middle.

AL: It will become *slightly warm*¹ in the middle. Does it happen right away?

P1: Maybe it *starts*^{2,3} in one place and *spreads*^{2,3} slowly. (Video camera 1, 09:00-09:45)

1. SLIGHTLY WARM FOR YELLOW

2. Change in Heat/Temperature² Is Self-Propelled Motion

3. CHANGE IS MOTION

The excerpt indicates that P1 structures her utterances based on two different notions where heat is related to colour (1) and change in temperature is related to movement (2,3). In this case P1 uses "colour" interchangeably with her notion of heat; hence "yellow" is interpreted as a metonym. Therefore, P1 is able to communicate that a change in colour corresponds with her previous sensorimotor experiences of heat and also correlates with changes in temperature to changes in colour.

In this event, a necessary condition for her to conceptualise heat in terms of movement is to regard heat as a bounded entity. In order to understand physical phenomena in terms of motion, P1 divides her experience into discrete parts with which she categorises and quantifies different aspects of heat (cf. Lakoff and Johnson 1980). Doing so indicates that she utilises at least two different ontological metaphors: *Colour is a Container* and *Heat is a Container*. By utilising colour as a metonym for heat, she is also able to correlate changes in colour with changes in temperature. Also, the use of words such as "wants to move" indicates that there is a source related to heat transfer. As a result, she is able to communicate that the "colour" of heat changes according to her experiences of sensing hot and cold objects, where a change in colour covaries with the sensation of heat.

²Both heat and temperature are stated as the target domain in this metaphor since it was not evident that the pupils distinguished between heat and temperature as two separate ontologies (see Wiser and Amin 2001).

#### Keeping the Cold Outside

In this event, KS observes three pupils during the beginning stages of the thermos modelling task. The following exchange captures a situation where the pupils start discussing thermal phenomena in relation to their thermos design, and KS commences the exchange with a question:

- KS: How will you keep the water warm?
- P2: We *close out*¹ the cold.
- P4: If we use many layers.
- P2: We will  $keep^2$  the cold *outside*¹ and  $keep^2$  the warm *inside*¹.
- P4: If we do a dual layer here [indicating the use of a second paper cup for insulating purposes]. Then it's *harder*² for the heat to *escape*^{3,4}. (Video camera 1, 22:35-23:00)
- 1. STATES ARE LOCATIONS*
- 2. CAUSES ARE SELF-PROPELLED PHYSICAL FORCES*
- 3. CHANGE IS MOTION*
- 4. Heat transfer is Escape

Consideration of the exchange reveals that P2 and P4 use metaphors in line with the notion of primary metaphors as derived from Grady (1997), hereafter depicted with an asterisk (*). In this regard, P2 correlates heat with being in different states, while P4 uses terms related to motion (changes of location) as well as terms related to the degree of physical force needed to initiate movement. The utterances "inside" and "outside" are suggested to be terms used in relation to the cup as a whole and hence possibly function as metonyms during the current event. The paired metaphor relationship States are Locations is based on previous experiences of being within a certain bounded region in space while correlating that experience to a state (e.g. being warm, stressed or angry) (Grady 1997; Lakoff and Johnson 1999). In order to achieve metaphorical congruence, P2 utilises the ontological metaphor *Heat is a* Substance Within a Container. In this way, he is able to separate the "hot" from the "cold" by placing the "heat substance" into two separate "containers" that can be kept either inside or outside the cup (cf. Brookes and Etkina 2015). In the last turn of the exchange, P4 introduces movement into the group's collaborative reasoning. Here, P4 uses the human activity of "escaping" as a personification of a non-human heat transfer process. This provides the pupils with a specific way of thinking about heat transfer (Lakoff and Johnson 1980). The pupil's reasoning appears to be based on moving the container in which the heat is confined, where a Change in Temperature/Heat is a Change in State where the Cause is (Hard) Work.

As a whole, the event demonstrates how P2 and P4 combine metaphoric relations based on substance, movement and physical force to form a novel conceptual metaphor related to thermal processes.

## Liquid Heat

Following the event above, AL and the same group of pupils engage in a further dialogue about the group's design of their thermos. As shown in the following excerpt, AL repeats what the pupils have agreed upon so far, with the aim to encourage the pupils to elaborate on their thermos design:

AL: Ok! So, you want to have a lot of  $water^1$  in the thermos and then *double layers*² to... P2: ...to keep the *heat inside*^{2,3}.

P4: So, it won't *leak*^{2,3}. (Video camera 1, 27:15-27:25)

1. States are Locations*/States for Location

2. Heat for Water

3. Heat is Liquid Inside a Container

At this stage of the task, the group is working with an actual substance (water). This provides an opportunity for an expanded interpretation where states are used as: (i) a metaphor for location and/or (ii) as a metonym for locations (Kövesces 2013). Pursuing this line of reasoning reveals a situation where P2 and P4 use the metonym *Heat For Hot Water*, which might make it possible for them to conceptualise the loss of heat as water leaking out of the thermos. However, even though *Heat and Water* share a possible metonymic relationship, the ontological metaphor *Heat is a Container* is still present and provides pupils with a resource to reason about thermal phenomena such as insulation (Lakoff and Johnson 1980).

## Multitude of Metaphors

As the thermos modelling task progresses, the same group of pupils proceed to compare the efficiency of two thermos designs side by side (Fig. 1, left). They have poured an equal amount of warm water into both thermoses and wait a few minutes before measuring the temperature of the container wall. Following this, the following exchange features the group becoming engaged in observing thermal processes using the IR camera (Fig. 1, right) and also grasping the cup with their hands:

- P3: That one [insulated thermos] increases¹.
- P4: Almost one minute has passed.
- P3: Like we did [...] did with the colour [...] colours.
- P2: You will have to hold it!
- P4: It's beginning to get a bit whiter² at the bottom.
- P3: This one [insulated thermos] is redder² [...] it's rising.
- P4: I think it's the steam [...] It's because *the air is cold*⁴ and it will <u>come down</u>^{3,4} in the cup that will [...] I guess, so it will become colder^{2,3} [...] there's not that *much red*^{2,3} left anymore. (Video camera 1, 32:25-33:05)
- 1. A Change in Temperature is a Change in Colour
- 2. States are Locations, A Change in State is a Change in Colour
- 3. Change is Motion*
- 4. Causes are Self-Propelled Physical Forces*

At this stage in the task, the pupils attend to the outside surface of the respective thermoses. As a consequence, the outside temperature is placed in a possible metonymic relationship with the temperature of the water being inside.

While discussing their observations, the pupils change the source element of the expressed metaphorical relationship from colour to movement. At this point, the pupils appear to have access to a richer metaphorical language and are therefore able to relate thermal phenomena to experiences of both colour and movement. This is so even when some of the metaphors are being manifested in non-scientific ways (cf. section "Multitude of metaphors"). In this regard, the pupils gradually shift the way in which they conceptualise heat variation, from being based on a simple and rather discrete *Change in States* metaphor (similar to a temperature scale) to the more complex metaphor *Force-Dependent Change in State* motion metaphor, where the quality of the force corresponds to the nature of the change. While both metaphors are related to movement in physical space, the latter bears potential for more qualitative descriptions of thermal phenomena.

#### Sensory Heat Traces

In an event featuring another group, three pupils explore the thermal properties of the surroundings. Following a preceding experience that occurred during the same task, P1 proposes setting up a second experience contained in the current exchange. As shown below and visually in Fig. 2 (left), P1 and P2 perform the following experiment, while P3 observes the process using the IR camera (Fig. 2, right):

P1: Let's put our hands on the table!

P2: Why?

- P1: That's when you see the heat traces [both P1 and P2 *start rubbing their hands*¹ on the table].
- P3: It's getting more and more yellow².
- KS: Wow! Check it out!
- P1: Great! This is good! (Video camera 2, 00:51-01:03)
- 1. Cause is Physical Force
- 2. Heat is Colour or Colour For Heat

Based on the above excerpt, it is evident that P1 has a clear intent in proposing the spontaneous activity, and the group uses the camera to confirm their hypothesis. In this event, the metaphors that emerge are expressed in bodily behaviours rather than in direct language. In this case, colour serves at least one function during the group's reasoning -a metaphorical relation to the experience of heat.

When rubbing their hands against the table surface (Fig. 2), P1 and P2 are able to experience friction heat being generated while applying physical force against the table. In this manner, these actions provide a pathway for transforming the *Colour for Heat* metonym into the *Heat is Colour* metaphor. Hence, by integrating a sensory experience into the activity, the pupils gain access to a sensory domain that makes it possible to form a conceptual metaphor for heat (Grady 2005).

#### **Conflicting Sensory Experiences**

As part of continuing with the spontaneous exploration activity, the same group of pupils decide to use the thermal camera to explore the temperatures of different objects and surfaces. The following excerpt captures the exchanges between KS and the pupils in determining which of three surfaces are at the lowest temperature – a part of the wall that is painted with magnetic paint, the floor surface and a metal postbox.

- P1: It [colours on the camera display] is somewhere in between1!
- P3: It [colours on the camera display] is like yellow¹.
- P1: Green [...] A bit  $yellow^1$  at the edge [of the post-box].
- KS: So, what do you say? What surface is colder1?
- P1: I think this [the floor] is colder1
- P3: No, this [the wall painted with magnetic colour] is warmer¹
- P1: No, look here [points to the IR camera display]. This [the floor] is *green*¹. This [metal post-box] is *yellow-orange*¹. So, this is *warmer*² [touches the post-box and appears confused].
- KS: Really?
- P1: I think so. Look! [shows the display to R2]. This is green¹. This is [...] a bit [...]
- KS:  $Green^1$ ?
- P3: But I held my hand [felt the surface].
- P1: Yes but take it [the hand] away! But it's kind of [...] it [the post-box] is *cold*¹ and *warm*¹ [...] in between [...] well, I don't know.
- KS: Well, look again...
- P1: ...but it's *warmer*¹ now ... [looks at the camera] hmm [...] no, I don't know [...] somewhere *in between*¹. (Video camera 1, 13:30-14:48)
- 1. Colour for Temperature/Heat
- 2. Colour for Sensory Experience

Throughout the event, it is evident that colour is used as a metonym for temperature. As the pupils are referring to the display on the camera, there are no sensory elements related to heat present in the dialogue, and hence no metaphoric relations are possible (Grady 2005). However, at one point during the exchange, P1 and P3 begin to question the correspondence between colour and temperature. This occurs at the same time as when the pupils begin touching the objects under discussion (the wall and the metal postbox). This situation, where expected sensory experiences do not match the pupils' nonsensory information (the visual representation of heat), seems to confuse the pupils to the extent that they appear no longer to trust the information displayed on the camera apparatus (cf. Lewis and Linn 1994).

As described earlier, due to inherent thermal properties of different materials, objects with otherwise identical temperatures can be associated with different human sensory experiences that shape "common-sense" conceptualisations of heat, where understanding temperature is correlated to what feels "hot" or "cold". Taking this into consideration, it is plausible that the cognitive conflict that the pupils experience is a result of a situation where their common-sense theory of heat starts to break down. With the camera at hand, it is no longer possible for the pupils to correlate their bodily sensory experiences to colour or to temperature. At this point in the activity, the pupils have lost access to any heat metaphors and are unable to reach any conclusions.

#### **Conclusions and Implications**

The objective of this study was to observe how young pupils interacted with IR cameras within inquiry-orientated collaborative tasks and to discover what metaphors pupils expressed and engaged during a spontaneous exploration of the thermal properties of the surroundings and a thermos building modelling exercise. Findings show that the pupils often created their own unique collaborative learning scenarios using the IR camera as a measuring device (e.g. Figure 1). In addition, pupils often engaged in experiences where they used their hands to transfer heat to objects (e.g. Figure 2) or placed their bodies in contact with surfaces (e.g. Figure 3, left) to transfer "heat angel" thermal signatures onto insulating materials (e.g. Figure 3, right). In this regard, the IR cameras served as a communicative resource allowing the pupils to evaluate, and when needed, redesign their investigative work according to their prior and emerging hypotheses.

The study indicates that the pupils almost exclusively conceptualised "heat" as a noun. This was manifested in expressions such as "keep the heat inside", "harder for the heat to escape" and "it wants to get yellow" The two latter examples also show that the children tend to personify "heat", thus extending the ontological metaphors in such a way that the metaphoric relations are brought even closer to their own experiences of the "real" world (Lakoff and Johnson 1980). The above metaphors used by the pupils correlate with their sensory experiences of heat, where an object is considered as being in different states of "hotness" (Wiser and Amin 2001). Altogether, this allows for the formation of a fully embodied metaphor for heat and, hence, an everyday conceptualisation of heat (Lakoff and Johnson 1999; Grady 2005). All three of these utterances are examples of where the conceptualisation of heat in terms of movement requires a "mental" object to be moved (Johnson 2007). However, this ontology of heat is very different from the scientifically accepted ontology of heat: energy transfer/exchange is considered being a consequence of temperature differences (Romer 2001; Wiser and Amin 2001). By utilising the ontological *Substance* and *Entity* metaphors, the pupils were able to "fill in the blanks" and form coherent metaphors for "heat".

The study also reveals that the pupils used colour as both a metonym and a metaphor for heat and/or temperature. This was seemingly dependent on how the pupils related their ontological metaphors (e.g. *Heat is a Container, Heat is a Substance*) to sensory experiences of motion. In cases where pupils conceptualised "heat" as a nonmoving entity, "colour" was used as a metonym for heat (Lakoff and Johnson 1980; Kövesces 2013). In cases where the pupils conceptualised "heat" as a moving and/or metaphoric entity (*Container, Substance* or *Liquid*), "heat" and "colour" were used as conceptual metaphors for heat. The use of conceptual metaphors related to colour also implies that the visual representations of heat serve as an extension of already existing metaphoric expressions of heat. Albeit so, since the pupils conceptualise heat in terms of colour and movement, colour is also conceptualised in terms of movement. This is manifested in expressions such as "it [the yellow] starts in one place and spreads" and "it [the less red] will come down". These are examples of where heat is being conceptualised as a *property* of an object rather than as a noun. As a consequence, it becomes possible for pupils to reason about thermal phenomena without having to utilise the above-mentioned metaphors. It follows, in principle, that by using colour as a metaphor for heat, it is plausible for pupils to conceptualise all aspects of heat within the boundaries set by our sensory experiences of movement (Johnson 2007). The presented results show that movement is a central constituent for conceptualising heat, which implies that spatial cognition plays a crucial role in learning about heat phenomena (Grady 2005; Gallese and Lakoff 2005).

In conclusion, this study demonstrates that access to different metaphoric relations is important as both a resource for communication and for reasoning about abstract phenomena. Pupils' conceptualisation of heat (*Heat is an Entity and Heat is Colour*) is highly related to the experience of movement, indicating that spatial cognition is central to the conceptualisation of heat. Furthermore, the study indicates various shifts in pupils' conceptualisation of heat, which demonstrates the importance of using multiple metaphors in exploratory learning situations. Future studies will focus on how, and in which experiences, novel conceptual metaphors are formed, and how these experiences can be exploited as a resource for expanding already existing metaphoric relations present in the classroom. A core feature of the work will be to analyse how pupils' use of conceptual metaphors relates to the blending of primary metaphors within learning situations (e.g. Grady 2005; Lakoff and Johnson 1999).

Acknowledgements The authors thank *Visualiseringscenter C* for the opportunity to conduct the thermal workshops that provided the observations reported in this work, the visiting pupils and their teachers for their participation.

## References

- Amin, T. G., Jeppsson, F., & Haglund, J. (2015). Conceptual metaphor and embodied cognition in science learning: Introduction to special issue. *International Journal of Science Education*, 37(5–6), 745–758. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2015.1025245.
- Brookes, D. T., & Etkina, E. (2015). The importance of language in students' reasoning about heat in thermodynamic processes. *International Journal of Science Education*, 37(5–6), 759–779. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2015.1025246.
- Chu, H. E., Chandrasegaran, A. L., & Treagust, D. F. (2012). Comparing two types of diagnostic items to evaluate understanding of heat and temperature concepts. *School Science Review*, 99(368), 107–116.
- Derry, S. J., Pea, R. D., Barron, B., Engle, R. A., Erickson, F., Goldman, R., et al. (2010). Conducting video research in the learning sciences: Guidance on selection, analysis, technology, and ethics. *The Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 19(1), 3–53. https://doi. org/10.1080/10508400903452884.
- Erickson, G. L. (1979). Children's conceptions of heat and temperature. *Science Education*, 63(2), 221–230. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.3730630210.
- Falk, J., & Storksdieck, M. (2005). Using the contextual model of learning to understand visitor learning from a science center exhibition. *Science Education*, *89*(5), 744–778.

- Frisson, S., & Pickering, M. J. (1999). The processing of metonymy: Evidence from eye movements. Journal of Experimental Psychology Learning Memory and Cognition, 6, 1366–1383.
- Gallese, V., & Lakoff, G. (2005). The brain's concept: The role of the sensory-motor system in conceptual knowledge. *Cognitive Neuropsychology*, 22(3/4), 455–479. https://doi. org/10.1080/02643290442000310.
- Grady, J. (1997). Foundations of meaning: Primary metaphors and primary scenes: eScholarship. Berkeley: University of California.
- Grady, J. (2005). Primary metaphors as inputs to conceptual integration. *Journal of Pragmatics*, 37, 1595–1614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pragma.2004.03.012.
- Haglund, J., Jeppsson, F., Melander, E., Pendrill, A.-M., Xie, C., & Schönborn, K. J. (2016a). Infrared cameras in science education. *Infrared Physics and Technology*, 75, 150–152. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.infrared.2015.12.009.
- Haglund, J., Jeppsson, F., & Schönborn, K. J. (2016b). Taking on the heat—A narrative account of how infrared cameras invite instant inquiry. *Research in Science Education*, 46(5), 685–713. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-015-9476-8.
- Jeppsson, F., Haglund, J., & Amin, T. G. (2015). Varying use of conceptual metaphors across levels of expertise in thermodynamics. *International Journal of Science Education*, 37(5–6), 780–805.
- Johnson, M. (2007). *The meaning of the body Aestetics of human understanding*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Keys, C. W. (1995). An interpretive study of students' use of scientific reasoning during a collaborative report writing intervention in ninth grade general science. *Science Education*, 79(4), 415–435. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.3730790405.
- Kövesces, Z. (2013). The metaphor Metonymy relationship: Correlation metaphors are based on metonymy. *Metaphor ad Symbol*, 28, 75–88. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926488.2013.768498.
- Lakoff, G., & Johnson, M. (1980). *Metaphors we live by*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Lakoff, G., & Johnson, M. (1999). *Philosophy in the flesh: The embodied mind and its challenge to Western thought*. New York: Basic Books.
- Lemke, J. L. (1990). Talking science. Language, learning and values. Norwood: Ablex.
- Lewis, E. L., & Linn, M. C. (1994). Heat energy and temperature concepts of adolescents, adults, and experts: Implications for curricular improvements. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 31(6), 657–678. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.3660310607.
- Moser, K. S. (2000, June). Metaphor analysis in psychology—Method, theory, and fields of application. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/*Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 1(2).
- Murtagh, L. (2007). Implementing a critically quasi-ethnographic approach. The Qualitative Report, 12(2), 193–215.
- Myers, N. (2008). Molecular embodiments and the body-work of modeling in protein crystallography. Social Studies of Science, 38(2), 163–199. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306312707082969.
- Niebert, K., Marsch, S., & Treagust, D. F. (2012). Understanding needs embodiment: A theoryguided reanalysis of the role of metaphors and analogies in understanding science. *Science Education*, 96(5), 849–877. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21026.
- Romer, R. H. (2001). Heat is not a noun. *American Journal of Physics*, 69(2), 107–109. https://doi.org/10.1119/1.1341254.
- Schönborn, K., Haglund, J., & Xie, C. (2014). Pupils' early explorations of thermoimaging to interpret heat and temperature. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 13(1), 118–132.
- Vollmer, M., Möllmann, K.-P., Pinno, F., & Karstädt, D. (2001). There is more to see than eyes can detect—Visualization of energy transfer processes and the laws of radiation for physics education. *The Physics Teacher*, 39(6), 371–376. https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2266142.

- Wiser, M., & Amin, T. G. (2001). "Is heat hot?" Inducing conceptual change by integrating everyday and scientific perspectives on thermal phenomena. *Learning and Instruction*, 11(4–5), 331–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4752(00)00036-0.
- Xie, C. (2018). The Concord consortium. Infrared tube. http://energy.concord.org/ir. Accessed 25 May 2018.
- Xie, C., & Hazzard, E. (2011). Infrared imaging for inquiry-based learning. *The Physics Teacher*, 49(6), 368–372. https://doi.org/10.1119/1.3628268.

## Science or Magic? Reactions of 5-Year-Old Pupils to a Counterintuitive Experiment



Estelle Blanquet D and Eric Picholle

#### Introduction

Since Roger Bacon at least, the effective test of the reproducibility of a physical phenomenon is considered a good scientific practice (Bacon 1267), and the inability to reproduce an experiment a signature of a methodological deficiency. Nevertheless, testing the reproducibility of an experiment still appears today as an issue for professional research (Nature 2016; McNutt 2014). For example, the French CNRS (National Center for Scientific Research) has recently published a guide to promote responsibility and integrity in research, in which they emphasized the necessity for researchers to ensure the transparency of the operations to allow the reproducibility of their experiments (CNRS 2014) in physical sciences as well as in fields where the concept of reproducibility may appear less simple such as biology or social sciences (Zwaan et al. 2017).

This issue also appears, although implicitly, in the Next Generation Science Standards under the label "Planning and Carrying Out Investigations" (Appendix F, NGSS Lead States 2013). The NGSS recommends that the number of trials has to be considered as early as grades 3–5; that grade 6–8 students have to reflect on "how measurements will be recorded and how many data are needed to support a claim"; and that grade 9–12 students have to reflect on the "accuracy of data needed to produce reliable measurements." The important issue of the interpretation of the data, namely, that "all scientists performing the same procedures may not get the same results" (Lederman et al. 2014), thus appears irrelevant at Kindergarten level. The French national curriculum for Kindergarten (2- to 5-year-old pupils), elementary

E. Blanquet (⊠)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

LACES, EA7437, University of Bordeaux, Bordeaux, France e-mail: estelle.blanquet@u-bordeaux.fr

E. Picholle INPHYNI, UMR 7010 CNRS-Université Côte d'Azur, Nice, France

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_6

school (6- to 11-year-old children), and middle school (12- to 15-year-old students) asks teachers to practice scientific inquiry but doesn't introduce reproducibility at all: it is asked that pupils (1) identify scientific questions, (2) propose one or many hypotheses to answer to the question, (3) conceive an experiment to test them, (4) measure directly or indirectly physical quantities, (5) interpret experimental results to conclude and communicate them with argumentation, and (6) develop simple models to explain observed facts and implement approaches which are specific to sciences (Journal Officiel 2015). At high school level, although students have to deal with errors and uncertainty of measurements and have to learn how to express a numerical result in an acceptable way (e.g., relative precision), the link with the reproducibility of an experiment is never explicitly done.

While one could be tempted to consider the mention of reproducibility in the curriculum as useless, through the assumption that Science teachers themselves have fully integrated the test of the reproducibility of an experiment as a core practice, a recent French study shows that it is not always the case. When a multiple-choice questionnaire was proposed to them, only 36% of French Physics teachers who participated to a massive study from the French Institute of Education affirmed that for an experiment to be scientific implies that it is repeated many times (IFE 2011; 2376 participants). A previous study performed with French Kindergarten and elementary school teachers revealed a similar difficulty: only 12% of them cited the verification of the reproducibility of an experiment as a means to distinguish a scientific experiment from a nonscientific one (Blanquet 2014).

Regarding pupils, Schauble (1996) and Varelas (1997) highlight that elementary school pupils have difficulties to "conceptualize the procedure of repeating trials and finding the best representative of the results of these trials" when these trials yield to different measurements. According to Varelas:

some children seemed either not to have constructed an idealization which would allow them to reason that repeating exactly the same experimental situation would yield exactly the same result, or unwilling or unable to coordinate that idealization with their empirical knowledge that repeated trials do not actually produce exactly the same results. (1997, p. 866)

Metz (2004) asked second and fourth–fifth grade pupils how to reduce the uncertainty of the results of their own experiments and brought out, among other results, that one strategy used by 5% of these second graders and 58% of these fourth–fifth graders was to replicate the experiment.

Studies involving Kindergarten children and explicitly proposing them to express their point of view regarding the reproducibility of an experiment nevertheless remain scarce. In a previous study, we showed that the notion of reproducibility appears accessible to 5-year-old children who were interviewed on an experiment they had done at school (Blanquet 2014; Blanquet and Picholle 2015). This article aims to explore the ability of 5-year-old pupils to consider an experiment as reproducible, independently of what has been done inside the classroom with their teacher before.

As dealing with quantitative experiments appears challenging for young children, we decided to use a qualitative experiment, for which it is easy to observe that repeating the same experimental situation will yield the same result, even if small variations of the parameters of the experiment occur (under the condition that the chosen experiment is robust enough). For instance, an object either sinks or floats, falls or not, water either freezes or not, etc.

The use of a qualitative experiment allows to separate the understanding of repeating an experiment from dealing with the dispersion of measures, which is the focus of numerous studies. One difficulty of this approach consists in the fact that a child might consider as obvious the reproducibility of phenomena well-known to him, or even of a phenomenon he merely has already seen. To avoid this obstacle, we decided to use a counterintuitive phenomenon.

Such a choice offers another advantage as a nonscientific approach would be to consider a seemingly counterintuitive phenomenon as magical. Believing in magic and in wizardry implies to attribute to some individuals with a special gift the ability to produce phenomena which non-gifted persons cannot reproduce. From this point of view, magic is diametrically opposite to scientific methodology, which claims the possibility for anyone to reproduce a phenomenon as a root of experimental science. Such claims are not unusual, as established by a 16-year-long project of the University of Nice, France. Henri Broch, a physicist; Gérard Majax, an illusionist; and Jacques Theodor, a physicist and sponsor, proposed a challenge with a \$250.000 prize to anyone who would have been able to demonstrate the existence of a paranormal phenomenon under duly controlled experimental conditions. The challenge was stopped after 16 years of unsuccessful tests by the team, the prize remaining unclaimed (Charpak and Broch 2003). While ostensibly obsolete in modern societies, such magical thinking remains strong enough for many counterintuitive experiments to generate a sensation of strangeness.

It is the case of the manipulation which consists in filling with water a can in which a visible hole has been pierced and stopping the water from flowing through the hole by closing another small non-visible hole with a finger (Novellaux 2012), which is counterintuitive enough for some "magicians" to use it in their shows.

We assumed that such an experiment would also appear surprising for 5-year-old children. It thus provides a good situation for identifying the reactions of pupils, their ability to consider such an experiment as reproducible, and their perception of magic.

Are 5-year-old children able to consider a counterintuitive experiment as "science" and to consider its reproducibility? Do they consider this experiment as magic? In both cases, are they able to justify their position? How do they consider the necessity of testing the reproducibility of an experiment?

#### Method

#### **Participants**

The study involved 62 5- to 6-year-old children from 4 classes, belonging to two different schools from Bordeaux, in France. These schools were chosen as fairly average in France with respect to socioeconomic context. The four teachers ranged from 45 to 54 years old and had a strong experience as Kindergarten teachers (between 12 and 20 years). None of them had a scientific background, and during

the last 10 years, none of them have received a continuing training in science teaching. During the scholar year, they had studied with their pupils the human body, worked on the five senses, have planted grains, and constructed a technical object, and some of them have visited a farm or had an animal inside the classroom. All these activities are included in the French Kindergarten curriculum. The pupils were taught science between 0.5 and 2 h per week. All the children were interviewed in June, at the end of the school year.

## Data Collection

The students were presented with a capless bottle in which a hole had been pierced. They were first asked if it was possible to stop the water from flowing through the hole without closing it with a finger. They were then shown that this result can be obtained by screwing the bottle's cap. They were explained that this happens because air can no longer enter the bottle and thus no water can leave it, when the cap is closed. Individual interviews were realized by the children's own teachers in a quiet place. All of them used the same questions and followed the proposed order to interview the children (Table 1). A specific guideline was provided to the teacher to describe and explain the conditions required for the interview. The duration of the interviews was between 8 and 15 min. The interviews recordings were done by audio and transcripted for analysis.

A pilot study identified the main difficulties encountered by 5–6-year-old children when dealing with the notion of reproducibility (Blanquet 2014) and allowed to devise relevant questionnaire. Before implementation, the questionnaire was submitted to the teachers for assuring its understanding by the children (Lederman et al. 2014). The teachers validated its formulation after minor modifications and were able to identify the purpose of the questions in terms of assessment of children's understanding of the notion of reproducibility. The questionnaire involved 10 questions investigating the understanding of the notion of reproducibility and the importance of testing reproducibility both by the child himself and by others, and the pupils were systematically asked to justify their answers. Question 6 relative to the possibility that the experiment may have a magical character was the only one to require an elucidation for teachers. The teachers were then interested in the answers the children may provide to this question.

Question 6 aimed to evaluate in which measure children make the distinction about a magical and a physical phenomenon. The realization of a magical phenomenon is presumed to require specific magical skills while a physical phenomenon is presumed to be reproducible by anybody: do children presumed the same, and do children have a clear notion of this essential distinction between both types of phenomenon?

Previous studies (Blanquet 2014) motivated us to distinguish between the test of the replicability of a phenomenon by oneself and the reproducibility by someone else, somewhere else, and also from in a situation which involved the use of an argument of authority by a presumedly more experienced person.

English translated questions	Original French questions
1/Do you think it would work if you did it yourself (instead of the teacher showing the experiment)?	<i>Est-ce que tu crois que ça marcherait si c'était toi qui le faisais</i> ?
2/What could we do to know?	Comment pourrait-on faire pour savoir?
3/Was it important that you also tried out?	Est-ce que c'était important que tu essaies aussi?
4/According to you, if I fill again the bottle with water and if you screw the bottle's cap again, will the water also stop again from flowing?	A ton avis, si je remplis de nouveau la bouteille d'eau et si tu recommences à visser le bouchon, est-ce que l'eau va encore s'arrêter de couler?
5/If a 9- or 10-year-old child tells you it is not possible, what would you answer to him?	Si un grand de CE2 te dit que ce n'est pas possible, qu'est-ce que tu lui réponds/dis?
6/If someone tells you that it is magic, what would you answer to him?	Si quelqu'un te dit que c'est de la magie, qu'est-ce que tu lui réponds/dis?
7/Do you think that it would work if a younger child (3 years old) was trying?	Est-ce que tu crois que ça marcherait/peut marcher si c'était un enfant plus petit/de PS/de MS qui essayait?
8/Is it important that other children try out?	<i>Est-ce que c'est important que d'autres enfants essaient?</i>
9/A child tells you that it works only because it is you. He tells you that if he tries himself, it will not work. What do you answer to him?	Un enfant te dit que ça marche seulement/ uniquement parce que c'est toi qui le fait. Il te dit que si lui le fait, ça ne marchera pas. Qu'est-ce que tu lui réponds/dis?
10/Do you think that it could work if your mother was doing it at home?	<i>Est-ce que tu crois que ça marcherait/peut marcher aussi si ta maman le faisait à la maison?</i>
11/Is it important to try out not only at school but also at home?	<i>Est-ce que c'est important d'essayer aussi dans ta maison et pas seulement à l'école?</i>

 Table 1
 Questions asked to the children by their teacher

## Results

The children answered all the questions and justified an average of 6 of their answers (22 children provided justifications to more than 8 answers and 10 to less than 3).

## A Diversity of Justifications

#### **Question 1**

More than 2/3 of the children considered that the water would stop from flowing if they screwed the bottle's cap themselves, instead of the teacher (42/62, 68%), 14 children didn't know, and 6 thought that the water would not stop from flowing.

Nineteen children (31%) proposed a justification:

• Among them, one child used the provided explanation: "I have understood that the air enters through the big hole."

- Eleven children expressed in some way that an experiment should be reproducible to justify their answer. Five of them explained that if it had worked for the teacher, it would work for anybody (e.g., "you did it and it's going to work for everybody," "if it works with you, it can work with anybody") or just stated that it would work for anybody (e.g., "because everybody can succeed"). Two children explained that if they did the same thing, they would get the same result (e.g., "because if I did the same, it will work too"). Three of them assumed (e.g., "you did it, it can also work for me"), and one expected by induction that the result would be the same for them as for the teacher ("If it works for you, it has maybe to work for me").
- One child spontaneously used the word "magic" to justify: "because I always do magic at home."
- Six children proposed justification fully unrelated to reproducibility (e.g., "because I'm 5 years old").

Question 2 was not directly related to the reproducibility. Twenty-five children proposed to try out (40%), and one child expressed his surprise: "It works, it is Magic!"

#### **Question 3**

Forty-five children (73%) consider it important to try out, ten don't know, and seven didn't think that it was important for them to try out. Thirty-two of the children (52%) provided a justification. Only four of these justifications came from children who considered that it wasn't important to try out: three of them are not related to reproducibility (e.g., "because it takes too much time," "because I wanted to do it"), and one refines his mind: "it is important only if someone has lied or something like that."

Among the 28 other justifications:

- One child who had taken the initiative to try out without waiting for the teacher to ask the question explained that it was important "because I wanted to see if you were a wizard or not."
- Three children who didn't know if the experiment was reproducible, or who thought that it wasn't, explained that it allows to know the answer (e.g., "If I hadn't tried out, I would not have known if it worked," "because if you don't try out, you cannot know the answer").
- Four justifications come from children who justified their answer to the question 1 by using the reproducibility of an experiment. Two of them explained that it was important to try out to check their idea: "We try out and then we are sure," "We have seen that it was working for me." One who thought that the experiment was reproducible by everybody noticed a parameter to be controlled to ensure it: "because, if not ([try out], you could not succeed. If you don't close well the cap,

you could have thought you had not succeeded." The last one who affirmed previously "because it is the same" explained that it was important for him to try out "because he didn't know if he would succeed."

- Eighteen were not related to the test of reproducibility (e.g., "Because I didn't know how to do it," "I will be able to show to my parents and they can say it is good").
- Two children merely emphasized the necessity to try out: "because you always have to try out," "Everybody has to try out."

## **Question 4**

Forty-seven children considered that the same thing would happen if they re-did the experiment (76%), and 43 justified their answer (69%). Eleven justifications came from children who *didn't* know (5) or thought that the water will not stop flowing again (6).

- Five justified by the fact that "It is always the same."
- Six used their previous result to conclude it will work again (e.g., "because when I had try out, it had worked"), and among them, two use induction (e.g., "if it has worked the first time, it will work the second time," "As I have done it, it will work again and I and you did it, it makes two of us").
- Four used the explanation provided to them (e.g., "Air doesn't enter anymore and water doesn't flow out").
- Five explained it was linked to the cap which had to be closed (e.g., "When you close the cap, water doesn't flow anymore"), one being not sure of the result ("I think it is because you have always closed the cap").
- Seven explained their answer by introducing a new parameter: would it remain the same if they did it without help (1) or with two hands or with more or less water, one being not sure that changing the amount of water has an influence (e.g., "maybe if there is more water, it will flow out") and two thinking it changes the result (e.g., "There will be too much water and it doesn't work").
- Four were not sure of the replicability of the phenomenon ("As I have already done it, maybe it's going to work," "I think it will re-do the same").
- Thirteen children's justifications were out of scope (e.g., "I want to do it again," "My brother said that").

## **Question 5**

Most of the children (51/62, 82%) considered that it is possible to prevent the water from flowing out, even if an older child says so. Sixteen children's (26%) arguments:

• Four proposed to show the experiment, and another one proposes the older child to try out and explain "If it doesn't work, I tell him you have to be younger."

- Two explained the phenomenon (e.g., "because air can stop the water").
- Two used the authority of the teacher (e.g., "An adult has said it to me and he knows better than you").
- Six used the primacy of experience (e.g., "because I have already try out").
- Only one used the reproducibility's argument to answer: "because it is always the same."

Children were divided on the answer to provide to someone who affirms that it is magic. Thirty-four children would merely respond to someone who says "it's magic" that it is not (55%); 20 would agree it is magic and 8 don't know.

Twenty-one children (34%) provided a justification; 16 justified it by stating that "it's not magic" and 5 that "it is magic."

- Seven used an explanation: five explained that the air prevented the water from flowing out, and two cases related this explanation to magic (e.g., "Air enters and water goes out, it is magic"); two provided another explanation (the cap which closes the bottle or the presence of the hole) and used it to justify that it was not magic.
- Three associated magic with a specific tool: "because there is no magic wand" (No), "my hands and a scarf make magic" (Yes), "at home, I don't have magic but I still have a magic wand to make magic" (Yes).
- Six proposed arguments relative to the supposed characteristics of a magical phenomenon to eliminate the possibility ("because it is easy to do," "because I have done it" (2), "because water doesn't disappear"), by explaining "someone has taught it to me" or that "it looks like magic but it is not." Another child, aware that the phenomenon is not magical, still precised "well, it is rather a little bit magical."

Among the 20 children who proposed a justification suggesting the idea of reproducibility in the previous questions, 6 qualified the experiment as magic, but only 1 justified this answer by the fact that "it is fun." Six out of the other 14 children justified their answer by the proposition that magic doesn't exist without some specific tool supposedly characteristics of a magical phenomenon, such as a wand.

#### **Question 7**

Forty-four children (71%) considered that a child younger than themselves can observe the same result if he followed the same procedure; seven considered that the younger child would not, and eleven didn't know. Forty children justified their answers (65%):

- Nine identified technical problems as a source of difficulty for young children (closing the cap, stabilizing the bottle).
- Three explained that a very young child (2–3 years old) would not be able to obtain the result but one of an intermediate age (3–4 years old) would.
- Four think that young children "don't know."
- Seven were out of scope (e.g., "Mom told me").
- Four explained that the observations were possible with anybody.
- Eight induced that, since the experiment was working for them or for the adults or older children, it would also work for the younger one (e.g., "because the older can do, it means the younger also can," "if it works with me, it works with younger").
- Three considered the similitude of the apparatus (e.g., "because it is the same objects").
- One explained it by the fact that the same physical process was involved: "there will be no air and after water cannot flow out."
- One made the hypothesis that "maybe it works because with us it works."

Forty-two children (68%) think it is important that different children try out, 5 don't know, and 15 think it is not. Forty-four children (71%) provided a justification:

- Seven focused on the interest to know or to learn (e.g., "everybody has to know").
- Six considered it important to try out (e.g., "You have to try out").
- Ten would like others to be able to do the experiment (e.g., "For everybody to be able to do it").
- Two wanted to share with parents or friends (e.g., "To explain to my parents").
- Twelve were out of scope (e.g., "Mom explained to me," "Water will stop flowing out").
- Three insisted that it would depend on the other children's willingness to do the experiment (e.g., "If they like to do it").
- Three considered it important to check whether the experiment worked with other children or not (e.g., "because we don't know if they can do it or not," "because they try out and we see if they can succeed," "to see if they can do it").
- One commented that "if they try out and are afraid it is not going to work, they do it and it will work."

## **Question 9**

Fifty children (81%) considered at this stage that the experiment didn't work for them only; ten didn't know, and two affirmed that they were the only ones but didn't justify this assertion. Thirty-eight children justified their answers:

• Fifteen explained that the child has to try out.

- Six affirmed to the child that "it works."
- Four answered out of scope (e.g., "It is not important").
- Five proposed an explanation: closing the cap is the solution (e.g., "when you close the cap, air doesn't pass anymore").
- Two who "didn't know" said that "maybe it is going to work for you, first you have to try out" or "maybe it will."
- Three affirmed it works for everybody.
- Three reintroduced magic into their answer: "it is just magic but as you can do it, all the children can do it"; "I can do it, why don't you manage to do magic?"; "If it works, it is a magic trick, if I tell him, he will believe it."

Fifty-six children (90%) considered that, if their mother did the same experiment at home, the same thing would happen, three didn't know, and three thought that the same things would not happen. Fifty-one justified their answers (82%):

- Twenty-two answers were irrelevant (e.g., "My Mom always do it").
- Twelve focused on the fact that their mother is an adult, or just older.
- Two induced that if the experiment worked with them or the teacher, it would also work for their mother (e.g., "because you did it, it works with adults").
- Four focused on the similarity of the apparatus (e.g., "if she takes the same objects, it will work").
- Three considered that it would work with anybody.
- Three considered that if it worked at school, then it would also work at home, and one affirmed that it would work anywhere.
- Four considered that it would always work.

## **Question 11**

Forty-one children (66%) considered it important to try out at home, 16 didn't think so, and 5 didn't know. Forty-four children (71%) justified their answers:

- Sixteen answers were irrelevant (e.g., "Because your dad also told me the same").
- Thirteen children explained that redoing it would help to remember or learn it (e.g., "because I want to get it").
- Seven children wished to share the experiment with their family (e.g., "all the family will know").
- One explained that "it is very important, very special, very magic."
- Two considered it important to try out in both places.
- Three focused on the ability to do the experiment anywhere: "we can do it everywhere," "in all the buildings we can do it, wherever we want," "we can do it wherever we want."

• Two considered it important to try out in two different places to check that it didn't change the result: "we can see it works," "to see if it works everywhere," "it is important to try out everywhere."

## Synthesis Table

Table 2 synthesizes the justifications used by the children to affirm at some level the notion of reproducibility.

## Children Expressing Reproducibility and Its Importance

Among the 62 children, only 26 were able to justify their answers by referring directly or indirectly to the notion of reproducibility for one question at least.

- For 12 of them (20%), the reproducibility of an experiment is mobilized three to four times.
- Nine (14%) expressed twice justifications related to reproducibility and repeated the provided explanation to justify their answer. And for five of these children, this expression appeared at the very end of the questionnaire (Q9–Q11).
- Seven children call upon reproducibility just once, and three of them expressed it as a mere possibility.
- Only one child (with five justifications based on reproducibility) expressed an interest to try out the experiment by himself in terms of checking its reproducibility ("We were able to see it was working for me").
- Only three children appeared able to consider that it was important to check whether it worked the same way with other children (Q8), and two appeared able to consider that it was important to check that it worked the same way in different places (Q11).

## **Discussion and Conclusion**

Five-year-old children appear to be able to consider a counterintuitive experiment as reproducible. Their perception of magic doesn't seem incompatible with the possibility to reproduce an experiment themselves, and the word *magic* doesn't seem to have a strong value for them, besides being used to express that they considered doing the experiment rather fun. For one child, who spontaneously wanted to try out "because I wanted to see if you were a wizard or not" (Q3), the magical character of a phenomenon was associated with his own ability to reproduce it, but such an association doesn't appear clearly through the answers of the children to the question Q6.

Type of answer	Q1	Q4	Q5	Q7	Q9	Q10	Q11	Total	%
Results of the experiment independent of the person who makes the experiment ("it works for everybody")	5			4	3	3		15	24%
Identification of similitude between what is proposed and what has been done ("because it is similar")	2	5	1					8	13%
Results of the experiment independent of the place ("it works everywhere")						3	6	9	14%
Consideration of the similitude of materials or conditions ("because it is with the same objects")				3		4		7	11%
Reference to the fact it has already been tried out and it works ("I have already tried out and it has worked")		5						5	8%
Induction from the result of its own experience to the result of other children ("If it works with me, it works with younger children")				8				8	13%
Induction from the result of the teacher to its own result ("you did it, it can also work for me")	4							4	6%
Induction from the result of the teacher to the result of other adults ("because you did it, it will work with adults")						2		2	<1%
Generalization from the fact that the result was similar for two different persons to everybody ("as I have done it and you have done it, we are two, it will work again")		1						1	<1%
Total	11	11	1	15	3	12	6	59	

 Table 2
 Categories of answers related to the notion of reproducibility and number of answers for each category (25 children, one child can belong to more than one category)

In both cases (questions about reproducibility or about magic), less than half of them appear able to justify their position in a relevant way.

About 42% of them (26/62) provided an explanation integrating an element related to some level of understanding of the reproducibility of an experiment, but the independence of the result to the place (14%) or the operator (24%) is seldom evocated, such as the necessity to control the conditions or the similitude of the materials (11%). Nevertheless, some of them appear able to build explanations based on the experiment they have just witnessed. The children's understanding of the interest of testing the reproducibility appears quite poor (less than 7% of answers justifying the interest of such a test) and less important for an experiment they just discover than for a well-known experience (up to 25%, Blanquet and Picholle 2015), which corroborates previous experiments (Metz 1995).

These first results strongly suggest that it is possible to work with 5–6-year-old children on the notion of reproducibility. Moreover, the developed questionnaire based on the discovery of a new experiment appears well-understood by children. A

next step will be to identify its ability to discriminate children having specifically worked on reproducibility from other children.

In this study, no special provisions were made to ensure that the teachers explicitly insisted on the importance of reproducibility or even mentioned the term in front of the pupils. Further observations would be needed to establish whether an explicit work on the reproducibility of every experiment performed in the frame of scientific inquiry would allow more children to get a better grasp of the notion of reproducibility and of the usefulness of its test. Nevertheless, it is common knowledge among Kindergarten teachers that young children love to perform the same activity again and again. It thus seems plausible that a mere explicit emphasis on the usefulness of this practice might help pupils to learn the concept of reproducibility in scientific experiments better.

#### References

- Bacon, R. (1267). Opus Majus.
- Blanquet, E. (2014). La Construction de critères de scientificité pour la démarche d'investigation: une approche pragmatique pour l'enseignement de la physique à l'école primaire, PhD Thesis, Université de Genève, no. FPSE 591 [in French]. http://archive-ouverte.unige.ch/unige:42783. Accessed 7 May 2019.
- Blanquet, E., & Picholle, E. (2015). Two attainable skills in Kindergarten: Testing reproducibility and robustness in an experiment. *Proceedings of the ESERA conference*, August 31 – September 4, Helsinki, Finlande.
- Charpak, G., & Broch, H. (2003). *Devenez sorciers, devenez savants*. Paris: Odile Jacob. [in French]
- CNRS. (2014). Promouvoir une recherche intègre et responsable. Un guide. Comité d'éthique du CNRS [in French] http://www.cnrs.fr/comets/IMG/pdf/guide_promouvoir_une_recherche_ inte_gre_et_responsable_8septembre2014.pdf. Accessed 31 May 2018.
- IFE. (2011). Démarche d'investigation dans l'enseignement secondaire: représentations des enseignants de mathématiques, SPC, SVT et technologie [in French]. ENS Lyon: Lyon. http://ife. ens-lyon.fr/ife/ressources-et-services/ocep/dispositifs/DI/rapport-DI/. Accessed 31 May 2018.
- Journal Officiel. (2015). Programme d'enseignement du cycle des approfondissements (cycle 4) arrêté du 9-11-2015 – J.O. du 24-11-2015 (NOR MENE1526483A) [in French]. http://cache. media.education.gouv.fr/file/48/02/4/2015_collegeprogramme_28-7_614024.pdf. Accessed 31 May 2018.
- Lederman, J. S., Lederman, N. G., Bartos, S. A., Bartels, S. L., Meyer, A. A., & Schwartz, R. S. (2014). Meaningful assessment of learners' understandings about scientific inquiry—The views about scientific inquiry (VASI) questionnaire. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 51, 65–83. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21125.
- McNutt. (2014). Reproducibility (Editorial). Science, 343, 229. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1250475.
- Metz, K. (1995). Reassessment of developmental constraints on children science instruction. *Review of Educational Research*, 65, 93–127. https://doi.org/10.2307/1170709.
- Metz, K. (2004). Children's understanding of scientific inquiry: Their conceptualization of uncertainty in investigations of their own design. *Cognition and Instruction*, 22(2), 219–290. https:// doi.org/10.1207/s1532690xci2202_3.
- Nature. (2016). Reality check on reproducibility. *Editorial Nature*, 533, 437. https://doi.org/10.1038/533437a.

- NGSS Lead States. (2013). *Next generation science standards: For states, by states.* Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- Novellaux, S. (Writer). (2012, December 21). Speciale fin du monde [Television series episode]. In *In On n'est pas que des pigeons*. Bruxelles: RTBF.
- Schauble, L. (1996). The development of scientific reasoning in knowledge-rich contexts. *Developmental Psychology*, 32, 102–119. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.32.1.102.
- Varelas, M. (1997). Third and fourth graders' conceptions of repeated trials and best representatives in science experiments. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 34(9), 853–872. https:// doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-2736(199711)34:9<853::AID-TEA2>3.0.CO;2-T.
- Zwaan, R. A., Etz, A., Lucas, R. E., & Brent Donnellan, M. (2017). Making replication mainstream. Behavorial and Brain Sciences, 41, E120. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X17001972.

# Part II Emerging Identities in Science Education

# Using Theoretical and Methodological Triangulation to Study Motivation in the Science Classroom



Jenny M. Hellgren 🝺

## Introduction

Research on motivation in science education relies, like research on motivation across most educational disciplines, heavily on quantitative evaluations of student self-reports, most frequently using questionnaires (e.g. Potvin and Hasni 2014). Given that motivation is "an internal state that arouses, directs and sustains students' behaviour" (Koballa and Glynn 2007, p. 85), it cannot be observed directly. Rather, it must be studied through one or more other aspects that are considered to relate to motivation; the use of questionnaires is understandable. However, as Potvin and Hasni (2014) point out: "the use of questionnaires [in motivation research] is so common that it is not impossible that researchers have somehow lost sight of its limitations" (p. 111). Further, there is a growing realisation that motivation research should move beyond the limitations of the narrow focus of questionnaire-based research and consider taking its starting point in other perspectives and methodologies, including qualitative ones (e.g. Nolen et al. 2015; Potvin and Hasni 2014). One such potential starting point is the classroom. In this chapter, I posit and evaluate a theoretical model that allows us to link student motivation as traditionally measured with questionnaires, to student motivation and engagement in the science classroom as well as to students' experiences of the science education classroom. Hence, the purpose of this chapter is to evaluate a new theoretical model of motivation and to show how this new model captures contextual and situational motivation of relevance for the science classroom. Here, contextual motivation is motivation towards science in general, and situational motivation is motivation at a particular point in time, for example, during a specific science lesson.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. M. Hellgren (🖂)

Department of Science and Mathematics Education, Umeå University, Umeå, Sweden e-mail: jenny.s.hellgren@umu.se

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_7

In classroom settings, opportunities for motivation can be seen as a dynamic process (Dörnyei and Ushioda 2011). These opportunities are provided by specific situations as well as student motivation and engagement throughout the same situation. Understanding these dynamic processes would allow us to understand how and potentially why motivation fluctuates and functions in the science classroom. It could also allow us to understand how the specific science education situation connects to student motivation for science in general. The theoretical model I propose supports motivation as a multi-level and dynamic construct. This is best investigated using a mixed-methods approach and requires that the definition of motivation is extended both to give the context a more central role and to highlight the complexity of motivation as a process in the classroom. The definition of motivation used therefore is: "an interplay between internal and external factors that stimulates peoples' energy, commitment, interest and effort to start up and continue to work towards different goals" (Hellgren 2016, p. 2).

This chapter begins by proposing and justifying a new theoretical model for motivation in the science classroom that includes the classroom as well as general motivation for science. It continues with an exploratory evaluation of the model and whether it provides new and useful insights into motivation in the science classroom. To do this I apply the model to the results of a mixed-methods study of three secondary classrooms where teachers implemented and students engaged in a novel science task as a part of a partnership with scientists' project called the Medicine Hunt.

#### A New Model for Motivation in the Science Classroom

The new theoretical model that I develop in this section views motivation as a multilevel and dynamic construct and captures contextual and situational motivation of relevance for the science classroom. The model combines multiple theoretical perspectives to produce a model of motivation that supports a multi-perspective view of motivation of relevance to complex classroom situations. The proposed model supports multiple methodological perspectives to study motivation in science classroom situations. In combination with self-determination theory (SDT; Deci and Ryan 1985), the model emerges from the hierarchical model of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation (HMIEM; Vallerand 2000) and the process model of motivation (Dörnyei 2000). After briefly presenting these theories, I show how they can be combined into the model I am proposing.

## Self-Determination Theory

Self-determination theory (SDT; Deci and Ryan 1985) is frequently used in educational settings. SDT distinguishes intrinsic from extrinsic motivation. Intrinsic motivation is when a person acts because the value of the action is interesting, is enjoyable or gives satisfaction, and extrinsic motivation is when a person acts to reach an extrinsic goal, for example, a grade, or to avoid punishment (Ryan and Deci 2000). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation have different qualities. For example, intrinsic motivation has been shown to lead to high-quality learning and creativity (Ryan and Deci 2000). SDT includes a third motivation status, amotivation, which is when a person lacks motivation, exhibiting neither intrinsic nor extrinsic motivation.

Self-determination theory states that students' feelings of competence, autonomy and relatedness lead to intrinsic motivation and "high quality engagement, effective functioning, and psychological well-being" (Reeve 2012, p. 153). Thus, in SDT, students' feelings of competence, autonomy and relatedness are dependent on the specific context and can be influenced by the teacher, via teaching methods and classroom climate, or by other students. For example, students' feelings of competence can be increased by working with tasks that are challenging but not too difficult. Students' feelings of autonomy can be enhanced by student-centred teaching methods that give them freedom to influence and take responsibility for their own learning. And students' feelings of relatedness can be increased by creating settings in which they feel safe and accepted in relation to their teacher and peers and when they experience the social classroom context as open for questions and discussions. Experiencing high levels of competence, autonomy and relatedness makes a student more likely to be motivated intrinsically rather than extrinsically.

#### Hierarchical Model of Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivation

Although the hierarchical model of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation (HMIEM; Vallerand 2000) is developed from Deci and Ryan's (1985) SDT, the hierarchical model includes aspects of motivational dynamics and divides the types of motivation into three levels of generality. The first and most general level, *global motivation*, captures a person's general motivational tendencies relating to their engagement in an activity and their interaction with their environment (Lavinge and Vallerand 2010). The second level, *contextual motivation*, captures a person's motivation towards engagement in a specific domain such as sports, or school subjects, for example, science. The third and most specific level, *situational motivation*, captures a person's here-and-now motivation in a specific situation.

Interaction between the different levels of generality, both in terms of top-down and bottom-up (recursive) effects, was posited by Lavinge and Vallerand (2010). They posited, for example, that if a student has high levels of intrinsic contextual motivation for science, it is likely that there is top-down effect that results in this student having a high level of situational motivation in a specific science lesson. Likewise, they posited that repeated experiences of high situational motivation in a science lesson can via bottom-up recursive effects lead to higher intrinsic contextual motivation in the school science domain for a student. Further, at each level in the model, background factors, mediated through competence, autonomy and relatedness, lead to motivation that have consequences for affect, cognition and behaviour.

#### Motivation as a Dynamic System

Dörnyei and other researchers in the field of second-language learning have theorised motivation as a "complex dynamic system" and explored motivation in the classroom in ways that acknowledge motivation as a dynamic and interactive process. For example, they have developed a process model to study motivation in the classroom (Dörnyei and Ottó 1998; Dörnyei 2000). It differs from the other models of motivation by adding a clear time perspective and drawing on the dynamic aspects of motivation that are inherent in complex classroom environments. They describe their approach as "a situated and process-oriented account of motivation" that "inevitably leads us to a dynamic conception of the notion of motivation that integrates the various factors related to the learner, the learning task and the learning environment into one complex system whose ultimate outcome can be seen as the regulator of learning behaviour" (Dörnyei and Ushioda 2011, p. 89). They divide the time dimension of the complex dynamic system into three stages: the pre-action, the action and the post-action stage (see Fig. 1).

The pre-action stage occurs before the actual learning situation takes place. This involves processes in which the students set their goals, form intentions and get to act. According to the model, this is affected by student's intrinsic and extrinsic motivation as well as factors such as goals, values and attitudes. The action stage is the learning situation, per se. Here, students are affected by external factors that, through feelings of competence, autonomy and relatedness, create dynamics of motivation in the classroom. A student's motivation can be stable but also change quickly in response to what is happening in the classroom. The post-action stage is retrospective and evaluating. Here, students' evaluations can be affected by, for example, their self-confidence and the feedback they receive.

#### A Combined Model

The new theoretical model that I posit in this chapter combines SDT with HMIEM and the process model of motivation to give a three-level structure of global, contextual and situational motivation as shown in Fig. 1.

By combining these theories, a model that allows for a multi-perspective view of motivation that includes situational motivation is created. This greater unpacking is created by the merging HMIEM with the model of motivation by Dörnyei (2000), yet the combination retains contextual information and thereby also provides information about motivation towards engagement in a specific domain.

The situational level in the proposed model is divided into three stages following the dynamic model and allows visualisation of the classroom process. In the proposed combined model, the pre-action stage overlaps with contextual motivation because setting goals, forming intentions and initiating action, is influenced by



**Fig. 1** Overview of the theoretical framework with the three levels of motivation: global, contextual and situational motivation. On each level, motivation is affected by factors leading to feelings of competence (C), autonomy (A) and relatedness (R). Motivation can be of three types, intrinsic (IM), extrinsic (EM) or lack of motivation, amotivation (AM). Situational motivation is divided into the pre-action, the action and the post-action stages. For each stage, examples of what is included and factors affecting them are shown. Developed from models presented by Dörnyei (2000), Vallerand (2000) and Hellgren (2016)

contextual motivation such as intrinsic and intrinsic motivation as well as goals, values and beliefs. The action stage includes the situational motivation affected by what is happening in the specific classroom, and the post-action stage refers to the motivation after the specific lesson when students reflect upon what happened in the classroom.

#### **Testing the Model: Context and Design**

In order to test the model to study motivation, data were collected from three secondary science classrooms where students participated in a partnership with scientists. This context was selected to test the proposed combined model of motivation because the partnership was designed to increase motivation for science and understanding of research through inquiry-based methods, real-world problems and introduction to how science is used by scientists. The partnership with scientists had the potential to include many factors shown to have positive links to student motivation, attitudes and interest. A recent review paper (Potvin and Hasni 2014) listed such factors and included in their list factors such as collaborative work, meaningful learning linked to daily life, hands-on and inquiry-based work, learning environments that encourage independent thinking as well as enthusiastic and encouraging teachers. Further, the context of the partnership with scientists was science classroom-based, and implemented in parallel in different schools by different teachers, and for school years where science is compulsory for all students. In sum, this specific context provided an excellent setting in which to test the proposed model.

The partnership, called the Medicine Hunt, involved 18 lower-secondary school classes and was described in detail in Hellgren (2016) and Hellgren and Lindberg (2017). The planning and implementation in each classroom were highly influenced by the school and the teacher. This provided variation in context for the different classrooms (for details, see Hellgren 2016). Therefore, the partnership provides a suitable setting to investigate the dynamic process of students' situational motivation during classroom activities in relation to their contextual motivation and a context in which to test the proposed model of motivation. The participants in the study were three secondary school teachers and 12 grade 8 students 13–14 years of age. In each class, four students with different patterns of contextual motivation for science in terms of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation in the different classrooms and during the authentic science task. In this chapter, the students in the three different classrooms, participating in lessons planned by three different teachers, are given pseudonyms beginning with the letters D, E and F, respectively.

Students' contextual motivation for science was measured with questionnaires, a study that is described in detail by Hellgren and Lindberg (2017). Figure 2 shows a schematic overview of how the selected students can be placed in a frame of contextual intrinsic and extrinsic motivation to visualise their replies to the questionnaire. For example, Frank is a student with high intrinsic and high extrinsic motivation for science, Dora is a student with low intrinsic and low extrinsic motivation for science. By using this design, students with different contextual motivation profiles are included in the study.



## Methods

To target the different perspectives of motivation in the proposed multi-level combined model of motivation, a mixed-methods design with questionnaires, classroom observations and interviews was used. Mixed-methods methodologies have the advantage of not being limited by a particular method choice, but methods can be selected and combined based on the questions the research aims to answer. Johnson and Onwuegbuzie (2004) argue that when using mixed-methods, researchers "should collect multiple data using different strategies, approaches, and methods in such a way that the resulting mixture or combination is likely to result in complementary strengths and non-overlapping weaknesses" (p. 18). In this case, a mixedmethods design was selected to highlight student motivation in the classroom as a dynamic process by looking at it in different ways. The first way was the quantitative part contributing with students' contextual motivation for science in the design. The second was to look at students' actions in the classrooms. The third way was students' experiences of working with the task in their own words. These three ways give complementary views of student motivation and align with the elements of proposed model.

## **Procedure and Instruments**

The students filled in questionnaires about their contextual motivation for science before starting the Medicine Hunt. For a detailed description of scales, procedure and outcomes, see Hellgren and Lindberg (2017). Based on student scores on these

scales, and their placements in intrinsic and extrinsic motivation space (see Fig. 2), the 12 participants were selected. After 5 months work with the Medicine Hunt partnership, during a lesson in which students analysed and identified bacterial colonies and reported their results to the scientists, the video observations and audio recordings took place. This was done during a researcher visit to the schools and classrooms. Before the lesson, a camera was placed in front of the classroom, overviewing activity and movement. The participating students, the teachers and the scientist were equipped with mp3 recorders. Immediately after the video-recorded lesson, the students, who were recorded during the lesson, were interviewed about their experiences of the lesson and the Medicine Hunt. Following the ethical requirements of Swedish law and the ethical guidelines of the Swedish Research Council (Hermerén et al. 2011), the guardians and the participants were informed about the study, and guardians gave written consent before the study started. Participants were told they could withdraw from the study at any time.

Factors indicating motivation in the science classroom have been studied in detail by Andersen and Nielsen (2013). They developed and tested a framework for detailed video-based analysis of motivation and interaction in the science classroom. Their framework includes students' actions and engagement, teachers' actions, questions, and responses and approach to subject matter. Andersen and Nielsen conclude that students' motivation to learn in the science classroom is influenced both by interactions in the classroom and the teachers' approach to science content. This framework and Andersen and Nielsen's (2013) conclusions influenced which teacher and student factors were considered and observed in this study. However, as their study focussed on one or two students at a time, and the study that is evaluating the proposed model of motivation focussed on a larger group of students, the choice of factors was narrower.

The observable factors selected as indicators of student motivation were students' attention during teachers' introduction, students' initiatives for participation in science, students' initiatives for participation in procedure, dynamics of group work and task completion. All factors were evaluated on relative scales, based on the work seen in the three classrooms. Student attention during teacher's introduction is defined as "students appear to be paying attention: They are not displaying any inattentive or disruptive behaviour; they are looking at the teacher and following his or her movements..." (Guilloteaux and Dörnyei 2008, p. 62), and student participation is defined as "students are actively taking part in classroom interaction or working on assigned activity" (Guilloteaux and Dörnyei 2008 p. 62).

Further, participation was divided into initiatives for science that was defined as interacting with the science artefacts and/or the group work involving the artefacts and initiatives procedure that was defined as students contributing to their group's progress in the scientific procedure. Finally, dynamics of group work was defined as to what extent the group progressed towards the goals, and task completion was defined as to what extent the group finished the task. Students' attention during teacher's introduction, initiatives for participation in science and initiatives for participation in procedure were evaluated on the scale high–intermediate–low. Dynamics of group work and task completion were evaluated on the scale good–intermediate–poor. Dynamics of group work is considered good when students work together, communicate and progress with the task together, and task completion is considered good when the task is completed in the lesson. Dynamics of group work is considered poor when students don't work and progress together. Thus, the observation follows the process from students' attention and participation during the lesson introduction, through their initiatives for science and procedure and the dynamics of the group work and finally evaluates the task outcomes.

Student interviews followed the observed lesson. The interviews were semistructured and focussed on students' experiences and motivation in relation to the partnership with scientists as well as to the lesson they just had. Content analysis of the interviews revealed eight categories for student experiences of the partnership, of which most were tightly linked to science. The categories were do something hands-on, do something inquiry-based, do things scientists do, get continuity by following and seeing results of a longer project, do something different, feelings of competence in science, be selected for something special and to participate in competition. The process and results are described in detail in Hellgren (2016). In this chapter the reported interview result for each student consists of i) whether it was positive, neutral or negative, ii) an example quote and iii) which category/ categories the answer was categorised in. This provides an overview of experiences from the lesson for the 12 students included in the study.

## Merging Results Obtained with Different Methods

Data for each student was aligned in a two-step procedure. In the first step observation data were entered into a table presenting a timeline with students' attention during teachers' introduction, students' initiatives for participation in science, students' initiatives for participation in procedure, dynamics of group work and task completion for each student during the observed lesson (see Table 1). In this table we can follow how each student acted in the various parts of the lesson and see the outcomes.

In the second step, the observation data were reduced to actions in terms of initiatives (towards science and procedure) and outcomes (of group work and lesson content). When actions were reduced, two "approach" or one "intermediate" and one "approach" were marked as +; two "avoid" marked as -; and all the other combinations were marked as 0. When outcomes were reduced, two "good" were
marked as +; two "bad/poor" or one "bad/poor" and one "intermediate" were marked as –; and two "intermediate" were marked as 0. The combination of one 0 and one positive or negative outcome was drawn to the endpoints instead of the middle to highlight differences. This reduction of data was done to make it possible to merge observation data with data from the other sources. In Table 2, students' contextual motivation (intrinsic and extrinsic motivation from questionnaire results), actions and outcomes (observation results) and evaluations (interview results) are aligned.

# Results

The results are presented and discussed in three parts. The first two parts relate to the testing of the proposed model and present the results regarding situational motivation in action and the results regarding situational motivation in action and post-action evaluations. The third part evaluates and discusses the proposed theoretical model. It is important to remember in the discussion of the results and the proposed theoretical model. The dataset on which the results are based is small with the aim to give an idea of what kind of knowledge can be obtained by using the proposed model of motivation, a model that sees motivation dynamic and multi-levelled.

# Dynamics of Students' Situational Motivation in Action

Analysis of the dynamics of students' situational motivation as a process in action revealed students who engaged and succeeded in all steps of the lesson, students who overcame obstacles and students who worked hard without reaching the goals (see Table 1). Regarding the overall quality of work, most students worked well in their groups throughout the lesson, took initiatives towards science and/or procedure and completed the task. However, the analysis suggests that the students in the first two classrooms (students with names beginning with D or E) were better able to overcome challenges and complete the task despite few initiatives, than students in the third classroom (with names beginning with F).

Name	Attention during introduction	Initiatives to science	Initiatives to procedure	Dynamics of group work	Outcome of task
Dean	High	Avoid	Avoid	Intermediate	Intermediate
Desire	High	Avoid	Approach	Good	Good
Dave	High	Approach	Approach	Intermediate	Intermediate
Dora	High	Approach	Approach	Good	Good
Esteban	High	Approach	Approach	Good	Good
Emma	High	Approach	Approach	Good	Good
Eric	High	Approach	Approach	Good	Good
Edwin	High	Intermediate	Intermediate	Bad	Intermediate
Felix	High	Approach	Avoid	Intermediate	Poor
Frida	High	Approach	Approach	Good	Good
Freya	High	Approach	Intermediate	Bad	Poor
Frank	High	Intermediate	Intermediate	Bad	Poor

 Table 1
 Dynamics of students' situational motivation during the lesson in the three classrooms, evaluated on 3-point scales

# Combining Results of Contextual and Situational Motivation

Bringing together results from students' contextual motivation and situational motivation, pre-action, action and post-action show a variety of different patterns. First, looking at the students who did well in all phases of classroom work (Dora, Dave, Emma, Eric, Esteban and Frida), we see that they represent different groups: students with high and low motivation, students from different classrooms and students with good and bad experiences from the novel science task (see Table 2). Second, looking at the students who overcame difficulties during the lesson (Dean and Desire), Dean had high intrinsic contextual motivation for science, and Desire had low intrinsic contextual motivation. Yet, both were positive about the lesson when evaluating it. Finally, students whose outcomes did not align with their classroom effort (Edwin, Freya, Felix and Frank) also represented different patterns of intrinsic and extrinsic contextual motivation, and they all had positive experiences.

Student	Motivation (IM/EM)	Experience (overall outcome + example quote)	Action (I/O)
Emma	+/-	Positive: inquiry Work freely and talk to friends	+/+
Eric	+/	Positive: hands-on, understand science Whatever I do is fun; to work and use my skills	+/+
Frida	+/	Positive: inquiry You can discuss with the person you work with, talk things through and check and see what you find	+/+
Dora	_/_	Positive: no reasons I like science; it is fun when we do things like this	+/+
Esteban	_/_	Negative: no reasons I never liked science; it is difficult; I have problems understanding	+/+
Dave	-/+	Positive: hands-on We could check out all the small fungi in the microscope	+/0
Freya	+/	Positive: inquiry, continuity To see what happened to the soil samples; everything looked kind of different; one got curious what it was	+/
Desire	-/-	Positive: hands-on, variation [It was] different to what we usually do in science class; we don't usually stand and dig on bacteria; we don't usually look at bacteria; it is fun with something new	0/+
Edwin	-/+	Positive: understand science One gets to learn new things	0/-
Felix	_/_	-	0/-
Frank	+/+	Positive: continuity, something special Check what we had collected; when you were filming	0/-
Dean	+/	Positive: hands-on, inquiry, continuity To do this, check the samples; see what different shapes they could have	-/0

 Table 2
 Examples of how students with different initial motivations for science experience and work with the science task

D, E and F names belong in different classrooms

Turning to considering these results in relation to the proposed model of motivation, I consider a few of the students. Some students perform as expected. Emma, Eric and Frida all have high intrinsic and low extrinsic contextual motivation for science that should give them good opportunities to succeed. In the classrooms, all three take initiatives towards both science and procedure, and they have good outcomes for the task. Their experiences are positive, Emma and Frida refer the positive aspects of the inquiry-based way of working and Eric thinks whatever he does in science is fun. One explanation according to the model is that these students, all with high intrinsic motivation, form clear goals and intentions for the lesson and initiate action during their teachers' introductions. Affected by opportunities to feel competence, autonomy and relatedness during the lesson, they stay active and take initiatives to engage in the scientific procedure as well as in the science content. Finally, they evaluate their experiences positively and in relation to science.

Other students had outcomes in relation to their intrinsic and extrinsic contextual motivation for science that were not totally expected, for example, Esteban, who has both low intrinsic and extrinsic contextual motivation for science. In the classroom he takes initiatives towards both science and procedure, and he has good outcomes of the task. However, in the evaluation he expresses a negative experience of the lesson and refers this to a stable contextual motivation for science, that is, his general dislike of science. Another student with an unexpected outcome is Desire, who also has low intrinsic and low extrinsic contextual motivation for science. She avoids the science initiatives during the task, but in other aspects shows high motivation in the action stage. Afterwards, she gives a positive evaluation of the lesson referring to its difference to their usual science lessons. Finally, Edwin has low intrinsic and high extrinsic contextual motivation for science. He takes intermediate initiatives towards both science and the scientific procedure, but the group work is not functioning well, which results in deficient outcomes. These three students show dynamic motivation patterns throughout the lesson, and these can be, at least to some degree, explained by what happens in the classroom in interaction with teacher, task and/or peers.

In sum, no patterns between students' contextual motivation and their actions or experiences were found. Students with high and low intrinsic motivation for science were equally likely to engage in and enjoy their participation in the project.

#### **Evaluating the Model**

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the theoretical model as a tool to study motivation and learn more about how motivation can be dynamic and relevant in the science classroom. The theoretical framework combining SDT (Deci and Ryan 1985) and HMIEM (Vallerand 2000) with the process model for motivation (Dörnyei 2000) enabled us to look at both students' contextual motivation for science and students' situational motivation in terms of actions in the classroom and evaluation of classroom activities. Since the framework acknowledges motivation as dynamic and focusses on the actions, it was possible to shed light on the parts of the motivation process during the novel science task. Further, the experimental design that included teachers who provided the same task in different classrooms and students with different levels of intrinsic and extrinsic contextual motivation enabled us to gain insights in how students act in the classroom situations when performing the task.

In the first step observation data were presented according to the progress of the lesson. Here, each student's dynamics of activity and engagement could be followed. Among the 12 students, there were those who engaged and succeeded in all steps of the lesson as well as those who overcame obstacles, and those who worked hard without reaching the goals. Thus, different patterns of dynamics during the lesson could be detected. In the second step the observation data were aligned with contextual motivation (questionnaire results) and evaluation (interview results). The 12 students showed different patterns of action, outcomes and evaluations in relation

to their contextual motivation that was determined in the study design. Thus, patterns of situational and contextual motivation could be detected.

However, this is a preliminary and limited study, and it is important to further extend the knowledge regarding motivation in the science classroom and how it can be studied. To do this, I suggest two possible ways forwards based on the results presented in the current chapter. The first would be a careful study of how contextual motivation may be important for students' classroom actions. Such study should involve a larger number of students, and it would be useful to learn about the role of prior experiences in relation to situational motivation. The second would be more detailed observation studies to support a more critical understanding of what happens in the dynamics of motivation in the classroom. This study could reveal details about factors influencing students' motivation, progress, possibilities to overcome obstacles and success with tasks and ultimately how this leads to positive learning experiences and meaningful learning in the science classroom.

# **Conclusions and Implications**

From the study presented in this chapter, we can conclude that the proposed model for studying motivation in the science classroom has the potential to contribute to the theoretical view of motivation as not only being global or contextual but also being situational as a dynamic process bound in a particular complex science context. We can also conclude that the preliminary results from using the model show that science students with various profiles of intrinsic/extrinsic contextual motivation for science did well in the Medicine Hunt. No clear pattern linked to contextual motivation could be detected. Instead, students with both high and low intrinsic and/or extrinsic motivation for science appeared to engage and thrive in the Medicine Hunt. It is, therefore, possible and advisable to design authentic science activities that can be part of the curriculum and reach a broad group of students.

To see motivation as a dynamic and multi-faceted concept supported new ways of combining results from motivation studies in the science classroom. First, the model supported combination of results from using different methods and contributes to motivation research by being a tool to align motivation as measured with questionnaires with motivation as seen through students' actions in the classroom and evaluations in their own words. Second, the model gave indications of ways to move forwards to further explore motivation as a dynamic concept in the science classroom. Thus, the model using theoretical and methodological triangulation to study motivation, as presented in this chapter, has potential to support development of the view of motivation as a process in the science classroom.

Other researchers (e.g. Nolen et al. 2015; Potvin and Hasni 2014; Turner 2001; Turner and Nolen 2015) have recently addressed that more research on motivation from a situational perspective is needed. This study adds to that argument since results from the test of the model indicate that classroom factors are important for students' motivation in the classroom and that motivation can be dynamic throughout

the lesson. The current study did not take a situative perspective but rather explored how questionnaires can be complemented with interviews and observations in a mixed-methods design. This approach to motivation contributes to highlighting the complexity of motivation as a process in the classroom.

From the study presented in this chapter, we can also draw some preliminary conclusions about secondary science students' motivation when working with novel science tasks in a partnership with scientists. Even if students are selected so that they have diverse intrinsic and extrinsic contextual motivation for science, the classroom engagement during the task is high, and student's evaluations are almost exclusively positive. Many earlier studies of students working in apprenticeships are of extra-curricular activities in which students are chosen or chose to participate (e.g. Sadler et al. 2010). To such activities, students with high intrinsic motivation and plans for future participation in science are likely to apply. The findings of this study highlight the need of further studies of projects that include students with both high and low intrinsic and extrinsic motivation for science.

Based on the results showing that student's progress in the different classrooms differ, we can draw attention to implementation as a key step when introducing novel science tasks to students in a school setting. It appears both possible and advisable to design novel science activities that can be part of the curriculum and reach a broad group of students, but how the tasks are implemented can have an impact on student's motivation in action. The evaluation of the proposed model of motivation suggests that working with this model would allow us access the multi-elements of motivation in complex science classroom contexts and better interpret students and provide better support and encouragement to pursue science-based careers.

#### References

- Andersen, H. M., & Nielsen, B. L. (2013). Video-based analyses of motivation and interaction in science classrooms. *International Journal of Science Education*, 35(6), 906–928. https://doi. org/10.1080/09500693.2011.627954.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. New York: Plenum. https://doi.org/10.2307/2070638.
- Dörnyei, Z. (2000). Motivation in action: Towards a process-oriented conceptualisation of student motivation. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 70, 519–538.
- Dörnyei, Z., & Ottó, I. (1998). Motivation in action: A process model of L2 motivation. *Working Papers in Applied Linguistics*, *4*, 43–69. https://doi.org/10.1348/000709900158281.
- Dörnyei, Z., & Ushioda, E. (2011). *Teaching and researching motivation*. London: Pearson Education Ltd.
- Guilloteaux, M. J., & Dörnyei, Z. (2008). Motivating language learners: A classroom-oriented investigation of the effects of motivational strategies on student motivation. *TESOL Quarterly*, 42(1), 55–77. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1545-7249.2008.tb00207.
- Hellgren, J. M. (2016). *Students as scientists: A study of motivation in the science classroom*. Doctoral thesis. Umeå University.

- Hellgren, J. M., & Lindberg, S. (2017). Motivating students with authentic science experiences: Changes in motivation for school science. *Research in Science and Technological Education*. https://doi.org/10.1080/02635143.2017.1322572.
- Hermerén, G., Gustafsson, B., Petterson, B., & Vetenskapsrådet. (2011). *God forskningssed* (Vetenskapsrådets rapportserie; 2011:1). Stockholm: Vetenskapsrådet.
- Johnson, R. B., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2004). Mixed methods research: A research paradigm whose time has come. *Educational Researcher*, 33(7), 14–26. https://doi.org/10.3102/00131 89X033007014.
- Koballa, T. R., & Glynn, S. M. (2007). Attitudinal and motivational constructs in science learning. In S. K. Abell & N. G. Lederman (Eds.), *Handbook of research on science education* (pp. 75–102). New York: Routledge.
- Lavigne, G. L., & Vallerand, R. J. (2010). The dynamic processes of influence between contextual and situational motivation: A test of the hierarchical model in a science education setting. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 40(9), 2343–2359. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2010.00661.x.
- Nolen, S. B., Horn, I. S., & Ward, C. J. (2015). Situating motivation. *Educational Psychologist*, 50(3), 234–247. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2015.1075399.
- Potvin, P., & Hasni, A. (2014). Interest, motivation and attitude towards science and technology at K-12 levels: a systematic review of 12 years of educational research. *Studies in Science Education*, 50(1), 85–129. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057267.2014.881626.
- Reeve, J. (2012). A self-determination theory perspective on student engagement. In S. L. Christenson, A. Reschly, & C. Wylie (Eds.), *Handbook of research on student engagement* (pp. 149–172). New York: Springer.
- Sadler, T. D., Burgin, S., McKinney, L., & Ponjuan, L. (2010). Learning science through research apprenticeships: A critical review of the literature. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 47(3), 235–256. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20326.
- Turner, J. C. (2001). Using context to enrich and challenge our understanding of motivational theory. In S. Volet & S. Järvelä (Eds.), *Motivation in learning contexts: Theoretical advances* and methodological implications (pp. 85–104). Amsterdam/London: Pergamon.
- Turner, J. C., & Nolen, S. B. (2015). Introduction: The relevance of the situative perspective in educational psychology. *Educational Psychologist*, 50(3), 167–172. https://doi.org/10.1080/0 0461520.2015.1075404.
- Vallerand, R. J. (2000). Deci and Ryan's self-determination theory: A view from the hierarchical model of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. *Psychological Inquiry*, 11(4), 312–318. https://doi. org/10.1037/110003-066X.55.1.68.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: Classic definitions and new directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 25, 54–67. https://doi.org/10.1006/ ceps.1999.1020.

# Students' Awareness of Working Life Skills in the UK, Finland and Germany



Anssi Salonen (D), Anu Hartikainen-Ahia (D), Tuula Keinonen (D), Inês Direito (D), John Connolly (D), Annette Scheersoi (D), and Lara Weiser (D)

# Introduction

There is a substantial concern in many countries around the world about a deficiency of professionals working in science (Bøe et al. 2011, OECD 2016a). This educational problem has received recognition for decades, and industry continues to report a skills gap (European Commission 2010; Mendick et al. 2017). However, the problem remains. Archer et al. (2014) identified a lack of knowledge about science occupations and negative attitudes behind secondary school students' lack of interest in science-related careers. Moreover, in the same study, they found that images and perceptions of scientists influence students' aspirations in science. In addition, STEM career awareness is essential for engagement, self-efficacy and relevance development (Dorsen et al. 2006). Cohen and Patterson (2012) introduced four cognitive-behavioural factors in career development: relevance, engagement, students' career awareness and self-efficacy. The latter two affects students' sciencerelated career choices (Cleaves 2005) and therefore are particularly relevant for this paper examining students' awareness of science-related careers and particularly knowledge about working life skills and how these are connected with the previous variables.

A. Salonen (⊠) · A. Hartikainen-Ahia · T. Keinonen University of Eastern Finland, Joensuu, Finland e-mail: anssi.salonen@uef.fi

I. Direito · J. Connolly University College London, London, UK

A. Scheersoi · L. Weiser University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_8

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

#### Career Awareness

Secondary school students have limited knowledge and understanding of the required competences in STEM careers (Archer et al. 2014; Cleaves 2005). The limited knowledge is often based on stereotyped perceptions and defective information. These stereotypes might result from low visibility of science-related careers in everyday life (Schütte & Köller 2015). In fact, these stereotyped perceptions of science professionals are found in earlier studies including young children's narratives (Tucker-Raymond et al. 2007); children's constructions of science (Archer et al. 2010); pictures in books (Rawson and McCool 2014); and students' perceptions of working life skills needed in science-related careers (Salonen et al. 2017). These perceptions usually describe science and science-related careers as boring, masculine, filled with laboratory work, intellectually demanding and requiring lots of sector-specific knowledge. In addition, students have a strong perception that science-related careers are not that creative and social (Masnick et al. 2010). An exception is Andersen et al. (2014) study that found Danish students with high interest in science having informed and realistic image of scientists and that stereotyped perceptions were primarily positive.

During early adolescence, students generally develop vocational identities from detached stereotyped images of work to a more realistic image of themselves at work (Porfeli and Lee 2012). However, it seems that conceptions of science-related careers are stable through some of the years of adolescence (Masnick et al. 2010) and lower secondary school science may lead students perceiving that science is not for them. Without correcting these images and increasing awareness of diverse science-related careers in the future (Archer et al. 2010). Therefore, students need accurate information about STEM careers, and this information needs to be part of science (Holmegaard et al. 2014).

Science education, particularly in lower secondary school, needs to narrow this gap between students' self-image and the stereotypical beliefs in order to promote STEM studies. For example, science education should help students imagine themselves as agents of scientific activity, including considering what counts as science in and out of school (Bang and Medin 2010). Participating in various in- and out-of-school activities fosters students' knowledge of professions and gives students possibilities to know and practice their strengths and abilities related with the professions (King and Glackin 2010; Wang 2013). Such activities should include moderately acquired knowledge, linking the career, working life skills and the society together with students' interests and combining the outside of school activities with the inquiries (Salonen et al. 2018). In addition, students should be encouraged to interpret their own experiences, which might be sometimes more important than the actual experiences (Webb-Williams 2017). These positive school science experiences together with career exploration can raise students' career awareness and sense of self-efficacy.

#### Working Life Skills and Self-Efficacy

Knowledge about working life skills needed in careers are an essential part of career awareness. Some of these working life skills, sometimes referred as the twenty-first century skills, could be specific to science-related careers, but most of them are generic and transferable between careers. A wide range of studies on twenty-first century skills all include many of the same skills but categorise them differently (Binkley et al. 2012; P21 2015; Pellegrino and Hilton 2012). When reviewing different twenty-first century frameworks, Binkley et al. (2012) compiled ten skill categories: creativity and innovation; critical thinking, problem-solving and decision-making; learning to learn, metacognition; communication; collaboration (teamwork); information literacy; ICT literacy; citizenship, local and global; life and career; and personal and social responsibility. They grouped these skill categories into four categories: Ways of thinking, Ways of working, Tools for working and Living in the world. Their framework of twenty-first century skills includes knowledge, skills and attitudes/values/ethics. Knowledge includes all the specific knowledge or understanding of the skills. Skills are the abilities and processes that develop in students and are a focus for learning. Attitudes, values and ethics describe behaviour and aptitudes in relation to the skills. These twenty-first century skills are important in STEM careers, and students need to develop their sense of self-efficacy in mastering these skills required in STEM careers (Cohen and Patterson 2012).

Bandura (1977) defined self-efficacy as a belief of ability to succeed in specific situations or tasks. In his theory, he named four sources of individual's self-efficacy beliefs: performance accomplishments, vicarious experiences, verbal persuasion and physiological states. All of these sources may be promoted in science education. However, performance accomplishments, also known as mastery experiences, are naturally a common part of the learning experiences. According to Bandura, students' may augment sense of self-efficacy during science lessons when successfully performing tasks utilising certain skills. Science education typically involves whole class or group activities, in which students can strengthen their self-efficacy beliefs through vicarious experiences, based on a self-appraisal of their own abilities having observed successful performance by their peers using skills whilst performing varying tasks (Bandura 1977). Bandura states that verbal persuasion from authorities such as teachers, role models, other adults or peers can encourage individual's performance. Although physiological feedback, for example, stress or relief, may not directly influence on self-efficacy development, self-efficacy beliefs may be augmented if students feel calm and at ease performing skills and tasks (Bandura 1977).

Self-efficacy is a key variable in Bandura's (1986) social cognitive theory (SCT), which highlights how learning occurs through behavioural, personal and environmental factors. Lent et al. (1994) extended the SCT with cognitive person variables such as self-efficacy expectations, outcome expectations and personal goals acting together with a person's environment and, ultimately, impacting on individual's interest and career development. This social cognitive career theory (SCCT) posits

that personal accomplishments in required skills for a profession extend the feeling of self-efficacy to perform in such tasks (Lent and Brown 2006). Furthermore, self-efficacy beliefs have an effect on career choice and aspirations. These beliefs can be a predictor of career interest (Lent et al. 2010). Students are more likely to pursue a career they perceive themselves to be competent in. Indeed, previous research has revealed that self-efficacy is a significant predictor of students' science performance (Lavonen and Laaksonen 2009) and science career aspirations (Kang and Keinonen 2017).

SCCT suggests that environmental and social supports and barriers affect students' career choice interest indirectly through self-efficacy (Lent et al. 2010). For example, students might be less likely to aspire to science-related careers because of the low visibility of such careers in society or their negative stereotypical perceptions of those careers. Adolescents also lack vivid, clear understanding how these careers can be both socially and personally meaningful, and perhaps most importantly, it is unclear to them how their talents and interests can be useful and valuable towards long-term goals (Jahn and Myers 2015). Improving students' self-efficacy and skills may need restructuring their cognitive processes relating their own abilities with task performance (Lent et al. 1999). Attempts to foster students' selfefficacy in academic and career-related activities with subject-specific efficacy beliefs should also include a focus on the nurturing and development of self-efficacy in more generic skills such as collaboration and communication skills (Lent et al. 1999). Without promoting students' self-efficacy in a variety of working life skills, students might not see their own abilities important and useful in science, and this might have an effect on their future career choices (Cleaves 2005).

# Country Comparison in PISA Context

PISA 2015 results show that students in Finland are among the top performers in science and that students in Germany and the United Kingdom (UK) are well above OECD average (OECD 2016a). However, science enjoyment, science self-efficacy and science-related career expectations are much higher among students in the UK than in Finland and Germany. In addition, within the last two factors, the change from 2006 to 2015 is positive and over the OECD average only in the UK. Among these three countries, science enjoyment and self-efficacy have dropped the most in Finland. Moreover, PISA results seem to suggest that students in Finland and Germany rarely enjoy acquiring new knowledge and working on science topics. Even though science-related career expectation has risen in all three countries, career aspiration, particularly in science-related careers in the UK, is substantially higher than in Finland and Germany. In OECD countries, on average, 24.5% of students expect to work in science-related careers, whereas this is the case for 29.1% in the UK, 17.0% in Finland and 15.3% in Germany. Science education has to provide students with learning experiences to acquire knowledge about science-related careers and working life skills. According to SCCT, these learning experiences can develop students' self-efficacy expectations on such skills and later promote students interest towards science studies and science-related careers. PISA 2015 results (OECD 2016a) also reveal some variation in science teaching between these three countries. In the UK and Germany, science-related extracurricular activities and enquiry-based teaching are more common than in Finland. These kinds of activities may have positive impact on students' science career choices. Teacher-directed science teaching, more common in Finland, has the same positive effect in the UK and Germany, but not in Finland.

# Aim of the Study and Research Questions

Students' career awareness and self-efficacy beliefs are key variables in their future career choices. This study focuses on lower secondary school students' awareness of science-related careers, particularly on the knowledge about working life skills, moreover how to relate this awareness with students' self-efficacy in science. Therefore, this study aims to ascertain what kind of skills the students of three different countries link to science-related careers, giving educators a better understanding how to promote science studies and careers more efficiently in science education. This study answers the following two research questions:

- What are students' perceptions of working life skills in science-related careers?
- How these perceptions differ between British, Finnish and German students?

# Methodology

The context of this study is the EU project 'Promoting Youth Scientific Career Awareness and its Attractiveness through Multi-stakeholder Co-operation' (MultiCO). MultiCO project's aims are to promote the students' interest in science and their awareness of science career paths and working life skills. The 513 participants in this study were 215 British, 144 Finnish and 154 German students, aged 12–14 years from three different schools participating in the project in each country. During this age in lower secondary school, the students acquire essential information for their later choice of future studies and careers. The students participated in a workshop in which we asked the students in groups of two to three persons to write down all the skills needed in a career and to choose the three most important skills from the skills they listed for each science-related career presented in Table 1. Careers in science (CIS) are the ones involved working in scientific field, working exclusively with science topics. Careers with science (CWS) are the ones that use scientific knowledge or skills as a tool or source for knowledge and skills. For this study, we chose the CIS and CWS from lists of science-related careers so the career pairs are as high in contrast. This encourages students to discuss about the range of

	Careers in science (CIS)	Careers with science (CWS)
Group 1	Chemist	Air traffic controller
Group 2	Pharmacist	Software designer
Group 3	Pathologist	Production planner (food industry)
Group 4	Meteorologist	Nurse
Group 5	Geneticist	Horticulturalist
Group 6	Zoologist	Mechatronics mechanic

Table 1 Career pairs used in the data collection

different careers. The careers also cover most of the science-related career groups listed in PISA 2015 (OECD 2016b) using International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO-08).

Workshop data was analysed using content analysis, first with the Finnish data (Salonen et al. 2017), and then expanding it with the UK and German data. The analysis included three main phases: the preparation phase, the organizing phase and the combining phase (cf. Elo and Kyngäs 2008). In the preparation phase, all the Finnish students' answer lists were marked with codes and transcribed. Two authors read the transcriptions and made a decision on analysis based on the data itself. Since the data were mainly a list of skills, there was no need for open coding, and it was possible to use the skills as units of analysis. In the organizing phase, the skills were freely categorized and grouped. After using this inductive approach of the content analysis process, a deductive approach with an unconstrained analysis matrix based on Binkley et al. (2012) helped to conceptualize new categories, and some categories remained as they were in the analysis matrix. This allowed choosing those aspects that fit into the categorization and use those that did not fit to create one's own categories, based on the principles of inductive content analysis (cf. Elo and Kyngäs 2008). The combining phase included sending the analysis instructions based on the Finnish data to the researchers in each country to analyse their data. Then, the first author gathered and combined the data from all the countries and checked that each skill systematically matched with the categories.

#### Validity, Reliability and Ethical Considerations

The teachers were instructed to introduce the careers, describing those that were strange and unfamiliar to the students, but not mentioning the skills or abilities necessary to the careers in question. Nevertheless, the teacher's descriptions and help with unfamiliar and difficult careers might have had a minor influence on the students' answers. The workshop with teacher's introduction and the students' group work took approximately 45 min in total. We enhanced reliability with analysis triangulation (Patton 1999); in the first phase, two researchers analysed the data separately, ending up with a similar categorization and analysis of the data that ensured the reliability of further analysis. The autonomy of the participant was respected;

students' consent was asked, and participation was voluntary, giving the students also an opportunity to withdraw from the experiment at any time. Consent was also asked from the parents or their guardians, teachers, schools and/or school administrators. Anonymity of the participants was secured by collecting data anonymously.

# Results

The results include 2487 mentions of the working life skills distributed in 12 skill categories and 4 main categories. We present the students' perceptions of working life skills. First, comparing these perceptions between the countries and finally between careers in science and with science.

#### Working Life Skills in the UK, Finland and Germany

The working life skills mentioned by the students were categorized into 12 skill categories and then into 4 main categories: *Tools for working, Ways of working, Ways of thinking* and *Living in the world* (cf. Binkley et al. 2012) introduced in Fig. 1. The students in all three countries, particularly in Finland, pointed out that a great deal of *Tools for working* skills are necessary in science-related careers.



Fig. 1 Distribution of the main categories and skill categories in the dataset

Overall, the students pointed out that a large part of the sector-specific knowledge is needed in all of the careers, with UK and Finnish students mentioning that the sector-specific knowledge was the most needed category in science-related careers. Moreover, Finnish students perceived sector-specific knowledge more necessary their counterparts. In all three countries, the students' perceptions of sector-specific knowledge were focused on school subjects, science and general knowledge. They also perceived sector-specific skills such as scientific, research, manual and technical skills equally important in science-related careers. However, in the UK, the gap between sector-specific knowledge and skills was narrower.

In the UK and Germany, students perceived *Tools for working* and *Ways of working* almost equally important in science-related careers. These students highlighted the *Ways of working* skills, especially personal attributes, more than Finnish students. In this category, the students described attributes or qualities the person working in a particular career needs such as self-confidence, patience, good senses and physical condition. According to them, communication skills are more necessary in science-related careers than collaboration and teamwork skills. The students in the UK perceived communication skills more important than in other countries. Conversely, the German students perceived the collaboration and teamwork skills less important. The Finnish students mentioned skills for both categories almost equally. However, some of the communication skills such as getting along with people, and some of the social skills mentioned, were related with co-operative skills and working together with people.

The students listed substantially less *Ways of thinking* skills than *Tools for working* and *Ways of working* although almost equally importantly in all of the three countries. However, some variation in the skill categories existed. For example, Finnish and German students perceived certain mindset and metacognition skills, such as interest on specific scientific field or career, intelligence, focus and good memory, more necessary than the UK students did. Conversely, students in the UK considered critical thinking, problem-solving and decision-making considerably more necessary in science-related careers than their counterparts. According to all students, creativity and innovation skills are not that important in science-related careers. However, some mindset and metacognition skills were marginally related with creativity and innovation skills.

The *Living in the world skills* with life and career, personal and social responsibility and citizenship skill categories were least mentioned, and some of the categories were not mentioned at all across the three countries. Life and career skills, such as organizational skills and adaptation to working environment, were highlighted by the UK and German students but not by the Finnish students. Even though all students perceived personal and social responsibility somehow necessary, Finnish students mentioned these skills more frequently. Only one skill was mentioned in the category of citizenship - local and global. This skill, ethical consciousness, was mentioned by german students.

# Working Life Skills in Careers in Science and Careers with Science

Some variation becomes obvious when comparing the skills mentioned between the *careers in science* (CIS) and *careers with science* (CWS) in total and between the countries (Table 2). In total, students linked CIS more with sector-specific knowledge; personal attributes; communication; collaboration and teamwork; critical thinking, problem-solving and decision-making; and personal and social responsibilities. On the other hand, they perceived CWS to be more closely related with sector-specific skills, technology and ICT literacy and creativity and innovation.

Students in Finland and Germany perceived *Tools for working* more important in CIS than CWS, whereas students in the UK perceived the opposite. Students, particularly in Finland and Germany, highlighted the importance of sector-specific knowledge in CIS. Conversely, sector-specific skills and technology and ICT literacy were more important in CWS.

The personal attributes in the category *Ways of working* were equally associated with both CIS and CWS by the overall sample of students. According to UK students, communication, collaboration and teamwork are needed in CIS more than CWS. Conversely, the German students considered these skills as being needed more in CWS. The Finnish students perceived *Ways of working* equally important to both career groups. However, they linked communication skills more with CIS and collaboration and teamwork more with CWS.

In total, students linked *Ways of thinking* skills equally between the careers. Finnish and German students linked specific mindset and metacognition similarly, whereas UK students were more likely to link those skills with CIS. This difference between countries was also found for higher-order thinking skills such as critical thinking, problem-solving skills and decision-making which are, according to students, more necessary in CIS. Conversely, for all students, CWS are more linked with creativity and innovation skills.

*Living in the world* skills were linked only with a few careers. However, there is variation between the career groups and countries. Life and career skills were mentioned by UK and German students only, spreading equally between CIS and CWS. Personal and social responsibilities were mostly linked with CIS by Finnish students, who usually referred to job safety, responsibilities and confidence in other people.

#### Discussion

We have identified and categorized the students' perceptions of the working life skills in science-related careers. Our results build up students' point of view on the earlier studies on skills teaching and assessment (Binkley et al. 2012).

Table 2 Distribution of the categories between careers	in science (C	IS) and <i>care</i>	ers with scie	nce (CWS)				
	UK		FIN		GER		Total	
	CIS	CWS	CIS	CWS	CIS	CWS	CIS	CWS
Tools for working	19.0%	20.0%	28.9%	22.6%	23.4%	18.8%	22.3%	20.4%
Sector-specific knowledge	12.4%	10.2%	22.1%	11.9%	18.6%	9.6%	16.0%	10.5%
Sector-specific skills	5.8%	7.9%	5.3%	7.1%	4.5%	7.4%	5.4%	7.6%
Technology/ICT literacy	0.9%	1.9%	1.5%	3.6%	0.4%	1.8%	0.9%	2.3%
Ways of working	19.7%	17.1%	14.1%	14.1%	19.1%	18.0%	18.3%	16.6%
Personal attributes	10.5%	9.2%	7.0%	6.1%	14.8%	12.7%	10.5%	9.2%
Communication	5.6%	5.1%	4.3%	3.7%	2.9%	3.5%	4.7%	4.5%
Collaboration and teamwork	3.7%	2.7%	2.9%	4.3%	1.4%	1.8%	3.0%	2.9%
Ways of thinking	10.2%	8.7%	7.7%	9.0%	7.6%	10.2%	9.1%	9.1%
Mindset and metacognition	4.0%	3.0%	5.1%	4.9%	4.9%	5.1%	4.4%	3.9%
Critical thinking, problem-solving, decision-making	5.9%	3.0%	2.2%	1.7%	2.0%	2.0%	4.2%	2.5%
Creativity and innovation	0.4%	2.8%	0.3%	2.4%	0.8%	3.1%	0.4%	2.8%
Living in the world	2.7%	2.5%	2.7%	0.9%	1.6%	1.4%	2.5%	1.8%
Life and career	2.5%	2.2%	0.0%	0.0%	1.0%	0.8%	1.6%	1.4%
Personal and social responsibility	0.2%	0.3%	2.7%	0.9%	0.4%	0.6%	0.8%	0.5%
Citizenship – Local and global	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.2%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%

ç	1
5	r
- 6	
	1
	>
- 5	>
- 7	1
	-
	2
	. 1
	0
	~
	C
	ž
	1
	0
	2
	6
	2
	Ś
	~
	1
	-
•	-
	9
	2
	9
	5
	1
	×
	0
	54
	-
	3
	~
	Ý
	. 1
	~
	بر
	Ē
	=
	¢4
	. 1
	-
- 4	1
0	n
- 6	_
- 9	- 1
- (	. 1
- 2	-
1	-
	. '
	0
	~
	Ý
	ž
	-
	0
	2
	<u>ر</u> آ
	2
	خ
	5
	5
	-
	r.
	?
	÷
	0
	2
	01
	۳
	-
	3
	بح
	Q
	5
	7
	υ
	7
	Ŀ
	>
	8
	ن
	1
	Ψ
	~
	5.1
	-
	<u>ب</u>
	ŝ
	es r
	les t
	ries t
	ories t
	onest
	zones t
	gories t
	egories t
•	tegones t
•	itegories t
•	ategories t
-	categories t
•	categories t
•	e categories t
-	e categories t
•	he categories t
	the categories t
	the categories t
	the categories t
	of the categories t
	of the categories t
	of the categories t
	n of the categories t
	n of the categories t
	on of the categories t
	on of the categories t
	tion of the categories t
	tion of the categories t
	ution of the categories t
	ution of the categories t
	bution of the categories t
	bution of the categories t
	Thution of the categories t
	Tribution of the categories t
	stribution of the categories t
	stribution of the categories t
	istribution of the categories t
	Distribution of the categories t
	Uistribution of the categories t
	Distribution of the categories t
	Distribution of the categories t
	Distribution of the categories t
	2 Distribution of the categories t
	2 Distribution of the categories t
	2 Distribution of the categories t
	e Z Distribution of the categories t
	le Z Distribution of the categories t
	le Z Distribution of the categories t

The results indicate that students in the UK, Finland and Germany associate working life skills in science-related careers with a large part of *Tools for working* and *Ways of working*, particularly sector-specific knowledge and skills and personal attributes. A possible explanation could be that, in general, traditional science education instruction might give too much focus on activities including theoretical and procedural skills and skills related with acquiring this knowledge (Prince and Felder 2013; OECD 2016a). For example, learning inquiry skills with precise instructions or memorizing formulae. These performance experiences may disregard the development of self-efficacy of students in other working life skills that are essential in science-related careers and might give unrealistic ideas of CIS. These ideas might lead the students to link these careers with numerous characterizing personal attributes that have been found to be stereotypical in previous studies (Archer et al. 2010; Tucker-Raymond et al. 2007; Salonen et al. 2017).

Science education includes a fair amount of pair and group work which should promote, particularly communication and collaboration skills. However, the small proportion of mentions on communication and collaboration skills, together with the support of an earlier study by Lent et al. (1999), highlight the necessity to promote these generic skills together with subject-specific skills. In addition, during opportunities for vicarious learning, each pair or group of students should be equally skilful so that these learning experiences can have the most positive influence on students' self-efficacy (cf. Bandura 1977) and further develop their outcome expectations that these skills are worthwhile in science-related careers. This is also suggested by the low number of mentions about technology and ICT literacy. Students usually are proficient in and have a high self-efficacy using technology and ICT. However, these skills and tools need to be self-evident, or science education would fail to show their importance. Hence, science education should focus on applying technology and ICT more creatively rather than, for example, only for reporting the inquiry results.

Students were less aware of *Ways of thinking* skills in science-related careers. Particularly Finnish and German students rarely related higher-order thinking skills such as critical thinking, problem-solving and decision-making with the science-related careers. These skills are not necessary and thus not promoted in the school context activities and assignments, which might be too closed and include problems set in advance. These assignments can also include strict and detailed instructions with methods, tools and equipment given in advance. This might result in students rarely linking creativity and innovation with scientific careers, thus supporting the study by Masnick et al. (2010). Therefore, school science should include more open problems and open-ended inquiries with less instruction and more student interactions with each other, teacher and most importantly with professionals (Salonen et al. 2018; Carlone and Johnson 2007) to raise knowledge and self-efficacy in these skills. Without the possibility to make their own decisions and use creativity in science learning, students do not develop a sense of knowing their own strength and abilities in STEM careers (King and Glackin 2010; Wang 2013).

The low percentage of *Living in the world* skills reveals that students are not yet pondering their future life and careers or responsibilities as active participants in

working life or society. Science education should provide learning experiences including wide-ranging issues concerning local, national and global issues. This society participation together with professionals could lead to better understanding of the necessary careers, working life skills and responsibilities in the society. These socio-scientific learning experiences could also include persuasion from professionals as role models or from teachers to promote students self-efficacy beliefs. These experiences increase students' appreciation of one's own and other's opinions and outcome expectations and develop efficacy beliefs in life, career and citizenship skills (cf. Osborne and Dillon 2008).

Some variation is obvious in students' perceptions of the working life skills between the career types. For example, CIS are more sector-specific knowledgeoriented and CWS skill-oriented. In addition, technology and ICT literacy are more important in CWS than in CIS. This skill orientation could proceed from students having closer relation with CWS and if these careers are more visible in the society (cf. Schütte and Köller 2015). These social supports and barriers affect students' self-efficacy beliefs and subsequently on their perceptions and interests on these careers as proposed in earlier studies (Lent et al. 2010).

Even though students perceived *Ways of working* and *Ways of thinking* skills almost equally important in both CIS and CWS, our results suggest that students link both career types with different types of characteristics including mindsets and personal attributes. These descriptions of the careers align with the earlier studies (Archer et al. 2010; Salonen et al. 2017) finding that students indeed have stereotyped perceptions of scientific careers. In addition, the students linked critical thinking, problem-solving and decision-making more with CIS. Conversely, they linked creativity and innovation skills more with CWS. This supports the earlier study by Masnick et al. (2010) that students do not perceive scientific careers creative.

The students' knowledge of the working life skills varied only a little between the UK, Finland and Germany. This similarity can result from alike school systems and science education in these countries. However, the students in the UK linked higher-order thinking skills with the science-related careers, especially with CIS, considerably more than in Finland and Germany. Reviewing the results in contrast of PISA 2015 results provides interconnections between self-efficacy, career aspirations and enjoyment in science and the students' perceptions of the working life skills. For example, Finnish and German students have lower self-efficacy and career expectations in science than British students (OECD 2016a) and list more sector-specific knowledge and less sector-specific skills, communication skills and critical thinking, problem-solving and decision-making skills. Finnish and German students rarely enjoying science work and acquiring new scientific knowledge (OECD 2016a) together with perceived large number of sector-specific knowledge lead to lack of engagement in scientific activities (cf. Bang and Medin 2010) and further imagining themselves in those occupations.

In sum, science education should include career exploration, open-ended inquiries and interactions between peers and professionals to promote students' career and working life skills awareness, which are essential for self-efficacy and relevance development (Dorsen et al. 2006; Carlone and Johnson 2007). These experiences could also promote students' understanding of how their current knowledge and skills are worthwhile (Jahn and Myers 2015) and correct misunderstandings related with the science-related careers and the working life skills required in those careers (Archer et al. 2010). Implementing these elements to science education students can have learning experiences with positive effects on their self-efficacy beliefs in working life skills and more probably pursue science studies and careers as students more likely choose a career they perceive being competent in (Lent et al. 2010).

#### Conclusions

Results reveal that although the students have a great deal of knowledge about working life skills, it is often just stereotypical. They frequently mentioned sector-specific knowledge and skills but omitted skills related to society, organization, time and career. The students perceived CWS more skill-oriented, creative, innovative, and technology and ICT. Conversely, students perceived CIS as more knowledge-oriented, particularly by Finnish and German students and requiring more higher-order thinking skills by students from the UK and Finland. These differences imply that it is easier for students to relate familiar and practical skills with CWS and list sector-specific knowledge they have learned and, usually stereotyped, characterization with CIS.

Science education, at best, can offer the students with learning experiences promoting wide-ranging knowledge of the science-related careers and the needed working life skills. During these experiences, students' self-efficacy with these skills can develop. The expectations in self-efficacy together with social support from parents, teachers and peers can promote interest in future science studies and careers. Science education activities in and out of school are important sources of students' awareness of careers and required working life skills. Therefore, it is important for educators to be aware of the skills students' link with science-related careers. With this information in mind, they can plan lessons to promote reliable and authentic views of the careers and skills. This kind of teaching helps students to see both, their already acquired and yet to be learned skills more valuable and relevant with science-related careers, school science and science in society. These perceptions, together with the support and feedback from teachers and scientific role models, can increase students' self-efficacy on those skills and further enhance interest on science studies and careers. The EU project MultiCO continues to design, research and provide innovative scientific career-related instruction promoting the above.

For further research, longitudinal studies are implemented about the change and progress in students' awareness of careers and working life skills and what are the students' efficacy beliefs on those working life skills. Future research should concentrate on differences between gender's perceptions of working life skills. Students' career choices might also give more information of what can be done to promote science careers more efficiently and to deliver a more accurate picture about students' science identity, self-efficacy perceptions and role of science and scientific careers in their lives. Acknowledgements This project has received funding from the *European Union's Horizon 2020* research and innovation programme under grant agreement No 665100.

Disclosure Statement No potential conflict of interest was reported by the authors.

#### References

- Andersen, H. M., Krogh, L. B., & Lykkegaard, E. (2014). Identity matching to scientists: Differences that make a difference? *Research in Science Education*, 44, 439–460. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11165-013-9391-9.
- Archer, L., DeWitt, J., Osborne, J., Dillon, J., Willis, B., & Wong, B. (2010). 'Doing' science versus 'being' a scientist: Examining 10/11 year old school children's constructions of science through the lens of identity. *Science Education*, 94(4), 617–639. https://doi.org/10.1002/ sce.20399.
- Archer, L., DeWitt, J., & Dillon, J. (2014). 'It didn't really change my opinion': Exploring what works, what doesn't and why in a school science, technology, engineering and mathematics careers intervention. *Research in Science & Technological Education*, 32(1), 35–55. https://doi. org/10.1080/02635143.2013.865601.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191–215. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191.
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice- Hall, Inc.
- Bang, M., & Medin, D. (2010). Cultural processes in science education: Supporting the navigation of multiple epistemologies. *Science Education*, 94, 1008–1026. https://doi.org/10.1002/ sce.20392.
- Binkley, M., Erstad, O., Herman, J., Raizen, S., Ripley, M., Miller-Ricci, M., & Rumble, M. (2012). Defining twenty-first century skills. In P. Griffin, B. McGaw, & E. Care (Eds.), Assessment and teaching of 21st century skills (pp. 17–66). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Bøe, M. V., Henriksen, E. K., Lyons, T., & Schreiner, C. (2011). Participation in science and technology: Young people's achievement-related choices in late-modern societies. *Studies in Science Education*, 47(1), 37–72. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057267.2011.549621.
- Cleaves, A. (2005). The formation of science choices in secondary school. *International Journal of Science Education*, 27, 471–486. https://doi.org/10.1080/0950069042000323746.
- Carlone, H., & Johnson, A. (2007). Understanding the science experiences of successful women of color: Science identity as an analytic lens. *Journal of Research in Science Education*, 44, 1187–1218. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20237.
- Cohen, C., & Patterson, D. (2012). Teaching strategies that promote science career awareness. https://www.nwabr.org/sites/default/files/pagefiles/science-careers-teaching-strategies-PRINT.pdf. Accessed 25 Jan 2017.
- Dorsen, J., Carlson, B., & Goodyear, L. (2006). Connecting informal STEM experiences to career choices: Identifying the pathway. ITEST Learning Resource Center. http://stelar.edc.org/sites/ stelar.edc.org/files/itestliteraturereview06.pdf. Accessed 25 Jan 2017.
- Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 62(1), 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x.
- European Commission. (2010). *Employers' perception of graduate employability*. Analytical report. http://ec.europa.eu/public_opinion/flash/fl_304_en.pdf. Accessed 17 Nov 2018.
- Holmegaard, H. T., Madsen, L. M., & Ulriksen, L. (2014). To choose or not to choose science: Constructions of desirable identities among young people considering a STEM higher education programme. *International Journal of Science Education*, 36, 186–215. https://doi.org/10. 1080/09500693.2012.749362.

- Jahn, J., & Myers, K. (2015). "When will I use this?" how math and science classes communicate impressions of STEM careers: Implications for vocational anticipatory socialization. *Communication Studies.*, 66, 218–237. https://doi.org/10.1080/10510974.2014.990047.
- Kang, J., & Keinonen, T. (2017). The effect of inquiry-based learning experiences on adolescents' science-related career aspiration in the Finnish context. *International Journal of Science Education*, 39, 1669–1689. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2017.1350790.
- King, H., & Glackin, M. (2010). Supporting science learning in out-of-school contexts. In J. Osborne & J. Dillon (Eds.), *Good practice in science teaching: What research has to say* (pp. 259–273). Maidenhead: Open University Press.
- Lavonen, J., & Laaksonen, S. (2009). Context of teaching and learning school science in Finland: Reflections on PISA 2006 results. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46(8), 922–944. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20339.
- Lent, R. W., & Brown, S. D. (2006). Integrating person and situation perspectives on work satisfaction: A social-cognitive view. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*, 69(2), 236–247. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jvb.2006.02.006.
- Lent, R. W., Brown, S. D., & Hackett, G. (1994). Toward a unifying social cognitive theory of career and academic interest, choice, and performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 45(1), 79–122. https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.1994.1027.
- Lent, R. W., Hackett, G., & Brown, S. D. (1999). A social cognitive view of school-to-work transition. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 47, 297–311. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-0045.1999. tb00739.x.
- Lent, R. W., Paixão, M. P., da Silva, J. T., & Leitão, L. M. (2010). Predicting occupational interests and choice aspirations in Portuguese high school students: A test of social cognitive career theory. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 76(2), 244–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2009.10.001.
- Masnick, A. M., Stavros Valenti, S., Cox, B. D., & Osman, C. J. (2010). A multidimensional scaling analysis of students' attitudes about science careers. *International Journal of Science Education*, 32, 653–667. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500690902759053.
- Mendick, H., Berge, M., & Danielsson, A. (2017). A critique of the STEM pipeline: Young People's identities in Sweden and science education policy. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, 65(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071005.2017.1300232.
- OECD. (2016a). PISA 2015 results (volume 1): Excellence and equity in education. Paris: PISA, OECD Publishing.
- OECD. (2016b). PISA 2015 results (volume II): Policies and practices for successful schools. Paris: PISA, OECD Publishing.
- Osborne, J., & Dillon, J. (2008). Science education in Europe: Critical reflections. London: Nuffield Foundation.
- P21. (2015). Partnership for 21st century skills framework definitions. http://www.p21.org/storage/ documents/docs/P21_Framework_Definitions_New_Logo_2015.pdf. Accessed 25 Jan 2017.
- Pellegrino, J. W., & Hilton, M. L. (2012). Education for life and work: Developing transferable knowledge and skills in the 21st century. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Patton, M. (1999). Enhancing the quality and credibility of qualitative analysis. *Health Services Research Journal*, 34, 1189–1208.
- Porfeli, E., & Lee, B. (2012). Career development during childhood and adolescence. New Directions for Youth Development, 134, 11–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/yd.20011.
- Prince, M., & Felder, R. (2013). Inductive teaching and learning methods: Definitions, comparisons, and research bases. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 95, 123–128. https://doi. org/10.1002/j.2168-9830.2006.tb00884.x.
- Rawson, C. H., & McCool, M. A. (2014). Just like all the other humans? Analyzing images of scientists in Children's trade books. *School Science and Mathematics*, 114, 10–18. https://doi. org/10.1111/ssm.12046.
- Salonen, A., Hartikainen-Ahia, A., Hense, J., Scheersoi, A., & Keinonen, T. (2017). Secondary school students' perceptions of working life skills in science-related careers. *International Journal of Science Education*, 39, 1339–1352. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2017.1330 575.

- Salonen, A., Kärkkäinen, S., & Keinonen, T. (2018). Career-related instruction promoting students' career awareness and interest towards science learning. *Chemistry Education Research* and Practice. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7rp00221a.
- Schütte, K., & Köller, O. (2015). Discover, understand, implement, and transfer': Effectiveness of an intervention programme to motivate students for science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 37, 2306–2325. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2015.1077537.
- Tucker-Raymond, E., Varelas, M., Pappas, C. C., Korzh, A., & Wentland, A. (2007). "They probably Aren't named Rachel": Young children's scientist identities as emergent multimodal narratives. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, 1, 559–592. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11422-006-9017-x.
- Wang, X. (2013). Why students chose STEM majors: Motivation, high school learning, and postsecondary context of support. *American Educational Research Journal*, 50(5), 1081–1121. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831213488622.
- Webb-Williams, J. (2017). Science self-efficacy in the primary classroom: Using mixed methods to investigate sources of self-efficacy. *Research in Science Education*, 48(5), 939–961. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11165-016-9592-0.

# Participation and Learner Trajectories in Computing Education



Anne-Kathrin Peters 🕞

# Introduction

There is a long history of concern about engagement in STEM and the diversity of people engaging in STEM fields (Lövheim 2014). Shortfalls of computing professionals are announced nearly everyday (Lehman et al. 2016). Women are continuously under-represented in computer science despite decades of research trying to address the problem. In fact, computer science is the only STEM major where the representation of women has even decreased in recent years (Beyer 2014). This is worrying considering the great impact technology has on our lives. Women are not to the same extent included in the digitalisation process of our society as men.

Decades of research aiming to better understand and address problems of engagement, drop out and under-representation conclude that researchers should shift focus from investigating students' lack of interests, skills, and attitudes to a broader perspective on students' interaction with the learning environment as a long-term process (Ulriksen et al. 2010; Tinto 2006). The notion of identity has been described as the "missing link" in investigating learning in relation to the social environment (Sfard and Prusak 2005), and different theories of identity have been applied to understand and develop education in recent years (Jackson and Pozzer 2015).

In computer science education research, an emphasis lies on understanding cognitive processes and programming (Simon 2015; Tenenberg and Knobelsdorf 2014). Low engagement and under-representation are frequently explained with misconceptions and narrow or stereotypical conceptions of computing, e.g. computer science being equated with programming (Rommes et al. 2007; ACM/IEEE 2013; Denning et al. 2017). The findings of the present study show that computing actu-

A.-K. Peters (🖂)

Department of Information Technology, Uppsala University, Uppsala Computing Education Research Group (UpCERG), Uppsala, Sweden e-mail: anne.peters@it.uu.se

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_9

ally can be constructed in narrow ways at university and positioned in ways that marginalise or exclude people with broader interests in computing.

A longitudinal study has been conducted with the aim of exploring computing students' changing relationship to their field of study during their university education. Students from two study programmes (CS and IT) were selected to follow through interviews at the end of the first three study years. An early insight that majorly affected the approach to analyse the data was that students' reflections on their interests in computing can change drastically, e.g. from being someone interested in combining art and computing to being interested in back-end problems solving, solving difficult technical problems developing solutions that are hardly visible, actually hardly noticeable, to other people.

Social identity theories help to reason about changes in student reflections. Being part of the university environment, the students get to be a part of different social contexts, in which what it means to engage in computing is negotiated. Certain ways of doing, thinking, and feeling in relation to computing are more valued or of higher status than others. This affects and constrains an individual's development as a computing person. The approach to understanding learner trajectories into, within, and out of computing has therefore been to study what the longitudinal data reveals about computing as a social construct in different years, as well as how this explains individual trajectories. The research questions were the following:

RQ1: What are different ways in which the students experience participation in their field of study (CS/IT), at different times of their study?

RQ2: How can insights from RQ1 and social identity theory be used to reason about learner trajectories as a social construct?

The following section provides an overview of the social identity theory that the study builds on. After that, the data collection and analysis are explained, and the results are presented and discussed.

#### **Social Identity Theory**

Jackson and Pozzer (2015) identify two approaches to studying identity, the negotiation approach and the possession approach. In the possession approach, identity is viewed as something that is possessed by an individual; researchers also use the term "core identity", and they talk about a learner's identity. Such a notion of identity is similar to terms such as "personality" or "individual characteristics". The negotiation approach, in contrast, views identity as something that is constructed in social interaction. Researchers use this notion of identity to understand how individuals are shaped and constrained by social interaction. It is commonly applied to understand inclusion, exclusion, or equity issues.

Studying "different forms of participation" is a natural focus within the negotiation approach according to Jackson and Pozzer (p. 227), as it contributes to a better understanding of ways of being as it is negotiated in social interaction. Jackson and Pozzer do however not explain what they mean by participation. Lave and Wenger (Lave and Wenger 1991; Wenger 1999) describe participation in a way that has inspired the analysis of the longitudinal data collected in this study.

Lave and Wenger have conducted ethnographic studies in communities of practices, mostly in workplaces, that resulted in a learning theory referred to as "situated learning theory" or "social theory of learning". Their theory has been widely used to investigate, discuss, and develop school and university education; in fact it is the most commonly used theoretical framework in research on science identities (Shanahan 2009). It has however mostly been applied with the intention to understand learners as agents of their learning and becoming (Shanahan 2009). Agency is an important concept in social identity literature; it is about how much a person consciously chooses or determines who he or she becomes. Theories that question agency argue that people are shaped by discourse and social interaction (Burr 2003). The present work only uses parts of Lave and Wenger's framework; the degree of agency people have is an open question.

Wenger (1999) describes *identity* as a "way of talking about how learning changes who we are and creates personal histories of becoming in the context of our communities" (p. 5). Wenger's definition of communities, or communities of practice, is rather specific. I have found it difficult to apply it in the context of higher education. I chose to explore how histories are shaped in experiences of participation, participation as it is negotiated in social interaction in different more or less well-established or defined social contexts, e.g. interaction among a group of friends, in a family, between classmates and with teachers, or at a workplace. The professional field of computing can be seen as many different communities of practices, as Danielsson argues (2009), that higher education prepares students to navigate (Wenger-Trayner et al. 2014).

*Participation* is described as one of the two processes in which identity is formed. It is described as a "complex process that combines doing, thinking, feeling, talking, and belonging. It involves people as a whole, their bodies, minds, emotions, and social relations" (Wenger 1999, p. 56–57). The other process that Lave and Wenger view as crucial for identity development is reification. Reification gives form to experiences; it is about the production of objects, e.g. symbols, words, forms, etc., that congeal social experience into a thing that can be referred to and used in participation. Participation and reification are described as dialectically intertwined; however in this work the focus was to understand participation.

Wenger explains that participation shapes histories of becoming because it is a context for mutual recognition. For example, if two students sit together and program, they negotiate how to do and think when programming, as well as what to find interesting, fun, or difficult. The students can acknowledge each other as contributing to the programming activity; they might recognise each other as knowledgeable in programming and by doing so reinforce or shape their histories of becoming.

The present work describes participation as it is experienced by the students and explores how participation shapes and constrains learner trajectories into, within, and out of computing. The identity literature uses the terms power or power relations to describe how social contexts shape and constrain individual development. Power relations should not only be understood as constraining individuals, but as the condition of a subject's existence (Butler 1997). Participation is viewed as a context in which power relations come to play.

Another relevant notion for this work has been uniformity, to acknowledge that people may act differently in different social contexts. In general, the view of identity as an integral, unified identity has been criticised in a variety of disciplinary areas (Hall 1996). This work acknowledges that a learner may talk about his- or herself as a computing person and experiences with computing differently in different social contexts, e.g. when talking to me, peer students, teachers, or family and friends outside university.

#### **Data Collection**

The research was conducted at a Swedish university. All students that commenced the two study programmes computer science (CS) and Computer and Information Engineering (IT) in 2012 got a mandatory assignment to reflect on their choice of study, their career aspirations, and their expectations for their studies in a written essay. From these essays, I selected 25 students with different backgrounds to follow through interviews at the end of each of the first 3 study years, of which 23 students agreed to participate in this longitudinal study. After the third-year interviews, I invited all participants to discuss the results of this longitudinal study in two groups consisting of three–five CS students and three–four IT students. Figure 1 illustrates the data collection process.



Fig. 1 An illustration of the data collection. The green circles represent an instance of the data collection. The numbers above show the number of participants

The selection of the students is based on 123 essays (of 149 students that were enrolled). Only seven of the essays were written by female students, all were invited, and six female students agreed to participate. Out of the 116 male students, I aimed to select about equally many CS and IT students and about equally many students with and without (a) CS/IT at school, (b) study experiences (CS-related and not), (c) job experiences (CS-related and not), (d) a stated interest in computers, and (e) other interests such as problem-solving, programming, etc. The selection is described in detail in (Peters 2014). Each of the interviews was semi-structured (Kvale 1996) and about 1-hour long. All interviews consisted of four parts: (1) choice of study, (2) ideas for future career, (3) experiences during the last study year, and (4) development during the studies and views of CS/IT.

The group meetings aimed to discuss the results of the longitudinal study with the participants of this study to increase the trustworthiness of the results but also to get additional insights (see Peters 2017 for details). Each group meeting lasted for about 2 hours. A group of CS and a group of IT students were given sticky notes with keywords on aspects of participation in CS/IT, e.g. "coding" and "helping people". The students placed the keywords on a poster with a scale ranging from "came in contact all the time" to "never came in contact with". The two posters of the CS and the IT students were compared and used as a starting point to discuss participation and learner trajectories with the students.

Jackson and Pozzer (2015) argue that interviews are typically used to understand identity as possessed by an individual. However, the focus of the interviews was to understand social interaction and the social contexts that the students were a part of. The goal was to understand students' histories or trajectories as a more or less conscious response to social interaction.

#### **Data Analysis**

The interviews were transcribed. All transcripts were read, and excerpts that included doing, thinking, and feeling and social relations were marked. Labels were used to capture the meanings in the excerpts.

Phenomenography (Marton and Booth 1997) guided the analysis of students' experiences of participation in CS/IT. Phenomenography is a research approach useful to investigate different ways in which learners come to experience a phenomenon during education. Marton and Booth define a phenomenon as an entity that transcends the situation. A preliminary analysis of the interviews indicated that participation in CS/IT can be seen as a phenomenon as the students encounter certain ways of doing, thinking, and feeling in certain social contexts in different situations.

The aim in phenomenography is not to describe individuals' conceptions or experiences of a phenomenon but instead ways of experiencing the phenomenon that exist in a cohort of learners. By describing participation as it is described by the learners of this longitudinal study, I describe participation as it is observed by these learners, instead of describing solely my own observations of participation and social interaction. Choosing a cohort of students that together cover a breadth of experiences, the phenomenographic analysis aims to capture the variation in experiences.

In the analysis, the researcher studies and describes the structural and referential aspect of a way of experiencing the phenomenon. The structural aspect is about the parts internal and external to the phenomenon. The referential aspect refers to the meaning that is assigned to a phenomenon. For example, in order to experience a table as a table, we need to discern the legs of the table and the table board, these parts have to be distinguished from their environment, and a meaning has to be assigned, e.g. something to sit at to eat. The structural and referential aspects are "dialectically intertwined".

The result of a phenomenographic analysis is an outcome space with a limited set of categories that each describes a way of experiencing the phenomenon. Phenomenography assumes that the categories of the outcome space relate to one another because each category is a different perspective on the same thing.

The phenomenographic analysis conducted here was iterative. Tentative categories that would describe the different ways of experiencing participation in CS/IT were identified, and their relationships were described. The categories were refined in a process of working with the description of the categories, re-visiting the data, and discussing the results with other researchers in the research group.

# Results

The analysis resulted in an outcome space describing seven different ways in which the students experience participation in CS/IT (RQ1). Each way of experiencing participation is characterised by an aim that the participants share and a social context that a certain way of experiencing participation is shared within. The insights into participation are used to discuss learner trajectories, drawing on examples of learners followed in the longitudinal study (RQ 2).

#### Participation in CS/IT

The analyses of CS and IT students' experiences of participation result in one outcome space. The curriculum of the two study programmes are very similar, and the students take most of the courses together, so they interact with each other and shape each other's experiences of participation. Table 1 is a summary of the outcome

Participation in CS/ IT is experienced		
as	Shared aim	Social Contexts
A using	Draw benefit from an artefact	Various, e.g. family, peers, school and university contexts (particularly shared among
B learning about technology	Change of self	students), professional environments
C creating	Create a new CS/IT artefact	
D (technical) problem-solving	Overcome a barrier (solve a difficult problem)	University contexts, contexts around students that work on projects, professional environments
E problem- solving for others	Help other people that may not work in the field of CS/IT	HCI contexts, i.e. course of the third study year and later courses, contexts around students that work on projects, professional contexts
F creating new knowledge	Knowledge that can change how CS/IT people work	University contexts at the end of study year 3 and in subsequent years, professional contexts
G contributing to societal endeavours	Developing society	Professional contexts

 Table 1
 Categories describing qualitatively different ways, in which the CS and IT students

 experience the phenomenon participation in CS/IT in the first, second, and third study year

space describing qualitatively different ways of experiencing participation in CS/ IT. The categories are inclusive, i.e. experiences described by one category include experiences described by the previous categories. The labels in the column to the left capture the meaning of an experience of participation. The description of the shared aim focuses on describing the new aspect or focus of the shared aim. The social contexts become more and more specific.

Three categories appear to be particularly relevant to understand learning and becoming in computing education, participation as creating (category C), (technical) problem-solving (category D), and problem-solving for others (category E), which is why I focus on describing those experiences of participation in the following. I found few reflections that fell into participation as creating new knowledge (category F), and those were about future engagement. Only one reflection was about participation as contributing to societal endeavours (category G), a reflection in one of the third-year interviews. All categories are described in (Peters 2018), an article that also presents two more outcome spaces providing nuanced insights into participation as problem-solving and problem-solving for others.

Participation as *creating* (category C) is about building new technical or digital artefacts. Being able to create new artefacts is experienced as fun and fascinating. Participation as creating is shared among the students in particular. Several students told me, the interviewer, that the students sit together in between or after classes and brainstorm ideas for different "mini-projects" that they could engage in outside class, for instance, developing an app or a game:

Jaylin¹ (CS, year 3): [As a student], you discuss [...] different mini-projects that you are engaged in. [... For example,] one person was doing some kind of a blinking light-thing for a jacket, so he had a little arduino kit that he programmed. [...] Or I have another friend who used an arduino kit to lift and lower the roller blinds. It was controlled by a mobile phone and light.

Participation as *(technical) problem-solving* (category D) is about using methods and ways of thinking to approach difficult (technical) problems. The aim is to create a solution; thus the experience described by this category includes the experience described by category C. The participants do not only create a solution; they also create and design the process to develop the solution. Many students talk about the method "divide and conquer" to approach a problem. It entails identifying and working on subproblems and integrating subsolutions into a complete solution. Participation in problem-solving can be more abstract than participation as creating in the sense that the concrete or overarching application is out of sight. The education is experienced to be about learning to solve different types of (sub-) problems. Several students specify the kind of problems of interest as "back-end" problems. "Back-end" problems are seen as the really difficult problems. Their solutions are hardly visible, actually hardly noticeable to users.

Participation as problem-solving is predominant in the university learning environment. It is experienced as the core of computer science. The following quote clearly demonstrates this. Amari talks about the "bible", a book on data structures and algorithms, which are seen as important tools for problem-solving in CS/ IT. This book is recommended to younger students, as "the bible", by older students. It shows the importance of students in passing on what is central and of value to new student generations.

- Amari (CS, year 3): We have this bible, [...] a thick book which contains a lot of algorithms
  [...] and data structures. [... It] is very complete, [...] it contains only necessary text.
  I: How did you use it?
- Amari: [...] The book contains a list of different algorithms that you can go through to see: "That algorithm is suitable for this problem!".
- *I: How did the book get the name bible?*
- Amari: [...] Older students have called the book "the bible", because for many students, CS is all about algorithms and data structures.

In study year 3, the students get to be a part of participation as problem-solving for others (category E) in the human-computer interaction (HCI) course. The course introduces the students to different methods, ways of thinking, and best practices to improve the users' experience. The human comes into the fore in new ways. The previous category, participation as problem-solving, includes working with other people to be able to solve difficult (technical) problems. In participation as problem-solving for others, the person using and having use of a solution and the application

¹The names are not the students' real names. In order to protect anonymity of the very few female students in the study, I am using names that I found to be gender neutral and only male pronouns to preserve the masculine atmosphere in the student cohort. All quotes were translated from Swedish to English in a way that resembles the original as much as possible, which may lead to slightly uncommon English sentences. "I" stands for "interviewer", the author of this report.

context are in the fore. The participants share positive feelings connected to working on something that is beneficial for someone else. The following quote by Finley suggests that this way of participating is specific to the HCI course:

Finley (CS, year 3): "[The HCI course was about] improving a user's interaction with a program. [...]. We got to do a study in which we looked at existing systems. We tried to identify what is good and what could be improved, we tried to do interviews with users [...]. That was quite interesting, something that I didn't think about earlier".

Several students rejected the HCI course as very different or out of the scope of their field of study, as, for example, Remy in the following:

Remy (CS, year 3): [HCI] is so fuzzy! Everything else is like: "It is important that it is scientific?" [...] CS is very mathematical, 1+1 = 2. But HCI [...] is not mathematical, it is more like: "As those people experience this like that, we know it is good!" You don't prove it with math.

The statements of rejection have in common that they position CS/IT as engaging in technical as opposed to social questions, as being objective and not engaging with subjective user experience, and as theoretical as opposed to dealing with applied and broader societal questions. They can be interpreted as another way of participating in CS/IT, which I call *technical problem-solving*, meaning problem-solving as opposed to problem-solving for others.

#### Trajectories Into, Within, and Away From Computing

Participation has implications for learner trajectories. Using Wenger's words, participation shapes histories of becoming. Considering identity literature, participation can also constrain individual development.

Participation as creating is a way of engaging in CS/IT that many students experience already prior to studying. The interest in creating technical artefacts is something that many students share; it is something that ties them together. The individual student can be part of the social context of students through expressing an interest in creating and demonstrating his or her competence in creating technical competence. Participation in creating can make students feel that they belong to a group of students, and it can shape students' histories of becoming and being a computing student and future professional.

There are however also students that decide to leave the study programme because they do not share an interest in creating apps and games as the other students do:

*Ellis (IT, left after 1 year): "I am interested in playing games, but it is not like I want to develop games, which was what my friends mainly focused on".* 

Jamie (CS, year 1, left after one semester): "The new programme [electronics] is about getting different components to work together, rather than what it is here, to develop an app".

These student accounts show that the predominance of participation as creating can also turn people away from computing. All students that remained in the study programme either brought with them an interest in problem-solving or stated such an interest in an interview at some point. Several students explained that they have become better at solving difficult problems and that they find it fun. Students develop an interest and competence in problem-solving, but it could also be necessary to develop such interests and competencies related to problem-solving to fit in and be recognised as a computer science student. Becoming a participant in (technical) problem-solving seems to be a common trajectory for computing students in this learning environment.

The learning environment does however not encourage trajectories into being someone that engages with the users, their needs, and experiences, i.e. trajectories into being problem-solvers for others. Those who show enthusiasm for problemsolving for others risk being questioned as computer scientists, as, for example, the teacher of the HCI course:

Chris (CS, year 3): "The teacher [of the HCI course] was very interested in HCI. [...] We thought: 'He is not a real computer scientist!'(laughs). But then it turned out that he actually could program and that he was as good as we are, [...] just that he had an interest in that which was a bit fuzzy".

The people who show an interest in the users and social questions are suspected to be incapable of programming by those people who perform as (technical) problemsolvers. They are challenged to prove their programming competencies. This was explicated in one of the group meetings, in which a student said that he considered choosing HCI as a specialisation but changed his mind when other students told him: "Those who choose HCI, they are those who cannot code, those who slide through the first 3 years of their education". This again demonstrates what is important to achieve as a part of studying, becoming someone that is good at solving technical problems by programming or writing code.

Performing as a technical problem-solver is a way to position oneself as a computer scientist through demonstrating an interest in that which is seen as central. This could explain why students perform as a technical problem-solver, rejecting aspects beyond the technical, even though they expressed broader interests in the beginning of their studies. Matthew, for example, entered the study programme when he had almost finished a political science degree programme. In the beginning of his study, Matthew believed that he has used his competences developed in the political science degree programme in computing, arguing:

Matthew (CS, year 1): "The connection between CS and political science comes naturally".

In the interview at the end of the second study year, Matthew said that he does not think about politics anymore and that he now is interested in back-end programming. In the third study year, Matthew positions himself as a pure computer scientist, not interested in interdisciplinary work:

Matthew (CS, year 3): I think, one misses a lot when combining politics and CS. [...] Political science [...] is about discussion [...] without getting anywhere. [...] The only way to come to a point of right or wrong is to look at reality. [... In CS] it often feels like [...] I want to do a better solution [...] One tries: Can I do this algorithm slightly, slightly faster? As this is a theoretical, a natural science discipline, one can always test the solution [...] in a very small, secure environment.

The importance of participation as problem-solving and demonstrating competence as a problem-solver can encourage trajectories into being technical problem-solvers. These arguments fit together with the following explanations of students leaving the study program. The students have an interest in social and societal aspects, helping people, and are choosing different study programmes to pursue these interests:

Henning (IT, year 2, left after third semester): "I feel that it [the IT study programme] is nothing that interests me. I just want to make a difference for a person".

*Ellis (IT, left after 1 year): "[I changed the study programme because] I want to either do something for the environment or work within the field of medicine. [...] It should lead to something good, [...] a bit of a saving the world feeling".* 

The predominance of participation as (technical) problem-solving or the inaccessibility of contexts where it is safe to perform as a problem-solver for others can cause people to leave computing.

#### Discussion

The findings of this study are in-line with Schulte and Knobelsdorf's (2007) results analysing novice computer science students' computer biographies. As in the present report, Schulte and Knobelsdorf present experiences of creating as an entrance point into computing. The present research however suggests that participation as creating technical experiences can also be experienced as too narrow. Students decide to leave the field of computing because they cannot make sense of themselves as someone that engages in creating apps and games.

Longitudinal studies are rare but there is a similar study in which Danish students were followed from high school to university using narrative interviews (Holmegaard et al. 2014, Ulriksen and Holmegaard 2016). The researchers argue that the choice of study should be seen as a process that continues for at least a year after the students commence their studies. The students try to make sense of their study experiences and to construct a narrative about who they are in relation to their field of study that would be accepted by different other people. The present study confirms these results and suggests that students in computing integrate predominant experiences of participation as creating and (technical) problem-solving into their narratives of who they are. Students with an interest in social and societal aspects have difficulties understanding who they are because such interests are not encouraged by the university learning environment. Ulriksen (2009) argues that the curriculum implies a certain type of student, e.g. one that tolerates toolbox courses and narrow constructions of the discipline in the beginning of the study programme. The curriculum of the education programmes studied in the present research implies a student that can perform as a and identify with being a participant in participation as creating and (technical) problem solving.

Investigations of technology and science with gender perspectives illuminate the results presented here. Technology and masculinity are found to be co-produced (Faulkner 2001; Ottemo 2015). Dichotomies are used to establish and position technology and masculinity, e.g. technical vs. social, objectivity vs. subjectivity, and theory vs. application (Harding 1986; Faulkner 2001; Mendick 2005). Positioning computing as dealing with technology, machines, and not social aspects is a way to perform both masculinity and a computing identity. Questioning, degrading, or excluding social aspects reproduces the hegemony of certain ways of doing computing and of masculinity compared to femininity. The focus in participation as creating is to build artefacts, which is also connected to masculinity (Boivie 2010).

The present research identifies a gap between views of computing as essential for society (Lövheim 2014; ACM/IEEE 2013) and constructions of computing in this university environment. Becoming someone that works for other people or society is not encouraged by the learning environment. Women and different experiences and competencies in general are seen as important for the development of technology for all (Beyer 2014; Margolis and Fisher 2002), but this study suggests that broader and different ways of thinking, doing, and feeling actually may not be appreciated. Disciplinary boundaries and the kind of people engaging in the field seem to be reproduced in education.

#### Conclusion

The present chapter has discussed the relationship between participation and learner trajectories in computing education at university. Participation allows to study engagement and becoming in computing as a holistic process that includes social relations and emotions. Emotions are an important and still under-explored aspect of learning (Zembylas 2016).

Participation as creating and (technical) problem solving appear to be predominant in the learning environment studied here. The students learn to make sense of themselves as someone participating in such ways and direct their learning efforts towards acquiring the necessary competencies. In the third study year, a way of participating in problem solving appears in which broader, social aspects are seen but rejected, i.e. CS/IT is positioned as purely technical. Participating in such a way can be explained as a behaviour to make others believe in one's technical competencies, which seems to be of great importance to gain recognition in this learning environment.

The study shows that it is important to rethink the design of computing education. Introducing broader experiences of computing late appears to be a breeding ground for dualistic and narrow constructions of computing that are associated with masculinity. Striving for diversity, educators need to create learning environments that allow students to experience diverse ways of engaging in computing early on. That way, our society can gain more people knowledgeable in computing that also bring in other experiences and interests that are valuable to develop the sustainable, digitalised society of our future.

# References

- ACM/IEEE. (2013). Computer science curricula 2013: Curriculum guidelines for undergraduate degree programs in computer science. ACM.
- Beyer, S. (2014). Why are women underrepresented in computer science? Gender differences in stereotypes, self- efficacy, values, and interests and predictors of future CS course-taking and grades. *Computer Science Education*, 24(2–3), 153–192. https://doi.org/10.1080/08993408.2 014.963363.
- Boivie, I. (2010). Women, men, and programming: Knowledge, metaphors, and programming. In S. Booth, S. Goodman, & G. Kirkup (Eds.), Gender issues in learning and working with information technology: Social constructs and cultural contexts (pp. 1–24). IGI Global.
- Burr, V. (2003). Social constructionism (2nd ed.). Routledge.
- Butler, J. (1997). The psychic life of power. Theories in subjection. Stanford University Press.
- Danielsson, A. T. (2009). Doing physics Doing gender: An exploration of physics students' identity constitution in the context of laboratory work (PhD Thesis). Uppsala University, Sweden.
- Denning, P. J., Tedre, T., & Yongpradit, P. (2017). The profession of IT. Misconceptions about computer science. *Communications of the ACM.*, 60(3). https://doi.org/10.1145/3041047.
- Faulkner, W. (2001). The technology question in feminism: A view from feminist technology studies. Women's Studies International Forum, 24(1), 79–95.
- Hall, S. (1996). Who needs 'identity'? In S. Hall & P. Du Gay (Eds.), *Questions of cultural identity*. SAGE.
- Harding, S. G. (1986). The science question in feminism. Cornell University Press.
- Holmegaard, H. T., Madsen, L. M., & Ulriksen, L. (2014). To choose or not to choose science: Constructions of desirable identities among young people considering a STEM higher education programme. *International Journal of Science Education*, 36(2), 186–215. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/09500693.2012.749362.
- Jackson, P. A., & Pozzer, L. L. (2015). Chapter 12: Conceptualizing identity in science education research: Theoretical and methodological issues. In C. Milne, K. Tobin, & D. DeGennaro (Eds.), Sociocultural Studies and Implications for Science Education (pp. 213–230). Springer.
- Kvale, S. (1996). InterViews: An introduction to qualitative research interviewing. SAGE.
- Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation. Cambridge University Press.
- Lehman, K. J., Sax, L. J., & Zimmerman, H. B. (2016). Women planning to major in computer science: Who are they and what makes them unique? *Computer Science Education*, 26(4), 277–298. https://doi.org/10.1080/08993408.2016.1271536.
- Lövheim, D. (2014). Scientists, engineers and the Society of Free Choice: Enrollment as policy and practice in Swedish science and technology education 1960–1990. *Science and Education*, 23(9), 1763–1784. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-014-9693-y.
- Margolis, J., & Fisher, A. (2002). Unlocking the clubhouse. Women in Computing. MIT Press.
- Marton, F., & Booth, S. (1997). Learning and awareness. Routledge.
- Mendick, H. (2005). A beautiful myth? The gendering of being/doing 'good at maths'. *Gender and Education*, *17*(2), 203–219.
- Ottemo, A. (2015). Kön, kropp, begär och teknik. Passion och instrumentalitet på två tekniska högskoleprogram. (Gender, body, desire, and technology: Passion and instrumentality in two technical university programs) (PhD Thesis). University of Gothenburg.
- Peters, A.-K. (2014). *The role of students' identity development in higher education in computing* (Licentiate Thesis). Uppsala University, Sweden.
- Peters, A.-K. (2017). *Learning computing at University: Participation and identity. A longitudinal study.* (PhD Thesis). Uppsala University, Sweden.
- Peters, A.-K. (2018). Students' experience of participation in a discipline A longitudinal study of computer science and IT engineering students. Accepted for publication in ACM Transactions on Computing Education (TOCE). https://doi.org/10.1145/3230011.
- Rommes, E., Overbeek, G., Scholte, R., Engels, R., & De Kemp, R. (2007). I'm not interested in computers': Gender-based occupational choices of adolescents. *Information, Communication* & Society, 10(3), 299–319.
- Schulte, C., & Knobelsdorf, M. (2007). Attitudes towards computer science-computing experiences as a starting point and barrier to computer science. In *Proceedings of the third international workshop on Computing education research (ICER)*. ACM.
- Sfard, A., & Prusak, A. (2005). Telling identities: In search of an analytic tool for investigating learning as a culturally shaped activity. *Educational Researcher*, 34(4), 14–22.
- Shanahan, M.-C. (2009). Identity in science learning: Exploring the attention given to agency and structure in studies of identity. *Studies in Science Education*, 45(1), 43–64. https://doi. org/10.1080/03057260802681847.
- Simon. (2015). *Emergence of computing education as a research discipline*. PhD Thesis, Aalto University, Finland.
- Tenenberg, J., & Knobelsdorf, M. (2014). Out of our minds: A review of sociocultural cognition theory. *Computer Science Education*, 24(1), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/08993408.2013.86 9396.
- Tinto, V. (2006). Research and practice of student retention: What next? *Journal of College Student Retention*, 8(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.2190/4YNU-4TMB-22DJ-AN4W.
- Ulriksen, L. (2009). The implied student. *Studies in Higher Education*, 34(5), 517–532. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075070802597135.
- Ulriksen, L., Madsen, L. M., & Holmegaard, H. T. (2010). What do we know about explanations for drop out/opt out among young people from STM higher education programmes? *Studies in Science Education*, 46(2), 209–244.
- Ulriksen, L., & Holmegaard, H. T. (2016). Making sense of curriculum The transition into science and engineering university programmes. *Higher Education*, 73(3), 423–440.
- Wenger, E. (1999). Communities of practice: Learning, meaning, and identity. Cambridge University Press.
- Wenger-Trayner, E., Fenton-O'Creevy, M., Hutchinson, S., Kubiak, C., & Wenger-Trayner, B. (Eds.). (2014). Learning in landscapes of practice. boundaries, identity, and knowledgeability in practice-based learning. Routledge.
- Zembylas, M. (2016). Making sense of the complex entanglement between emotion and pedagogy: Contributions of the affective turn. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, 11(3), 539–550.

## Addressing Complexity in Science|Environment|Health Pedagogy



Albert Zeyer , Nuria Álvaro , Julia Arnold , J. Christian Benninghaus , Helen Hasslöf , Kerstin Kremer , Mats Lundström , Olga Mayoral , Jesper Sjöström , Sandra Sprenger , Valentín Gavidia , and Alla Keselman

#### Introduction

## The Churchill Effect

Marie-Louise Wirth is a barkeeper in the small village of Isbergues in Northern France, south of Dunkirk. This year she turned 100 years old, and, when asked for her secret to a long life, she said that it was a glass of cherry brandy each day. Furthermore, as she assured, she "swears by everything that you shouldn't do", such

A. Zeyer (⊠)

N. Álvaro · O. Mayoral · V. Gavidia Departamento Didáctica CC. Experimentales y Sociales, Universitat de València, Valencia, Spain

J. Arnold

Centre for Science and Technology Education, School of Education, University of Applied Sciences and Arts Northwestern Switzerland, Muttenz, Switzerland

J. C. Benninghaus Department Biology Education, IPN – Leibniz Institute for Science and Mathematics Education at Kiel University, Kiel, Germany

Geography Education, Universität Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany

H. Hasslöf · M. Lundström · J. Sjöström Department of Science-Environment-Society, Malmö University, Malmö, Sweden

K. Kremer

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_10

Department of Health Professions, Bern University of Applied Sciences, Bern, Switzerland e-mail: albert.zeyer@bfh.ch

Department Biology Education, IPN – Leibniz Institute for Science and Mathematics Education at Kiel University, Kiel, Germany

as eating mayonnaise and gherkins, but never fruit. And, as she added, "she never liked walking, she prefers driving cars".

This remarkable old lady, recently featured in a well-read free Swiss newspaper, is surely the nightmare of every health and environmental educator, just as Winston Churchill was. England's famous prime minister in the Second World War used to reply to the question about the secret of his long life: "Cigars, no sports". This became a catch phrase, for many years, for all sceptics of public health.

How should one respond to all the Wirths and Churchills of this world? We argue that the *Churchill effect* is a typical effect of complexity, that health and the environment are paradigmatically complex, and that a pedagogy seeking to exploit the mutual benefits of these educational areas has to take into account effects of complexity and help students deal with them in an appropriate way.

#### Don't Predict, Adapt

The interesting point about complexity is that it, in principle, does not allow for prediction. However, in most science-oriented approaches and, thus, also in environmental, health and science education, scientific prediction plays a prominent role and is the epistemological twin of scientific explanation (e.g. Rosenberg 2005). Actually, most health and environmental guidelines are based on scientific knowledge and ask for sound action based on predictions of "good" or "bad" outcomes. Thus, the art of decision-making in complex contexts is to take scientific knowledge into account but to interpret its meaning in terms of concrete complex contexts.

There is no point putting up a warning finger and saying "Be careful, Churchill was just a lucky guy" and predicting "... but statistics say that your chance will be small (if not zero) to be as lucky yourself!" Much better would it be to go into Churchill's biography and find out how smoking affected his life, perhaps in a way that he did not notice himself (and probably did not shorten his life span), or to talk to students about the 100-year-old lady and why driving by car may be suitable in her context, but probably not in their—the students'—own situation.

"Don't predict, adapt!" (or *adaptive staging*, as this strategy is also called) is a famous slogan of complexity talk, launched by the theoretical physicist Per Bak in his influential book *The Science of Self-Organized Criticality* (Bak 1996). What does this mean in the context of environment and health? How do we help students understand and apply scientific knowledge in complex real-life contexts? What is health literacy and environmental literacy from this point of view, and what is it not?

This type of considerations is typical for what we call a new SciencelEnvironment|Health pedagogy (e.g. Zeyer and Kyburz-Graber 2012). For

S. Sprenger

A. Keselman

Geography Education, Universität Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany

National Library of Medicine, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA

decades, a culturally-historically perceived antinomy between the culture of science and the culture of health promotion and environmental education has been construed. Stories like those of Marie-Louise Wirth would then have been analysed mainly from a cultural-historical point of view. Indeed, often, the *Churchill effect* would have been misused for illustrating the priority of psychosocial salutogenetic factors over biomedical pathogenetic factors, a stance, by the way, which Antonovsky, the father of salutogenesis, would have utterly disapproved (Antonovsky 1997) and which frequently results in contesting and even neglecting the role of scientific knowledge in these educational areas (Hafen 2007).

The term SciencelEnvironmentlHealth (Dillon 2012) stands for a pedagogy that ventures to close this gap and to establish a solid link between environmental, health and science education. The basic conviction of this approach is that the ambivalence between science, environment and health education is ill-informed and that, in reality, there is a still underestimated potential for mutual benefit between these three interdependent educational fields (e.g. Zeyer and Dillon 2014).

We first provide some general remarks about complexity and the theory of complex systems. This will be followed by the presentation of four empirical studies on SciencelEnvironmentlHealth (SIEIH) issues. The final discussion and conclusion revisits these studies from the perspective of complexity. It draws some preliminary conclusions and suggests further research directions.

### **Ordered Systems and Complex Systems**

#### Systems Theory

The systems-theoretical distinction between ordered and complex systems goes back to the mathematician John von Neumann (von Neumann and Burks 1966). In principle, ordered systems enable complete forecasting and control. In the paradigmatic case, they can be modelled by linear differential equations (e.g. Kellert 1993). Indeed, all established physical theories, including quantum mechanics and both relativity theories, are based on linear differential equations and, thus, on ordered systems. Complex systems cannot be modelled with linear equations. Often, they are characterised by sensitive dependence of initial states, and, in most cases, they do not allow for *prediction* and *control* but ask for dealing with uncertainty and adaptive strategies.

Nevertheless, as life sciences impressively show, complex systems do not need to be chaotic, i.e. erratic and fully unpredictable. Therefore, complexity theory distinguishes between complex and chaotic systems. Both are essentially non-linear, i.e. their time development can—if at all—be described only by non-linear differential equations. However, the former allow for limited prediction, while the latter are fully unpredictable.

## The Cynefin Framework

All in all, complexity theory distinguishes between four types of systems. Ordered (linear) systems are simple or complicated. Complex (non-linear) systems are complex or chaotic. The resulting  $2 \times 2$  matrix has been called the *Cynefin framework* (Table 1), originally developed in economics (Snowden et al. 2012). Complicatedness and complexity are often confused, although, from a systems-theoretical point of view, they belong to two completely different worlds. No matter how intellectually challenging a complicated situation may be, careful analysis can be confident of finding a correct solution that entails a proper response. In contrast, complex contexts (and even more so chaotic contexts) do not allow for conclusive analytic solutions. Here, as the *Cynefin framework* points out, probing is needed, i.e. scientific analysis, as sophisticated as it may be, is not sufficient.

Fensham (2012) introduced the *Cynefin framework* into science education and made clear that non-complex contexts, particularly simple contexts, are still much too dominant in science education. He observed that all the great challenges of this century are highly complex, and he concludes that SIEIH issues in their full-blown complexity should be much more prominently represented in science teaching. Similar arguments of other important science education authors can be found frequently in literature (e.g. Abd-El-Khalick and Zeidler 2015).

Another argument comes from research on motivation to learn science. Complex issues can be an important *science for all* drivers, because they beware science teachers from too much "predict and control" teaching that normally appeals only to a small minority of *potential scientists* (e.g. Zeyer 2017).

In the following section, four symposium contributions are presented. They flesh out the challenges of handling complex issues in science education.

Ordered systems	Complex systems
Simple contexts	Complex contexts
Static linear systems	Non-linear systems
"Fully" predictable	Not predictable
Example: Plant taxonomy	Example: Cardiovascular system
Complicated contexts	Chaotic contexts
Dynamic linear systems	Non-linear or "non" systems
Highly predictable	"Fully" unpredictable
Example: Newton mechanics	Example: Stock markets

Table 1 The Cynefin framework

Adapted from Snowden et al. (2012) and Fensham (2012)

#### **Symposium Contributions**

## Handling Complexity in Decision-Making Concerning Preventive Health Actions: Grasping Health Knowledge

#### J. Arnold

An unhealthy diet (e.g. excessive sugar consumption) is seen as an important risk factor for noncommunicable diseases (NCD), e.g. type 2 diabetes, which are the leading causes of mortality in the world (WHO 2016). Hence, it is essential to teach students how to make healthy decisions, especially regarding nutrition. This study elaborates on how health knowledge can be operationalised in order to research how students handle complexity in terms of decision-making concerning preventive health actions such as reducing sugar consumption.

In science education, socio-scientific issues (SSIs), including health issues, usually include moral or ethical dilemmas, and students should learn to make wellthought-through decisions about "current social issues with moral implications embedded in scientific contexts" (Zeidler et al. 2009 p. 74). Furthermore, SSIs are mostly ill-structured, because students are exposed to "problems that involve a number of discrepant scientific, social or moral viewpoints, many of which may conflict with the student's own closely held beliefs" (ibid.). The multidisciplinary rootedness, uncertain knowledge base and ill-structured nature of SSIs also contribute to their complexity (Fensham 2012). There are several health behaviours that are executed with more or less conscious decision-making or without relevant scientific knowledge, like in nutritional topics. Here, decisions rely on personal rather than ethical values, and the underlying problems are less ill-structured and the knowledge base is mostly certain. But still, healthy decisions are quite complex. Many motivational factors, such as perceived susceptibility and perceived severity of associated diseases like type 2 diabetes, efficacy expectations (e.g. concerning the reduction of sugar) and the personal evaluation of this action as unpleasant, expensive or stressful, can play a role in these decision-making processes (Arnold 2018). Furthermore, the expectation that a certain action leads to the desired outcome (e.g. preventing type 2 diabetes) is not calculated easily and is prone to subjective assessments, as well as the value of this outcome. Not to forget social norms, for example, might lead one to eating sweets to be socially recognised. These factors strongly depend on knowledge. Hence, in order to make informed decisions, e.g. in favour of the preventive behaviour to reduce one's sugar consumption, one has to make the different motives and evaluation processes conscious and include the relevant scientific knowledge. Here, Kaiser and Fuhrer (2003) use a threefold division of knowledge underlying behaviour, which can be transferred to health behaviour:

- 1. System health knowledge (SK) is the knowledge about health, the body and its (mal-)functioning. This knowledge might influence the evaluation of susceptibility and severity of coming down with diseases like type 2 diabetes. And on the other hand, this can influence the following knowledge types.
- 2. Action-related health knowledge (AK) is the knowledge about possible actions to preserve functioning and prevent malfunctioning of body and health.
- 3. Effectiveness health knowledge (EK) is knowledge about the relative potential of actions to lead to the desired prevention of diseases.

The goal of this study is to test whether these health knowledge types can be displayed empirically in order to measure their respective influence on motivational factors and finally on decision-making.

#### **Method and Results**

The knowledge types were operationalised in dichotomous items. The test for measuring SK consisted of 27 items (EAP/PV reliability, 0.71; wMNSQ, 0.86–1.15). The test for measuring AK consisted of 20 items (EAP/PV reliability: 0.75; wMNSQ, 0.91–1.1), and finally the test for measuring AK consisted of 20 items (EAP/PV reliability, 0.63; wMNSQ, 0.9–1.13). The sample consisted of N = 115 people aged between 16 and 62 (mean: 29), and 75% of them were female. Multidimensional Rasch analysis (ACER ConQuest software) was applied to analyse the dimensionality of the test. The model's fitting parameters were compared to corresponding parameters of a one-dimensional model using Akaike's information criterion (AIC; Akaike 1981) and Bayes' information criterion (BIC; Wilson et al. 2008).

Analyses show that the information-based criteria are lower for the threedimensional model (AIC = 8218.68, BIC = 8435.53) than the one-dimensional model (AIC = 8080.30, BIC = 8310.87). Furthermore, a  $\chi^2$ -test shows that the threedimensional model significantly outperforms the one-dimensional model ( $\chi^2$ [14] = 56.56, p < 0.001).

#### **Discussion and Conclusion**

Model fit statistics indicate that health knowledge concerning the reduction of sugar consumption in favour of type 2 diabetes prevention can be treated as threedimensional. Nevertheless, this conclusion is limited due to the small sample and the specific context. Next steps in this project will be to further optimise the test and adapt it for other contexts, as well as to apply it to larger samples. Furthermore, we are developing a questionnaire for the assessment of the motivational factors described above in order to be able to test the respective influence of the three knowledge types. In the long run, we are seeking to teach students how to handle complexity in decision-making processes concerning preventive health actions by making underlying motives conscious and by teaching the different knowledge types of health knowledge.

## The Complexity of the Concept of Environmental Health and Competences Acquired by Spanish Youngsters

#### N. Álvaro · O. Mayoral · V. Gavidia

The concept of environmental health can be understood through two concepts: health and environment, apparently simple but at the same time complex. Just as an ecosystem is a superior entity to the addition of the biocenosis and biotope, the health and environment alliance results in a higher-order concept: environmental health, which we understand under three principles, namely, health literacy, the global idea of the environment and sustainability.

*Health* is not just about being well but about personal well-being. It is not even enough to take into account social welfare as indicated by the WHO as being "Physical, mental and social well-being" (1948). Health is a process, not a state, in which an internal and personal balance is sought with the environment in which one lives. Being a process, we understand it as the set of actions that facilitate the development in a physical, social, economic and cultural environment, in which society prospers in solidarity and humanly.

The *environment* is no longer just the medium where a certain population lives and is understood as all that surrounds us, visible or invisible, with the forces and relationships that are established between the components of the environment: cultural, social, physical and economic. It is the city, the neighbourhood, the air we breathe, the water we drink, the work we do not do, unemployment, hunger, war, the supply of food, the exchange of ideas, cultural strength, etc.

In this way, *environmental health* is the "flash" that draws the situation of people who form a society in a specific environment and at a specific time. It includes the elements of the environment that affect the health of people, aspects of human health influenced by the environment and the actions of people who affect the environment, considering that they are also part of the environment. Environmental health is the result and the process that seeks the development and evolution of the environment towards its improvement, complexity and stability.

The aim of this research is to study the extent to which Spanish students develop environmental health competences that allow them to integrate in a society in continuous change while attending compulsory education. These competences are specified in Table 2.

For this purpose, a validated questionnaire including four sections was used: (A) personal data (age, gender and study centre); (B) health concept; (C) identification of environmental health problems; and (D) actions towards five specific environ-

Competence	"Know, value and contribute to the creation of a healthy environment"
Knowledge	Know the characteristics of a healthy environment and the signs of its deterioration. Effects of the environment on human health
Skill: Know what to do	Caring for the environment, contributing to its improvement and avoiding unhealthy environments
Attitude: Know how to be	Commit to the creation of a healthy environment. Solidarity with those who share the earth and with those who will inherit it

 Table 2
 Competences in environmental health

mental health problems such as hunger, consumerism, climate change, pollution of cities and allergies. Each problem was addressed by three questions with an open response focused on the three dimensions: knowledge, skills (know what to do) and attitudes (know how to be).

The sample consisted of 878 students, 438 females and 439 males from different educational centres in 5 different Spanish provinces: Valencia, Álava, Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Teruel and Cuenca. Four hundred sixty-one of the students had completed the last year of primary education (12 years old), and 413 were doing their last year of compulsory education (16 years old).

#### Results

The results obtained are presented below:

- Section B: Spanish students do not include the environment in their idea of health.
- Section C: There are scarce problems pointed out including the relationship between the health of the environment and human health (Fig. 1). 40% of students do not mention any problem on environmental health. There is a predominance of problems derived from air and water pollution (33.14% of students). The rest of the environmental problems considered (disasters and consumerism) are mentioned in a much smaller percentage.
- Section D: Regarding air and water *pollution*, students demonstrate the highest degree of competence with great internal coherence and balance between knowledge, skills and attitudes. They perceive it as the biggest current environmental problem. Concerning *climate change*, they demonstrate poor skills, confusing issues of the ozone layer and global warming, and they tend to believe that all acts harmful to the environment cause climate change. They demonstrate good competences considering *hunger*, although the attitudinal dimension of solidarity prevails. Students show high sensitivity to personal problems, although they do not know how to solve them or the causes that explain their appearance. The poorest and most unstable competences are acquired when addressing *consumerism*, with no balanced relationship between their knowledge, skills and attitudes. When focusing on *allergies*, their skills are also scarce and unstable, with little internal coherence. In all cases, there is an increase in competences when going from primary to secondary education.



Fig. 1 Percentage of students who identify environmental health problems

#### Conclusions

In general, students have not acquired an idea of global, inclusive and holistic health, remaining in individualist positions and not integrating the environment into their own health. Their idea of the environment excludes people, which implies that they do not consider environmental problems as our own and they downplay the influence of the environment on our health. They acquire acceptable competences on pollution problems, few on climate change and hunger and almost none on consumerism and allergies.

#### Assessing the Complexity of Sustainability

S. Sprenger J. C. Benninghaus K. Kremer

This work uses the definition of sustainability presented in the Brundtland Report (World Commission on Environment and Development 1987). This definition calls for a sustainable lifestyle that is referred to in the widely cited sentence: "Sustainable development is development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (p. 54). Here we find the two principles of sustainability. One is the equity between generations and can be designated as intergenerational equity (Glotzbach and Baumgärtner 2009; Haughton 1999). The other principle pertains to the current generation that lives in different regions and at different levels of development. In this context, one speaks of intragenerational equity (Glotzbach and Baumgärtner 2009; Haughton 1999). Furthermore, the quotation cited above also includes the three typically used

dimensions or layers of sustainable development (Sadler 1990): environmental integrity, economic viability and a just society (Herremans and Reid 2002; Pufé 2012).

Sustainable development is only given if all three dimensions are integrated and if their particular requirements are fulfilled (Pufé 2012). It is evident that the interconnections of the principles and dimensions are complex. Students need to be educated to act in a sustainable way and thus need to be able to tackle complexity. This leads to the need to think about new ways of teaching complex issues and assessing how students already understand them. It should be based on a systemic approach (Rieß and Mischo 2010).

To address this need, Schuler et al. (2017) developed the model of systems thinking, and Mehren et al. (2017) modelled geographical system competence. The authors state that system competence highly correlates with content knowledge. Consequently, any assessment of students' skills to tackle complex issues needs a pre-examination of the students' conception on the concerned issue. In this contribution, we present both an assessment of students' conception of the content of global water consumption and an assessment of this complex issue with the mystery method (Leat 1998).

#### **Study One: Conceptions on Global Water Consumption**

To date, the field of research on students' preconceptions of sustainable development has not been comprehensively investigated. So far, only isolated studies are available. The present study addresses these aspects and raises, among others, the following question:

Which conceptions of sustainable development and virtual water do high school students hold (more information about virtual water: www.waterfootprint.org)?

A survey was conducted with 4 gymnasium (academic high school) classes in Germany: 102 students, 51 at secondary school and 51 at higher secondary school level. The questionnaire contained six items. Open task formats were used in three items. Responses were evaluated using the qualitative content analysis technique presented by Mayring (2014) and his online tool QCAmap (https://www.qcamap.org/).

In summary, we can say that most students see sustainability with an ecological and intergenerational focus. Only few made references to the economy, society or intragenerationality. Concerning the concept of virtual water, the vast majority did not have a concept of this construct. We saw references to digital media, which is common to this topic (Fremerey et al. 2014). All results can be reviewed in Benninghaus et al. (2017).

#### Study Two: Assessing Reasoning about Complexity

The mystery method was designed to let students create influence diagrams about systems (Leat 1998). The students receive several information cards with facts for connecting them to a diagram. We used the method to let students discover the causes and effects of virtual water consumption based on the study stated above. It is evident that the diagrams are different with every student based on the complexity of the issue. Consequently, assessment is difficult, because complex issues refuse to give single solutions (Fensham 2012). This is unfortunate because the diagrams promise to be an externalisation of the students' reasoning about the causes and effects of this complex issue, as we know from concept mapping (Novak and Gowin 1984).

Based on this, we created a reference that can be used for assessment. As a wellestablished method, expert concept mapping (Chi et al. 1982) was optimised. Since experts produce different diagrams while working with the mystery method, we adapted the method. We used relatedness judgements (Trumpower et al. 2010) and only asked every expert if two single information cards from the mystery method were connected based on the cause-effect principle. We counted how often each of the 16 cards was connected to one another.

Eight science teachers, sustainability scientists and science teacher students in the master's programme were selected as experts. It was shown that not all connections were chosen equally. The highest rating involved ecological facts, whereas facts concerning the other dimensions were networked less strongly. Figure 2 con-



Fig. 2 Weighted connections (for major connections)

tains a weighted graph which shows all connections made by at least five experts and also shows how many experts chose the connections. We can see that there are few high-rated connections and more less-rated ones. This graph can now be used as a reference to assess students' ability to analyse this complex issue.

#### Conclusion

Based on the findings of the two studies we can summarise that dealing with complexity in class is challenging. Not only does students' content knowledge needs to be improved, but also it is a challenge to assess knowledge. We have attempted to provide some preliminary guidelines how to proceed.

#### Preparing for Complex STSEH Pedagogy

This study is based on Teacher Professional Development Programmes (TPDs) conducted within the EU-financed project PARRISE (FP7; grant agreement 612438). In PARRISE, 18 universities from 11 countries cooperated during the years 2014– 2017. The overarching context of PARRISE was socio-scientific inquiry-based learning (SSIBL) (Levinson and The PARRISE Consortium 2017). SSIBL addresses the complexity of teaching science in an area embracing innovative and expanding projects and uncertain knowledge implementations to Science-Technology-Society-Environment (STSE) (Pedretti and Nazir 2011). In this context, we here have added an "H" to STSE for health, i.e. STSEH.

The SSIBL approach is characterised by the complexity of STSEH relations, knowledge uncertainties, fast development and disagreements due to different ethical issues. The SSIBL framework was used in the PARRISE project to try out different examples of TPDs addressing those issues in different cultural contexts. The TPDs focused on the recognition that there are diverse ways of negotiating socio-scientific issues which depend on the evidence available; the personal, political and social consequences of decisions; and the views of different actors in society (Levinson and The PARRISE Consortium 2017). Democratic citizens able to engage in socio-scientific inquiry and debate are needed to "build a scientifically literate society, which enables its citizens to participate in the research and innovation process" (http://www.parrise.eu/about-parrise/; 2017-01-17), and education has an important role in this.

The SSIBL framework emphasises that there are many diverse actors, stakeholders and perspectives and, consequently, many different orientations of STSEH education. SSIBL is based on three approaches, often independently pursued in schools: inquiry-based science education, socio-scientific issues (SSI) and citizenship education. The overall umbrella is responsible research and innovation (Lundström et al. 2017). The chosen theme of the Swedish TPDs at Malmö University with pre-service upper secondary general science teachers was nanotechnology. While nanotechnology offers new products which can benefit many, there are also many possible risks both to human health and the environment. Therefore, it is an example of a complex SSI, characterised by risk, uncertainty, ignorance and indeterminacy but also by possibilities (Fensham 2012). During the last decade, quite a lot of research has been performed focusing on nanotechnology in relation to teaching and learning (e.g. Jones et al. 2013; Winkelmann and Bhushan 2016), but not much has focused also on the risks (e.g. Simonneaux et al. 2013).

This study investigates the teacher identity of pre-service science teachers after the TPD and their thoughts about implications for their coming teaching practice. Recently, Sjöström and Eilks (2018) suggested a Vision III of scientific literacy which emphasises critical global citizenship, political perspectives and philosophical values. They connected it to ideas of "reflexive Bildung", which can be seen as a late/post-modern version of *Bildung*. The philosophy of this orientation can be characterised the following terms: scepticism, with post-positivism, reconstructionism, embodied science, relationalism and eco-reflexivity (Sjöström 2018). The pre-service teachers' comments about nanotechnology in relation to teaching were analysed from late/post-modern perspectives in accordance with Vision III and "reflexive Bildung".

The TPDs with the pre-service teachers were held during the spring of both 2016 and 2017. Each TPD had 20 hours of face-to-face meetings plus a group project. After the TPD was completed, 5 + 4 student teachers were interviewed in groups. The TPD started with an introduction to the research field. This was done by introducing researchers from the nanotechnology field representing different views. One professor was engaged in development and implementation perspectives (through a podcast) and the other researcher from risk perspectives (lecture). This was complemented with literature that focused on these two perspectives. The preservice teachers worked in groups. They were asked to choose a product from the market that included nanoparticles and work out a life cycle analysis for it. In the assignment, the pre-service teachers were supposed to make a societal conflict analysis, identifying different actors' interests in products from nanotechnology (i.e. social, economic and environmental dimensions). Furthermore, their project report had to include a lesson plan with pros and cons when teaching about nanotechnology in their future classrooms.

After the TPD, the interviewed pre-service teachers expressed how this project expanded their view of teaching complex issues related to SSIs and science in the making. In the analyses, two main themes emerged among the student teachers' view. The first theme was about authenticity and "real-world" issues. One student teacher said, "I think it is extremely important to include society in education. [...] It helps to make it real, and that you learn something that is useful outside school". They emphasised the importance of not only science content but also other knowledge and perspectives. The other main theme the teacher students expressed was a changed teacher-student relationship. Due to the frontier character of nanotechnology, the teachers have to learn with the students: "You create something together with the students".

As a result of the TPD, the knowledge uncertainties of post-academic science also became noticeable. One student teacher said, "There is not only one truth, but different kinds of truth, depending on how you look at it", and another student teacher said "It gives you an insight that it is much more complex than you thought initially". They also mentioned the interplay between different actors, with different values and interests: "I think it was really exciting to get an overall picture of how it works between researchers, investors, businesses, politicians. It is the interactions that it are important to have knowledge about".

Previous studies have shown that teachers and pre-service science teachers often have problems with identity and ideology in relation to science teaching driven by STSE(H) (Hasslöf et al. 2016; Pedretti et al., 2008). This study showed that a TPD on nanotechnology, performed in the reported way, makes the pre-service teachers aware of the complexity and dilemmas of STSEH pedagogy. The difficulties of being a "neutral teacher" when opposite views cannot be verified by fact-based knowledge were brought up. This was considered challenging but also desirable and developing for science education. However, the pre-service teachers were also humble and reflective in relation to the complex teacher role and thought that science teacher education should include even more discussions about ethicalpolitical dilemmas.

#### Discussion

The studies presented here underscore the importance and the challenge of introducing complexity into science education. The topics addressed all involve pressing societal issues pertaining to public health, the environment and sustainability (e.g. growing prevalence of diabetes, addressed by Arnold; concerns about long-term effects of nanotechnology, addressed by Sjöström et al.; sustainability of water resources, addressed by Sprenger et al.; environmental health, addressed by Álvaro et al.). The works demonstrate that, across locales, there is room for improvement in both students' understanding of these issues and teachers' readiness to teach them. The symposium discussion focused on developing effective strategies for bringing complex issues into the science classroom.

Participants in the discussion pointed out the potential controversy around the prerequisites for introducing complex science topics to children and adolescents. Little research exists into optimal sequences of ordered and complex issues, instructional strategies and the level of mathematical skills necessary for understanding complex systems described by non-linear relationships.

Truly appreciating the role of complexity in science is likely to raise citizens who understand the delicate relation between predictability and uncertainty in living systems. Indeed, mechanisms in ordered systems are systematic, i.e. they can be reproduced under any circumstances and always entail the same, predicted results. Complex systems, however, produce ephemeral mechanisms, i.e. in different contexts they produce different, sometimes completely unexpected, results (e.g. Glennan 2010).

For example, somebody may, though fully ignoring nutritional guidelines throughout her life (see *Arnold* in this paper), never acquire type 2 diabetes, even if they have a family history of it. Conversely, nanotechnology may prove to be safe in every single epidemiologic study (see *Sjöström* et al. in this paper) and, nevertheless, may cause serious illness in certain contexts.

However, despite these cases, it still makes sense to teach about healthy diets and other strategies to prevent diabetes, particularly for students with type 2 diabetes in their family history. Conversely, it is probably not wise for teachers to warn against nanotechnology generally and context independently and thus cause fear or even panic in their students. But they may also want to abstain from trivialising the risk and uncertainty of such technologies.

In such, sometimes highly confusing situations, (linear) statistics are of limited help because the law of large numbers does not hold here. Understanding complexity and the non-linearity of biological systems can then provide a shield against intellectual shortcuts such as the *Churchill effect* described in the introduction.

Symposium participants and attendants felt that much attention needs to be given to teacher preparation for teaching complexity. Teachers themselves often have limited experience with complex topics, and, consequently, as illustrated by Sjöström et al. in this paper, while appreciating their importance, they may not be comfortable introducing them. Moreover, because such topics currently take up little instructional space, there are few instructional resources that would provide teacher support. Lastly, as evidenced by Sjöström et al. in this paper, introducing complexity changes the nature of classroom interaction and the teacher-student relationship. Pre-service and in-service teacher education should aid teachers in preparing for this changed relationship.

#### Conclusion

One student's comment in Sjöström et al.'s study that "there is not only one truth, but different kinds of truth, depending on how you look at it" is a persistent core motif in all four presented studies. If one was to symbolise this motif graphically, Fig. 2 in Sprenger et al. would certainly be a good choice. In fact, given a set of mystery cards and interactions, even experts draw various pictures that sometimes match only vaguely. As discussed above, this is a real challenge to most educational settings, which normally rely on certainties and epistemological games of truth. No wonder Swedish pre-service teachers are uneasy with this situation, and Spanish students feel overwhelmed by the complexity of environmental health questions.

Could here *adaptive staging* be of help (see section "Don't predict, adapt")? What does the slogan "Don't predict, adapt!" signify in such contexts? Questions we cannot yet answer adequately. The *Cynefin framework* (see section "The Cynefin framework") describes adaptive staging as *probe*, *sense* and *respond* (Snowden

et al. 2012). In simple systems, full prediction is guaranteed by the classification of initial states. In complicated systems, the same can be achieved by systematic analysis. In complex systems, however, each dynamically unfolding situation has to be staged (in the sense of probing) on a regular basis. Strategies have then to be adapted continuously, according to the evaluation results.

How can this approach be transferred to science education? We don't know yet. The findings presented in this chapter may be a starting point for developing new educational strategies that help students and teachers to cope with the challenges of complexity in SciencelEnvironment|Health contexts.

### References

- Abd-El-Khalick, F., & Zeidler, D. L. (2015). New horizons for the journal of research in science teaching. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 52, 263–267. https://doi.org/10.1002/ tea.21216.
- Akaike, H. (1981). Likelihood of a model and information criteria. *Journal of Econometrics*, *16*, 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4076(81)90071-3.
- Antonovsky, A. (1997). In A. Franke (Ed.), *Salutogenese. Zur Entmystifizierung der Gesundheit*. Tübingen: dgvt Verlag.
- Arnold, J. C. (2018). An integrated model of decision-making in health contexts: The role of science education in health education. *International Journal of Science Education*, 40, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2018.1434721.
- Bak, P. (1996). How nature works. The science of self-organized criticality. New York: Springer.
- Benninghaus, J. C., Kremer, K., & Sprenger, S. (2017). Assessing high-school students' conceptions of global water consumption and sustainability. *International Research in Geographical* and Environmental Education, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/10382046.2017.1349373.
- Chi, M. T. H., Glaser, R., & Rees, E. (1982). Expertise in problem solving. In R. J. Sternberg (Ed.), Advances in the psychology of human intelligence (1st ed., pp. 7–75). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Dillon, J. (2012). Science, environment and health education: Towards a reconceptualisation of their mutual interdependences. In A. Zeyer & R. Kyburz-Graber (Eds.), Science environment health. Towards a renewed pedagogy for science education. Dordrecht: Springer
- Fensham, P. J. (2012). Preparing citizens for a complex world: The grand challenge of teaching socio-scientific issues in science education. In A. Zeyer & R. Kyburz-Graber (Eds.), *Science*[environment]health. Towards a renewed pedagogy for science education (pp. 7–30). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Fremerey, C., Liefländer, A. K., & Bogner, F. X. (2014). Conceptions about drinking water of 10th graders and undergraduates. *Journal of Water Resource and Protection*, 6, 1112–1123. https:// doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2014.612104.
- Glennan, S.S. (2010). Mechanisms. The Oxford Handbook of Causation. https://doi.org/10.1093/ oxfordhb/9780199279739.003.0016.
- Glotzbach, S. & Baumgärtner, S. (2009). The relationship between intra- and intergenerational ecological justice: determinants of goal conflicts and synergies in sustainability policy. In Universität Lüneburg (Hrsg.) (Bd. 144). Lüneburg: Working Paper Series in Economics.
- Hafen, M. (2007). *Mythologie der Gesundheit. Zur Integration von Salutogenese und Pathogenese*. Heidelberg: Carl Auer Verlag.
- Hasslöf, H., Malmberg, C., & Lundegård, I. (2016). Students' qualification in environmental and sustainability education—Epistemic gaps or composites of critical thinking? *International Journal of Science Education*, 38(2), 259–275. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2016.1139 756.

- Haughton, G. (1999). Environmental justice and the sustainable city. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, 18(3), 233–243. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739456X9901800305.
- Herremans, I., & Reid, R. (2002). Developing awareness of the sustainability concept. *The Journal of Environmental Education*, 34(1), 16–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/00958960209603477.
- Jones, M. G., Blonder, R., Gardner, G. E., Albe, V., Falvo, M., & Chevrier, J. (2013). Nanotechnology and nanoscale science: Educational challenges. *International Journal of Science Education*, 35(9), 1490–1512. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2013.771828.
- Kaiser, F. G., & Fuhrer, U. (2003). Ecological behavior's dependency on different forms of knowledge. *Applied Psychology*, 52(4), 598–613. https://doi.org/10.1111/1464-0597.00153.
- Kellert, S. H. (1993). In the wake of Chaos: Unpredictable order in dynamical systems. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. Retrieved from http://www.loc.gov/catdir/description/ uchi052/92030355.html.
- Leat, D. (1998). Thinking through geography. London: Chris Kingston.
- Levinson, R., & The PARRISE Consortium. (2017). Socio-scientific inquiry-based learning: Taking off from STEPWISE. In L. Bencze (Ed.), Science and technology education promoting wellbeing for individuals, societies and environments – STEPWISE (pp. 477–502). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Lundström, M., Sjöström, J., & Hasslöf, H. (2017). Responsible research and innovation in science education: The solution or the emperor's new clothes? *Sisyphus-Journal of Education*, *5*(3), 11–27.
- Mayring, P. (2014). Qualitative content analysis. Theoretical foundation, basic procedures and software solution. Klagenfurt.
- Mehren, R., Rempfler, A., Buchholz, J., Hartig, J., & Ulrich Riedhammer, E. M. (2017). System competence modeling: Theoretical foundation and empirical validation of a model involving natural, social, and human environment systems. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21436.
- Von Neumann, J., & Burks, A. W. (1966). Theory of self-reproducing automata. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.
- Novak, J. D., & Gowin, B. (1984). *Learning how to learn*. Cambridge/New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Pedretti, E., Bencze, L., Hewitt, J., Romkey, L., & Jivraj, A. (2008). Promoting issues-based STSE perspectives in science teacher education: Problems of identity and ideology. *Science & Education*, 17(8–9), 941–960.
- Pedretti, E., & Nazir, J. (2011). Currents in STSE education: Mapping a complex field, 40 years on. Science Education, 95(4), 601–626. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.20435.
- Pufé, I. (2012). Nachhaltigkeit (Vol. 3667): UTB.
- Rieß, W., & Mischo, C. (2010). Promoting systems thinking through biology lessons. *International Journal of Science Education*, 32(6), 705–725. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500690902769946.
- Rosenberg, A. (2005). Philosophy of science. New York/London: Routledge.
- Sadler, B. (1990). Sustainable development and water resource management. *Alternatives*, 17(3), 14–24.
- Schuler, S., Fanta, D., Rosenkraenzer, F., & Riess, W. (2017). Systems thinking within the scope of education for sustainable development (ESD) – A heuristic competence model as a basis for (science) teacher education. *Journal of Geography in Higher Education*, 1–13. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/03098265.2017.1339264.
- Simonneaux, L., Panissal, N., & Brossais, E. (2013). Students' perception of risk about nanotechnology after an SAQ teaching strategy. *International Journal of Science Education*, 35(14), 2376–2406. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2011.635164.
- Snowden, D.J., Boone, M.E., Snowden, D.J., & Boone, M.E. (2012). A leader's framework for decision making. *Harvard Business Review*, (Nov 2007).
- Sjöström, J. (2018). Science teacher identity and eco-transformation of science education: Comparing Western modernism with Confucianism and reflexive Bildung. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, 13, 147–161. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11422-016-9802-0.

- Sjöström, J., & Eilks, I. (2018). Reconsidering different visions of scientific literacy and science education based on the concept of *Bildung*. In Y. Dori, Z. Mevarech, & D. Baker (Eds.), *Cognition, metacognition, and culture in STEM education* (pp. 65–88). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Trumpower, D. L., Sharara, H., & Goldsmith, T. E. (2010). Specificity of structural assessment of knowledge. *Journal of Technology, Learning, and Assessment*, 8(5).
- Wilson, M., De Boeck, P., & Carstensen, C. (2008). Explanatory item response models: A brief introduction. In J. Hartig, E. Klieme, & D. E. Leutner (Eds.), Assessment of competencies in educational contexts: State of the art and future prospects (pp. 91–120). Göttingen: Hogefe.
- Winkelmann, K., & Bhushan, B. (Eds.). (2016). Global perspectives of Nanoscience and engineering education. Dordrecht: Springer.
- WHO. (2016). Noncommunicable diseases (NCD). http://www.who.int/gho/ncd/en/. Accessed 5 March 2018.
- World Commission on Environment and Development. (1987). *Our Common Future*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Zeidler, D. L., Sadler, T. D., Applebaum, S., & Callahan, B. E. (2009). Advancing reflective judgment through Socioscientific issues. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46, 74–101. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20281.
- Zeyer, A. (2017). Gender, complexity, and science for all: Systemizing and its impact on motivation to learn science for different science subjects. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 55, 147–171. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21413.
- Zeyer, A., & Dillon, J. (Eds.). (2014). Sciencelenvironmentlhealth—Towards a reconceptualization of three critical and inter-linked areas of education. International Journal of Science Education, 36, Special Issue. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2014.904993.
- Zeyer, A., & Kyburz-Graber, R. (Eds.). (2012). Science|environment|health. Towards a renewed pedagogy for science education. Dordrecht/Boston, London: Springer. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-90-481-3949-1.

## **Promoting Students' Critical and Active Engagement in Socio-scientific Problems: Inter-Trans-national Perspectives**



Larry Bencze (), Lyn Carter (), Audrey Groleau (), Mirjan Krstovic (), Ralph Levinson (), Jenny Martin (), Isabel Martins (), Chantal Pouliot (), and Matthew Weinstein ()

## Introduction

There appear to be many serious harms for individuals, societies and environments associated with fields of science and technology. Arguably of most concern is devastating climate change from burning of fossil fuels, but health harms (e.g. cancer) from

L. Bencze (🖂)

L. Carter

Faculty of Education and Arts, School of Education Melbourne, Fitzroy, Australia e-mail: Lyn.Carter@acu.edu.au

A. Groleau Département des sciences de l'éducation, Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières, Trois-Rivières, QC, Canada e-mail: audrey.groleau@uqtr.ca

M. Krstovic Peel District School Board, Mississauga, ON, Canada e-mail: mirjan.krstovic@peelsb.com

R. Levinson Institute of Education, University College London, London, UK e-mail: r.levinson@ucl.ac.uk

J. Martin ILSTE, Australian Catholic University, East Melbourne, Australia e-mail: jenny.martin@acu.edu.au

I. Martins NUTES, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil

C. Pouliot Université Laval, Québec, Qc, Canada e-mail: Chantal.Pouliot@fse.ulaval.ca

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_11

OISE, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: larry.bencze@utoronto.ca

consumer products like cigarettes, pesticides, household cleansers, nuclear radiation and food additives are among other problems. Although reasons for such harms are complex and uncertain, many scholars point to influences of powerful individuals (e.g. financiers) and organizations (e.g. transnational corporations) in orchestration of myriad living (e.g. think tanks; banks; trade organizations; universities; governments; engineers; etc.), nonliving (e.g. computer systems; transportation networks; weapons; etc.) and symbolic (e.g. competitiveness; socially responsible; sexy; etc.) entities into networks supporting their causes (Ball 2012; McMurtry 2015; Mirowski 2011; Pierce 2013; Ziman 2000). Approximately paralleling harms like those above appear to be dramatic global wealth concentrations by relatively few individuals and companies at expense of well-being of most other entities (Stiglitz 2016).

Given that many problems have some association with fields of science and technology, it follows that school science approaches are needed for encouraging and enabling students to critically evaluate relationships among fields of science and technology and societies and environments ('STSE') and develop and implement action plans to address perceived harms (Hodson 2011). In this chapter, we describe and analyse one such approach, that is, 'STEPWISE' (Science and Technology Education Promoting Wellbeing for Individuals, Societies and Environments). This is a framework developed in 2006 by Larry Bencze that, as elaborated in Fig. 1, organizes science education learning goals (e.g. Skills, Products and STSE education) into a tetrahedron to encourage and enable students to altruistically 'spend' at least some of their cultural and social capital-e.g. as attitudes, skills and knowledge ('ASK')-on self-directing research-informed and negotiated action (RiNA) projects to address harms they perceive in STSE relationships. Emphases on student direction largely assume that deeper and more committed learning may occur when learners have direct controls over translations between phenomena of the world (e.g. weather, climate, etc.) and representations (e.g. graphs of temperature variations, climate change concerns, etc.) of them (Wenger 1998).

Mainly because students have not often had sufficient experiences with many aspects of RiNA projects, the schema in the lower right of Fig. 1 was developed to provide them with relatively teacher-led 'apprenticeship' lessons and activities to help them develop expertise, confidence and motivation for eventually self-directing such projects. Starting with student reflections on their existing conceptions, attitudes, etc., this constructivism-informed schema then encourages teachers to teach students some often difficult-to-discover facts, ideologies, etc. associated with science and technology before asking them to practice some small-scale RiNA projects (receiving help, when requested). Depending on numerous factors, including students' ages and stages of development, resource availability, etc., students may require more than one set of apprenticeship lessons and activities, often providing them with increasingly more complex ASK (e.g. about actor-network theory) that they may use in RiNA projects.

M. Weinstein

School of Education, University of Washington-Tacoma, St. Tacoma, WA, USA e-mail: mattheww@uw.edu



Fig. 1 Summary of STEPWISE frameworks

Since the development of the STEPWISE frameworks, considerable qualitative educational action research has been conducted in primary, secondary and tertiary science education contexts to learn more about their effectiveness. Such research suggests, firstly, that STEPWISE-informed approaches can be helpful in promoting self-directed RiNA projects—several examples of which are provided in two special issues of the journal *JASTE* (goo.gl/N00b3s; bit.ly/2JGIgtf) and in an edited book (Bencze 2017 [goo.gl/q98JRv]) featuring teachers' documentary reports of their relevant teaching/learning experiences. A brief summary¹ of some major findings from research involving one teacher (drawing from 6 of 17 *documentary* chapters in the book) also is provided in the next section of this chapter. This is followed by a section featuring summaries² of 5 of the 33 *analyses* chapters in the STEPWISE-edited book. Authors of these latter chapters were asked to analyse and evaluate STEPWISE frameworks and, where appropriate, discuss similar approaches in their work or suggest alternatives to them. We finish with an overall summary and conclusions section, coedited by all authors here.

¹This summary was written by Larry Bencze and Mirjan Krstovic, with all other authors providing editorial support.

²In order, these five summaries were written by Lyn Carter and Jenny Martin, Audrey Groleau and Chantal Pouliot, Ralph Levinson, Isabel Martins and Matthew Weinstein. Again, all authors here contributed to editing of these sections.

# Some Action Research Findings in Uses of STEPWISE Frameworks

Action research involving graduate students and/or Larry Bencze facilitating and learning from educators' efforts to develop and implement STEPWISE-informed pedagogical approaches appeared to help generate some relatively reliable claims about promotion of student-led RiNA projects. Many such findings are discussed in the STEPWISE book (Bencze 2017), but the schematic in Fig. 2 also may be helpful to readers. This schematic depicts RiNA projects as involving reciprocal translations between phenomena of the 'world' and representations ('signs') of them. In both directions, there may be inefficiencies in translations. Ontological gaps (inefficiencies) seem likely to occur because of differences in composition of two entities involved (e.g. a tree vs. a photograph of a tree) (Roth 2001). Such limits in translation suggest that we must associate some uncertainty with all RiNA projects. Inefficiencies in translations may, however, also have some intentionality known as ideological gaps (Bencze and Carter 2015)—when, for example, researchers purposely draw graphs ('signs') in ways that may overemphasize a cause-effect relationship. In terms of the schema in Fig. 2, several suggestions (in rectangles) for promotion of self-directed RiNA projects emerged from educational research.

Among many recommendations—such as those noted in Fig. 2—for uses of the STEPWISE framework that emerged from research, particularly important findings



Fig. 2 Summary of findings from STEPWISE-informed action research

seemed to involve benefits of students' uses of aspects of actor-network theory (ANT) (Latour 2005). To teach students about ANT, a secondary school science teacher (Mirjan Krstovic) conducted—for example—a Socratic lesson in which the class developed an actor-network map of cell phones, with special focus on concepts of punctualization (i.e. making a phone seem to be an isolated entity) and depunctualization (e.g. exposing networks of actants, such as transnational trade organizations to which the phone may be connected but often are not obvious to people) (Callon 1991). Students also were shown The Story of Stuff videos (storyofstuff.org/movies/) and asked to discuss actants (e.g. allusions to 'sexiness') that may encourage product consumption while distracting consumers from awareness of possibly harmful actants (e.g. microplastics in liquid detergents and shampoos).

After such lessons, students were then asked to self-direct RiNA projects to investigate and address harms they identified with particular consumer products. One such student project is summarized in Fig. 3. Students' secondary and primary research (phenomena  $\rightarrow$  representations) generated, respectively, findings such as the actor-network depiction of material-semiotic relationships involving batteries and the graph of students' inclinations to purchase educational board games. Based on findings, students then developed a 'Battery Jeopardy' board game, which prioritized statements promoting social justice and environmental sustainability (representations  $\rightarrow$  phenomena).



Fig. 3 Summary of findings from students' RiNA project

Although research suggested that STEPWISE-informed pedagogical approaches could help many students to develop expertise, confidence and motivation for self-directing innovative and possibly effective RiNA projects, it also became clear that such teaching and learning may be largely confined to relatively rare contexts featuring a supportive *dispositif* (Foucault 2008)—that is, a network of largely cooperating living, nonliving and semiotic actants. It seemed, for instance, that Mirjan Krstovic was able to successfully implement much of STEPWISE because, for instance, STSE education was listed first among three curricular goals (MoE 2008), his school's principal and department colleagues supported educational exploration and innovation and Mirjan (after graduate school education) supported relatively naturalist-antirealist conceptions (e.g. science inquiry may be adversely influenced by private funding) of nature of science (Loving 1991).

#### **Theoretical Analyses and Applications of STEPWISE**

Towards the end of about a decade of field testing of the theoretical (tetrahedral) and pedagogical (more linear) STEPWISE frameworks (Fig. 1), several science education scholars from around the world were invited to contribute chapters to the STEPWISE book (Bencze 2017)—asking them to evaluate the frameworks and, if relevant, to discuss ways they may relate to their work. To provide readers with a sense of such analyses, summaries of five such chapters are provided in the next section. Authors chosen to write these summaries have been collaborating with Larry Bencze for at least 5 years and share several perspectives about societies and science education. The sequence of summaries provided below is given in alphabetical order of the first author in each case.

## **'I Had to Take Action Straight Away': Preservice Teachers'** Accounts of Pro-environmental Action

STEPWISE is a framework for science education that encourages students to work towards a better world utilizing, in part, their understanding of science and technology. Lyn Carter and Jenny Martin developed a programme that focuses on actions that are at the heart of the STEPWISE framework, employing a discursive psychological perspective to investigate preservice teachers' sense of responsibility for education for sustainability (EfS) or pro-environmental action. Unlike more frequently invoked cognitive psychology, discursive approaches acknowledge cultural and relational aspects of any action in the social world, and no distinction is made between social and psychological phenomena. Such a unique approach holds implications for EfS studies, STEPWISE and other socio-political and STSE projects self-reflecting about cognitive psychological assumptions that depict individual minds and knowledge as separated from their social realization. If socio-cultural science education is to be authentic, then schisms between cognitive approaches and the social world need to be acknowledged.

Research described here involved about 400 first-year Bachelor of Education preservice elementary school teachers at an Australian university. The science course's topic area, environmental sustainability, its focus on action and an open inquiry pedagogy involving both primary and secondary research ensure it fits within STEPWISE. Instructors aimed to empower preservice teachers to position themselves as pro-environmentally active, both in their lives and in their teaching. Preservice teachers' reflective accounts of their 'Eco Challenge', a project in which they undertook an evidence-based appraisal of their current sustainability practices before implementing alternative practices to reduce their ecological footprint regarding food and energy consumption and production of waste, were analysed. The preservice teachers recorded their progress in an open-ended, reflective journal format they kept across the 12-week semester, providing evidence of their adopted practices evaluating and explaining their successes or otherwise as well as reflections upon their own or others' attitudes and information they researched that would elaborate their positions.

Discursive psychology (Harré 1984) acknowledges cultural and relational aspects of any action in the social world and requires an account of 'positioning' of the actor(s). A position is a person's psychological location in an ongoing 'conversation'. Social psychological phenomena are manifested as social acts. The analysis of social acts involves three mutually interdependent features of a conversation, the actual doings and sayings ('action'), the 'positioning' of actors and the conversational 'storylines' (Harré and van Langenhove 1999). Cognitive psychological approaches to science education research, by contrast, typically privilege generalized inner mental states when looking at (in our case here) preservice teachers' stated intentions or attributions of intention to students as central to operationalization of action. Rather than looking to what students say (or do) in a social setting as representing general psychological states (e.g. wanting), a discursive psychological approach, instead, looks to functions of students' sayings or doings in their context of use (Wood and Kroger 2000). Discourse-based approaches in science education research explore action in science as complex social activities, suggesting that action cannot be explained as individual intentions (as in cognitive psychology); rather, it needs to be understood as social meanings achieved in each intention and in terms of resultant social practices. This approach, which seems less usual in science education research, can avoid limitations posed by much of cognitive psychology at large in our field.

Research findings indicated that taking action was linked to individual intentionality and responsibility. This research supports claims made by Preston (2011) that young people tend to adopt ecological crises discourses where individual responsibility is uncritically taken as the cause of environmental problems. Preservice teachers' pro-environmental engagement was limited to individual action or 'small things', and they differentiated between instinctive and deliberate action. Rather than looking to action as meaningful in context, or how they were positioned in social contexts salient in their everyday lives (e.g. as non-empowered citizens), the preservice teachers became entrapped in a loop of deliberation over attribution of individual intentionality, induced by their adoption of cognitive psychological constructs like 'motivation' and 'intention'. These findings suggest that the Eco Challenge elaborated a conservationist/resourcist approach to environmental education (Sauvé 2005), limiting students' critical engagement. This research informs work in promoting pro-environmental engagement with preservice teachers and suggests that opportunities for preservice teachers to position themselves as members of collectives in relation to current local and global socio-political contexts could be a way forward to broaden their concepts of action—a central aim of STEPWISE.

## Preservice Teachers Discussing Social and Economic Disparities During a Discussion Game

Science education must not be blind to economic dimensions to which it contributes and by which it is influenced. This is the position expressed by the authors of the collective work entitled *Activist Science and Technology Education* (Bencze and Alsop 2014), which points to needs for deep-rooted change, 'tak[ing] more seriously wider social, political, economic and environmental contexts in which our practices reside and also seek to resist and influence' (Alsop and Bencze 2014, p. 2). In this section, Audrey Groleau and Chantal Pouliot present the group discussion game, *Decide*, illustrating that it shares several democratic values with STEPWISE frameworks.

Decide is a group discussion game that broadly shares STEPWISE orientations. It is distributed under a Creative Commons License (Attribution—ShareAlike 3.0 Unported), which means that it is highly accessible and shared free of charge in an altruistic spirit. The game's instructions give the players a great deal of leeway, both in terms of the form the discussion will take and its content. Decide invites players to discuss various issues/controversies that often are overlooked in science and technology education. For example, there are game cards that explicitly ask questions relating to uncertainties involved in pertinence of public engagement in these debates and in socio-political decision-making processes.

Decide is accessible on the Internet at www.playdecide.eu. It must be printed on paper or cardboard (it is not played online). While the recommended number of players is four to eight, we observed that sessions involving three or four players usually turned out to be the most productive and the most agreeable. Several versions of the game are available—in several different languages (e.g. French and Portuguese) and exploring various socio-technical controversies (e.g. orphan drugs, biomedical tests or climate change). There are more than 32 kits available in English. Each game session involves four phases. The *preparation* phase involves preparing the material (printing up the kit and cutting out the cards) and consulting the rules of the game, which are simple and quite flexible. The first phase of the game itself (the *information* phase) lasts approximately 30 min. Essentially, the players learn about the controversy by reading four possible policy positions on the controversy, as well as cards explaining some of the issues involved. The second phase of the game invites the players to *discuss the controversy* (for approximately 30 min), either taking turns or choosing an open discussion format. During the third and last phase of the game, the players try to *formulate a shared group response* (this phase lasts approximately 20 min). The players reread the four policy positions presented during the information phase and can add others as they see fit. They then vote individually on all four policies. Lastly, they negotiate and attempt to find some common ground, without necessarily having to reach a consensus.

Decide is coherent with STEPWISE-informed approaches, as it provides opportunities to address well-being of individuals, societies and environments. One of the pertinent contributions of Decide to philosophical and pedagogical aims of STEPWISE certainly lies in opportunities it provides participants to discuss development of techno-science while considering, in the words of Larry Bencze and Lyn Carter (2011), that '[w]ealth and well-being are funneled towards traditional elites, typically at the expense of the vast majority of other people and to the detriment of living and non-living environments' (p. 650). Because it allows de-punctualization of nanotechnologies (Callon 1991), namely, identification of actor-networks that interact, Decide can be mobilized during the Teacher Teaches phase of the STEPWISE apprenticeship (Fig. 1). Decide could be used as a starting point to help students identify significant issues underlying a controversy, pinpoint those that interest them in particular and form an informed opinion about them. The students could then be asked to pursue their own investigations and engage in social action or to put together a game kit (as an 'action') on a current or local sociotechnical controversy that interests them.

# Socio-Scientific Inquiry-Based Learning: Taking Off from STEPWISE

In the European Union, educational policy-making bodies are encouraging projects of inquiry-based learning to stimulate interest of young people in science and broaden the science and technological base (Rocard 2007). A broader vehicle for attaining these aims is Responsible Research and Innovation (RRI), a means of public accountability for scientific and technological research *for* people and *with* people (Owen et al. 2012). Such proposals need to be treated with caution, however, particularly in light of dismantling of welfare state policies in Europe, rise of free marketism and entrepreneurship, as well as the complexity of relations of technical expertise and lay knowledge and concerns.

Promoting Attainment of Responsible Research and Innovation in Science Education (PARRISE) is a European-funded project that takes inspiration from STEPWISE (Bencze and Carter 2011) and reflects its purposes of social justice. Directed towards supporting teacher professional development, it incorporates socio-political questions as the object of its inquiry, critically addressing issues of consumerism and unequal distribution that affect contemporary neoliberal economies. Components of this model of inquiry draw on substantive scientific knowledge incorporating RRI, through Critical Citizenship Education, Socio-Scientific





Issues (SSI) and Inquiry-Based Science Education (IBSE), hence the acronym SSIBL (Socio-Scientific Inquiry-Based Learning) (Levinson and PARRISE consortium 2017) (see Fig. 4).

Social values at the heart of this project recognize that we live in a diverse world where technological change should be underpinned by social justice and political responsibility. SSIBL prioritizes authentic questions that stem from students' concerns, leading to non-trivial actions that take into account social, political and cultural constraints and uncertainties. Inquiries reflect issues that have personal, social and global relevance. It has three principal components reflected in Fig. 5.

Asking personal/social/controversial questions relevant to socio-scientific issues of an authentic problem for which there is no clear solution. Examples for different age groups might involve students investigating consumerist and health claims for e-cigarettes, the best recipe to bake a birthday cake for a diabetic friend, finding out the best way to regulate temperatures in the school classroom. The inquiries should stem from concerns and preoccupations of the young participants, although scholars such as Humbel et al. (2012) recognize that social inquiries stimulated by controversy need to incorporate a pedagogical triggering mechanism, an 'élément déclencheur'. This might involve teachers using media text and images to prompt discussion or encouraging students to raise questions from a 'rights' forum. Hence, part of the SSIBL programme at the scaffolding stage has much in common with apprenticeship activities in STEPWISE.

Working towards *a solution* involves an inquiry-based approach (e.g. testing out predictions, evaluating data) by working with and for public and personal goods based on political knowledge and skills. SSIBL's inquiry-based approaches differ from school science inquiries. While they might involve experimentation, for example, in testing and reporting on various insulating materials to support temperature



Fig. 5 Schema for socio-scientific inquiry-based learning

regulation in the school classroom, they might also involve carrying out social surveys as well as drawing on secondary data. For example, through researchinformed action (RiA), Krstovic (2014) has supported high school students to raise awareness about powerful corporations using evidence-based research to produce videos, brochures and posters, to devise new labels for water bottles and to do class presentations to lobby for action. One feature of the RiA approach is the use of correlational studies, for example, the use of surveys to investigate relationships such as that between gender and use of cell phones.

Actions, arising from these solutions, may be of various kinds—ranging from active lobbying, addressing a social injustice to deepening a question and prompting further reflection. Action can be taken at various levels, from prompting new questions, stimulating further reflection to working with political authorities to help enact material and social change.

Overall, the SSIBL project within the PARRISE research and development programme appears to have led to some significant student outcomes using STEPWISEinformed principles in the context of prioritization of inquiry-based learning—an approach not recommended within the STEPWISE framework when predetermined conclusions are to be learned.

# Interrogating STEPWISE Principles: Concepts of 'Well-Being'

STEPWISE has addressed issues concerning goals and aims of science education in terms of its potential to change and promote well-being of individuals, societies and environments. However, even a quick inspection at relevant literature reveals polysemy around the concept of well-being. Its related meanings, which refer to cognate concepts, such as quality of life, welfare, common good and social justice, invoke a few questionings: Is it possible to establish parameters in terms of which to describe what constitutes well-being for different individuals, societies and environments? Which would be the values to inform such choices? (and) How should one assess adequate levels in each case?

For the last few years, there has been a growing recognition that well-being should be considered a multidimensional concept (McGillivray 2007). We will find relevant insights about well-being in fields as diverse as Economics, Public Health and (Moral) Philosophy, all of them conceived against a background of influences that are of historical, cultural and social in nature. The complex interaction between such aspects explains problems of accounts which will, for instance, associate well-being with achieving a satisfactory balance of pleasure over pain or those that equate it to achievement of desire satisfaction. For instance, John Stuart Mill has challenged hedonist perspectives by pointing out the fact that not all pleasures can be considered equivalent. Contemporary scholars like Qizilbash (1998), using an example of a person who enjoys smoking but is unaware of its harmful effects, stressed the extent to which our desires can be affected by knowledge. Issues surrounding relationships between knowledge and well-being are particularly relevant for science educators interested in exploring socio-scientific issues. Take the example where individuals and societies have increasingly become dependent on technological artefacts, like mobile phones. The awareness that mobile phone production is possible at the expense of child labour and environmental damage may not be sufficient to stop us consuming these goods. Complexity of networks of interests and practices is evident when we face the irony that these very products of exploitation provide us with opportunities, such as through social media activism, to collectively engage in denouncing and campaigning against unacceptable conditions under which they are produced.

Within this perspective, well-being seems to be an aspect of political life, linked to participation and decision-making in the context of some actual experiences of enacting the STEPWISE framework, as described in Bencze (2017). As such, it involves contradictions but also ambivalences, and, in order to analyse those, we need a theoretical-methodological framework that is apt to consider how complex and mutable are sets of power relations that shape production, enactment and consumption of science education discourses. Critical discourse analysis is suggested as an apt framework to do so, in so far as it explores dialectical pairs, such as structure/agency, colonization/appropriation and reflexivity/ideology (Chouliaraki and Fairclough 1998) in promoting articulations between local experiences and socio-historical dimensions. Views of well-being that address relationships between individuals and

social groups can be productively used to tease out aspects involved in discussions of roles of education in empowerment of individuals and emancipation of social groups for political action. The articulation of social theory and discourse, as present in critical discourse perspectives, is suggested as a powerful analytical tool to examine such connections as present in educational literature, multilateral documents and curriculum materials. The irreducible nature of relationships between discourse and society may also help foreground nuances in global accounts of ways through which (science) education has been recruited as a major component of a hegemonic project of society based on values of capital. In this way, one can seek to establish relationships between ways through which relevant aspects of *contemporaneity* (e.g. individualism, efficiency, competitiveness, space-time 'compression', technologization of social life, etc.) are represented in science education. We can question possibilities of promoting well-being outside practices defined by dialogue and co-responsibility on two grounds. One reason relates to risks of dismissing diversity and eliminating pluralism as an important element in construction of identities and as sources of reflection and alterity. Another reason would be undesirable reinforcement of asymmetry between academic/disciplinary and social/cultural contexts. Critical analysis of dialectical relationships in discourse also reveals how those who seek to promote wellbeing are impacted not just by reflexive dimensions of their actions but also by reconfigurations in social relations that can result in emancipation and in extended possibilities of participation and knowledge production of targeted groups.

Based upon that and in order to summarize, it is apparent that, in the context of the STEPWISE framework, well-being is best understood as a dialectical generative process rather than a stage to be reached once certain conditions are met. This would involve adopting a political philosophical outlook on well-being in order to problematize relationships between education and different models of socio-economic development in contemporary society.

## **Understanding Opportunities and Contradictions in the Grammars of Activism and Schooling**

To a great extent, STEPWISE—like many schemas drawing from science and technology studies research—provides alternatives to neoliberal principles and practices. In the USA, 'STEM' (Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics) education appears to act as a Trojan horse for a neoliberal re-articulation of science (Bencze et al. 2018). On the one hand, it validated science by its inclusion in the umbrella of the acronym, but, in practice, as evidenced by the US science education standards, science became infiltrated everywhere and, to some extent, suborned by other fields, most notably engineering. Engineering has to be read as *marketed science*, science built on competition and on technical fixes (rather than modelling and understanding) and science as product. In other words, the engineered science of standards such as the USA's Next-Generation Science Standards (NGSS) should be read as science that has lost its ethical autonomy from the market. Furthermore, STEM education has to be understood as an exclusion of those fields not represented in its acronym, the arts, literature and, especially, the social sciences, which are explicitly marked as 'other' in the National Research Council's Framework (Committee on a Conceptual Framework for New K-12 Science Education Standards 2011), which provided guidance to the NGSS. Yet, such fields are not simply removed; they are segregated and limited in their impacts. Science and technology studies (STS), the traditional bridge between science, technology (cum engineering) and the social sciences, is relegated to the engineering portion of the NGSS standards, suggesting an ethical and political innocence to the sciences. Nowhere are the many instances of ethical abuses of subjects, the antidemocratic selection of research projects or the connections of science to empire permitted in the NGSS.

Comments above emphasize US contexts, but it should be clear that the move to STEM education, the move to standardization and the move to neoliberal practices at every level are part of a global process, one that Finnish educator Pasi Salhlberg (Sahlberg 2015; Strauss and Sahlberg 2012) mockingly calls GERM, *Global Educational Reform Movement*.

It is in the light of this political-economic-rearticulated matrix that we should, perhaps, consider STEPWISE. STEPWISE is the antithesis of the articulation suggested by the NGSS: it hybridizes science, technology, ethics and political economy to put wellness, rather than profit, at the centre of science education. At the level of theory, it does this through drawing on a materialist/realist version of actor-network theory (ANT). At the level of pedagogy, it does this by making student activist projects the culmination rather than 'inquiry' or 'knowledge' or even 'understanding', as the cognitive science school of science education would prefer. It is at extreme odds, therefore, with the *grammar* of US education, as it is now practiced both on the ground (which remains largely devoted to memorization) and even in the neoliberal ideal (NGSS's inquiry plus engineering design problems).

Where the NGSS is about commodification of science and each student—as the student is measured and then marketed, i.e. reduced to human capital—STEPWISE ideally is about decommodification of multiple actors/actants. Much of the work of students in STEPWISE is about taking actual commodities and 'unpacking' them: locating those products in webs of labour, environmental extraction and toxicity. Students (ideally) are themselves decommodified as they become agents of change and work towards transforming the world. Finally, the curriculum itself is decommodified as students craft their own projects outside of the standardized organization of schooling. We might say 'ideally' because of fears that extant schooling is more than flexible enough to compromise and transform even a counterreform like STEPWISE to fit in with the hierarchies, grading schemes, discipline regimes and age-graded structures that comprise what Tyack and Cuban (1995) call the grammar of schooling.

The situation may not be hopeless, however. Rather, the lesson needs to be that teachers have to engage in struggle themselves for wellness at the level of the nature of schooling. Teachers of STEPWISE have to be ready to both resist traditionalists and GERM reformers who would render such healing curriculum outlaw. In the USA, this has meant uniting forces with progressive unions (or progressive caucuses within unions) or more informal organizations such as the Badass Teachers

Association (the BATs), which has networked teachers apart from the union to stand against GERM reforms specifically. The BATs are hardly alone. National Opt-Out (which resists standardized testing) and Network for Public Education (Diane Ravitch's anti-GERM group) are two other organizations involved in this struggle.

By expanding STEPWISE to promote wellness in institutions of learning more self-consciously, as it does in the world at large, struggles over schools and struggles over knowledge (science) appear intimately tied (Apple 1982, 2014). Schools are a key site for production of legitimated knowledge, and, thus, to contest the nature of schooling is also to contest over the nature of science itself: Who should science serve? Whose knowledge counts? Whose problems matter (are made material)? Posing these questions, and coming back with democratic answers, may be STEPWISE's greater effect.

#### **Summary and Conclusions**

Although fields of science and technology appear to have generated much knowledge and many inventions that have been greatly valued by humans in various global contexts, we are concerned about harms for well-being of individuals, societies and environments that appear to stem from influences that powerful people (e.g. financiers) and organizations (e.g. transnational corporations, governments and nongovernmental organizations) have over fields of science and technology and over many or most other living, nonliving and symbolic entities around the world. In light of our view that governments, like so many other entities, have been assimilated into a global network—not unlike The Borg in the Star TrekTM entertainment series-largely controlled by procapitalist people and organizations, it seems clear to us that science educators and others must prioritize education of students about harms linked to such power relations and to prepare them to develop and implement personal and social research-informed and negotiated actions to try to address harms important to them. This chapter has provided descriptions and examples of, and justification for, a general pedagogical framework ('STEPWISE') that appears to promote such active public engagement. It also has provided summaries of congruent pedagogical approaches, such as the Decide game, Socio-Scientific Inquiry-Based Learning and Eco Challenge, used in other parts of the world (e.g. Québec within Canada, Europe and the UK and in Australia, respectively). Outcomes of such approaches are promising in terms of potential for improvements in social justice and environmental well-being.

STEPWISE pedagogy and related strategies/schema should not, of course, be considered panaceas for what ails science education as it relates to well-being of individuals, societies and environments. All forms of education are, of course, highly contextual and, therefore, needing myriad and unpredictable pedagogical approaches. Moreover, all education is undoubtedly biased and, related to that, potentially disempowering for some other individuals and groups. Indeed, authors featured in this chapter advise caution, for instance, in conceiving of 'well-being'

and 'activism'—core aspects of STEPWISE. At the same time, at least one author here has cautioned that many benefits attributed to STEPWISE may be inhibited by large-scale educational movements like 'STEM' education that appear to prioritize economic market goals over general societal and environmental well-being. With such caveats and barriers in mind, therefore, although we may feel that learning outcomes and pedagogy provided here may be liberating and invigorating for individuals, societies and environments, it seems necessary to continually collaborate with numerous—and often diverse and oppositional—stakeholders to democratically codevelop perspectives and practices (McLaren 2000).

Acknowledgements We would like to thank Dr. Lucy Avraamidou (Associate Professor, Science Education, University of Groningen, the Netherlands), Chair, and other members of the International Committee of the *National Association for Research in Science Teaching* (NARST) for their thorough and helpful work in selecting us as the presenters for the NARST-sponsored session at the 2017 ESERA conference. This chapter arose from that presentation. Also note that the section above addressing *Socio-Scientific Inquiry-Based Learning* received funding from the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme under grant agreement no. 612438 and PARRISE-project: Promoting Attainment of Responsible Research and Innovation in Science Education.

#### References

- Alsop, S., & Bencze, L. (2014). Activism! Toward a more radical science and technology education. In L. Bencze & S. Alsop (Eds.), Activist science and technology education (pp. 1–19). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Apple, M. W. (1982). Education and power. Boston: Ark.
- Apple, M. W. (2014). Official knowledge: Democratic education in a conservative era (3rd ed.). New York: Routledge.
- Ball, S. J. (2012). Global education Inc.: New policy networks and the neo-liberal imaginary. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Bencze, J. L. (Ed.). (2017). Science & technology education promoting wellbeing for individuals, societies & environments. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Bencze, L., & Alsop, S. (Eds.). (2014). Activist science and technology education. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Bencze, L., & Carter, L. (2011). Globalizing students acting for the common good. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 48(6), 648–669. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20419.
- Bencze, J. L., & Carter, L. (2015). Capitalists' profitable virtual worlds: Roles for science & technology education. In P. P. Trifonas (Ed.), *International handbook of semiotics* (Vol. 1 & 2, pp. 1197–1212). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Bencze, L., Reiss, M., Sharma, A., & Weinstein, M. (2018). STEM education as 'Trojan horse': Deconstructed and reinvented for all. In L. Bryan & K. Tobin (Eds.), *13 questions: Reframing education's conversation: Science* (pp. 69–87). New York: Peter Lang. https://doi.org/10.3726/ b11305.
- Callon, M. (1991). Techno-economic networks and irreversibility. In J. Law (Ed.), A sociology of monsters: Essays on power, technology and domination (pp. 132–161). London: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-954X.1990.tb03351.x.

- Chouliaraki, L., & Fairclough, N. (1998). *Discourse in late modernity*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Committee on a Conceptual Framework for New K-12 Science Education Standards. (2011). *A framework for K-12 science education: Practices, crosscutting concepts, and core ideas.* Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- Foucault, M. (2008). In M. Senellart (Ed.), *The birth of biopolitics: Lectures at the Collége de France, 1978–1979.* New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Harré, R. (1984). *Personal being: A theory for individual psychology*. Oxford: Basil Blackwell Publishers.
- Harré, R., & van Langenhove, L. (1999). The dynamics of social episodes. In R. Harré & L. van Langenhove (Eds.), *Positioning theory* (pp. 1–13). Oxford: Blackwell.
- Hodson, D. (2011). *Looking to the future: Building a curriculum for social activism*. Rotterdam: Sense.
- Humbel, L., Jolliet, F., & Varcher, P. (2012). 3 key competencies in ESD for learners and teachers: Make a deconstruction, operate a reconstruction and ask critical questions. A case study in college classrooms about some SAQ (Socially acute questions) concerning 'le fait religieux' (unpublished paper).
- Krstovic, M. (2014). Preparing students for self-directed research-informed actions on socioscientific issues. In L. Bencze & S. Alsop (Eds.), *Activist science and technology education* (pp. 399–418). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Latour, B. (2005). *Reassembling the social: An introduction to actor-network-theory*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Levinson, R., & PARRISE consortium. (2017). Socio-scientific inquiry-based learning: Taking off from STEPWISE. In J. L. Bencze (Ed.), *Science & technology education promoting wellbeing for individuals, societies & environments* (pp. 477–502). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Loving, C. C. (1991). The scientific theory profile: A philosophy of science model for science teachers. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 28(9), 823–838. https://doi.org/10.1002/ tea.3660280908.
- McGillivray, M. (2007). Human well-being. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi. org/10.1057/9780230625600.
- McLaren, P. (2000). Che Guevara, Paulo Freire, and the pedagogy of the revolution. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.
- McMurtry, J. (2015). The cancer stage of capitalism: From crisis to cure. London: Pluto.
- Ministry of Education [MoE]. (2008). *The Ontario curriculum, grades 9 and 10: Science*. Toronto: Queen's Printer for Ontario.
- Mirowski, P. (2011). *Science-mart: Privatizing American science*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Owen, R., MacNaghten, P., & Stilgoe, J. (2012). Responsible research and innovation: From science in society to science for society, with society. *Science and Public Policy*, 39(6), 751–760.
- Pierce, C. (2013). Education in the age of biocapitalism: Optimizing educational life for a flat world. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Preston, L. (2011). Green pedagogy Guidance and doubt in teaching outdoor and environmental education. Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education, 39(4), 367–380. https://doi.org/10.108 0/1359866X.2011.614686.
- Qizilbash, M. (1998). The concept of Well-being. Economics and Philosophy, 14(1), 51-73.
- Rocard, M. (2007). *Science education NOW: A renewed pedagogy for the future of Europe*. Brussels: European Commission.
- Roth, W.-M. (2001). Learning science through technological design. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 38(7), 768–790. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.1031.
- Sahlberg, P. (2015). *Finnish lessons 2.0: What can the world learn from educational change in Finland?* (2nd ed.). New York: Teachers College, Columbia University.
- Sauvé, L. (2005). Currents in environmental education Mapping a complex and evolving pedagogical field. *The Canadian Journal of Environmental Education*, 10(1), 11–37.
- Stiglitz, J. E. (2016). Inequality and economic growth. The Political Quarterly, 86(S1), 134-155.
- Strauss, V., & Sahlberg, P. (2012, June 29). How GERM is infecting schools around the world. The Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/answer-sheet/post/ how-germ-is-infecting-schools-around-the-world/2012/06/29/gJQAVELZAW_blog. html?noredirect=on&utm_term=.12cc616fd203. Accessed 20 Dec 2018.
- Tyack, D. B., & Cuban, L. (1995). *Tinkering toward utopia: A century of public school reform*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Wenger, E. (1998). Communities of practice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Wood, L., & Kroger, R. (2000). Doing discourse analysis: Methods for studying action in talk and text. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Ziman, J. (2000). *Real science: What it is, and what it means*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

## **Understandings of Scientific Inquiry: An International Collaborative Investigation of Grade Seven Students**



Judith S. Lederman (D), Norman G. Lederman (D), Selina L. Bartels (D), and Juan P. Jimanez (D)

## Introduction

Scientific inquiry (SI) has been a perennial focus of science education for the past century, and it generally refers to the combination of general science process skills with traditional science content, creativity, and critical thinking to develop scientific knowledge (Lederman 2010). Recent reform documents have emphasized that students should develop the abilities necessary to do inquiry and/or science practices as well as have an understanding about inquiry (e.g., ACARA 2015; Brazil 1998; Benchmarks for Science Literacy, AAAS 1993; A Framework for K-12 Science Education: Practices, Crosscutting Concepts, and Core Ideas, Ministry of Education, Pedagogical Secretariat 2018; National Research Council [NRC] 2011). The National Science Education Standards (NRC 2000) were explicit in their differentiation between the abilities to do inquiry and knowledge about SI. This distinction also continues to be evident in the Next Generation Science Standards (NGSS 2013). Although the NGSS refers to science practices as opposed to inquiry, the NGSS considers "practices" as extending well beyond simply being involved in science processes. In either case, "inquiry" or "practices" refer to engagement of students in behaviors similar to those of scientists. Similar distinctions are becoming more prominent in reform documents throughout the world. Quite simply, it seems logical that students will improve their ability to do inquiry/practices if they have an understanding about what they are doing and this knowledge, combined with knowledge of science, will enable students to make more informed decisions about

J. S. Lederman  $(\boxtimes) \cdot N$ . G. Lederman  $\cdot$  J. P. Jimanez Illinois Institute of Technology, Chicago, IL, USA e-mail: ledermanj@iit.edu

S. L. Bartels Valparasio University, Valparaiso, IN, USA e-mail: sbartels@hawk.iit.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_12

scientifically based personal and societal decisions. The position here is not that the doing of science is unimportant. It is important for students to be engaged in inquiry practices. Indeed, these experiences provide the best instructional platform for students to reflect back upon how scientific knowledge is developed.

Research indicates that, much like the research on understandings of Nature of Science (NOS), neither teachers nor students typically hold informed views of SI (Lederman and Lederman 2004; Schwartz et al. 2002). The research base for SI is markedly smaller than that for NOS. This small research base is partly due to both the conflation of NOS and SI and the lack of a readily available, or frequently utilized, instrument similar in nature to the various forms of the Views of Nature of Science questionnaires (VNOS; Lederman et al. 2002). Now with the development of the VASI, the research base for SI can begin to grow. There are those that have concerns with instruments that purport to assess students' understandings about constructs such as inquiry and NOS (Hammer and Elby 2009; Hammer et al. 2005). Their arguments primarily revolve around the idea that context impacts students' abilities to express what they understand about NOS, and this has been extended to inquiry. The results of this investigation show otherwise as the VASI clearly provides students with a variety of contexts within which to express what they understand about inquiry. Additionally, prior research also would call in question the claims made by Hammer and colleagues (Bartels and Lederman 2017; among others).

While SI is inextricably linked with NOS, what is notable is the lack of a robust research base centered on students' understandings about inquiry. What is evident is the preponderance of research focused on the doing of inquiry, which oftentimes is assumed to necessarily lead to an understanding of inquiry. The belief that doing inquiry is a sufficient condition for developing understandings about SI, unfortunately, is a misconception (e.g., see Wong and Hodson 2009, 2010). In order for students to fully understand, aspects of SI (which can be done in conjunction with conducting SI but not necessarily) need to be intentionally taught.

The intent of this collaborative project was to report on students' understandings of SI across the globe with a valid and reliable assessment tool; we can begin to see what students of the same grade levels know about SI in various countries/regions. The purpose is not to focus on comparisons across countries (especially since instruction, curricula, and cultures vary widely across nations), but rather to develop a baseline of understandings worldwide. Readers are urged to resist the temptation to compare the findings from their country/regions with the findings from the other countries/regions.

## Why Should Students Understand Scientific Inquiry and What Should They Know?

Students should be able to understand how scientists do their work and how scientific knowledge is developed, critiqued, and eventually accepted by the scientific community. SI is this process. The NSES content standards for science as inquiry for grades K-12 advocated the merit of students developing (a) the abilities necessary to do inquiry and (b) understandings about scientific inquiry (NRC 2000).

In the United States, a relatively new set of science standards define what students should be learning. Although students should be engaged in conducting scientific inquiry, the "doing" of scientific inquiry is emphasized in the new standards (NGSS 2013), within the category of "practices." The NGSS expects teachers to have students asking questions, planning and carrying out investigations, and constructing explanations. Thus in the United States, teachers are encouraged to engage their students in conducting science investigations in their classrooms. But, the explicit teaching of understandings about SI/Practices is missing from the NGSS. Although conducting inquiry, or the process skills of science, is important, students can often do inquiry without knowing how and why scientists go about their work. The efficacy of such implicit approaches to developing understandings of SI, and for that matter NOS, has been called into question by a growing body of research (e.g., Abd-El-Khalick and Lederman 2000; Akerson et al. 2000; Lederman et al. 2013; Lederman and Lederman 2004; Schwartz et al. 2002, 2004). Therefore, it is important to identify and explicitly teach the aspects of SI that can serve, in the end, to develop informed views of SI. And, of course, the major endpoint desired is the development of a scientifically literate citizenry. It is important to note that "explicit" does not mean lecture or teacher-centered instruction, as misunderstood by some researchers (Duschl and Grandy 2013). Explicit/reflective instruction engages students in reflections upon what they have done in an investigation and the implications this has for how scientists do their work and the knowledge that is produced. Such understandings are critical for the development of a scientifically literate public, considering that our citizenry is confronted with scientifically based issues upon which decisions must be made, yet few citizens engage in scientific investigations after they have graduated high school or college.

The aspects of SI that follow are empirically shown to be appropriate in the context of K-12 classrooms but can also be appropriately applied to college level students. For a more in depth elaboration of each of these aspects, see Lederman et al. (2014).

Specifically, students should develop an informed understanding of the eight aspects of scientific inquiry outlined in the table.

#### **Statement of the Problem**

Although the teaching of SI is valued around the world, there has never been a worldwide assessment of what students actually know about SI. This study sought to examine grade seven students' understandings, at the beginning of the school year, of SI in various countries/regions worldwide. This baseline study gives us data on what, if anything, students learn about inquiry in elementary school, as well as their beginning SI knowledge as they enter secondary school. It provides the global science education community a starting point from which instructional, curricula, and policy decisions can be made at the national, regional, or local levels.

### Sample

The sample was taken from every continent around the world, with the exception of Antarctica. The research sites (from 18 countries/regions) were Australia (n = 108), Brazil (n = 169), Chile (n = 142), Egypt (n = 109), England (=103), Finland (n = 149), France (n = 109), Germany (n = 96), Israel (n = 92), Mainland China (n = 378), New Zealand (n = 87), Nigeria (n = 102), South Africa (n = 106), Spain (n = 159), Sweden (n = 126), Taiwan (n = 167), Turkey (n = 268), and the United States (n = 164). The total sample size of grade seven students was 2634 students. Alternatively, one could conceptualize the sample as actually consisting of 18 samples (i.e., one per each country/region) rather than using an overall total. If there were statistical tests used, how the sample was conceptualized could result in a unit of analysis problem. However, no statistical tests or comparisons were pursued because such comparisons would be inappropriate. The students selected for this study were based on average academic ability, representative diversity of the region, and socioeconomic background. The students were selected for this study by the contact people from each region/country, and they determined which schools represented their regions based on the aforementioned criteria. The contact researchers admittedly selected a sample of convenience. However, care was taken to select sites that reasonably "covered" each continent. There is no claim that the sample selected for each country/region can definitively represent that country/region. Such would not be humanely possible. But, the sample does give a first insight into the status of students' understandings worldwide.

There were a total of 18 primary contact people participating in this study, 1 contact person for each country/region, who almost always worked with a team of colleagues. Each site had one city with the exception of South Africa, Turkey, and the United States, which had two sites each, and Mainland China, which had three sites. In short, the contact people across the six continents were responsible for language translation/back translation to maintain VASI validity when a language other than English was used, selection of a representative sample, data collection (including paper and pencil assessments and individual interviews), completion of training in the coding/scoring of the VASI, data analysis, and the writing of location-specific aspects of the results. It is important to note that this ambitious investigation did not require the procurement of any external funds or grants.

### The Translation and Back Translation Process

In order to have a valid VASI questionnaire in a language different from the original English version, the researchers in each country/region translated the English version into the local language. One researcher in each country was responsible for doing the translations. The translated version of the VASI was then translated back into English by another member of the local team who had proficiency in reading and writing

English. The back-translated version was evaluated and compared with the original VASI questionnaire by one of the authors of the instrument in order to check if the new version maintained the same meanings as the original version. In some cases, it was necessary to contact the local teams to clarify some words used in the new local version of the VASI to double check if those words maintained the same meaning or were able to capture the answers in the same way as the original questionnaire. For example, when working on the back translation between the Swedish version of the VASI and the English version, a discussion took place about the word "evidence." In Swedish this word translates into "proof" which has a different meaning in the United States. Even in countries where English was the official language, researchers had to use some alternative words according to the local context in order to have a valid VASI questionnaire. For instance, the VASI version for United States, England, and Australia had to adjust words and phrases to reflect local vernacular to better match the meaning of the original questions. For example, in the United States, we often use the phrase "flat tire." However, in England it would be called "punctured tire." Similarly, the Spanish versions for Spain and Chile are different from each other. Only after the process of translation and back translation was each team able to administer the questionnaires in each country/region. It should be clear that the process of translation and back translation is a critical issue in research and it is highly complex. The process used in this research project directly followed the well-established standards in the field (Grisay 2003; Guillemin et al. 1993; Hambleton 2002; Hambleton and Patsula 1998; Maneersriwongul and Dixon 2004; OECD 2017).

#### Training Sessions for Scoring the VASI

The selection and training of the contact people for this study was directed by the US researchers. This project formally began with an initial meeting at the European Science Education Research Association (ESERA) meeting. The initial timeline of the study was determined when the personnel at each research site was able to specify their local constraints. Individual meetings were arranged and conducted via Skype between each site and the primary US site. Depending on the research team, there were two to three meetings. The first meeting involved learning to administer and score the VASI. After the administration of the VASI in each country/region, each site was required to send four or five completed (but unscored) VASI questionnaires from their sample. The responses were translated into English by each local team. Then, each questionnaire was independently scored by a group of four to five researchers from the US team. Once the questionnaires were scored, a second meeting with the international local team was scheduled in order to explain how the questionnaires were scored and how the questions targeted the aspects of SI. During this meeting, each local team discussed the quality of the answers, scoring, reliability, and inter-rater agreement. In a third meeting, each team scored a new set of questionnaires for themselves and then compared their scores with the US team. This meeting allowed the local teams to "calibrate" the scoring process in order to get 80% or greater inter-rater agreement. If additional meetings were needed, they were scheduled on a case by case basis. Once teams could reliably score the VASI with the US team, they then proceeded to establish reliability with their local team before scoring the entire set of questionnaires. They scored their entire sample and met with their local team to ensure 80% or greater inter-rater agreement for each aspect of the VASI. The inter-rater agreement established for each research site can be found in Table 1.

## **Data Collection**

This study took place at the start of the grade seven school year which varied in timing depending on the beginning of the school year in the various continents and hemispheres. Countries in the Northern Hemisphere collected data in August/ September, and the Southern Hemisphere countries collected data in January. Each student was given a VASI questionnaire to complete in a 45-60 min time period. After administration of the VASI, the responses were scored by the primary contact person (and colleagues) in each country. Each student was given a score of no answer, naïve, mixed, or informed for each aspect of SI. Numerical scores are not used with the VASI; students' responses are categorized with respect to how accurately their responses align with the measured aspect of SI. If a respondent provided a response consistent across the entire questionnaire that is wholly congruent with the target response for a given aspect of SI, they were scored as "informed." If, by contrast, a response was either only partially explicated or thus not totally consistent with the targeted response or if a contradiction in the response is evident, a score of "mixed" was given. A response that is contradictory to accepted views of an aspect of SI, and provides no evidence of congruence with accepted views of the specific aspect of SI under examination, was scored as "naïve." At least 20% of the students were interviewed to ensure that the scoring of the VASI was accurate in representing what the students' written response meant. This insured face validity for the questionnaire. The interviews were recorded and transcribed. The inter-rater agreement reported for the VASI was 80% or better for each site.

## **Overall Findings**

In general, this study found that grade seven students' understandings of SI are poor. However, it was apparent that, for each country or region in the study, there were some students who held more moderate understandings than others. These variations occurred depending on the curriculum, instruction, and the myriad of other factors that influence what students learn. See Tables 2, 3 and 4 for a complete set of data. The percentages in these tables may not add up to 100% due to the exclusion of missing or useable responses.

Scientific investigations all begin with a question but do not necessarily test a hypothesis	"Scientific investigations involve asking and answering a question and comparing the answer with what scientists already know about the world" (NRC 2000, p. 20). In order for scientific investigations to occur, there has to be a question asked about the natural world. Traditional experimental designs typically include a formally stated hypothesis, but this is not necessary or typical of other designs (e.g., descriptive and correlational)
There is no single set or sequence of steps followed in all investigations	Clearly, there are other ways that scientists perform investigations such as observing natural phenomena. Most often, descriptive and correlational research methodologies are employed to gather data in this field. Students need to develop not only an understanding of the variety of research methodologies employed both across and within the domains of science, but that, in general, "scientist[s] use different kinds of investigations depending on the questions they are trying to answer" (NRC 2000, p. 20)
All scientists performing the same procedures may not get the same results	Students need to understand that "scientific data does not stand by itself, but can be variously interpreted" (Osborne et al. 2003, p. 708). As such, scientists who ask similar questions and follow similar procedures may reach different conclusions, owing in part to their theoretical commitments; what scientists consider as evidence and how they handle anomalous data also influence the results of a scientific investigation. Because of this, scientists who examine the same data may justifiably come to different conclusions
Inquiry procedures can influence results	The procedure selected for a scientific investigation invariably influences its outcome. The operationalization of variables, the methods of data collection, and how variables will be measured and analyzed all influence the conclusions reached by the researcher
Research conclusions must be consistent with the data collected	Each research conclusion must be supported by evidence. Students need to understand that the strength of a scientist's claim is a function of the preponderance of evidence that supports it. The validity of the claims is further strengthened by the alignment of the research method with the research question. It follows as well then that claims must be reflected in the data collected which are analyzed to provide the evidence for said claims. Scientific knowledge is empirically based; thus, any explanations for the phenomena explored in investigations are anchored by the data that facilitates scientists' development of those explanations
Inquiry procedures are guided by the question asked	While scientists may design different procedures to answer the same question, these invariably need to be capable of answering the question proposed. Similar to the aforementioned aspect of SI, students need to understand the necessity of this alignment between research question and method; in that the former drives and ultimately determines the latter. In general, students should understand that the question determines the approach, with the approaches differing both within and between scientific disciplines and fields (Lederman et al. 2012)
Scientific data are not the same as scientific evidence	Data and evidence serve different purposes in a scientific investigation. Data are observations gathered by the scientist during the course of the investigation, and they can take various forms (e.g., numbers, descriptions, photographs, audio, physical samples, etc.). Evidence, by contrast, is a product of data analysis procedures and subsequent interpretation and is directly tied to a specific question and a related claim

 Table 1 Eight aspects of scientific inquiry

(continued)

Explanations are	Investigations are guided by current knowledge. Conclusions, while
developed from a	derived from empirical data, are additionally informed by previous
combination of	investigations and accepted scientific knowledge. Scientists need to
collected data and	recognize when conclusions differ from accepted scientific knowledge
what is already	and determine how findings must be interpreted given what is already
known	understood

Table 1 (continued)

 Table 2
 The worldwide average of findings for each aspect of SI

Aspect	Naïve %	Mixed %
1. Starts with a question	43.9	29.9
2. Multiple methods	54.4	33.8
3. Same procedures may not yield same results	54.0	25.5
4. Procedures influence results	40.7	33.1
5. Conclusions must be consistent with data collected	39.7	20.6
6. Procedures are guided by the question asked	44.8	20.1
7. Data and evidence are not the same	48.5	32.1
8. Conclusions are developed from data and prior knowledge	41.3	37.9

## Conclusions

Overwhelmingly, the results from this study show that students around the world have an overall inadequate understanding of scientific inquiry, although there were instances in which students in a country did better than "naïve" on a particular aspect of SI. This is consistent with the few studies (i.e., because a valid and reliable instrument was not available) that have been done with secondary students and preservice and in-service teachers (Lederman and Lederman 2004; Schwartz et al. 2008). Given the 18 independent samples from each of the countries/regions, it would be inappropriate to make blanket inferences about why these results were found. Obviously, there are numerous reasons for these results due to the obvious differences in teaching, curriculum, standards, and cultures of the various countries/ regions involved in this study. However, there are some common themes gleaned from the context-specific information received from each of the research cites. These themes are (1) lack of standards specifying understandings about SI, (2) teaching that does not make understandings about SI explicit, (3) science teaching that emphasizes only the doing of science, and (4) teaching that does not emphasize an inquiry approach. In some cases students rarely, if ever, have the opportunity to actually conduct scientific investigations. It is clear that no matter where students live worldwide, that understandings of inquiry are not cultivated. Again, it is important to note that no statistical comparisons were made among the countries as the purpose here was just to get a baseline of beginning middle school students' understandings. Statistical comparisons across countries would be inappropriate because of the previously noted differences that exist with respect to curriculum, teaching

1. Starts with a question (%)		2. Mu metho	ltiple ods (%	)	3. Same procedures may not yield same results (%)			4. Procedures influence results (%)					
Country/													
region	n	N	M	Ι	N	M	Ι	N	M	I	N	M	I
Australia	108	25.0	40.0	30.0	16.0	66.0	4.0	39.0	48.0	9.0	9.0	71.0	5.0
Brazil	169	83.2	11.2	0.6	74.3	10.9	0.6	82.8	9.5	0.0	81.1	6.5	0.6
Chile	142	53.5	35.2	8.5	75.4	24.6	0.0	63.4	28.2	2.8	39.4	50.7	3.5
China Beijing	166	31.3	56.0	10.8	33.1	51.8	3.0	57.8	31.3	8.4	22.3	59.0	15.7
China Shanghai	106	56.3	19.4	23.3	91.8	8.3	0.0	57.8	38.8	2.4	53.4	37.9	3.9
China Zhejiang	106	33.0	4.7	59.4	29.2	70.8	0.0	50.0	11.3	33.0	36.8	22.6	32.1
Egypt	109	30.0	55.0	14.0	50.0	47.0	1.0	51.0	23.0	23.0	47.0	30.0	18.0
England	103	39.8	35.0	20.4	56.3	26.2	10.7	58.3	19.4	11.7	22.3	46.6	5.8
Finland	149	38.3	26.8	26.2	58.2	28.4	6.5	21.5	54.4	18.1	26.8	44.3	16.1
France	109	41.0	41.0	7.0	79.0	19.0	2.0	47.0	38.0	3.0	53.0	27.0	3.0
Germany	96	41.7	28.1	26.0	20.8	64.6	13.5	62.5	20.8	15.6	39.6	31.3	25.0
Israel	92	44.2	30.4	23.2	47.8	27.5	15.9	46.4	20.7	17.8	45.7	15.6	22.5
New Zealand	87	37.9	27.6	26.4	63.2	33.3	3.4	71.3	25.3	2.3	64.4	29.9	3.4
Nigeria	102	57.8	40.2	2.0	68.6	23.5	2.0	77.5	13.7	5.9	24.5	10.8	54.9
South Africa	106	21.0	31.0	48.0	32.0	42.0	23.0	57.0	13.0	26.0	24.0	33.0	39.0
Spain	159	65.4	17.6	12.6	83.6	15.7	0.0	68.6	11.3	16.4	62.9	27.7	4.4
Sweden	126	30.2	17.5	29.4	30.2	32.5	20.6	30.2	35.7	19.8	31.0	21.4	21.4
Taiwan	167	27.5	38.9	20.4	37.1	44.3	9.0	12.0	32.3	49.7	15.0	52.1	25.1
Turkey	268	70.2	18.7	8.6	67.2	29.1	3.0	63.8	23.5	7.5	59.7	23.9	6.0
United States	164	50.6	23.2	17.7	74.4	11.6	1.2	62.8	12.2	7.3	56.7	20.1	12.8

Table 3 Complete set of data from each country/region for each aspect of SI

Note: N naive, M mixed, I informed

approach, and cultures across the 18 countries/regions included in this investigation. As mentioned previously, the sample is really a composite of 18 separate samples, and it would be really inappropriate and unfair to compare one country's performance against other countries. It is important to note that despite all of the possible differences across countries/regions with respect to curriculum, teaching approach, and cultures, the results are quite consistent with respect to students' lack of understanding about inquiry and there seem to be some clearly common themes to explain the results.

Completion of elementary school is about half way through a student's schooling, and the data collected in this study indicate that most students hold a naïve view of most of the aspects of SI in seventh grade. These findings are not surprising as a cross-sectional study conducted in the United States found that students' under-

	5. Conclusions must be consistent with data C. (%)			6. Procedure is guided by the question asked (%)			7. Data and evidence are not the same (%)			8. Conclusions are developed from data and prior knowledge (%)			
Country/ region	n	N	м	I	N	м	I	N	М	I	N	М	I
Australia	108	24.0	21.0	52.0	23.0	20.0	51.0	15.0	74.0	3.0	16.0	58.0	8.0
Brazil	169	68.0	17.1	0.6	74.5	6.5	1.8	75.7	4.7	0.6	66.3	8.3	0.0
Chile	142	55.6	16.9	26.1	67.6	23.2	2.8	58.5	33.8	1.4	56.3	40.8	0.7
China Beijing	166	16.9	46.4	36.7	13.9	26.5	57.2	43.4	52.4	3.6	12.0	81.9	4.8
China Shanghai	106	60.7	5.8	29.6	53.4	19.4	22.3	90.3	7.8	0.0	65.5	31.6	0.0
China Zhejiang	106	29.3	23.6	41.5	30.2	7.5	60.4	30.2	64.1	0.0	0.9	45.3	50.0
Egypt	109	50.0	13.0	34.0	57.0	29.0	10.0	55.0	37.0	5.0	16.0	73.0	7.0
England	103	35.0	26.2	24.3	38.8	8.7	36.9	35.0	25.2	22.3	24.3	48.5	1.9
Finland	149	40.9	15.4	40.3	50.3	8.1	29.5	26.2	22.1	47.0	18.5	42.5	25.2
France	109	48.0	23.0	16.0	24.0	54.0	7.0	42.0	46.0	6.0	72.0	8.0	1.0
Germany	96	28.1	19.8	52.1	34.4	16.7	47.9	45.8	26.0	9.4	8.3	47.9	39.6
Israel	92	24.3	21.7	44.2	17.0	30.4	44.9	39.5	35.5	17.6	46.0	30.1	15.2
New Zealand	87	42.5	34.5	16.1	48.3	24.1	25.3	39.1	41.4	14.9	78.2	19.5	1.1
Nigeria	102	42.2	28.4	27.5	61.8	22.6	12.8	26.5	34.3	36.3	60.8	28.4	4.9
South Africa	106	33.0	17.0	48.0	53.0	15.0	30.0	51.0	20.0	18.0	14.0	67.0	17.0
Spain	159	47.8	10.7	37.7	54.1	8.8	32.1	78.0	17.0	0.6	73.6	23.3	0.0
Sweden	126	30.2	11.1	28.6	42.9	3.2	27.8	55.6	14.3	2.4	36.5	20.6	8.7
Taiwan	167	24.5	22.8	49.7	15.6	50.3	30.5	30.5	44.9	11.4	41.9	34.7	15.0
Turkey	268	54.5	17.5	26.5	72.8	10.1	9.3	60.5	29.1	6.0	48.5	32.8	13.8
United States	164	37.8	20.1	34.1	63.4	17.7	10.4	72.0	11.6	3.7	70.7	16.5	3.0

Table 4 Complete set of data from each country/region for each aspect of SI

Note: N naive, M mixed, I informed

standings of SI do not increase between grades one to five and in the case of some aspects, their understandings decrease through elementary school (Bartels and Lederman 2017). Some may argue that the students in this investigation will have plenty of time to improve their understandings and are not that poor considering that students have just completed elementary school. However, previous studies have found that very young children (grade one and above) are able to adequately understand several aspects of scientific inquiry, science begins with a question, there is no single scientific method, and conclusions are based on data gathered and what is already known (Lederman 2012). Another study looked at grade one students' understandings of SI who came from very different cultural backgrounds; this study found that after explicit and reflective science instruction, grade one students could

understand aspects of SI regardless of their initial SI understandings (Lederman et al. 2013). Students should, at the very least, have informed views of at least some of the aforementioned aspects by grade seven. The interpretation of the results could rightfully be viewed as a conflict between having a perspective of a glass half full versus a glass half empty. Whether these results are viewed negatively or positively will ultimately be decided by how each country/region views the developmental level of their students and future studies on what students know when they exit high school, a study that we are just completing with 25 countries/regions.

Again, an important caveat, other than avoiding the temptation of comparing countries/regions, is that the primary goal of this investigation was to establish an initial baseline of what students understand about scientific inquiry. Understandings of scientific inquiry is a highly prized goal of science education throughout the world, and it is a significant component of scientific literacy (Roberts 2008). It is quite possible that not all countries/regions will care equally about each of the eight aspects of SI investigated here. Consequently, they may not be concerned that their students do not know these aspects of SI. However, this investigation provides data on some aspects that are assuredly of concern and importance to certain countries/regions, and the results can lead to changes in curricula, science teaching, and policy decisions at the local, state/provincial, and national policy decisions in science education.

## **Implications for Future Research**

Currently, the 18 countries/regions involved in this investigation, along with an additional 7 countries/regions, are looking at graduating high school students' understandings of SI. This will provide information about how, and if, students' understandings of SI become more sophisticated as they proceed through middle and high school. It will also help decide what levels of understanding are appropriate to expect of students at the beginning of seventh grade. The final piece of students' trajectories of SI understandings can be completed by assessing elementary students' understandings of SI earlier in elementary school. The results from all three of these studies combined will elucidate a full progression of students' SI understandings from beginning elementary school to the completion of high school around the world. As mentioned earlier, some may argue that doing scientific inquiry is of ultimate importance (Duschl and Grandy 2013), and doing of inquiry will necessarily lead to understanding about inquiry. This implicit development of knowledge about inquiry is not supported by any existing research. More importantly, we argue that understandings about scientific inquiry are a necessary and critical component to the achievement of scientific literacy. The general citizenry needs to make informed decisions about scientifically based personal and societal decisions, and these decisions are based on their knowledge about how scientific knowledge is developed (i.e., scientific inquiry).

## References

- Abd-El-Khalick, F., & Lederman, N. G. (2000). The influence of history of science courses on students' views of nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 37(10), 1057–1095. https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-2736(200012)37:10<1057::AID-TEA3>3.0.CO;2-C.
- Akerson, V. L., Abd-El-Khalick, F., & Lederman, N. G. (2000). Influence of a reflective explicit activity-based approach on elementary teachers' conceptions of nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 37(4), 295–317. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (SICI)1098-2736(200004)37:4<295::AID-TEA2>3.0.CO;2-2.
- American Association for the Advancement of Science. (1993). *Benchmarks for science literacy*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Australian Curriculum and Reporting Authority (ACARA). (2015). *Australian curriculum: Science F-10*. Sydney: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Bartels, S. L., & Lederman, J. S. (2017, April). A cross-sectional study of elementary students' understandings of nature of science and scientific inquiry. A paper presented at the annual meeting of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching conference, San Antonio, TX, USA.
- Brazil. (1998). Ministério da Educação e Cultura. Parâmetros Curriculares Nacionais para o Ensino de Ciências. Brasília: MEC.
- Duschl, R. A., & Grandy, R. (2013). Two views about explicitly teaching nature of science. *Science & Education*, 22(9), 2109–2139. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-012-9539-4.
- Grisay, A. (2003). Translation procedures in OECD/PISA 2000 international assessment. Language Testing, 20(2), 225–240. https://doi.org/10.1191/0265532203lt254oa.
- Guillemin, F., Bombardier, C., & Beaton, D. (1993). Cross-cultural adaptation of health-related quality of life measures: literature review and proposed guidelines. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 46(12), 1417–1432.
- Hambleton, R. K. (2002). Adapting achievement tests into multiple languages for international assessments. In A. C. Porter & A. Gamoran (Eds.), *Methodological advances in cross national surveys of educational achievement*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Hambleton, R. K., & Patsula, L. (1998). Adapting tests for use in multiple languages and cultures. Social Indicators Research, 45(1–3), 153–171. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006941729637.
- Hammer, D., & Elby, A. (2009). Tapping epistemological resources for learning physics. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 12(1), 53–90. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327809JLS1201_3.
- Hammer, D., Elby, A., Scherr, R. E., & Redish, E. F. (2005). Resources, framing, and transfer. In J. P. Maestre (Ed.), *Transfer of learning from a modern multidisciplinary perspective* (pp. 89–119). Greenwich: Information Age Publishing.
- Lederman, N. G. (2010). A powerful way to learn. Science and Children, 48(1), 8-9.
- Lederman, J. S. (2012, March). *Development of a valid and reliable protocol for the assessment of early childhood students' conceptions of nature of science and scientific inquiry*. A paper presented at the annual meeting of the National Association of Research in Science Teaching, Indianapolis, IN, USA.
- Lederman, N. G., & Lederman, J. S. (2004). Project ICAN: A professional development project to promote teachers' and students' knowledge of nature of science and scientific enquiry. In *Proceedings of the 11th Annual SAARMSTE Conference*. Cape Town, South Africa.
- Lederman, N. G., Abd-El-Khalick, F., Bell, R. L., & Schwartz, R. S. (2002). Views of nature of science questionnaire: Toward valid and meaningful assessment of learners' conceptions of nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 39(2), 497–521. https://doi.org/10.1002/ tea.10034.
- Lederman, N. G., Antink, A., & Bartos, S. (2012). Nature of science, scientific inquiry, and socioscientific issues arising from genetics: A pathway to developing a scientifically literate citizenry. *Science & Education*, 23(2), 285–302. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-012-9503-3.
- Lederman, J. S., Bartels, S. L., Liu, C., & Jimenez, J. (2013). Teaching nature of science and scientific inquiry to diverse classes of early primary level students. A paper presented at the

annual conference for the National Association of Research in Science Teaching, San Juan, Puerto Rico.

- Lederman, J. S., Lederman, N. G., Bartos, S. A., Bartels, S. L., Meyer, A. A., & Schwartz, R. S. (2014). Meaningful assessment of learners' understandings about scientific inquiry – The views about scientific inquiry (VASI) questionnaire. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 51(1), 65–83. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21125.
- Maneersriwongul, W., & Dixon, J. K. (2004). Instrument translation process: A methods review. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 48(2), 175–186.
- Ministry of Education, Pedagogical Secretariat. (2018). Up-dated curriculum for science and technology in secondary school in Israel (in Hebrew). http://cms.education.gov.il/EducationCMS/ Units/Mazkirut_Pedagogit/MadaTechnologya/tochnitLimudim/hatab+tl.htm. Accessed 20 Dec 2018.
- National Research Council [NRC]. (2000). *Inquiry and the national science education standards*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- National Research Council [NRC]. (2011). A framework for K-12 science education: Practices, crosscutting concepts, and core ideas. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- NGSS Lead States. (2013). *Next generation science standards: For states, by states.* Washington, DC: National Academies Press. www.nextgenscience.org/next-generation-science-standards. Accessed 20 Dec 2018.
- Organization for Economic and Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2017). PISA 2015 technical report. Paris: OECD Publishing. http://www.oecd.org/pisa/sitedocument/PISA-2015-Technical-Report-Chapter-5-Translation.pdf. Accessed 20 Dec 2018.
- Osborne, J., Collins, S., Ratcliffe, M., Millar, R., & Duschl, R. (2003). What "ideas-about science" should be taught in school science? A Delphi study of the expert community. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 40(7), 692–720. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.10105.
- Roberts, D. A. (2008). Scientific literacy/science literacy. In S. K. Abell & N. G. Lederman (Eds.), Handbook of research on science education (pp. 729–780). Mahwah: Routledge.
- Schwartz, R. S., Lederman, N. G., Khishfe, R., Lederman, J. S., Matthews, L., & Liu, S. (2002). *Explicit/reflective instructional attention to nature of science and scientific inquiry: Impact on student learning*. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the 2002 annual international conference of the Association for the Education of Teachers in Science, Charlotte, NC, USA.
- Schwartz, R. S., Lederman, N. G., & Crawford, B. A. (2004). Developing views of nature of science in an authentic context: An explicit approach to bridging the gap between nature of science and science inquiry. *Science Education*, 88, 610–645. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.10128.
- Schwartz, R. S., Lederman, N. G., & Lederman, J. S. (2008, March). An instrument to assess views of scientific inquiry: The VOSI questionnaire. Paper presented at the international conference of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching. Baltimore, MD, USA.
- Wong, S. L., & Hodson, D. (2009). From the horse's mouth: What scientists say about scientific investigation and scientific knowledge. *Science Education*, 93(1), 109–130. https://doi. org/10.1002/sce.20290.
- Wong, S. L., & Hodson, D. (2010). More from the horse's mouth: What scientists say about science as a social practice. *International Journal of Science Education*, 32(11), 1431–1463. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500690903104465.

# Part III Learning Progressions and Competences

## Frantic Standstill and Lack of Future: How Can Science Education Take Care of Students' Distopic Perceptions of Time?



Giulia Tasquier 💿, Laura Branchetti 💿, and Olivia Levrini 💿

## Introduction

Among all the changes that the new generations have to face, one appears, in our opinion, particularly worrying: the relationship of youngsters with time. In this "society of acceleration and of uncertainty" (Rosa 2013), the younger generations are faced with an unpredictable future, a past that fails to provide clues to interpret the present and a frantic present completely oriented toward seizing the moment, sniffing out every opportunity and keeping open all possible scenarios. Sociologists have said the present is becoming "the dust of moving splinters" (Leccardi 2009), or "ashes blowing in the air", as the rapper Eminem sings in his 2017 hit Nowhere fast. As a result, the young are widely experiencing an alarming loss of sense and hope, as well as a new form of nihilism that leads them to live the present as though it were the only dimension that matters (Benasayag and Schmit 2006). To describe this fragmented and meaningless perception of the present, the sociologist Hartmut Rosa reports how one century ago Walter Benjamin stressed the distinction between two German words that could be used to talk about episodes of present: Erlebnissen and *Erfahrungen*. Erlebnissen are episodes of mere experience. When we live them, they seem never-ending and leave no trace in the memory. Because of this feature, Rosa calls them *long-short* experiences. Erfahrungen are instead experiences that leave a mark and contribute to building our identity. When we live them, they seem to pass very quickly but leave a trace in the memory. Rose calls them *short-long* 

G. Tasquier (⊠) · O. Levrini

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Department of Physics and Astronomy, Alma Mater Studiorum, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy e-mail: giulia.tasquier2@unibo.it; olivia.levrini2@unibo.it

L. Branchetti

Department of Mathematics, Physics and Computer Science, University of Parma, Parma, Italy

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_13

experiences. A century ago, Benjamin complained with some concern that we were approaching an era rich in Erlebnissen and poor in Erfahrungen. Rosa stresses that today we are experiencing a world of *short-short* episodes (Rosa 2013): a frantic standstill that is at the base of what he calls "alienation from time".

These aspects challenge sociologists, policy-makers, psychologists, entrepreneurs and societal stakeholders in general, since this suffering of the young with time touches the heart and future of our societies. In particular, they interest the experts in Future Studies, a research field that investigates future as a factor influencing human perceptions and emotions and, in particular, planning and actions in the present.

We decided to give our contribution to this research field from the perspective of science education, starting from the observation that future is part of the epistemological structure of science and physics in particular can provide concepts and causal structures to push imagination toward the future.

In this paper, we focus on a module on climate change that we designed and implemented, centred on causal modelling in complex systems (Barelli et al. 2018; Tasquier et al. 2016; Tasquier and Pongiglione 2017) and enriched with activities on project planning, grounded in Goal Oriented Project Planning (GOPP) and Logical Framework Approach (LFA) (Levrini et al. under review; Venturelli 2015). As we will explain in more detail, LFA and GOPP methodology are used as tools to flesh out the inner causal structure of scientific discourse on climate change and to explore the implications on the future of mitigation and adaptation actions.

The draft version of this module was trialled in a first pilot study in 2015 (Levrini et al. 2018) where we assumed the spread of both a fragmented perception of the present and a dystopic view of future. The analysis of what happened in the pilot study, as well as testing the hypothesis, allowed us to refine our implementation and repeat the experience in order to further investigate two focal points:

Can science teaching offer students the tools to escape the feeling of: i) a frenetic and fragmented present perceived as "dust of moving splinters"; and ii) a future perceived as a threat or as non-existent?

The paper is structured as follows: we first offer a brief overview of the literature about studies on the future; then we describe the module and the main results we achieved in the pilot study. Such a background will allow us to illustrate the secondround implementation of the same module (the original study for this paper). We will hence present this study, in terms of its context, aims, methods and results.

#### **Futures Studies, Science and Science Education**

A complex interdisciplinary field, named Futures Studies, was established after the second world war and has been investigating the issue of building the future from a wide perspective. The Future Studies community involves sociologists and philosophers, as well as STEM, economics, politics and entrepreneurship professionals. One of the main points stressed by Futures Studies experts is that *futures are not only matters of making predictions* but also ways to *open possibilities*, highlighting



**Fig. 1** The Futures cone of the Erasmus+ project I SEE "Inclusive STEM Education to Enhance the capacity to aspire and to imagine future careers" (The I SEE project (https://iseeproject.eu) is co-funded by the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union. Grant Agreement n°2016–1-IT02-KA201-024373) (reelaboration from the Voros' cone – Voros 2003)

above all the necessity to move from one future, determined and independent on our actions and desires, to several possible futures. Within this perspective, different kinds of futures have been introduced: *possible, plausible, probable* and *preferable (or desirable).* The relationship between them is often represented with a "futures cone" (Fig. 1), which shows a progressive widening from the probable to all the possible future scenarios.

Whilst plausible and probable futures are largely concerned with informational or cognitive knowledge, preferable futures are more emotional than cognitive since they are concerned with what people want to happen. To think in terms of preferable futures, people firstly need to agree to project themselves into the future accompanied by their current values and desires, their identities, their competences and their cultural points of view and to imagine a future scenario in which they would like to live. The ability to detach from the current situation and imagine possible preferable scenarios is the basis of the approach to futures imagination named *foresight* or *anticipation*. This approach includes back-casting activities to return to the present with the aim to design possible actions that can foster the achievement of the preferable/desirable scenario.

Fostering foresight and anticipation, as well as forecast, seems to be of extreme relevance in education, and schools, teachers and students are considered target groups for Futures Studies research. In science education new trends centred on the future can be observed; however, there are still only few studies reported. An example is the last special issue of the journal *Visions for Sustainability* (http://www.ojs. unito.it/index.php/visions) that brings together a selection of international contributions that explicitly deal with vision for the future. The issue includes approaches where STEM education stretches itself outside of its traditional bounds and acknowledges students' fraught relationship with the future and with science and technology. Another example is the interesting experience that comes from Australia, where future has been an established aspect of curriculum and pedagogy since the 1960s. In this context, Paige and Lloyd (2016) developed an educational approach based on

the assumption that integrating a futures dimension into science learning would enable students to develop a broader future-oriented perspective able to impact on many aspects of their lives; they stress merely the necessity to identify and envision alternative futures that are more socially and environmentally fair and sustainable.

We share with them the general perspective, but we try more explicitly to exploit science itself as a source of knowledge that can be turned into what we call "future-scaffolding skills", i.e. abilities to construct visions of the future that support possible ways of acting in the present with one's eye on the horizon (Levrini et al. under review; Branchetti et al. 2018).

However, the relationship between present and future is not the same in all the physical theories. To make physics productive in helping to manage irrational fear of the unknown, without removing the capacity to think about future as a realm of possibility, it is necessary to introduce concepts of complex systems, like *space of possibilities, future scenarios* and *projection* instead of *deterministic prediction, feedback* and *circular causality.* 

Our notion of "future-scaffolding skills" includes the skills developed to grasp such concepts, but also transversal skills, which the labour market requires and that can support students in pushing their imagination toward the future, such as *strategic thinking* and *planning*, *risk taking*, *possibilities thinking*, *managing uncertainty*, *creative thinking*, *modelling and argumentation*.

#### The Module

The objective of developing future-scaffolding skills has oriented the design of a series of studies that our research group has been carrying out since 2015, aimed at designing innovative approaches and teaching modules to foster secondary school students' capacities to imagine the future and aspire to STEM careers. It is one of the key goals of the Erasmus plus project I SEE "Inclusive STEM Education to Enhance the capacity to aspire and to imagine future careers", which started in September 2016 (www.iseeproject.eu).

In order to concretely address our overarching goals, the first module we designed concerns climate change because of two main elements pertaining to this topic: (i) connections to fundamental and important scientific contents and scientific practices (patterns of reasoning, arguing, explaining) and (ii) *future relevance*, in the sense that it represents a significant societal challenge widely debated also for its implications on the future. Other topics on which we built similar modules within the I SEE project are quantum computing and artificial intelligence (Branchetti et al. 2018).

The module design was carried out according to the following principles:

- Making the scientific temporal patterns and causal models explicit, by introducing and discussing basic concepts of complex systems (Levrini et al. 2018; Tasquier et al. 2016); from an operational point of view, this implies the design of teaching activities aimed at developing special skills: skills helpful for distinguishing between linear and circular causality, within scientific texts, recognizing the nature of the causal links and individuating possible feedback loops that can be found starting from a text.

- Integrating the societal and vocational dimensions (Stuckey et al. 2013) with the conceptual and epistemological ones in science teaching; this implies, operationally, the design of teaching activities aimed at developing special transversal skills: skills helpful for mapping the complexity of the present into a comprehensive picture and engaging with the future significance of the issue.
- Making the learning of science relevant from a personal perspective (Kapon et al. 2018; Levrini et al. 2015, 2018; Stuckey et al. 2013); this operationally implies the enrichment of science teaching with activities aimed at developing personal engagement, creativity as well as foresight and anticipatory attitude and encouraging students to take the agency for their future.

In accordance with the set of principles, the module was set out into three parts (Fig. 2) and its design and/or implementation involved professional scientists in climate change (RR, SD, AB), experts in European project planning (MR, AM), experts in physics and mathematics education (OL, GT, LB), Master's students in physics education (IV, EB) and a secondary school teacher (PF).

In the first part of the module, students are introduced to the topic of climate change through a general introduction to climate models and issues at the centre of scientific controversies, such as the anthropogenic causes of climate. Students are shown the abnormal temperature trend over the last 150 years and some consequences of this – such as melting glaciers, rising sea levels, and increased frequency of extreme phenomena (river flooding, drought, heat waves and so on) – and guided to recognize positive and negative feedback loops. During the following lab session, a simplified situation is reproduced in order to build a greenhouse model able to explain how and why a change in the make-up of the atmosphere could produce a change in the average of the Earth system temperature; the model is discussed in terms of energy balancing. This experiment serves to introduce a phenomenological relation between absorbance and temperature and discuss it in terms of temporal and causal structures, paying particular attention to the concept of feedback and circular causality. After that a special activity is implemented in order to help the



Fig. 2 The three-pronged structure of the module

students distinguish between linear and circular causality, within the scientific texts, recognizing the nature of the causal links and individuating possible feedback loops that can be found starting from the text. The activity consists of reading the "Biodiesel Story", a text on the focal problem of use and production of biofuel, and some tasks that guide toward the construction of a cause-effect map. Students are required to read the text, identify the problems within the text, organize and hierarchize them, find the cause-effect links among them, draw the map by making explicit the reasoning beyond the arrows that connect the problems and search for crucial points in which it is possible to identify or create feedback loops.

The second part of the module focuses on activity aimed at developing skills for analysing the present situation. In this session, the students are introduced to GOPP and LFA, a project planning method widely used within the European Commission (https://ec.europa.eu/europeaid/sites/devco/files/methodology-aid-delivery-methods-project-cycle-management-200403_en_2.pdf). This method foresees, as the first stage of project design, an analysis of documents intended to build the "state of art": the construction of problem and the objective trees. We prepared different texts of increasing complexity, with the last being a synthesis of the IPCC report on climate change. The entire document is rather long since we wished to include the many dimensions of climate change (scientific, technological, political, social, urbanistic, educational and so on) and encourage each student to find the type of problems that could resonate with their own intellectual, political or emotive views. The students are asked to analyse the document and build a map, by pointing out the problems and their causal relations (the problem tree). After construction of the problem tree, the module sets out that the students be guided in turning it into an objectives tree. In Figs. 3 and 4, we report a simple excerpt of the document and its analysis in terms of a problem tree and, hence, its transformation into an objective tree.

In the third part, the students are asked to work in groups of four or five and choose a specific focus (e.g. transportation, tourism, city planning, technological innovation) and to write a project as response to a call entitled "Rimini [their city], the ideal future city in which to live". The design of the project is guided by a typical template of European proposals, consisting of general and specific objectives, team description, stakeholders, expected results, Gantt chart and impact. In order to encourage the students to take agency of their future, develop foresight/anticipation and back-casting attitude, enhance creativity and feel personally engaged (our third set of design principles), the activity requires them to choose a part/dimension of the goal map wherein they wish to act (agency), think about a desirable scenario and an ambitious goal they hope to reach (foresight/anticipation), look for a creative idea that could characterize the project (creativity), build a working team by imagining possible professional roles for themselves in the project (entrepreneurs, lifeguards, architects, policy-makers, researchers, teachers and so on) (personal engagement and identity formation as future professionals) and articulate the project idea into a structure of specific objectives, strategies and time graph (agency through backcasting). To accomplish these activities, the students are requested to present their projects, which are evaluated by a committee of experts.



Fig. 3 Example of problem analysis activity: excerpt of a text to be analysed (*on the left*) and example of a problem tree (*on the right*)



**Fig. 4** Example of problem analysis activity: transformation of the problem tree (*on the left*) into an objective tree (*on the right*)

#### **Background: Context and Results of the Pilot Study**

The module was tested for the first time in a grade 12 class of the Scientific Lyceum A. Einstein in Rimini (Italy). The implementation consisted of 7 extracurricular sessions (3–4 h each), and the activities were designed for volunteer students of the class: 24 (15 females and 9 males) out of 25 students participated in the project. Such an implementation represents the pilot study of this research.

The main findings reveal a significant impact of the activities on students' perception of the present and the future (Venturelli 2015): the present from problematic became comprehensible and cognitively manageable and the future from far and unimaginable became conceivable as a set of possibilities.

Furthermore, the analysis of individual interviews showed that the activities *enlarged* students' horizons and, in such a wider picture, the future was perceived as *closer* and within their reach. Operationally, in the pilot study, we identified markers to help recognize nuances in students' descriptions of their sense of "widening the perspectives", and we discovered that widening (Wid) could refer to:

- The knowledge of the topic (of climate change and related aspects like migration, increase of vulnerability) (Wid1).
- New ways of thinking and looking at the problem (Wid2).
- The awareness and confidence in their own potential and their role of agents (Wid3).
- The range of possible actions (Wid4).

Thanks to this process of widening, the future was described as "closer" and more approachable (Ap), in several senses:

- Closer in time, in the sense that the year 2030, from far and unimaginable, became thinkable as a set of possibilities (Ap1).
- Closer to reality, in the sense that it became approachable through concrete actions in the present (Ap2).
- Closer to themselves, in the sense that the future became within their reach and they found ways to see themselves as agents of their own future (Ap3).

In light of these results, we planned a second round of implementation where we refined the tools for data collection in order to evaluate the robustness of the previous results and gather information about the activities that played a specific role in triggering processes of change.

## The Study: Context, Aims, Data Sources and Methods of Data Analysis

The second implementation of the module, which we discuss in this paper, was carried out at the Department of Physics and Astronomy of Bologna in June 2017. It involved a group of 39 students 17–18 years old (16 females and 23 males) from different high



Fig. 5 Students' level of performance in physics, mathematics and science at school. (On the x-axis, the distribution of students' marks is shown for each subject matter. Marks up to 5 indicate an insufficient level, 6 and 7 an adequate level, 8 and 9 a good level and 10 represents excellence)

schools. The context of implementation was a summer school within an Italian national project called PLS, which aims to guide students in their choice of university studies. The students came from different types of schools, Scientific Lyceum (28), Classical Lyceum (4) and Vocational School (7), as well as from different parts of the region: Bologna (12), Hamlets of Bologna (12), inland towns (5) and seaside towns (10). The group included students with different level of school performance in the scientific subject matters (physics, math, science), as it is shown in Fig. 5.

The summer school represented an extra-school activity in which students were selected on voluntary basis. The summer school lasted 5 days (6–8 h per day). Before, during and after the implementation, we collected the following data: written essays, questionnaires, audio and video recording of the activities, researchers' notes and students' projects.

The study is methodologically framed within the design-based research (Cobb et al. 2003; Plomp and Nieveen 2013) and is part of an iterative process of designing, testing and revising the modules, according to back-and-forth dynamics between theoretical hypotheses and empirical results. Consistently with the designbased research methodology, the study has an explicit theoretical orientation (Cobb et al. 2003; diSessa and Cobb 2004) that enriches the goal to design and realize good practices with the purpose of explaining why a classroom practice is more or less successful. Within this framework, two specific research questions oriented the data collection and analysis, one empirical and one theoretical:

- RQ1 What kind of effects did the module have on students' perception of time (both present and future)? Are such effects comparable/compatible with the empirical preliminary results we achieved in the pilot study?
- RQ2 What contribution does the study offer to the definition of future-scaffolding skills?

Tabl	le	1	Questions	from	the	post-c	juestionn	aire
------	----	---	-----------	------	-----	--------	-----------	------

Qa	Did the summer school give you the tools to face the present? If so, please explain in a few words in what way this is true
Qb	Did the summer school give you the tools to face the future? If so, please explain in a few

In order to answer the RQ1, we used the same pretest/post-test approach as in the pilot study. In particular we applied the same tool to collect data about students' perceptions of the future before teaching and a comparable final questionnaire. The pretest was a written essay where students were required to "Imagine yourself on a spring day in 2030 and imagine how the phenomenon of global warming may have changed the environment around you and the place where you think you will live". In the final questionnaire, we included two questions, general enough to leave the students free to answer as they wished, but also focused enough on the perceptions of present and future to check the results of the pilot study and to confirm/discuss them (Table 1).

The other data we collected (audio and video recordings of all the meetings and group work; the projects designed by the students; notes of researchers) have been used to triangulate the analysis of the pretest/post-tests and to monitor the overall process.

To answer RQ1, the data have been analysed through a semi-qualitative methodology of data analysis (Anfara et al. 2002) targeted at building a synthetic picture of what happened in this context that was comparable with the pilot study (Levrini et al. under review; Venturelli 2015). To guarantee the reliability of results, every stage of data analysis was triangulated among researchers; as in the pilot study, to evaluate the results' relevance in a broader sense, the data and the results have been tested against results from the research literature. Particularly, we compared our results with the Eurobarometer (2015), which presented a qualitative survey illustrating the general perceptions of scientific and technological innovations and spontaneous projections regarding tomorrow's society, as well as possible scenarios shaping the future. As we will show during the analysis, we used the perceptions and scenarios that emerged from the qualitative survey of Eurobarometer to triangulate what emerged from our analysis.

In order to answer the second research question (RQ2), we looked at the data through a qualitative lens designed to recognize eventual patterns of "scaffolding signals". We applied the researchers' triangulation, practice reflexivity as well as member-checking (with all the participants of the study, i.e. teachers, students, and researchers) (Anfara et al. 2002), to highlight not only what happens in a specific teaching/learning experience but also to search for an interpretation of why, when and how it happened (Cobb et al. 2003).

## Results

#### Students' Initial View

Since the goal was to make the results comparable with the pilot study, we analysed the initial essays with the same criteria used in the pilot and built the same graphs (Levrini et al. 2018). In order to check whether students' reactions on the future were comparable with the reactions we encountered in the pilot study, we analysed the written essays in two ways: first we carried out top-down analysis by applying both the categories we obtained from the analysis of the pilot study and the Eurobarometer results; then, we carried out a bottom-up analysis by posing the same leading questions we used for the pilot study to check out the coding and, if necessary, to revise it.

The first thing we analysed was how many students perceived changes in the future: 87% of students described their future by highlighting changes with respect to the present. Out of the remaining 13%, 3% drew pictures similar to the present, and the others were not able to imagine or describe a future scenario. This distribution shows, like in the Eurobarometer (2015), the presence of students who are not able to imagine the world differently. In our pilot study, this fraction was almost one third.

In Fig. 6 we report the dimensions of change that the students who perceived a future different from the present used to describe their scenario in the essays. A bottom-up process of analysis led us to recognize the same dimensions that the students used for describing 2030 scenarios in the pilot phase: environmental (25), technological (30) and social (7) with a specificity about health (4) and political (2).

As for the environmental dimension, students highlighted changes in the surrounding environment mostly at a level of climatic consequences. Generally, a vision of revolutionary change is not prevailing, but there is intensification of aspects already traceable, like rising sea levels or floods or waves of drought and desertification (for the negative views), or like the mitigation of climate problems, thanks to a decisive emissions reduction and the extension of parks and green areas (for the positive views).



Fig. 6 Dimensions of change in the descriptions of students' 2030 scenarios

The political dimension is very infrequent in the essays. The two students who talked about it stressed: the importance of political and economic choices to govern climate changes and make this world more eco-friendly; worry about future demagogic policies, and the fear that people are not able to develop a critical consciousness.

The social dimension appears more frequently than the political aspect, but generally it is centred on the problem of how social media and new technologies can change human relationships. Within this dimension the problem of health was mentioned by four students. It was absent in our pilot study, whilst it is a relevant point in the Eurobarometer survey.

As in the pilot study, the technological dimension was definitely the most diversified and frequently mentioned by the students. Students' descriptions of 2030 range from science-fiction perspectives (5) to low-tech worlds (10), passing through scenarios where already-existing technologies are more widespread (14) or new technological innovations are produced (5) (Fig. 7).

This distribution highlights a well-known and substantial fact, stressed by the Eurobarometer and already pointed out in our pilot study: the ambivalent relationship of the young with technology, torn between desire for a life that increasingly benefits from technological developments and a sense of nostalgia toward an idealized low-tech past, especially as regards human relationships.

Another very well-known trend that is also confirmed by these data is the negative and pessimistic attitude toward the future, as well as the tendency to deny or delegate the problem to other people (scientists, innovators, policy-makers). Figure 8 shows students' attitudes toward the future where it emerged that, as in the pilot study, very few of them (5) described the future as a stimulating challenge that could allow humans to explore new social and political structures and to develop new technologies ("All these problems, however, will be opportunities to develop new technologies. If these problems can be exploited, scientists can make new discoveries and achieve great results"), whilst many (25) express fear and anxiety ("I fear that these policies that focus purely on economic profit and carelessness of environmental health could lead to terrible consequences"), and a significant number (11) delegates or trusts that someone else or human adaptability can address the



Fig. 7 Relation with technologies



Fig. 8 Students' attitudes toward the future

problems ("My family and I are aware that we cannot do much to improve this dramatic situation, as the big change should have already been implemented at the political level.").

To sum up, the analysis shows that the sample of this study has an initial view of the future that is comparable with the preliminary picture held by students involved in the pilot study (Levrini et al. 2018). This picture confirms the widespread negative and pessimistic feeling toward the future as well as the tendency to deny the problem and/or remove the future from their personal horizon. From a methodological point of view, this analysis allows us to state that the two samples were comparable for the initial picture of the future.

#### Students' Final Views

The final picture of students' views was constructed by analysing students' answers to the open-ended questions of the post-questionnaires reported in Table 1.

As we anticipated, in the pilot study, we surmised that some activities of the module contributed to enabling the students to address the perception of a fragmented present and to build a global comprehensible view. It seemed reasonable to guess that the activities on the maps played a crucial role in such a change, but we did not have data to support this claim. Hence, through the analysis of the answers to Qa, we checked *whether* students report *similar changes* in the perception of the present and, if so, *which activities* fostered the change.

From students' answers to Qa, an awareness emerged very often about the relevance of thinking about the present and that something happened in their perception: "the summer school taught me to be more effective and efficient in analysing problems [...] I understood that the analysis of the present is very important, above all as a basis for changing the future (S26)".



Fig. 9 Activities mentioned by the students

In their answers, 31 out of 39 students mentioned the activities on text analysis and map building as key sources of tools to deal with the present (see Fig. 9). We aggregate these markers, and we identified them as skills that help the students to face the present (noted as PS).

Students' answers were rich enough to allow us also to figure out what skills they believed to have acquired to face the present (Table 2). Some students stressed the feeling that they learnt to recognize and select important details and facts from a previously confused ocean of information (PS1). Others highlighted that they learnt to break down a big problem into smaller problems (PS2) and to organize and hierarchize them (PS3). Many students found relevant the way they learnt to organize the problems within a network of cause and consequences (PS4); other students stressed the importance of carrying out an accurate and deep analysis before making any decision and identifying solutions (PS5). Finally, others focused on the importance of distinguishing between problems, objectives and solutions (PS6). Table 2 shows the different aspects mentioned by the students with some descriptive categorizations for each of the aspects, whilst in Fig. 10 the distribution of the students (x-axis) over the different aspects (y-axis) is reported.

Several students stress more than one aspect, as the following examples show:

- The summer school taught me to analyse the problem by breaking it down into problems (**PS2**) and finding a cause-effect relationship (**PS4**) in order to organize these problems in a hierarchical way (**PS3**). (S20).
- At the beginning I had a lot of difficulty in finding solutions to problems that were difficult to identify (**PS1**). By comparing ideas with others and spending a lot of time on a problem to try to analyse it and break it down (**PS2**), in the end I managed to identify many problems and solutions (**PS6**). (S2).

(PS1) Selection or focus on pieces of information	The summer school taught me how to get a lot of different information from a text. Now I can pay more attention to the details that, before this experience, I took for granted or thought were not important. (S3)
(PS2) Breaking down a big problem into smaller problems	The summer school taught me to analyse the problem by breaking it down into problems []. (S20)
(PS3) Organize and/or hierarchize problems and information	Through the summer school I learned to analyse problems better, organizing them clearly in maps and hierarchizing them. [] (S22)
(PS4) See a problem in a network of causes and consequences connected to it	The summer school has provided me with a new way of seeing the same situation from different points of view in order to understand it better, to understand the various causes that compose it and the consequences it could have. (S7)
(PS5) Anticipate the analysis with respect to the solution	The summer school taught me how to start from the problems and analyse them in depth before arriving at the formulation of possible solutions. (S8)
(PS6) Distinguish between problems, objectives and solutions	Thanks to the summer school I developed a discrete process of analysing the problems of the present, in particular, analysing the initial problem and its "subproblems", then identify the general and specific objectives and finally identify possible solutions for the objectives. (S27)

Table 2 Skills that the students perceive they have learnt to face the present (PS)



**Fig. 10** Students' distribution along skills they have learnt to face the present (*x-axis*, the 39 students who participated in the summer school; *y-axis*, skills described in Table 2)

The first finding of our analysis is that these data confirm what we discovered in the pilot study, i.e. the activities revealed the potential to impact students' perception of the present. More than in the pilot study, it emerged that the activities encouraged

students to *consciously* develop special skills. We find it very interesting that all the skills they describe are *structural*, i.e. skills that serve to organize the impelling, fragmented and chaotic reality of present from selecting pieces of information among the indistinguishability of the background (PS1); to organize pieces of information into relations that can be hierarchical (PS2), causal (PS3) and temporal (PS4); and to distinguish logical codified structure of reasoning among them (PS6).

In order to check whether students' reactions on the future were comparable with the reactions we encountered in the pilot study, we analysed the answers to Qb (*Did the summer school give you the tools to face the future? If so, please explain in a few words in what way this is true*) in two ways: first we carried out top-down analysis by applying the markers we bootstrapped from the data of the first study and then we carried out a bottom-up analysis to check the validity of the markers for this study and if with these markers we reached a level of saturation. Figure 11 reports the results of the analysis. The graphic shows the high frequency of these markers in students' comments and the introduction of a new marker. In Table 3 we illustrate the markers by giving a refined definition as a result of the combined process of analysis, by reporting examples of how students directly describe the impact of the activities on their perception of future.

Both the frequency and the words used by the students confirm what we already observed in the pilot study but also add a new nuance in the markers of widening (Wid5) that we did not observe in the pilot study. We interpreted the emergence of this new pattern as the result of the introduction of the panel with experts within the module (see Fig. 2). Indeed, the panel was very appreciated by the students since it opened their imagination on research and technological areas and allowed them to see possible STEM-related professions that they did not know.

Concerning the issue of the impact of the activities on students' future-scaffolding skills development, some students highlighted that the activities on project design fostered the development of other skills, which we can call *dynamical* skills and that we identified transversally in the students' answers. We grouped them into five preliminary categories, to be clarified in future experiments. They appear *dynamical* since they refer to *back-and-forth processes* of (i) thinking big and thinking small,



Fig. 11 Frequency of the markers in students' words

(Wid1) widening in their knowledge of the topic (of climate change and related aspects like migration, increase of vulnerability)	The explanation of the CC problem has heightened my awareness of the threat it poses to humanity and the whole world. My awareness of the loss of biodiversity and the increase of extreme phenomena has increased, thus pushing me to think more about this problem and to discuss it at home, with friends and in various contexts to find solutions together (S22)
(Wid2) widening in the range of new ways of thinking, approaching and looking at the problem	The summer school has led me to think more widely about the future, that is, to take into consideration many different aspects; at the same time, it made me take a more narrow and focused view, that is, only to think of a small situation and analyse that, projected into the future. (S12) He made me understand that to discover new things, you have
	to take your feet off the ground and try not to limit your imagination. (S7)
(Wid3) widening in the awareness and confidence in the role of citizens and individuals	One goal that I think I have achieved this week is the ability to observe and understand the present and then be able to project into the future. This is also the basic message for acting as eco-sustainable citizens: There is no future without a present. The course further developed my awareness as a citizen, also pushing me to the dissemination of these themes. (S21)
	Surely thanks to this summer school I have understood how I can contribute to improve the environment around us and in the future, I will do my best to work in this area and improve living conditions. (S2)
(Wid4) widening in the range of possible actions, strategies and concrete solutions that can be undertaken	In the initial essay I had thought about how the world could become and not how I wanted it. After this summer school, I realized that if we continue to treat our world like that, it will only get worse, but at the same time I am more serene because I have seen that there are many things that are being done and that I did not imagine existed. (S12)
	The summer school has certainly made me discover new possibilities, new perspectives and new ways of intervening. (S23)
(Wid5) widening in the awareness and confidence toward research, technologies	Honestly, I feel more confident now that I have met several people working to fight the CC and now that I have seen some strategies in place to combat the phenomenon. (S18)
and experts in the field	Initially I was afraid there were no technologies and research ideas to change and influence the future, now I understand instead that they are present. (S26)
(Ap1) closer in time, in the sense that the year 2030, from far and unimaginable, became thinkable as a set of possibilities	The school certainly made me discover new possibilities, new perspectives and new ways of intervening. The world I had described in the initial essay was quite utopian and therefore I did not consider it feasible. But now I think we could approach this future and it can be achievable (S23)

 Table 3 Description of the markers by using examples of students' expressions

(continued)

(Ap2) closer to reality, in the sense that it became approachable through concrete actions in the present	I understood that the means to change the future are already present, we need to analyse a way to apply them and then change the future. I also understood that the change that must take place in the future to allow human survival is now extremely concrete. I believe the future is scientifically and technically more feasible and approachable (S26)
(Ap3) closer to themselves, in the sense that the future became within their reach and they found ways to see themselves as agents of their own future	Now I can imagine a more positive future than before. I consider it even more achievable because in these weeks I have gained more hope in the future. The creation of the project helped me to understand that thanks to our actions in the present the future can be better and, in this way, I have eradicated my fears (S24)

#### Table 3 (continued)

(ii) thinking in the present and thinking in the future, (iii) acting as an individual and as a society, (iv) imagining new possibilities and planning concrete actions and (v) desiring and keeping feet on the ground. We do not have enough data to check this hypothesis, but we believe it feasible that the activities enabling students to expand their horizons and perspectives (Wid1-Wid5) and sense the future as more approachable (Ap1-Ap3) and also have the potential to develop those specific dynamical skills. Vice versa, in the next implementation, we will make an effort to refine the activities to engage students more explicitly in these dynamics. Indeed, we consider the discovery of this type of skill a new result, particularly important for responding to our second research question: the study contributes to the definition and recognition of *future-scaffolding skills* by offering two new sets of skills that enable students "to construct visions of the future that support possible ways of acting in the present with one's eye on the horizon" (Levrini et al. 2018); these sets include structural skills needed to build comprehensive pictures of the present and dynamical skills needed to perceive the future actively and use it to widen the imagination and, contextually, make decisions in the present.

#### Conclusions

In this paper we reported the analysis of the second implementation of a module on climate change that we had designed to exploit science education as a context for the development of what we called future-scaffolding skills (Levrini et al. under review).

Data collection and analysis were carried out to answer two research questions, one more empirical and one more theoretical. The first question concerns the comparison of this study with the pilot study in order to check whether we can confirm and reinforce the empirical results achieved previously. The second question concerns the contribution that this study could offer in developing our definition of future-scaffolding skills.

The results confirm that most of the students' reactions observed in the pilot are recurrent and were observed also in the second study, so they seem not to be idiosyncratic of the first sample of students, but a consequence of the activities. Furthermore, they allow us to focus more and more effectively on the types of skills that the activities are potentially able to foster and that can be included in the future-scaffolding skills. In particular, we pointed out *structural skills* that have the potential to enable students to move from an image of present as "ashes blowing in the air" (Eminem) to a reality where important details and information are recognizable over an ocean of information (PS1); big problems are broken down into smaller problems (PS2), organized and hierarchized (PS3); problems are situated within a network of cause and consequences (PS4); an accurate and deep analysis is temporally precedent to any decision and solutions (PS5); and problems appear logically separated from objectives and solutions (PS6).

Then, we pointed out *dynamical skills* that seem potentially effective in overcoming the perception of frantic standstill and of going "Nowhere fast" (Eminem). They are abilities to move back and forth between (i) thinking big and thinking small, (ii) thinking in the present and thinking in the future, (iii) acting as an individual and as a society, (iv) imagining and planning concrete actions and (v) desiring and keeping feet on the ground.

The discovery of these skills provides an important contribution to our theoretical reflection about the definition, recognition and evaluation of future-scaffolding skills. Indeed, our notion of future-scaffolding skills, which initially has offered a list of scientific and transversal skills (Branchetti et al. 2018; Levrini et al. under review; Tasquier et al. 2018), was enriched by features (structural and dynamical) that can provide students' thinking with a scaffolding to push imagination forward and look back in the present with a horizon of sense.

Going beyond the detailed analysis of the impact of the module on students' skills development, the finding that we consider most relevant is the sense of hope and calm that the students expressed at the end of the module in both the studies. We sincerely hope the module implementation has been experienced as a short-long moment (*Erfahrungen*) for them. In any case, the results suggest that science education can play an important role to support the young in addressing this dramatic moment in which social media, politics and society assail them with the sense of lack of future.

#### References

- Anfara, V. A., Brown, K. M., & Mangione, T. L. (2002). Qualitative analysis on stage: Making the research process more public. *Educational Researcher*, 31(7), 28–38. https://doi.org/10.3102/ 0013189X031007028.
- Barelli, E., Branchetti, L., Tasquier, G., Albertazzi, L., & Levrini, O. (2018). Science of complex systems and citizenship skills: A pilot study with adult citizens. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science & Technology Education, 14*(4), 1533–1545. https://doi.org/10.29333/ ejmste/84841.
- Benasayag, M., & Schmit, G. (2006). *Les passions tristes: souffrance psychique et crise sociale*. Paris: La Découverte press.
- Branchetti, L., Cutler, M., Laherto, A., Levrini, O., Palmgren, E. K., Tasquier, G., & Wilson, C. (2018). The I SEE project: An approach to futurize STEM education. *Visions for Sustainability*, 9. https://doi.org/10.13135/2384-8677/2770.

- Cobb, P., Confrey, J., diSessa, A. A., Lehrer, R., & Schauble, L. (2003). Design experiments in educational research. *Educational Researcher*, 32(1), 9–13. https://doi.org/10.3102/00131 89X032001009.
- diSessa, A. A., & Cobb, P. (2004). Ontological innovation and the role of theory in design experiments. *The Journal of Learning Sciences*, *13*(1), 77–103. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327809jls1301_4.
- Eurobarometer. (2015). Public opinion on future innovations, science and technology, National report Italy, Eurobarometer qualitative study, June 2015.
- Kapon, S., Laherto, A., & Levrini, O. (2018). Disciplinary authenticity and personal relevance in school science. *Science Education*, 102(5), 1077–1106. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21458.
- Leccardi, C. (2009). Sociologie del tempo. Soggetti e tempo nella società dell'accelerazione. Eds Laterza.
- Levrini, O., Fantini, P., Pecori, B., Tasquier, G., & Levin, M. (2015). Defining and operationalizing 'appropriation' for science learning. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 24(1), 93–136. https:// doi.org/10.1080/10508406.2014.928215.
- Levrini, O., Levin, M., Fantini, P., & Tasquier, G. (2018). Orchestration of classroom discussions that foster appropriation. *Science Education*, 103(1), 206–235. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21475.
- Levrini, O., Tasquier, G., Branchetti, L., & Barelli, E. (under review). Developing future-scaffolding skills through science education. Submitted to *International Journal of Science Education*.
- Manual CE on PCM https://ec.europa.eu/europeaid/sites/devco/files/methodology-aid-deliverymethods-project-cycle-management-200403_en_2.pdf.
- Paige, K., & Lloyd, D. (2016). Use of future scenarios as a pedagogical approach for science teacher education. *Research in Science Education*, 46(2), 263–285. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11165-015-9505-7.
- Plomp, T., & Nieveen, N. (Eds.). (2013). Educational design research. Enschede: SLO.
- Rosa, H. (2013). Beschleunigung und Entfremdung Entwurf einer kritischen Theorie spätmoderner Zeitlichkeit, Suhrkamp (Eng. Trans: Acceleration and Alienation – Towards a Critical Theory of Late-Modern Temporality, 2015).
- Stuckey, M., Hofstein, A., Mamlok-Naaman, R., & Eilks, I. (2013). The meaning of 'relevance' in science education and its implications for the science curriculum. *Studies in Science Education*, 49(1), 1–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057267.2013.802463.
- Tasquier, G., & Pongiglione, F. (2017). The influence of causal knowledge on the willingness to change attitude toward climate change: Results from an empirical study. *International Journal* of Science Education, 39(13), 1846–1868. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2017.1355078.
- Tasquier, G., Levrini, O., & Dillon, J. (2016). Exploring students' epistemological knowledge of models and modelling in science: Results from a teaching/learning experience on climate change. *International Journal of Science Education*, 38(4), 539–563. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09500693.2016.1148828.
- Tasquier, G., Levrini, O., Laherto, A., Palmgren, E., & Wilson, C. (2018). The challenge of working with the future within STEM education. In *Paper presented at the 13th International Conference on the Learning Sciences "Rethinking learning in the digital age: Making the Learning Sciences count"*. London 23–27 June, 2018.
- Venturelli, I. (2015). Cittadinanza scientifica e educazione al futuro: analisi di una sperimenta zione didattica sui cambiamenti climatici in una classe quarta di liceo scientifico. Master Thesis.
- Voros, J. (2003). A generic foresight process framework. *Foresight*, 5(3), 10–21. https://doi. org/10.1108/14636680310698379.

## Check for updates

## What Does It Mean to Understand a Physics Equation? A Study of Undergraduate Answers in Three Countries

John Airey (D), Josefine Grundström Lindqvist (D), and Rebecca Lippmann Kung (D)

### Introduction

As a discipline, physics is concerned with describing the world by constructing models, the end product of this modelling process often being an equation. As such, physics equations represent much more than a finalized, ready-to-use calculation package – to physicists they are the culmination of a whole range of actions, assumptions, approximations and historical discoveries. Moreover, physics equations are not simply stand-alone entities, rather they are intimately bound up with other equations. Together, this web of equations represents an integrated, coherent whole that signals the way the community of physicists view the world.

Clearly, such a nuanced, expert-like understanding of physics equations is not spontaneously available to undergraduate physics students when they meet an equation for the first time. In this respect, research suggests that we should not expect students to display conceptually coherent understanding across settings. Rather it has been suggested that understanding is built up from context-dependent *knowledge in pieces* (diSessa 1993, 2018). In this characterization, different aspects, or ways of viewing the same phenomenon, are leveraged in different settings. Students gradually develop their understanding in two ways: by forging links between these

J. Airey (🖂)

J. G. Lindqvist Department of Physics, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

R. L. Kung Independent researcher, Grosse Ile, MI, USA

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Department of Physics, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

Department of Mathematics and Science Education, Stockholm University, Stockholm, Sweden e-mail: john.airey@mnd.su.se; john.airey@physics.uu.se

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_14
separate 'pieces of knowledge' and by coming to appreciate the usefulness of a given 'piece of knowledge' for a given task. Educationally then, we are interested in identifying these pieces of knowledge – in our case the *range* of ways that students understand equations. What are students' default positions with respect to equations? Which aspects of equations do students tend to focus on and which aspects tend to go unnoticed? Once we have documented the range of ways of understanding, the next task concerns how to help students discern other aspects of equations than those they may initially notice. Do the tasks that students are presented with in their undergraduate education encourage them to move towards a more nuanced, coherent, holistic understanding of physics equations?

#### **Research Background**

To date, the literature on physics equations has focused on two areas: *use of equations in problem-solving* and *student attitudes and beliefs about physics equations*.

#### Equations in Problem-Solving

Research carried out on undergraduates' use of physics equations for problemsolving suggests that many students in calculus-based courses focus their attention exclusively on selecting an equation and substituting in known values – the socalled plug and chug approach (see Tuminaro 2004). This behaviour has been candidly characterized by Redish:

Most of our students don't know what you and I mean by "doing" science or what we expect them to do. Unfortunately, the most common mental model for learning science in my classes seems to be:

- Write down every equation or law the teacher puts on the board that is also in the book. Memorize these, together with the list of formulas at the end of each chapter.
- Do enough homework and end-of-the-chapter problems to recognize which formula is to be applied to which problem.
- Pass the exam by selecting the correct formulas for the problems on the exam.
- Erase all information from your brain after the exam to make room for the next set of material.

I call the bulleted list above 'the dead leaves model'. It's as if physics were a collection of equations on fallen leaves. [...] These are each considered as of equivalent weight, importance, and structure. The only thing one needs to do when solving a problem is to flip through one's collection of leaves until one finds the appropriate equation. I would much prefer to have my students see physics as a living tree! (Redish 1994: 799)

One significant milestone study on student understanding of equations is that of Sherin (2001) who examined students' ability to construct and analyse physics equations. Sherin found that students used what he called *symbolic forms* in their

attempts to understand equations. In essence, symbolic forms relate to mathematical relationships between variables where the forms themselves can be seen as templates that students can use to make sense of equations. For example, in the equation  $\lambda = h/p$ , if students focus on what Sherin terms the "*prop*–" symbolic form then they focus on the fact that p is the denominator and thus notice that lower values of p lead to higher values of  $\lambda$ . Further research on the use of physics equations for problemsolving can be found in a useful overview by Hsu et al. (2004). For more recent examples on the same theme, see Hegde and Meera (2012) and Eichenlaub and Redish (2018).

#### Attitudes and Beliefs About Equations

Research has also shown that the attitudes and beliefs that students hold about physics equations can have an impact on their learning and the techniques they use to problem-solve. May and Etkina (2002) studied student ideas about what they learned and how they learned it using written self-reflections and concluded that student gains on standard conceptual measures were related to their ideas about knowledge itself. Students who had low gains tended to focus on the importance of having an equation written down and using it to get to an answer. This is in contrast to high gain students who mentioned using equations to investigate cause-effect relationships, make analogies and perform derivations. High gain students were also less likely to mention specific equations as something they learned, instead mentioning concepts, skills and the interpretation of results.

Lising and Elby (2005) used videotapes of interviews with one student and her group work to argue that the student kept formal (mathematical) reasoning separate from informal (everyday, intuitive) reasoning. The barrier that the student's beliefs placed between formal and informal reasoning made it difficult for her to identify and resolve errors when reasoning with equations.

Very little research has examined what students themselves think it means to understand a physics equation. Domert et al. (2007) interviewed 20 students from different levels at three Swedish universities, asking the question: *When you say or feel that you understand an equation, what does that mean?* The data resulted in the identification of seven components of the understanding of physics equations: *being able to recognize the symbols in the equation in terms of the corresponding physics quantities; being able to recognize the underlying physics of the equation; recognizing the structure of the equation; establishing a link between the equation and everyday life; knowing how to use the equation to solve physics problems*; and *being able to know when to use the equation.* Comparing the results of this work to the previously mentioned research, *knowing how to use the equation to solve physics problems* was frequently mentioned by low-gain students in the May and Etkina (2002) study, whereas failure to *establish a link between the equation and everyday life* was identified as the main barrier to learning in Lising and Elby (2005) study. Finally, drawing on the work of Domert et al. (2007), Hechter (2010) asked a small group of students to write down what they meant by understanding an equation and sorted the responses into several thematic groupings, arguing that all the groupings should be taught. This approach is similar to the one adopted in this chapter.

### Motivating the Study

In Sweden, the majority of undergraduate physics students have access to something called the *Physics Handbook* (Nordling and Österman 2006). This handbook details all the equations used in undergraduate physics courses along with physical constants and other salient information. Whilst this book is undoubtedly an extremely useful reference work, it does also lend itself to misuse. Following Redish (1994), students may be tempted to look upon the handbook as the ultimate collection of *dead leaves* – that is a complete set of ready-made tools for 'plug and chug' calculation.

The original idea for this study arose a number of years ago during stimulated recall interviews with Swedish physics undergraduates. The students were asked whether they felt they had understood their teacher's description of the de Broglie equation for matter waves  $\lambda = h/p$  (where  $\lambda$  is wavelength, h is Planck's constant and p is the momentum of the particle). The students replied that they had indeed understood, and many noted that the equation itself was fairly trivial. However, when asked to identify the terms in the equation, it became clear that a large number of students did not know what the 'p' represented. How could these students say that they understood the equation, but not know what the individual terms represent? In their explanations the students rationalized their response by claiming that they 'could work that out'. It became clear that the students' idea of understanding the equation in this situation was judged in terms of whether they felt they could use the equation for numerical calculation. However, perhaps the most worrying aspect of this experience is that the students genuinely felt that they had understood the equation. It was not until they were asked a specific question about a variable that they noticed that they only had a superficial mathematical understanding of the equation.

In this chapter we argue that such situations should be expected in undergraduate physics. Recently, Eichenlaub and Redish (2018) suggested that physics students actually possess a wide range of strategies to help them understand equations, such as looking at extreme cases, estimating and using dimensional analysis. The problem, the authors argue, is that students do not always access these strategies when they would be productive.

Building on this experience, in this study we wanted to first document the range of ways that physics undergraduate students say they understand equations and then generate questions that could potentially be used together with the physics handbook to help students notice this range of ways of understanding equations.

#### **Theoretical Framing**

In this chapter we draw on diSessa's (1993, 2018) theory of knowledge in pieces. This is an epistemological perspective that views knowledge as '[...] a complex system of many types of knowledge elements [...]' (diSessa 2018: 67). These knowledge elements or *pieces* are seen as dynamic and context dependent. Originating in physics education, the theory has been extensively used to offer new explanations of science learning phenomena. The knowledge in pieces approach suggests that we should not expect students (or even experts for that matter) to always display a conceptually coherent understanding across settings. Rather it is claimed that understanding consists of context-dependent pieces, where different ways of viewing the same phenomenon are cued in different settings. In this characterization, students develop expert-like understanding by making links between these separate pieces of knowledge and by gradually learning which 'piece' is appropriate for a given task. Drawing on this perspective, the research reported in this chapter attempts to document the range of different ways in which physics undergraduates in three countries say they understand equations. Having documented these different 'pieces' of knowledge, we then would like to help students notice these different ways of understanding equations.

#### **Research Questions**

To this end our research questions are as follows:

- How do students in three countries say that they know that they have understood a physics equation?
- What different disciplinary aspects of equations can be seen in an analysis of the aggregated set of answers to our first research question?
- How might a more holistic view of the understanding of equations be communicated to students?

#### **Methodology and Method**

The Swedish data used in this study was originally collected as part of an *Introduction* to *Physics Education Research* course taught by the first author. Due to the time constraints of the course, a research design based on minimum input and maximized output was chosen. We asked undergraduate physics students in the USA (n = 83), Australia (n = 168) and Sweden (n = 105) the same simple question: *How do you know when you understand a physics equation*?

After being informed about the aims of the study, those students who agreed to participate wrote their answers to this question anonymously on blank sheets of paper. The research followed the ethical guidelines of the Swedish Research Council (2011/2017).

Inspired by the phenomenographic notion of a 'pool of meaning' (Marton and Booth 1997: 133), our qualitative methodology treated the range of student answers in each country as single data sets. A central commitment of the phenomenographic approach is that humans experience phenomena in a limited number of discrete ways. However, unlike standard phenomenographic studies that would typically involve in-depth interviews to elicit different ways of understanding a particular phenomenon, in this study we were simply interested in documenting the range of ways in which students say that they feel satisfied that they have understood an equation (see Airey 2012, for an example of this type of analysis). Note that we were not trying to create an outcome space of logical relations between these ways of understanding as is often the case in phenomenographic analysis. Based on the reviewed literature and diSessa's (1993) theory of knowledge in pieces, we argue that if students believe they have understood an equation, they are unlikely to look for alternative ways of understanding it. Thus, we suggest that each of the ways that students express that they understand an equation represents a way of thinking about equations that students will need to leverage in certain circumstances.

#### **Analysis and Results**

Qualitative analysis involves 'working with data, organizing it, breaking it into manageable units, synthesizing it, searching for patterns, discovering what is important and what is to be learned, and deciding what you will tell others' (Bogdan and Biklen 1992: 145). In this type of work, iterative cycles are made through the data looking for patterns. Each cycle results in loosely labelled codings with temporary descriptors that may then be split up, renamed or amalgamated in the next iteration.

Our initial engagement with the data focussed on the Swedish data set, which had been written in Swedish. This first data set had been collected as part of an introduction to research course, where the course goals were to follow the process of qualitative research from the planning stage, through data collection and analysis, culminating in a presentation of results at the yearly university pedagogical conference. Joint coding of the data in the original language was carried out by the first two authors in the following manner. First we scanned the papers that the students had written their responses on and made a number of physical copies. Coding proceeded by first placing these copies into several piles where the answers seemed to be related. Next, the answers in each pile were read through, and we decided on a label or descriptor that summed up the pile. We adapted these labels as we went along. The reason we chose to initially work with the data in this seemingly old-fashioned, analogue manner rather than directly using qualitative analysis software was due to the requirements of the *Introduction to Physics Education Research* course that the work formed a part of. The aim was to both demystify the coding

process by making it visible and to *jointly* interact with the data in a form of legitimate participation (Lave and Wenger 1991). This first open coding resulted in 30 different descriptors (Table 1).

Below is an example of a student answer from the Swedish data set:

Jag upplever att jag förstår en ekvation inom fysiken när jag förstår tillämpningsområden, eller hur jag räknar med den och att jag vet vad den innebär för området. När jag själv också kan förklara det så att andra med någorlunda kunskapsnivå kan förstå så upplever jag att jag själv förstår.

English translation:

I feel that I understand an equation in physics when I understand the areas it can be used in, or how I can calculate with it and that I know what it means for the area of physics. Also when I can explain it so that others with a reasonable level of knowledge can understand then I feel like I understand.

This particular student answer was initially coded under 6 of our 30 original descriptors:

- Can use it to get numbers/values.
- Know which physics problems it can be used to solve.
- Know the area of physics it belongs to.
- Know real-world areas it describes.
- Know which real-world problems it can be used to solve.
- Explain it to another person.

Later this particular student answer became a part of the *calculation, significance* and *explanation* themes that we describe in this chapter.

Solve real-world problems	Know the boundaries for using it	
Can visualize it	Can verify it by experiment	
Explain it to another person	Know the area of physics it belongs to	
Know which real-world problems it can be	Know where it comes from historically	
used to solve		
Can derive it	Can interpret results	
Have derived it	Can identify the terms	
Have seen someone derive it	Can draw a diagram	
Know real-world areas it describes	Can draw a graph	
Relate it to other concepts	Can rearrange it	
Relate it to another equation	Can use it to get numbers/values	
Link the equation to physical laws	Repetition	
Use it to solve a physics problem	Can identify and understand the variables and constants	
Know its status (law?)	Can recognize it	
Know which physics problems it can be used	Can read it	
to solve		
	Can remember it	

 Table 1
 The 30 descriptors from the first round of open coding of the Swedish data set

Initially, we tried to make some sense of the 30 descriptors we had generated by thinking about how they could be related to one another, conceptualizing what we saw as links between them and visualizing these through linking lines. At this stage our work with the Swedish data was presented to the Uppsala Physics Education Research group. Our final diagram is summarized visually in Fig. 1, which was translated into English for the occasion. The three descriptors, *Remember it*,



Fig. 1 The first attempt at linking the 30 descriptors derived from our initial open coding

*Repetition* and *Recognize it*, seemed to suggest that memorization and rote learning was important (cf. our earlier discussion of Redish's 1994 dead leaves model). The descriptor *Can visualize it*, whilst obviously important, seemed difficult to pin down without follow-up questions, and these were of course not possible due to our research design. We then amalgamated the 30 descriptors to make 13, before moving over to examine the US and Australian data.

We started this research project with the aim of working with a limited amount of Swedish data as part of an introduction to research course. We later expanded the scope with parallel Australian and US data with the intention of documenting differences across three quite different countries. Here, we were hoping to be able to infer educational reasons for any differences that we found. However, in our analysis it was the very similarity of the three data sets that was most striking. It quickly became apparent that there was a range of answers that repeated across countries. So, although we started out looking for differences that we could then attempt to link to the different educational settings, we ended up being surprised by the similarity of answers across the three groups. All of the codings that we had found in the Swedish data could also be readily identified in the US and Australian data, and no new codings were identified.

On the whole, there were also similar proportions of answers across the settings (the one difference that we could see was that students in the US data set were more likely to mention derivation as one of the ways that they used to judge whether they understood an equation). The similarity in answers across the three countries led us to abandon our intended comparative approach and treat the answers from the three countries as a single data set insomuch as we used the same coding system for all three data sets.

At this stage we transcribed all three data sets placing them into separate excel files. The first two authors then separately recoded all three data sets using the 13 themes. Despite the work we had done in reducing the original 30 codings to 13, we realized during this recoding process that some of the themes were in fact quite similar to each other and had considerable overlap (in such cases we noticed that answers that we coded as one of category were almost always also coded as a second category as well). We therefore restructured our categories to create our final list of ten categories. Individual coding of all the original responses into these ten categories had an inter-rater reliability of 74% for the American data set, 78% for the Australian data set and 88% for the Swedish data set. Note here that each student answer was usually assigned to a number of categories and the inter-rater reliability takes into account any discrepancies in the two codings. Thus if one coder codes one student answer under four categories and the other coder codes the same answer under five categories (the same four plus one) this will lead to one discrepancy being counted. Taken together, our measures of inter-rater reliability suggest to us that the coding system was very reliable indeed.

The ten themes are Significance, Origin, Description, Prediction, Parts, Relationships, Calculation, Explanation, Repetition and Memorization. In what follows we explain each of these ten themes we identified by briefly illustrating them

with three quotes from the data. (Note that quotes from the Swedish data set have been translated.)

#### Significance

This theme deals with knowing why, when and where to use an equation.

Essentially knowing when and where to use it and when not to use it.

- To be able to use it in the right place and knowing what you are calculating and getting out of that formula.
- Understanding is knowing why we use it, when it applies and how to modify for a given circumstance.

Origin

This theme involves understanding where the equation comes from in terms of derivation and the equation's historical roots.

When the equation is derived in distinct, clear steps from basic easily understood models.

When you can derive it!

*Understand* – *know background information* – *history of formula know concepts that were used as a base for this.* 

#### Description

This theme involves being able to visualize the equation and to be able to link it to a real life situation or experiment.

Diagram is very helpful tool to understand it.

*I only really understand when it has been shown experimentally to me. When I can visualize it.* 

#### Prediction

This theme involves using the equation to predict the behaviour of a system. When I can use it to predict how a physical system will develop over time. Made accurate predictions about outcomes. When I can use it to predict the behaviour it is describing.

#### Parts

This theme involves being able to manipulate an equation and understanding its different terms.

When you know what all the variables and constants mean. Understanding a formula means you can rearrange it and use it in any format. Understanding means understanding the relationship between the variables.

#### **Relationships**

This theme involves making links to other equations or constructing it from other equations.

When I can connect it to equations I've met before.

Understand the concept behind it and be able to use it to construct other formulas. Knowing how other formulas can be derived from the formula. Calculation

This theme involves using the equation to solve physics problems. When I calculate and get the right answer. Understanding is knowing how to use it to solve a problem. Know how to apply it to solve real problems.

#### Explanation

This theme involves being able to explain the equation to someone else. To understand it you should be able to explain how it works and is applied. When I can explain it to a ten year old. When you can explain it to your grandmother.

#### Repetition

This involves students using an equation repeatedly.
Understand: I've used in multiple applications over time.
It takes a while but in the end I usually understand after I've seen it and used it a number of times.
You practice many times until you have a complete understanding of the context/ concept behind what the question is asking.

Memorization

This theme involves being able to recall the equation. To understand is to be able to recall it and apply the formula to problems. Understand – memorized and know when to use it. A good sign that I understand an equation is when I can remember it.

Of these ten themes, it is only the first eight that we focus on going forward, since we feel that the final two themes, *Repetition* and *Memorization* potentially encourage rote learning of physics equations, which has been shown to be coupled to surface rather than deep understanding (Marton and Säljö 1976; Chin and Brown 2000).

Following diSessa's (1993, 2018) theory of knowledge in pieces, we suggest that each of the remaining eight themes represents a different disciplinary aspect of student understanding of physics equations. We argue that together the different aspects represent a more holistic view of physics equations that we would like all our students to experience. This led us to try to operationalize our findings to help students notice the different themes we had identified.

## **Creating the Questions**

Based on our findings, we wondered how best to highlight this more holistic view of how students think about equations. This prompted us to return to the original data and think about what might help students to discern the range of aspects we had identified. We decided to attempt to write a set of questions that reflected the original data with respect to the eight themes. In order to do this, we returned once again to our original three data sets and tried to construct questions for each of the themes that also summarized what the students had originally told us. This process resulted in the questions for each theme that can be seen below:

#### Significance: Why, When, Where

Do you know why the equation is needed?

Do you know where the equation can and cannot be used (boundary conditions/ areas of physics)?

Do you understand what the equation means for its area of physics?

What status does this equation have in physics (fundamental law, empirical approximation, mathematical conversion, etc.)?

#### Origin

Do you know the historical roots of the equation? Can you derive the equation?

#### **Description/Visualization**

Can you use the equation to describe a real-life situation? Can you describe an experiment that the equation models? Can you visualize the equation by drawing diagrams, graphs, etc.?

#### Prediction

Can you use the equation to predict an outcome?

#### Parts

Can you describe the physical meaning of each of the components of the equation?

How does a change in one component affect other components in the equation? Can you manipulate/rearrange the equation?

#### **Relationships to Other Equations**

Can you relate this equation to other equations you know? Can you construct the equation from other equations that you know?

#### Calculation

Can you use the equation to solve a physics problem?

Can you use the equation to solve a physics problem in a different context than the one in which it was presented?

When you use the equation to calculate an answer, do you know:

How your answer relates to the original variables?

The physical meaning of this answer?

Whether your answer is reasonable?

#### Explanation

Can you explain the equation to someone else?

We suggest that this set of questions could be used when students meet a new equation. We argue that either asking oneself these questions or better still, discussing them as a group could potentially help students to focus on different aspects in their understanding of physics equations.

#### **Discussion and Conclusions**

Our first research question for this chapter was:

How do students in three countries say that they know that they have understood a physics equation?

Here we were surprised to find a range of responses that repeated across the three countries. *We found no noticeable differences in the range of answers students gave across the three countries, which led us to treat all the answers as a single 'pool of meaning'* where we sorted all three data sets using the same coding system. Drawing on Bernstein's (2000) categorization of university disciplines, one possible reason for this similarity in answers across settings could be the *hierarchical* nature of knowledge in physics. Essentially in Bernstein's view, disciplines with hierarchical knowledge structures demand that new knowledge should be compatible with what is already known. This leads to a largely agreed view of what constitutes knowledge for this type of discipline. In this respect, Bernstein suggested that physics was the most hierarchical of all disciplines (see Airey and Larsson 2018 for a discussion of Bernstein's ideas with respect to physics education).

Our second research question was:

What different disciplinary aspects of equations can be seen in an analysis of the aggregated set of answers to our first research question?

Here we identified eight themes that signal different disciplinary aspects of physics equations: Significance, Origin, Description, Prediction, Parts, Relationships, Calculation and Explanation.

Note that we do not claim that this is a definitive list of what it means for a student to understand a physics equation, rather we simply note that these themes could be noticed in our aggregated data. We do, however, claim that these themes represent a more holistic view of physics equations. Based on this work and diSessa's (1993) knowledge in pieces, we further argue that students who meet a new equation may only focus on a few of the themes we have identified and fail to notice other aspects.

Our final research question was:

## *How might a more holistic view of the understanding of equations be communicated to students?*

Here we made a methodological decision to try to capture the essence of what students were describing by writing a set of questions. Our purpose here was to attempt to help students who *think* they have understood an equation to notice further aspects that they may have overlooked.

Our questions are based on student-generated, self-reported data. Potentially physics experts could experience physics equations in even more complex disciplinary ways. Indeed this actually appears to be the case. For example, Eichenlaub and Redish (2018) describe the role of extreme cases, dimensional analysis and estimation in the understanding of physics equations. Although aspects of these three roles can be identified in our data, they are not explicitly teased out in our findings. We suggest that this is due in part to the nature of the original question we asked students that was not grounded in a particular problem.

In continuing work we are asking the same question to a cohort of physics lecturers in the hope of identifying more sophisticated ways of understanding. We are also trialling the themes and related questions that we generated in various teaching situations. Here we are interested in whether students perceive the questions as helpful in their learning.

In undergraduate physics we suggest that what it means to understand physics equations is tacitly communicated to students through the types of problem-solving they are asked to do. For example, in their discussion of multimodality in science education, Airey and Linder (2009: 42) argue that 'the traditional method of examining science courses through problem-solving and calculation may lead to students passing examinations without appropriately experiencing the ways of knowing of the discipline'. We argue that we need to help students to begin to see equations in a more holistic, expert-like manner that entails much more than seeing them as tools for calculation. In this chapter we propose making this hidden curriculum explicit and have offered a set of questions that can be used to start this process.

Acknowledgements Support from the Swedish Research Council, VR project no. 2016-04113, is gratefully acknowledged. The authors would like to thank E.F. Redish for permission to use the original US data.

#### References

- Airey, J. (2012). "I don't teach language." The linguistic attitudes of physics lecturers in Sweden. AILA Review, 25, 64–79. https://doi.org/10.1075/aila.25.05air.
- Airey, J., & Larsson, J. (2018). Developing students' disciplinary literacy? The case of university physics. In K.-S. Tang & K. Danielsson (Eds.), *Global developments in literacy research for science education* (pp. 357–376). Cham: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69197-8_21.
- Airey, J., & Linder, C. (2009). A disciplinary discourse perspective on university science learning: Achieving fluency in a critical constellation of modes. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46(1), 27–49. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20265.
- Bernstein, B. (2000). *Pedagogy, symbolic control and identity: Theory, research and critique.* Lanham: Rowman and Littlefield.
- Bogdan, R. C., & Biklen, S. R. (1992). *Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theory and methods* (2nd ed.). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.

- Chin, C., & Brown, D. E. (2000). Learning in science: A comparison of deep and surface approaches. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 37(2), 109–138. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (SICI)1098-2736(20002)37:2<109::AID-TEA3>3.0.CO;2-7.
- diSessa, A. A. (1993). Toward an epistemology of physics. *Cognition and Instruction*, 10(2 & 3), 105–226. https://doi.org/10.1207/s1532690xci1002&3_2.
- diSessa, A. A. (2018). A friendly introduction to "knowledge in pieces": Modeling types of knowledge and their roles in learning. In G. Kaiser, H. Forgasz, M. Graven, A. Kuzniak, E. Simmt, & B. Xu (Eds.), *Invited lectures from the 13th international congress on mathematical education* (ICME-13 monographs). Cham: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-72170-5_5.
- Domert, D., Airey, J., Linder, C., & Kung, R. (2007). An exploration of university physics students' epistemological mindsets towards the understanding of physics equations. *NorDiNa*, *Nordic Studies in Science Education*, 3(1), 15–28.
- Eichenlaub, M., & Redish, E. F. (2018). Blending physical knowledge with mathematical form in physics problem solving. In G. Pospiech, M. Michelini, & B. Eylon (Eds.), *Mathematics in physics education research*. Cham: Springer. arXiv:1804.01639.
- Hechter, R. P. (2010). What does 'I understand the equation' really mean? *Physics Education*, 45, 132–133. https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-9120/45/2/F01.
- Hegde, B., & Meera, B. N. (2012). How do they solve it? An insight into the learner's approach to the mechanism of physics problem solving. *Physical Review Special Topics Physics Education Research*, 8, 010109. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevSTPER.8.010109.
- Hsu, L., Brewe, E., Foster, T. M., & Harper, K. A. (2004). Resource letter RPS-1: Research in problem solving. American Journal of Physics, 72(9), 1147–1156. https://doi.org/10.1119/1.1763175.
- Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CB09780511815355.
- Lising, L., & Elby, A. (2005). The impact of epistemology on learning: A case study from introductory physics. *American Journal of Physics*, 73, 372–382. https://doi.org/10.1119/1.1848115.
- Marton, F., & Booth, S. (1997). Learning and awareness. Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Marton, F., & Säljö, R. (1976). On qualitative differences in learning. II Outcome as a function of the learner's conception of the task. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 46, 115–127. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8279.1976.tb02980.x.
- May, D. B., & Etkina, E. (2002). College physics students' epistemological self-reflection and its relationship to conceptual learning. *American Journal of Physics*, 70(12), 1249–1258. https:// doi.org/10.1119/1.1503377.
- Nordling, C., & Österman, J. (2006). Physics handbook (8th ed.). Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Redish, E. (1994). Implications of cognitive studies for teaching physics. American Journal of Physics, 62(9), 796–803. https://doi.org/10.1119/1.17461.
- Sherin, B. L. (2001). How students understand physics equations. *Cognitive Instruction*, 19, 479– 541. https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532690XCI1904_3.
- Swedish Research Council. (2017). *Good research practice*. Stockholm: Swedish Research Council.
- Tuminaro, J. (2004). A Cognitive framework for analyzing and describing introductory students' use of mathematics in physics. PhD Thesis. University of Maryland.

## Affordances and Constraints of Learning Progression Designs in Supporting Formative Assessment



Erin Marie Furtak 💿 and Kelsey Tayne 💿

#### Introduction

Learning progressions – representations of the sequential development of student ideas and scientific practices within core content domains (Corcoran et al. 2009) have been the focus of much research in science education in recent years (Duschl et al. 2011). The field is only beginning to understand how learning progressions can serve not only as tools to support teacher design of classroom assessments (Briggs and Peck 2015) but also the extent to which use of a learning progression can support teachers' ability to interpret and respond to student ideas (Furtak et al. 2016). Questions have been raised about the underlying assumptions of learning progressions as hypotheses about student development (Alonzo and Elby 2014), as well as the extent to which teachers actually use the information progressions contain in their teaching practice (Alonzo and Elby 2015). For example, do progressions that represent student understanding in an ordered and linear manner from "novice" to "expert" help teachers diagnose student thinking more effectively than progressions that list "knowledge in pieces?" (Smith et al. 1993). How do different structures to learning progressions (Wilson 2009) support teachers in different ways?

This paper analyzes data from 1 year of a research-practice partnership (Penuel et al. 2011) that sought to determine the affordances and constraints of different forms of learning progressions in supporting teachers' formative assessment design.

E. M. Furtak (⊠) · K. Tayne

School of Education, University of Colorado, Boulder, CO, USA e-mail: erin.furtak@colorado.edu; Kelsey.Tayne@colorado.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_15

#### Background

#### Learning Progressions

Learning progressions in science are representations of hypotheses about the pathway – or pathways – that students are likely to follow as they learn about disciplinary core ideas and practices (Corcoran et al. 2009) and are anchored on one side by "what is known about the concepts and reasoning of students entering school" (NRC 2007: 219) and at the other end by what society expects students to understand about science. The middle spaces suggest various intermediate understandings. Learning progressions have been created for a variety of grain sizes, from student learning that might occur over a few weeks or months (e.g., Yin et al. 2014) to those spanning multiple years and grade bands (e.g., Lehrer and Schauble 2012). Some integrate scientific practices along with content (Songer and Gotwals 2012). That said, however, there remains a considerable amount of variation among what constitutes published learning progressions. Several scholars have suggested frameworks describing different types of learning progressions, including Shavelson (2009), Wilson (2009), and Duschl et al. (2011).

Shavelson (2009) differentiated between progressions that represent content sequences for units of instruction, such as those that look at the development of understanding across grade bands or the entire K-12 spectrum. The learning progressions that underlie the Next Generation Science Standards [NGSS] in the United States (Board on Science Education 2012) are a recent and prominent example of this sort of progression. These progressions differ from those derived from empirical research and modeling of student response patterns and plot out pathways of how student understanding develops from novice to expert in particular contexts. Duschl et al. (2011) called this type of progression *validity* progressions, where particular ideas are expected to be replaced over time with more accurate ideas. Evolutionary learning progressions, in contrast, identify the stepping stones and developmental pathways of students as they develop their understanding of a given phenomenon or practice (Duschl et al. 2011). Wilson (2009) focused on the interrelationships between the levels of different constructs (Wilson 2005) in learning progressions.

Given these different typologies for learning progressions, it is not surprising that there is also not a single, accepted approach for evaluating the validity of a learning progression framework. A central question about learning progressions as hypotheses about the development of student understanding and engagement in practice is the extent to which they accurately capture the nature and development of student thinking in a given domain. This question is difficult to answer, however, given that learning progressions are usually not viewed as being "developmentally inevitable" but rather pathways that students may be likely to follow given exposure to a particular series of learning experiences (hence, Shavelson's emphasis on "instruction" in both categories of learning progressions that he describes). In that sense, a learning progression may never be completely "right" or "wrong." Instead, we propose an alternative perspective, one based upon pragmatic philosophical perspectives (Menand 2002) that have informed educational research designs (e.g., Howe and Eisenhart 1990). The pragmatic perspective rejects philosophical dualisms as false (in this case, that the underlying hypothesis of a learning progression is either right or wrong) and rather suggests that a solution should meet the standard of being useful given a particular context or situation (Johnson et al. 2014). From this perspective, then, a learning progression should not need to meet the standard of being "right" in the sense that it is ever possible to find the one real big-T "Truth" through empirical research.

A more fruitful approach might be to study the extent to which a learning progression is useful or facilitates insights relative to a particular purpose in a given context. For example, a learning progression might be useful for a research team working to define the parameters of a concept or practice for the purpose of designing a diagnostic assessment (e.g., Alonzo and Steedle 2009) or as the foundation for a process of curriculum design (e.g., Mohan et al. 2009). Alternatively, a learning progression might guide the work of teachers planning and reflecting on classroom assessments (e.g., Furtak and Heredia 2014) or for teachers listening to and interpreting student ideas in the course of classroom practice (e.g., Berland and McNeill 2010; Furtak 2012). It might also organize the design and conduct of a series of professional learning experiences for teachers (e.g., Thompson et al. 2009).

Each of these uses is specific to a particular context; therefore we do not suggest that a learning progression developed for a particular use, such as curriculum design, may immediately have the same utility in another context. Instead, each learning progression might be considered useful for the purpose and context for which it was developed, and the authors and users of the learning progression thus must articulate and interrogate their own criteria for determining the utility of a learning progression in the context in which they are using it or the context in which they intend it to be useful. We turn to a particular context for learning progressions in the next section.

#### Formative Assessment

Formative assessment as a phrase refers to the tasks or activities that students complete in classrooms as well as the processes or practices in which those students engage as they share and attend to each other's ideas (Bennett 2011; Furtak and Heredia 2014). Among the many contexts in which learning progressions might be used is to support teachers in cycles of formative assessment task design. Formative assessment is most often conceived as the process by which teachers set learning goals prior to instruction, elicit student understanding relative to those goals, and then interpret student responses and provide feedback to move learners forward toward those learning goals (e.g., Black and Wiliam 1998).

The argument for using learning progressions to support teachers in formative assessment design proceeds according to the following logic: by representing the ways student ideas develop in a domain, progressions may be ideally suited to support teachers who may have limited experience with the topic (Bennett 2011). In this sense, a learning progression is a kind of map that represents the complex terrain of student thinking within a domain and can help teachers set learning goals and design formative assessment tasks to elicit student ideas relative to those goals. In addition, Bennett (2011) argued that a learning progression could help teachers distinguish between the different types of ideas that students may commonly experience as they learn; in a sense, serving as an interpretive framework for teachers as they look at and plan ways they might respond to student ideas (Furtak 2012). Heritage et al. (2009) suggested that learning progressions might help to concretize the "next steps" part of formative feedback that can be so elusive to teachers.

Messick (1989) defined validity as the result of a process of induction of the evidence for and the consequences of the interpretation and use of information from assessments. From this perspective, a validity argument might be constructed for a given learning progression to support formative assessment as described above if it were to provide support for teachers to learn about student ideas, identify learning goals, design formative assessment tasks, and to interpret student ideas for the purpose of identifying next steps for instruction.

Teachers could use a learning progression, for example, to evaluate the scope and sequence of their instructional units, identifying productive points in the curriculum where an assessment would be useful before proceeding. The progression could be used to identify particular types of student ideas that teachers might want to look for, and then teachers could deliberately design the formative assessment to surface these specific ideas. When using the assessment with students, the learning progression could also serve as a framework for listening to student ideas, and teachers could use the progression to identify or categorize those ideas, either in real-time or in meetings with colleagues in which they looked together at student work (Furtak 2012). Then, teachers could consider possible feedback that would be targeted to move students up the progression, step by step.

## Constraints and Affordances of Learning Progression Designs for Formative Assessment: A Pragmatic Perspective

In this paper, we examine the extent to which a series of learning progressions with different designs and intentions supported high school science teachers in designing and interpreting student responses from formative assessment tasks. Specifically, we respond to the following question: *How can different types of learning progressions support teachers' formative assessment task design and interpretation of student ideas?* 

## Method

This paper draws on data collected as part of a larger study, funded by the National Science Foundation, that has explored the influence of learning progressions on teacher and student learning in high school science. We use an embedded case study approach (Yin 2003/2018) to analyze the ways in which different learning progressions supported teacher formative assessment task design and interpretation of student ideas. The data analyzed in this paper are drawn from an initial, exploratory phase of the project in which we facilitated teachers' bimonthly meetings in their school-based professional learning communities to plan formative assessments and reflect upon enactment of those assessments, using learning progressions as a resource across this process.

## Learning Progressions Used in This Study

After performing a review of published learning progressions, we identified candidate learning progressions and representations in each content domain that met the following criteria: (1) focused on core conceptual domains addressed in the curricula in use for 9th grade Physics, 10th grade Chemistry, and 11th grade Biology in our partner school district, (2) originally developed for or to include the high school grade band, and (3) linked to existing assessments. The six learning progressions we ultimately used are represented in Table 1.

Content	Learning progressions	Grade	Decign features
Physics	Force & Motion (Alonzo and Steedle 2009)	Top level 8th grade	Unidimensional; integrates
	Energy (Neumann et al. 2013)	6–10	Multidimensional
Chemistry	Atomic structure of matter (Minstrell n.d)	9–12	Facet clusters
	Changes in matter (Minstrell n.d)	9–12	Facet clusters
Biology	Natural Selection (Furtak and Heredia 2014)	10	Multidimensional; integrates common misconceptions
	Matter and Energy Cycling in Socio-Ecological Systems (Mohan et al. 2009)	5-10	Multidimensional; levels go from macro- to micro-level interactions

Table 1 Learning progressions

#### **Professional Development Intervention**

A university-based facilitator met with each learning community twice monthly to introduce the learning progressions, guide the process of formative assessment task design, and provide structure as teachers interpreted student work and identified next instructional steps. The meetings were roughly guided by the Formative Assessment Design Cycle (FADC; Furtak and Heredia 2014) a five-step process that supports teachers in the development of formative assessment tasks with the support of a learning progression. The cycle begins with facilitators walking teachers through the learning progression to Explore Student Thinking, using the learning progression to learn about student thinking in the target domain and to identify learning goals. Next, teachers identify ideas on the learning progression that they would like to assess during their instructional units, and Design Tasks to specifically elicit those ideas. Then, teachers Practice Using Tasks by using the learning progression to anticipate the different ways students might respond to the task and rehearse the types of feedback they would provide to different types of ideas (Horn 2010). The fourth step has the teachers *Enact Tasks* in their own classrooms. Finally, teachers come back together to Reflect on classroom enactment by looking at student work together and using the learning progression to interpret and categorize groups of student responses and plan feedback to move students forward in their learning. This feedback is discussed in multiple time frames (Wiliam 2007), such that teachers identify not only what they will do in the next class session but also how they will draw upon this information to support students for the rest of the unit and academic year. At the same time, teachers reflect upon the nature of the formative assessment activity itself, identifying the extent to which it helped them elicit student ideas on the learning progression and how it might be improved and revised for the next year.

#### **Participants**

This study is embedded in a multiple-year research-practice partnership (Penuel et al. 2011) between researchers at the University of Colorado Boulder and the science curriculum coordinators and teachers in a large socioeconomically, linguistically, and ethnically diverse school district located in the western United States. As part of the study, researchers from the University of Colorado regularly visit and facilitate content-specific professional learning community meetings (McLaughlin and Talbert 2001). Participants were recruited from three high schools in the district (HS 1, HS 2, and HS 3), with between 3 and 5 teacher participants in each learning community at each school). The teacher participants in this study are summarized in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1 Study participants by grade level, content area, and school

## Sources of Data

Our research question focused on the ways that teachers designed formative assessment tasks and interpreted student responses in professional learning community (PLC) meetings. We studied how teachers made use of the learning progressions throughout four phases of the FADC, including Explore Student Thinking, Design Tasks, Practice Using Tasks, and Reflect. Our work with teachers was located in their PLC meetings, and we did not focus on how teachers used (or did not use) learning progressions during the enact phase. Our sources of data include copies of teacher learning community meeting agendas, learning progressions (in both their original and, in some instances, modified formats), copies of teacher-designed formative assessments, and copies of student work. We also conducted end-of-year interviews with teachers in which we explicitly asked them about their impressions of the learning progressions the extent to which they supported them in the FADC. Finally, we kept notes on our decisions as we made changes to the learning progressions to make them more accessible to the teachers participating in the project.

## Analytic Approach

**Learning Progressions** We drew on the frameworks presented above to analyze and summarize the design and original contexts of use for the learning progressions in Table 1.

**Field Notes** To understand the ways in which each teacher learning community used the different learning progressions, we created an analytic memo format based on an implementation checklist for the FADC (Furtak et al. 2016) that allowed us to track when and how each learning community used each learning progression to support formative assessment task design and student work interpretation. We applied this analytic process to memos from each PLC meeting. As we engaged in

this process, we developed a set of grounded codes that captured the ways that teachers discussed and used the learning progressions in the meetings.

The research memos were then used to create an aggregate representation that mapped our emergent propositions about the ways that learning progressions were used to support teachers as they engaged in different aspects of formative assessment task design and interpretation of student ideas in their PLC meetings: exploring student ideas, designing formative assessment tasks, interpreting student ideas, and planning feedback for students and instruction. This aggregate representation helped us to summarize, across schools and learning progressions, the different ways the progressions were used during the 2016–2017 academic year, as well as to highlight different aspects of the different learning progressions that are related to the ways teachers used them.

**Interviews** We also analyzed transcripts of the teacher interviews by applying the same grounded codes focusing on contexts of teacher use of the learning progression. As a check for validity and reliability in this process, the second author first analyzed the transcripts from one school, developing propositions supported by an audit trail of data sources. These propositions were then shared with the first author, who independently examined the data. The second author then further analyzed teacher interviews across all participating schools. Propositions were then further interrogated by members of the research team.

#### Results

Our analyses of the use of the six different learning progressions across the learning communities at our three partner schools indicate uneven areas of use to support setting learning goals, designing formative assessment tasks, interpreting student work, and planning feedback. In this section, we begin with an analysis of the original contexts of use of the six learning progressions we analyzed and then present the results of our analyses according to these contexts of use. We evaluate the relative validity of these learning progressions in these contexts of use and then identify three emergent design criteria for learning progressions to support formative assessment task design and interpretation.

## **Original Learning Progression Designs and Purposes**

The six learning progressions that we brought to the teachers at the outset of the study were designed for different contexts of original use.

In 9th grade *Physics*, we worked with two well-known learning progressions. The Alonzo and Steedle (2009) progression for Force and Motion was originally developed to support the diagnosis of student ideas with ordered multiple-choice items. The second progression we worked with is the Neumann et al. (2013) progression for Energy, which was also developed as a basis for the design of a diagnostic assessment.

In 11th grade *Biology*, we worked with the Mohan et al. (2009) learning progression for Carbon and Energy Cycling in Socio-Ecological Systems. This progression was originally designed to guide construction of the Carbon Time curriculum for students in upper elementary through high school. We also used the Elevate series of learning progressions, which was originally designed to guide high school teachers' formative assessment design and enactment in a previous study (Furtak and Heredia 2014). The upper anchors of the Elevate progressions represent a scope and sequence for a high school unit on Natural Selection and individual construct maps attempting to track the development of student ideas across time.

In 10th grade *Chemistry*, we used the ChemFacets (Minstrell n.d.), which organize sets of student ideas into groupings called facet clusters without identifying specific trajectories for the development of those ideas. The ChemFacets were designed for use with the Diagnoser software, an online, diagnostic assessment system for classroom use that generates reports intended to inform teachers about their students' ideas and to provide suggestions to inform instruction.

#### **Contexts of Teacher Use of Learning Progressions**

**Setting Learning Goals and Exploring Student Ideas** Teachers used the learning progressions to identify areas to emphasize in their existing curriculum materials, and conversely (e.g., with the Force and Motion learning progression), they used their curriculum materials and standards documents to select areas of the larger progressions to focus upon (e.g., Natural Selection). During interviews, teachers commonly referenced the ways in which learning progressions informed their unit planning (e.g., a biology teacher described, "We used the evolution [Natural Selection learning progression]... where it showed us how it would develop over time and I mean, really we just kind of made a list of what were the big ideas").

Across all of the content areas, the learning progressions were also used as frameworks for describing, articulating, and naming common student ideas or – as they were sometimes called in the meetings – misconceptions within the domains at hand. The ChemFacets, for example, were described by the teachers as a list of misconceptions and a starting point for planning their units, although teachers noted that the ideas were not aligned with their *Active Chemistry* (Eisenkraft 2003) curriculum. Similarly, the Energy learning progression helped teachers to identify common student misconceptions about energy.

To a lesser degree, at some schools, the learning progressions were used to support teachers as they defined scopes and sequences for their unit design. For example, at HS 3, biology teachers used both the Carbon and Energy Cycling and Natural Selection learning progressions to develop unit scopes and sequences, although the teachers relied more heavily on other resources including their curriculum materials and standards documents.

For the physics PLC at HS 2, teachers noted that the Force and Motion learning progression was a challenge to use with their *Active Physics* (Eisenkraft 2010) textbook because *Active Physics* spiraled back to concepts it contained multiple times within the school year. Additionally, while the Energy learning progression had a more linear sequence, the teachers at HS 2 also noted potential curriculum misalignment between the Energy progression and their *Active Physics* curriculum.

Across most of these instances, however, we noted that it was usually the facilitator in PLC meetings, not the teachers, who continually brought up the learning progressions and described how they could support unit planning and understanding of student thinking. In end-of-year interviews, teachers described the learning progressions as providing a "menu" of possible student ideas that might come out during instruction and helping them to understand different types of ideas but did not make sustained or deep references to the progressions.

**Designing Formative Assessment Tasks** Our intention was for teachers to use the learning progressions to design formative assessment tasks after they identified student ideas they wanted to elicit that were aligned with their curriculum materials at particular points during instructional sequences. However, our analyses of field notes indicate that while teachers did design formative assessment tasks as part of their PLC work, the learning progressions were not used as an explicit part of this design process in any PLC meetings with the small exception of biology PLC meetings at HS 3.

When working with the Natural Selection and Carbon and Energy Cycling learning progressions with biology teachers at HS 3, facilitators referenced the learning progression to discuss the purpose of formative assessment design to elicit student ideas that then might be interpreted and provided feedback with the learning progressions. These teachers developed a formative assessment activity by adapting questions from an assessment linked to the Carbon and Energy Cycling learning progression that was shared by the university facilitators. However even with biology teachers at HS 3, the learning progressions still did not play a central role in designing formative assessment tasks.

**Interpreting Student Ideas** After teachers used formative assessment tasks with students, they brought student work back to their PLC meetings where we intended to support teachers in using the learning progressions as a guide to interpret student work. However, teachers found it easier to develop their own systems of sorting student ideas rather than forcing student work into categories in the progressions. At HS 3, one biology teacher even brought a printout of the Carbon and Energy Cycling progression to the meeting where we intended to look at student work and said that she had attempted to use it to interpret student work but quickly abandoned it. At the meeting, along with the other teachers in this PLC, she instead generated her own categories that emerged from patterns of student thinking she observed in the work herself. Similarly, the Chemistry teachers made notecards that they titled with patterns they had identified in the student work rather than using ChemFacets to explicit.

itly identify student work, and the Physics teachers made piles of student work without the learning progression as well.

One Chemistry teacher at HS 2, however, who was new to the teaching profession, described how she had experienced changes to the way she enacted her units based on working with the ChemFacets, stating in an interview that "It was comforting to see that this is what the kids have to know, these are the common misconceptions." This response indicates that learning about the student ideas represented in the facet clusters had provided her with a conceptual resource that structured her interpretation of ideas. This explicit reference to a progression influencing classroom enactment was, however, the exception and not the rule across the teachers and PLCs.

Planning Feedback for Students We also intended that teachers would use the learning progressions to support discussions and planning for next steps for instruction and generate helpful feedback that might be provided to students to help them advance in their learning. In-depth conversations around next steps for instruction on the basis of the learning progressions were unfortunately rare, despite the presence of facilitators trying to emphasize these conversations. While teachers sometimes discussed generic next steps for instruction, only in the case of the HS 2 Chemistry PLC did this conversation get specific to actions from information about student ideas in the progression. In this instance, teachers had talked about anthropomorphizing atoms, one of the facet clusters in the Atomic Structure ChemFacets, and discussed changes to their instruction they might make in the next academic year to better address these ideas. Even at HS 3, where biology teachers had used an assessment item that was directly linked to the Carbon Time learning progression, teachers did not attempt to interpret student response patterns in line with the levels of student ideas on the learning progression and ultimately created their own patterns of student responses.

A notable exception, however, was in the instances where teachers were using learning progressions in PLCs to support interpretation of assessments linked to the learning progressions that had been administered by the researchers. In these instances, rather than interpreting co-designed formative assessment tasks, teachers were working with assessment items that were developed by the original designers of the learning progressions (Force & Motion, Alonzo and Steedle 2009; ChemFacets, Minstrell n.d.), and these meetings centered around discussions of researcher-prepared score reports that were explicitly linked to the learning progressions. At HS 2, the first of these meetings across the project, the conversation was at first a challenge because the physics teachers did not have the prior necessary understanding of the learning progression; a redesign of the score reports and facilitation process led to a more successful meeting with physics teachers at HS 1 several weeks later (Henson et al. 2018).

At HS 1, the Chemistry teachers engaged in deep conversation around the ChemFacets, naming specific facet clusters by number as they interpreted the score report. These findings, although not specifically related to the co-designed formative assessments, do suggest that a close link between the learning progression and

assessment items accompanied by reports that draw clear links to the learning progression facilitated deeper use of learning progressions with conversation around student ideas and next instructional steps.

## Design Features Conducive to Formative Assessment Design, Enactment, and Reflection

As we reflect back across the schools and PLCs, it is clear that our intention to use the learning progressions to support formative assessment task design and interpretation was not realized as we had intended. Our field notes indicate efforts on the part of the facilitators to introduce the learning progressions and to use the learning progressions, but these resources were not ultimately a major focus of the co-design or interpretation of formative assessment tasks in the PLC meetings.

This outcome likely stems from the large difference between the context of the original design and use of the learning progressions, which we detail in section "Original learning progression designs and purposes", and the use of the learning progressions in our partner district to support formative assessment task design and interpretation. Only the Natural Selection learning progression was originally designed for this purpose and then again in a different school district using different curriculum materials. Clearly the difference in context mattered, as noted by several of the teachers. However, we did observe several instances in which the learning progressions were used, either across several PLCs or in a sustained way by one individual.

#### Discussion

#### Constructing a Validity Argument from a Pragmatic Perspective

As we conclude, we return to the pragmatic perspective for the validity of these progressions for this context of use presented earlier in this paper. The preceding analysis suggests that we can only conclude that the progressions were more valid for use in supporting teacher discussions about unit scope and sequence, as well as learning about the range of student ideas in the content domains the progressions covered, than they were for supporting formative assessment task design. The progressions were also not immediately useful to teachers in interpreting student work or identifying next steps for instruction for the formative assessment tasks designed in their PLCs, although the progressions were more informative when teachers were discussing score reports presenting student response patterns to items directly linked to the progressions. To a certain degree, these findings are perhaps not surprising, given that each of these progressions has been migrated out of the various contexts of their original use.

# Design Criteria for Learning Progressions for Formative Assessment

As we look across the different progressions, which had different features, we did identify three categories of design criteria that appeared more useful to teachers as they designed formative assessment tasks and interpreted student ideas. We describe each of these below.

Match Between Assessments and Learning Progressions The instance in which we gained more traction with the learning progressions was not even in an instance of designing formative assessments but when teachers were using the learning progression to interpret student response patterns on assessment items designed along-side the learning progressions themselves. While this was not always the case in our findings, this result suggests that a good fit between the assessment task and the learning progression, along with facilitation resources such as a score report linked to the learning progression, may be more likely to lead to conversations in which teachers engage with the learning progression more substantively.

These missing resources are reflected in an interview with one of the biology teachers at HS 3, who noted the challenge of not having specific lesson resources to connect to the learning progression, noting that he felt the progression needed "... to be put in context of a lesson that would be delivered and tied to it so that there is a clear lesson formative matching. If you have the formative but there's no lesson attached to it, then you're going to have to cobble together a lesson."

**Grain Size** The majority of the learning progressions we have used in the study were large enough to span multiple years of student learning; as such, teachers were often unsure where to begin in using the progressions to diagnose student thinking. In the case of biology at HS 3, teachers worked with one progression that spanned all grades from K-12 (Carbon and Energy Cycling) and a second progression that covered only one high school unit in one grade level (Natural Selection). When asked about these two learning progressions, teachers found the latter more useful for the formative assessment design work they had done in our project.

One Chemistry teacher, working with a ChemFacets cluster for the structure of matter, found that it contained so many ideas that he did not find the representation useful to support his formative assessment design or classroom practice. This had to do with the *amount* of ideas covered, though, and not the span of a curriculum (e.g., spanning ideas covered in multiple grade levels) that might be represented in other progressions. Indeed, another Chemistry teacher said that the same facets had helped her have an organizing framework for student ideas as she was teaching.

**Teacher Ownership** Across our analyses, it was clear that the learning progression was just one of several resources that teachers used while planning units and formative assessments. They also used district-prioritized standards documents, unit pacing guides, textbooks, and other curriculum materials. A biology teacher called one of the learning progressions the "one that you guys showed us," perhaps

reflecting that the learning progression was something we were bringing and not something that was owned by the teachers.

In most of the PLCs, teachers ultimately created resources that were more useful to them – their own local scopes and sequences and their own systems for identifying and sorting student ideas – rather than using the ones we had brought to them. These results suggest that some kind of hybridized model of progression, one that incorporates ideas from the research-based learning progressions, in addition to those building on the resources teacher bring, might ultimately be better – and more valid – supports for teachers as they design and interpret student ideas from formative assessments.

Acknowledgments This material is based upon work supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. 1561751. Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundation.

#### References

- Alonzo, A. C., & Elby, A. (2014). The nature of student thinking and its implications for the use of learning progressions to inform classroom instruction. In J. L. Polman, E. A. Kyza, D. K. O'Neill, I. Tabak, W. R. Penuel, A. S. Jurow, K. O'Connor, T. Lee, & L. D'Amico (Eds.), *Learning and becoming in practice: The International Conference of the Learning Sciences* (*ICLS*) (Vol. 2). Boulder: International Society of the Learning Sciences.
- Alonzo, A. C., & Elby, A. (2015). One physics teacher's use of a learning progression to generate knowledge about his students' understanding of force and motion. In *Paper presented at the* annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association. Chicago.
- Alonzo, A. C., & Steedle, J. T. (2009). Developing and assessing a force and motion learning progression. *Science Education*, 93(3), 389–421. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.20303.
- Bennett, R. E. (2011). Formative assessment: A critical review. Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 18(1), 5–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594X.2010.513678.
- Berland, L. K., & McNeill, K. L. (2010). A learning progression for scientific argumentation: Understanding student work and designing supportive instructional contexts. *Science Education*, 94(5), 765–793. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.20402.
- Black, P., & Wiliam, D. (1998). Assessment and classroom learning. Assessment in Education, 5(1), 7–74. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969595980050102.
- Board on Science Education. (2012). *Framework for the next generation science standards*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Briggs, D. C., & Peck, F. A. (2015). Using learning progressions to design vertical scales that support coherent inferences about student growth. *Measurement: Interdisciplinary Research & Perspectives*, 13, 75–99. https://doi.org/10.1080/15366367.2015.1042814.
- Corcoran, T., Mosher, F. A., & Rogat, A. (2009). Learning progressions in science: An evidencebased approach to reform. Philadelphia: Consortium for Policy Research in Education. https:// doi.org/10.12698/cpre.2009.rr63.
- Duschl, R., Maeng, S., & Sezen, A. (2011). Learning progressions and teaching sequences: A review and analysis. *Studies in Science Education*, 47(2), 123–182. https://doi.org/10.1080/03 057267.2011.604476.
- Eisenkraft, A. (2003). Active chemistry. Armonk: It's About Time.
- Eisenkraft, A. (2010). Active physics: An inquiry approach to physics. Armonk: It's About Time.

- Furtak, E. M. (2012). Linking a learning progression for natural selection to teachers' enactment of formative assessment. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 49(9), 1181–1210. https:// doi.org/10.1002/tea.21054.
- Furtak, E. M., & Heredia, S. (2014). Exploring the influence of learning progressions in two teacher communities. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 51(8), 982–1020. https://doi. org/10.1002/tea.21156.
- Furtak, E. M., Kiemer, K., Circi, R. K., Swanson, R., de León, V., Morrison, D., & Heredia, S. C. (2016). Teachers' formative assessment abilities and their relationship to student learning: Findings from a four-year intervention study. *Instructional Science*, 44(3), 267–291. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11251-016-9371-3.
- Henson, K., Chattergoon, R., & Furtak, E. M. (2018). Facilitating teacher interpretation of score reports as a way to understand student ideas linked to a learning progression. *Paper presented* at the annual meeting of the national association of research on science teaching. Atlanta.
- Heritage, M., Kim, J., Vendlinski, T., & Herman, J. (2009). From evidence to action: A seamless process in formative assessment? *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice*, 28(3), 24–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-3992.2009.00151.x.
- Horn, I. S. (2010). Teaching replays, teaching rehearsals, and re-visions of practice: Learning from colleagues in a mathematics teacher community. *Teachers College Record*, 112(1), 225–259.
- Howe, K., & Eisenhart, M. (1990). Standards for qualitative (and quantitative) research: A prolegomenon. *Educational Researcher*, 19(4), 2–9. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X019004002.
- Johnson, R. B., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Johnson, R. B., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2014). Mixed methods research: A research paradigm whose time has come. *Educational Researcher*, 33(7), 14–26. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X033007014.
- Lehrer, R., & Schauble, L. (2012). Seeding evolutionary thinking by engaging children in modeling its foundations. *Science Education*, 96(4), 701–724. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.20475.
- McLaughlin, M. W., & Talbert, J. E. (2001). Professional communities and the work of high school teaching. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Menand, L. (2002). The metaphysical club. New York: Farrar Straus & Giroux.
- Messick, S. (1989). Meaning and values in test validation: The science and ethics of assessment. *Educational Researcher*, 18(2), 5–11. https://doi.org/10.2307/1175249.
- Minstrell, J. (n.d.). Diagnoser: Instructional tools for science and mathematics. www.diagnoser. com/. Accessed 5 Sept 2015.
- Mohan, L., Chen, J., & Anderson, C. W. (2009). Developing a multi-year learning progression for carbon cycling in socio-ecological systems. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46(6), 675–698. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20314.
- National Research Council. (2007). Taking science to school: Learning and teaching science in grades K-8. Washington, DC: National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/11625.
- Neumann, K., Viering, T., Boone, W. J., & Fischer, H. E. (2013). Towards a learning progression of energy. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 50(2), 162–188. https://doi.org/10.1002/ tea.21061.
- Penuel, W. R., Fishman, B. J., Haugan Cheng, B., & Sabelli, N. (2011). Organizing research and development at the intersection of learning, implementation, and design. *Educational Researcher*, 40(7), 331–337. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X11421826.
- Shavelson, R. J. (2009). Reflections on learning progressions. In *Learning progressions in science conference*. Iowa City, Iowa.
- Smith, J. P., diSessa, A. A., & Roschelle, J. (1993). Misconceptions reconceived: A constructivist analysis of knowledge in transition. *The Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 3(2), 115–163. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327809jls0302_1.
- Songer, N. B., & Gotwals, A. W. (2012). Guiding explanation construction by children at the entry points of learning progressions. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 49(2), 141–165. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20454.

- Thompson, J., Braaten, M., & Windschitl, M. (2009). Learning progressions as vision tools for advancing novice teachers' pedagogical performance. In *Learning progressions in science conference*. Iowa City, Iowa.
- Wiliam, D. (2007). Keeping learning on track: Classroom assessment and the regulation of learning. In J. F. K. Lester (Ed.), Second handbook of mathematics teaching and learning (pp. 1053– 1098). Greenwich: Information Age Publishing.
- Wilson, M. (2005). Constructing measures: An item response modeling approach. Mahwah: Erlbaum. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781410611697.
- Wilson, M. (2009). Measuring progressions: Assessment structures underlying a learning progression. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46(6), 716–730. https://doi.org/10.1002/ tea.20318.
- Yin, R. K. (2003/2018). Case study research: Design and methods (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Yin, Y., Tomita, M. K., & Shavelson, R. J. (2014). Using formal embedded formative assessments aligned with a short-term learning progression to promote conceptual change and achievement in science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 36(4), 531–552. https://doi.org/10.108 0/09500693.2013.787556.

## Learning Progressions and Competence Models: A Comparative Analysis



Annette Upmeier zu Belzen (), Alicia C. Alonzo (), Moritz Krell (), and Dirk Krüger ()

#### Introduction

In many countries, current goals for science education are described in terms of performance expectations or competences, rather than lists of content students should learn (Koeppen et al. 2008). Models of student learning describe the performances that might be expected as students work toward a set of these expectations or competences in a given domain. These models have the potential to inform educational objectives, curriculum, instruction, and assessment (e.g., Gotwals 2012; Reusser 2014). As such, they may mediate between standards, educational objectives, teaching activities, and student learning. Thus, they may support the attainment of educational goals by guiding teachers' diagnoses of individual student learning (e.g., Terzer et al. 2013) and, hence, instruction that is tailored to students' learning needs (e.g., Alonzo 2011).

We explore two different approaches to modeling student learning: one prominent in the United States (US) and one prominent in German-speaking countries. In the former, learning progressions (LPs) describe the thinking or performances of practices typical for students as they learn. In the latter, competence models (CMs) "are detailed descriptions of intended student learning outcomes in terms of knowledge, abilities, and skills in specific areas which are derived from teaching methodology and learning psychology" (Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia et al. 2017: 23). LPs and CMs both articulate qualitatively different levels of a given competence, yet these

A. Upmeier zu Belzen (⊠)

A. C. Alonzo Department of Teacher Education, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, USA

M. Krell · D. Krüger Biology Education, Freie Universität Berlin, Berlin, Germany

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Biology Education, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Berlin, Germany e-mail: annette.upmeier@biologie.hu-berlin.de

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_16

two models of student learning differ according to a number of criteria. In this chapter, we highlight similarities and differences with respect to four of these: kinds of models, model structure, application to teaching and learning, and evaluation through research. In order to illustrate our comparison, we use examples of one LP (Schwarz et al. 2012) and one CM (Krell et al. 2016; Upmeier zu Belzen and Krüger 2010) for models and modeling in science education. By doing so, we aim to gain a deeper understanding of both approaches and, thus, to inform efforts to understand and support teaching and learning in science.

#### Learning Progressions and Competence Models

Both LPs and CMs arose from concerns about student achievement prompted, at least in part, by international comparisons such as PISA (OECD 2000) and TIMSS (Martin et al. 2012). LPs were formally introduced (National Research Council 2007), in part, in response to critiques of US science curricula as shallow and incoherent (Schmidt et al. 2005). In Germany, CMs were introduced as part of a paradigm shift, from the acquisition to the application of knowledge, in response to the so-called PISA Shock of the early 2000s (Klieme and Hartig 2008). While the US response focused on learners and the coherence of their educational experiences, the German response focused on learning outcomes in combination with competence-oriented teaching.

#### The Learning Progression Approach

LPs are "descriptions of the successively more sophisticated ways of thinking about a topic that can follow one another as children learn" (National Research Council 2007: 219). LPs are typically organized into levels, with the lowest level (the lower anchor) describing students' pre-instructional ideas or practices, the highest level (or upper anchor) describing expectations for student outcomes, and intermediate levels describing ideas or practices that are typical as students move from the lower to the upper anchor. LPs have an explicit focus on the way students approach a given topic or practice. Rather than breaking scientific ideas or practices into constituent components through logical analysis, resulting in strand maps that illustrate connections between components or lists of components ordered by difficulty, LP levels describe the ideas or practices characteristic of students with different degrees of sophistication. Differences between levels of an LP are qualitative, reflecting different ways of thinking about a single topic or performing a single practice, rather than the acquisition of additional knowledge and/or skills. LP researchers are careful to note that LPs are not developmentally inevitable, and many argue that an LP must be accompanied by "instructional components" describing the instruction that is necessary to advance students from one level to the next (e.g., Krajcik 2012: 32).

Although not always explicitly included in LPs, researchers also acknowledge that there is likely variation in students' progress from the lower to the upper anchor of an LP (e.g., Corcoran et al. 2009) and that, as models, LPs can only approximate students' cognition and learning (e.g., Alonzo and Elby 2019). One is likely to see deviation from the neat progress represented between the lower and upper anchors of a given LP, i.e., the "messy middle" (Gotwals and Songer 2010: 277).

#### The Competence Model Approach

Competences are defined as "domain-specific cognitive dispositions that are required to successfully cope with certain situations or tasks, and that are acquired by learning processes" (Koeppen et al. 2008: 68). Essential elements of this definition are the domain specificity and learnability of competences, since the construct was introduced as an alternative to the focus on domain-general cognitive dispositions that are learnable only to a limited extent (e.g., intelligence). Competences reflect a person's potential to meet cognitive demands in specific areas of learning and behavior in order to successfully solve problems in various situations (Klieme et al. 2008). In other words, competences are latent and complex constructs including both knowledge and skills that become manifest during performance. However, following Ropohl et al. (2018), the concept of competence is still under discussion because of its many constituents. Even though definitions of competence include both cognitive and volitional components, the latter are often not included when competence is operationalized in CMs (Koeppen et al. 2008).

CMs are located between the theory of competence and competence-oriented teaching. This means they are a domain-specific operationalization of the theory of competence, developed with regard to elements of teaching and the outcomes of learning. CMs are derived from teaching methodology and psychology of learning. Typically, CMs are two-dimensional frameworks that represent a given competence with a set of sub-competences (one dimension), each with qualitatively different levels (the other dimension). Initially, these frameworks are conceptualized as structural models. Once there is empirical evidence that the levels are ordered hierarchically as postulated, CMs may become developmental models (e.g., Schecker and Parchmann 2006).

## Criteria for Comparison of Learning Progressions and Competence Models

There is no single template for either LPs or CMs. Each approach encompasses disagreements about what "counts" as an LP or a CM, and significant variation exists within examples of each approach, such that an absolute comparison, applicable to all LPs and all CMs, is not possible (e.g., Hammer and Sikorski 2015).

Nevertheless, in the sections below, we attempt to generalize across LPs and CMs to describe and compare the two approaches with respect to four criteria: kinds of models, model structure, application to teaching and learning, and evaluation through research.

#### Kinds of Models

With LPs and CMs as two alternative models of student learning, we start by considering the kind of model each represents. LPs articulate different levels that describe student thinking or practice as it typically develops. Because LPs emphasize the nature of students' thinking or practice, they include both canonical and noncanonical ideas characteristic of students with a given level of sophistication (Corcoran et al. 2009). They focus on the development of students' ideas and practices, and thus LPs can be seen as developmental models (Schecker and Parchmann 2006), based on available evidence of student thinking and learning. In contrast, at least initially, CMs are typically structural models (Schecker and Parchmann 2006), representing a set of sub-competences with qualitatively different levels. CMs contain descriptions of achievement or competence: what students theoretically should know and be able to do. When a CM is first proposed, there is not yet empirical evidence that justifies the relevance and discriminatory power of each sub-competence and the hierarchical ordering of levels (e.g., Schecker and Parchmann 2006). Although LPs typically focus on a single topic or idea and thus may have a narrower scope as compared to CMs, LPs are not always unidimensional. They may include multiple progress variables (Wilson 2009) or dimensions that progress together as students learn.

#### Model Structure

Both LPs and CMs are organized in terms of levels that are not regarded as developmentally inevitable stages (Krell et al. 2016; Smith et al. 2006); rather, they describe what learners can accomplish with suitable learning opportunities. However, as LPs and CMs represent different approaches to modeling student learning, their respective levels have somewhat different meanings. With their focus on the development of student ideas and practices, LPs represent a contextualized, evidence-based argument about potential pathways learning can take. In other words, LPs explicitly hypothesize an ordering of the levels through which students develop more sophisticated ideas and/or practices. In contrast, levels in a CM are meant to be qualitatively different in an ordinal sense, not necessarily describing hierarchically ordered developmental stages. Thus, learners do not necessarily have to go through the levels in a particular order during the learning process, although such an ordering might be later revealed. Rather, during the learning process, learners can move individually through the levels of each sub-competence of the CM.

#### **Application to Teaching and Learning**

A key application of LPs and CMs is to provide support for teachers' classroom instruction. As models of student learning, both mediate among standards, objectives, and teaching and learning activities. Both may help to break down standards into learning goals for units or even lessons. This is particularly important in the German context, in which standards are defined for the end of schooling and, thus, provide distal goals for teaching and learning (von Aufschnaiter and Hofmann 2014). Therefore, CMs provide a link between the standards and the respective educational theory, first by providing a theoretical justification for the standards and second by decomposing the standards into subordinate targets (sub-competences and levels). The levels of a CM can guide the development of domain-specific subcompetences. However, while levels of an LP may be directly used to develop curriculum materials and instruction that support students' progress along the pathways described in the LP, CMs often are not directly suitable for teachers. Therefore, CMs might be operationalized in concrete and detailed rubrics, which define expectations in terms of indicators of observable student performance (Burke 2006; Grünkorn et al. 2014a). Both LPs and CMs can be used to diagnose student achievement in terms of their respective levels, and such diagnoses may be used to identify appropriate instruction to help students advance from one level to another (e.g., Schecker and Parchmann 2006).

#### **Evaluation Through Research**

LPs and CMs start out as hypotheses; however, in contrast to CMs, LPs are generally proposed on the basis of empirical evidence of student understanding of a given topic, or performance of a given practice, and how it develops. For both LPs and CMs, evaluation relies on qualitative and quantitative methods. LP evaluation efforts focus on both individual cells (ideas or practices at a given level) and whether the LP as a whole captures student learning. Therefore, longitudinal studies over the span of the LP are preferred, but teaching experiments (demonstrating movement from one level to the next), and even cross-sectional studies, are also used (Corcoran et al. 2009). Often, work to explore students' movement through an LP involves design research, in which the LP is refined along with instruction designed to support student learning with respect to the LP (e.g., Wiser et al. 2012). Ultimately, evaluation of an LP entails not only its content but also its utility, e.g., for informing teachers' practice or the development of effective curriculum materials (e.g., Songer et al. 2009). For CMs, the postulated structure of the model, with sub-competences and levels, might be evaluated qualitatively, e.g., in cognitive labs, or quantitatively, e.g., using test instruments and statistical analyses (Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia et al. 2017). In the latter, the cells of the model are operationalized into tasks, which are solved by learners in cross-sectional or longitudinal studies. The data are used to investigate the postulated structure of the CM, and, with sufficient evidence, structural models might become developmental models (Schecker and Parchmann 2006).

In the following we apply the criteria presented above to compare an LP (Schwarz et al. 2012) with a CM (Upmeier zu Belzen and Krüger 2010) for models and modeling in science education.

#### **Application to Models and Modeling in Science Education**

Models and modeling in science education have been under intensive research for nearly 40 years (Gilbert and Osborne 1980; Grosslight et al. 1991), stressing the importance of thinking with models scientifically and engaging in inquiry through modeling (Gilbert and Justi 2016; Nicolaou and Constantinou 2014; Passmore et al. 2014; Schwarz et al. 2012; Upmeier zu Belzen and Krüger 2010). This goes beyond the conventional use of models in science classes, which often is limited to representing content knowledge for learning science (Hodson 2014). In many science education standards documents (e.g., Germany: KMK 2005; USA: NGSS Lead States 2013), the application of knowledge about models and modeling in processes of scientific inquiry (Krell et al. 2016) adds the perspective of models as research tools to the traditional use of models as media to represent content knowledge (Passmore et al. 2014; Upmeier zu Belzen and Krüger 2010).

For these two possible applications of models as media or research tools, respectively, it is crucial to distinguish between two relations between the model and its target (Mahr 2011; Gouvea and Passmore 2017): "model of something," the retrospective and more or less ontological view of the process of model creation, and "model for something," the prospective view of the application of a model.

Currently, there are multiple approaches that describe practices, skills, (meta-) knowledge, and/or competences concerning models and modeling in science education (e.g., Crawford and Cullin 2005; Krell et al. 2016; Nicolaou and Constantinou 2014; Oh and Oh 2011; Passmore et al. 2014). All of these approaches propose relevant aspects of learning and teaching science with and about models and modeling, some with reference to model-based learning (Clement and Rea-Ramirez 2008) and model-based teaching (Gilbert and Justi 2016). In these approaches, there is rough consensus about which knowledge and skills should be developed in science education (e.g., Gilbert and Justi 2016): knowledge about models (ontological and epistemological nature of models, why they are constructed and used, assessment of their scientific value), knowledge about modeling (ontological and epistemological grounds for model construction, procedures in model construction, and evaluation of these procedures), and skills in the practice of modeling (constructing models consistent with prior evidence and theories; using models to illustrate, explain, and predict phenomena; comparing and evaluating the reflective potential of alternative models; and revising models to increase their explanatory and predictive power). Many of these approaches served as a
basis for the development of the LP (Schwarz et al. 2012) and the CM (Upmeier zu Belzen and Krüger 2010).

## Description of the Learning Progression for Models and Modeling

The LP proposed by Schwarz et al. (2012) was designed to characterize students' knowledge and practice when engaged in modeling, rather than to evaluate students' conceptions about models. It has two dimensions: a generative dimension (models as tools for predicting and explaining) and a dynamic dimension (models as changeable entities). Originally, both dimensions were structured into four levels of reflective practice that capture growth in students' understanding and performance (Schwarz et al. 2009). These levels refer to four elements of practice: constructing, using, evaluating, and revising models to enhance their explanatory and predictive power. For two of the levels, further empirical investigations led to the separation of the generative dimension into four subdimensions: attention to abstraction and representation of the features of the model, clarity of communication and audience understanding, support using evidence, and mechanistic and processoriented explanation versus illustrative/descriptive accounts. Each of these subdimensions has three levels (Bamberger and Davis 2013; Schwarz et al. 2009). Bamberger and Davis (2013) considered an additional dimension: comparativeness (how models differing by time or condition help to understand the scientific phenomenon). This dimension was used along with three subdimensions of the generative dimension (representation, communication, and explanation) in order to examine students' ability to transfer modeling performances across content areas. Thus, empirical investigation of the models and modeling LP in teaching experiments and studies of students' performances is an ongoing process leading to changes in the description of dimensions and levels (Bamberger and Davis 2013; Schwarz et al. 2012).

#### Description of the Competence Model for Models and Modeling

Following Weinert (2001), Upmeier zu Belzen and Krüger (2010) defined model competence as the ability to gain purposeful new insights while modeling, the ability to judge models and the modeling process in relation to the purpose, the ability to reflect upon modeling processes, and the motivational and social willingness to use these abilities in problem-based situations. The CM for models and modeling in science education is based on a review of relevant literature on models and modeling (c.f. Krüger et al. 2018). The literature provides descriptions for sub-competences and levels of understanding. For instance, Crawford and Cullin (2005) developed a matrix

with five dimensions (sub-competences) describing four levels: limited, prescientific, emerging scientific, and scientific. All literature about models and modeling reviewed by Upmeier zu Belzen and Krüger (2010) only implicitly integrates the aforementioned distinction between models of something and models for something.

The resulting CM contains five sub-competences: purpose of models, testing models, changing models, nature of models, and multiple models. The CM distinguishes three levels of understanding for each sub-competence (Krell et al. 2016; Krüger et al. 2018). These levels characterize increasing complexity when thinking about a model (level 1, limited view of the representation of the model; level 2, understanding of model creation, model of something; level 3, perceiving a model as a scientific idea and a research tool, model for something). The structure is restricted to cognitive aspects that are needed to solve domain-specific problems (Koeppen et al. 2008).

## Comparison Between LP and CM for Models and Modeling

#### Kinds of Models

As described above, LPs are developmental and CMs, at least initially, structural (Schecker and Parchmann 2006). The kind of model has to do with the respective purposes of LPs and CMs, which affect how the LP and CM for models and modeling were created. The models and modeling LP describes pathways for student learning and, therefore, was based on prior research, theoretical arguments, and empirical observations of science lessons (Schwarz et al. 2012), with a focus on what is most productive for learners. Empirical investigations in classrooms were used to design appropriate descriptions of dimensions and levels of students' individual development while learning about models and modeling (Schwarz et al. 2012). The resulting LP represents a developmental model, in that it describes paths through which students can engage with more sophisticated modeling practices over time.

The CM was based on theoretical work (e.g., Mahr 2011) and empirical evidence (e.g., Crawford and Cullin 2005) from already existing research about models and modeling. Thus, the CM initially was a hypothetical structural model (Schecker and Parchmann 2006). After many years of research on the postulated structure, the subcompetences have been shown to be statistically separable (Krell 2013). Students' responses to a set of contextualized items revealed that the cells of the CM provide valid descriptions of the postulated structure (Grünkorn et al. 2014b). Frequencies of student answers from cross-sectional studies showed that the levels are ordered from low to high difficulty (Krell 2013; Terzer 2013).

#### **Model Structure**

Consistent with the comparison above, (a) the LP and CM for models and modeling are organized into levels that require suitable learning opportunities for students to achieve, and (b) while the LP describes the pathway that students might take through its levels, the CM does not. However, in both approaches, research is used to investigate the way that students do progress through the levels. For the LP, this has occurred through experimental interventions (e.g., Schwarz et al. 2012) as part of the aforementioned design work. For the CM, this has occurred through longitudinal studies with test instruments (Patzke et al. 2013). While the levels initially were not posited hierarchically (i.e., learners do not necessarily have to go through the levels in a particular order during the learning process), longitudinal studies might show a hierarchical order. However, evidence available so far only supports the CM as a structural model: data has provided evidence that the descriptions of the subcompetences and levels are accurate (Grünkorn et al. 2014b; Krell 2013; Terzer 2013).

#### **Application to Teaching and Learning**

For the models and modeling LP, application to teaching and learning was a component of the iterative process involving theoretical and empirical work during the development of the LP. This process of designing and revising the LP was constrained by what is possible in classrooms with existing curriculum materials and teachers. Therefore, a parallel process of designing effective curriculum materials (Schwarz et al. 2009) and professional development materials to support students and teachers in their enactments of the practice was undertaken as part of the design work to develop the LP. Characterizing and comparing possible paths for learning a particular target concept evolved from design considerations. When applying the LP to teaching and learning, Schwarz et al. (2009) also needed to consider how to balance metaknowledge and practice, how the practice was enacted across science topics, and the appropriate grain size for capturing student learning and for highlighting particular forms of models and elements of modeling practice.

As the CM was not developed through empirical approaches via classroom enactments, the CM was applied to teaching and learning only after a long search for evidence concerning the appropriateness of the structure (Krell et al. 2016). At this point, the dimensions and levels were implemented as national reference frameworks from the government (e.g., Berliner Rahmenlehrplan 2014) and in teaching materials from publishing companies (e.g., Fleige et al. 2012).

#### **Evaluation Through Research**

As for other LP research, in work on the models and modeling LP, both descriptions of the levels and the student development that they describe were explored through ongoing design research used to evaluate and refine the LP. Researchers needed to explore which aspects of scientific modeling practice are both feasible and productive for learners, as well as challenges and successes in reaching particular learning goals, in order to develop design arguments for the learning goals expressed in the LP (Schwarz et al. 2012). These design arguments became part of the postulated levels of the models and modeling LP. In addition, investigating the LP required effective assessments of modeling practice, as enacted across multiple science topics, and appropriate analytical tools for interpreting outcomes.

As is common for CM research, evaluation of the CM for models and modeling has, thus far, focused on its structure through both cross-sectional and longitudinal studies. Several studies have provided empirical evidence confirming the structure (sub-competences and levels) of the CM (e.g., Grünkorn et al. 2014b; Krell 2013; Terzer 2013). Further attempts to evaluate the CM as a developmental model are being conducted in intervention studies with in- and pre-service teachers (Günther, et al. 2019; Mathesius et al. 2016). Ultimately, these results might offer evidence for the appropriateness of the CM as a pathway for student learning.

Thus, empirical research on LPs and on CMs for models and modeling differ fundamentally in their approaches. The models and modeling LP has been developed based on design-based research used to iteratively develop the LP along with instruction that can help learners meaningfully engage in modeling practices. Work on the CM, in contrast, has taken place outside of an instructional context. The structure of sub-competences and levels was evaluated using assessment tools with populations with postulated differences in models and modeling competence.

### **Discussion and Conclusions**

Both the LP approach and the CM approach are still ill-defined (Hammer and Sikorski 2015; Ropohl et al. 2018). As Sikorski and Hammer (2010: 1032) stated for LPs: "Given the speed of its adoption, it is not surprising there are variations in how the notion is understood, regarding how to assess sophistication as well as how to conceptualize progress." However, despite great variation within each approach, we see important similarities and differences.

Both LPs and CMs describe latent constructs that are evaluated using assessments. Both are structured in terms of levels, describing sophistication with respect to one or more dimension(s) of student achievement and/or performance. Both are investigated through empirical studies and have as an aim support for teaching and learning.

However, even in this brief overview of some key criteria presented here, we see important differences between LPs and CMs. LPs' focus on student learning

means that they tend to focus on a narrower "slice" of the curriculum, providing more detailed information about how students' ideas develop. In contrast, the focus on learning outcomes in CMs, coupled with end-of-schooling standards, means that CMs take a much broader perspective, often providing a more connected view of the different knowledge and practices being developed with help of several CMs in a domain.

LPs aim for fidelity to the nature of student thinking, whereas CMs are concerned more with alignment to standards (i.e., student achievement). As such, levels of LPs include both canonical and noncanonical characteristics, whereas CMs include only canonical aspects of competences. LPs with their developmental focus help to foreground students' thinking about specific concepts, whereas CMs' broader scope and structural focus might provide a foundation for describing the larger landscape of student learning in science.

Although both approaches are valued for their contributions to teaching and learning, differences in their origins and original purposes have led to different emphases in the research efforts associated with LPs and CMs. LPs are grounded in empirical evidence of student thinking and learning, and their evaluation may also be considered with respect to utility (e.g., Songer et al. 2009). For example, the iterative development of the models and modeling LP using evidence of students' engagement in modeling practices when experiencing simultaneously-developed curriculum materials results in a strong hypothesis about how to foster students' modeling competence (Bamberger and Davis 2013; Schwarz et al. 2009, 2012). In contrast, CMs are theoretically grounded, and associated evaluation efforts focus on the empirical demonstration that the cells of the model (i.e., sub-competences with levels) describe separable parts of the competence (Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia et al. 2017). CMs are often transferred into operationalized indicators (i.e., rubrics; Burke 2006) for competence-oriented classroom applications (Reusser 2014). For example, work on the CM for models and modeling has proceeded from evaluation of its structure (Krell et al. 2016) to development and use of instruments to assess competences, e.g., in large-scale longitudinal studies (Mathesius et al. 2016), to diagnosis of student learning (Gogolin and Krüger 2017) and finally to the use of the CM as an empirically-grounded, theoretical basis for the development of curriculum materials (Fleige et al. 2012).

Appreciating differences between the two approaches (as illustrated through our comparison of the LP and CM for models and modeling) can foster communication between researchers, such that insights from both traditions might be combined to enrich research and practice. LPs show us how to foreground student thinking and/ or practices and student learning. CMs provide a strong foundation for empirically testing the structure of a competence, which can support understanding of the sub-components and levels of the competence and perhaps student learning.

**Acknowledgments** This chapter is based upon work supported by the US National Science Foundation (Grant No. DRL-1253036) and the Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (Grant No. 01JG0906, 0lJGl072). Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this chapter are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the funding agencies.

## References

- Alonzo, A. C. (2011). Learning progressions that support formative assessment practices. *Measurement: Interdisciplinary Research and Perspectives*, 9(2–3), 124–129. https://doi.org /10.1080/15366367.2011.599629.
- Alonzo, A. C., & Elby, A. (2019). Beyond empirical adequacy: Learning progressions as models and their value for teachers. *Cognition and Instruction*, 37, 1–37. https://doi.org/10.1080/073 70008.2018.1539735.
- Aufschnaiter, C. v., & Hofmann, J. (2014). Competence and knowledge mutual relationships and consequences for lesson planning. *Der mathematische und naturwissenschaftliche Unterricht* (MNU), 67(1), 10–16.
- Bamberger, Y. M., & Davis, E. A. (2013). Middle-school science students' scientific modelling performances across content areas and within a learning progression. *International Journal of Science Education*, 35(2), 213–238. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2011.624133.
- Berliner Rahmenlehrplan. (2014). Landesinstitut für Schule und Medien Berlin-Brandenburg. https://bildungsserver.berlin-brandenburg.de/rlp-online/cfaecher/biologie/kompetenzentwicklung/. Assessed 2 July 2019
- Burke, K. (2006). From standards to rubrics in 6 steps. Heatherton: Hawker Brownlow.
- Clement, J. J., & Rea-Ramirez, M. A. (Eds.). (2008). Model based learning and instruction in science (Vol. 2). Dordrecht: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-6494-4.
- Corcoran, T. B., Mosher, F. A., & Rogat, A. (2009). Learning progressions in science: An evidencebased approach to reform (CPRE Research Report #RR-63). Philadelphia: Consortium for Policy Research in Education. https://doi.org/10.12698/cpre.2009.rr63.
- Crawford, B., & Cullin, M. (2005). Dynamic assessments of preservice teachers' knowledge of models and modeling. In K. Boersma, M. Goedhart, O. de Jong, & H. Eijkelhof (Eds.), *Research and the quality of science education* (pp. 309–323). Dordrecht: Springer. https://doi. org/10.1007/1-4020-3673-6_25.
- Fleige, J., Seegers, A., Upmeier zu Belzen, A., & Krüger, D. (Eds.). (2012): Modeling competence in biology education in grades 7–10. Making phenomena tangible – in 11 elaborated lessons. Donauwörth: Auer Verlag.
- Gilbert, J. K., & Justi, R. (2016). *Modelling-based teaching in science education* (Vol. 9). Cham: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-29039-3.
- Gilbert, J. K., & Osborne, R. (1980). The use of models in science and science teaching. *International Journal of Science Education*, 2(1), 3–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/0140528800020103.
- Gogolin, S., & Krüger, D. (2017). Diagnosing students' understanding of the nature of models. *Research in Science Education*, 47(5), 1127–1149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-016-9551-9.
- Gotwals, A. W. (2012). Learning progressions for multiple purposes: Challenges in using learning progressions. In A. C. Alonzo & A. W. Gotwals (Eds.), *Learning progressions in science: Current challenges and future directions* (pp. 461–472). Rotterdam: Sense Publishers. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6091-824-7_19.
- Gotwals, A. W., & Songer, N. B. (2010). Reasoning up and down a food chain: Using an assessment framework to investigate students' middle knowledge. *Science Education*, 94(2), 259– 281. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.20368.
- Gouvea, J. S., & Passmore, C. (2017). 'Models of' versus 'models for.' *Science & Education*, 26(1–2), 49–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-017-9884-4.
- Grosslight, L., Unger, C., Jay, E., & Smith, C. L. (1991). Understanding models and their use in science: Conceptions of middle and high school students and experts. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 28(9), 799–822. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.3660280907.
- Grünkorn, J., Lotz, A., & Terzer, E. (2014a). Assessing modeling competence in biology education. Mathematischer und Naturwissenschaftlicher Unterricht, 67(3), 132–138.
- Grünkorn, J., Upmeier zu Belzen, A., & Krüger, D. (2014b). Assessing students' understandings of biological models and their use in science to evaluate a theoretical framework. *International*

Journal of Science Education, 36(10), 1651–1684. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2013.87 3155.

- Günther, S. L., Fleige, J., Upmeier zu Belzen, A., & Krüger, D. (2019). Using the case method to foster preservice biology teachers' content knowledge (CK) and pedagogical content knowledge (PCK) related to models and modeling. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*. https://doi. org/10.1080/1046560X.2018.1560208.
- Hammer, D., & Sikorski, T.-R. (2015). Implications of complexity for research on learning progressions. *Science Education*, 99(3), 424–431. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21165.
- Hodson, D. (2014). Learning science, learning about science, doing science: Different goals demand different learning methods. *International Journal of Science Education*, 36(15), 2534– 2553. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2014.899722.
- Klieme, E., & Hartig, J. (2008). Concepts of competence in the social sciences and in the educational discourse. In M. Prenzel, I. Gogolin, & H.-H. Krüger (Eds.), *Kompetenzdiagnostik: Zeitschrift für Erziehungswissenschaft* (Sonderheft 8/2007) (pp. 11–29). Wiesbaden: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-531-90865-6.
- Klieme, E., Hartig, J., & Rauch, D. (2008). The concept of competence in educational contexts. In J. Hartig, E. Klieme, & D. Leutner (Eds.), Assessment of competencies in educational contexts (pp. 3–23). Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Koeppen, K., Hartig, J., Klieme, E., & Leutner, D. (2008). Current issues in competence modeling and assessment. Zeitschrift für Psychologie [Journal of Psychology], 216, 61–73. https://doi. org/10.1027/0044-3409-216.2.61.
- Krajcik, J. S. (2012). The importance, cautions and future of learning progression research. In A. C. Alonzo & A. W. Gotwals (Eds.), *Learning progressions in science: Current challenges and future directions* (pp. 27–36). Rotterdam: Sense Publishers. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-94-6091-824-7_3.
- Krell, M. (2013). How students understand biological models: Assessing and describing secondary school students' meta-modeling knowledge (Dissertation). Berlin: Logos.
- Krell, M., Upmeier zu Belzen, A., & Krüger, D. (2016). Modellkompetenz im Biologieunterricht [modeling competence in biology education]. In A. Sandmann & P. Schmiemann (Eds.), *Biologiedidaktische Forschung. Schwerpunkte und Forschungsgegenstände* (pp. 83–102). Berlin: Logos.
- Krüger, D., Kauertz, A., & Upmeier zu Belzen, A. (2018). Standards-based competence modeling in natural science of lower secondary levels. In D. Krüger, I. Parchmann & H. Schecker (Hrsg.), *Theorien in der naturwissenschaftsdidaktischen Forschung* (pp. 141–157). Springer.
- Mahr, B. (2011). On the epistemology of models. In G. Abel & J. Conant (Eds.), *Rethinking epistemology* (pp. 301–352). Berlin: De Gruyter.
- Martin, M. O., Mullis, I. V. S., Foy, P., & Stanco, G. M. (2012). *TIMSS 2011. International results in science*. Amsterdam: International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA).
- Mathesius, S., Hartmann, S., Upmeier zu Belzen, A., & Krüger, D. (2016). Scientific reasoning as an aspect of pre-service biology teacher education: Assessing competencies using a paperpencil test. In T. Tal & A. Yarden (Eds.), *The future of biology education research* (pp. 93–110). Haifa: The Technion, Israel Institute of Technology/The Weizmann Institute of Science.
- National Research Council. (2007). Taking science to school: Learning and teaching science in grades K-8. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/11625.
- NGSS Lead States. (2013). *Next generation science standards: For states, by states*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/18290.
- Nicolaou, C. T., & Constantinou, C. P. (2014). Assessment of the modeling competence: A systematic review and synthesis of empirical research. *Educational Research Review*, 13, 52–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/jedurev.2014.10.001.
- OECD. (2000). Measuring student knowledge and skills: The PISA 2000 assessment of reading, mathematical and scientific literacy. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

- Oh, P. S., & Oh, S. J. (2011). What teachers of science need to know about models. *International Journal of Science Education*, 33(8), 1109–1130. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2010.502 191.
- Passmore, C., Gouvea, J. S., & Giere, R. (2014). Models in science and in learning science: Focusing scientific practice on sense-making. In M. Matthews (Ed.), *International handbook* of research in history, philosophy and science teaching (pp. 1171–1202). Dordrecht: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-7654-8_36.
- Patzke, C, Krüger, D., & Upmeier zu Belzen, A. (2013). Development of students' understanding of models and modelling in biology education – A longitudinal study with students aged 13–16. Proceedings of the 10th European Science Education Research Association (ESERA).
- Reusser, K. (2014). Competence orientation as a guiding concept in didactics. *Beiträge zur Lehrerinnen- und Lehrerbildung*, 32(3), 325–339.
- Ropohl, M., Nielsen, J. A., Olley, C., Rönnebeck, S., & Stables, K. (2018). The concept of competence and its relevance for science, technology and mathematics education. In J. Dolin & R. Evans (Eds.), *Transforming assessment* (pp. 3–25). Cham: Springer. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-63248-3_1.
- Schecker, H., & Parchmann, I. (2006). Modeling of scientific competence. Zeitschrift f
  ür Didaktik der Naturwissenschaften, 12, 45–66.
- Schmidt, W. H., Wang, H. C., & McKnight, C. C. (2005). Curriculum coherence: An examination of U.S. mathematics and science content standards from an international perspective. *Journal* of Curriculum Studies, 37(5), 525–559. https://doi.org/10.1080/0022027042000294682.
- Schwarz, C. V., Reiser, B. J., Davis, E. A., Kenyon, L., Achér, A., Fortus, D., Shwartz, Y., Hug, B., & Krajcik, J. (2009). Developing a learning progression for scientific modeling: Making scientific modeling accessible and meaningful for learners. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46(6), 632–654. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20311.
- Schwarz, C. V., Reiser, B. J., Achér, A., Kenyon, L., & Fortus, D. (2012). MoDeLS. In A. C. Alonzo & A. W. Gotwals (Eds.), *Learning progressions in science: Current challenges and future directions* (pp. 101–137). Rotterdam: Sense Publishers. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-94-6091-824-7_6.
- Sekretariat der Ständigen Konferenz der Kultusminister der Länder in der BRD (KMK) (Ed.). (2005). Bildungsstandards im Fach Biologie für den Mittleren Schulabschluss [biology education standards for the Mittlere Schulabschluss]. München/Neuwied: Wolters Kluwer.
- Sikorski, T.-R., & Hammer, D. (2010). A critique of how learning progressions research conceptualizes sophistication and progress. In K. Gomez, L. Lyons, & J. Radinsky (Eds.), *ICLS '10 Proceedings of the 9th International Conference of the Learning Science* (pp. 1032–1039). Chicago: International Society of the Learning Sciences.
- Smith, C. L., Wiser, M., Anderson, C. W., & Krajcik, J. (2006). Implications of research on children's learning for standards and assessment: A proposed learning progression for matter and the atomic-molecular theory. *Measurement: Interdisciplinary Research and Perspectives*, 4(1– 2), 1–98. https://doi.org/10.1080/15366367.2006.9678570.
- Songer, N. B., Kelcey, B., & Gotwals, A. W. (2009). How and when does complex reasoning occur? Empirically driven development of a learning progression focused on complex reasoning about biodiversity. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46(6), 610–631. https://doi. org/10.1002/tea.20313.
- Terzer, E. (2013). Modeling competences in the context of biology education empirical description of modeling competences using multiple-choice items (Dissertation). http://www.edoc.huberlin.de/dissertationen/terzer-eva-2012-12-19/PDF/terzer.pdf. Accessed 28 May 2018.
- Terzer, E., Hartig, J., & Upmeier zu Belzen, A. (2013). Systematic construction of a modeling competence test in biology education taking into account quality criteria [Developing systematically a test of model competence in biology education taking account of quality criteria]. *Zeitschrift für Didaktik der Naturwissenschaften*, 19, 51–76.
- Upmeier zu Belzen, A., & Krüger, D. (2010). Modeling competence in biology education [Model competence in biology teaching]. Zeitschrift für Didaktik der Naturwissenschaften, 16, 41–57.

- Weinert, F. E. (2001). Concept of competence: A conceptual clarification. In D. S. Rychen & L. H. Salganik (Eds.), *Defining and selecting key competencies* (pp. 45–65). Kirkland: Hogrefe.
- Wilson, M. (2009). Measuring progressions: Assessment structures underlying a learning progression. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46(6), 716–730. https://doi.org/10.1002/ tea.20318.
- Wiser, M., Smith, C. L., & Doubler, S. (2012). Learning progressions as tools for curriculum development: Lessons from the inquiry project. In A. C. Alonzo & A. W. Gotwals (Eds.), *Learning progressions in science: Current challenges and future directions* (pp. 359–403). Rotterdam: Sense Publishers. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6091-824-7_16.
- Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia, O., Pant, H. A., Lautenbach, C., Molerov, D., Toepper, M., & Brückner, S. (2017). Modeling and measuring competencies in higher education – Approaches to challenges in higher education policy and practice. Wiesbaden: Springer. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-658-15486-8.

## Science Teaching Through the Lenses of Students: Lower Secondary School



Eva Pennegård

## Introduction

While various researchers have argued that teacher quality is one of the most important influences on student learning (Hattie 2009; Nilsson and Loughran 2012), there is limited consensus about what that teacher knowledge looks like in action. As a way of making different components of teacher knowledge explicit to teacher educators, Shulman (1986, 1987) introduced the concept of pedagogical content knowledge (PCK). Since then, researchers have investigated and developed the concept of PCK as a possible way to describe the professional knowledge of teaching to better meet students' learning needs. Loughran et al. (2004) proposed a reflective tool called content representation (CoRe) in order to unpack the embedded components in PCK. With the help of explicit prompts to reflect on when planning, teachers can use CoRe to reveal the tacit parts of PCK (Loughran et al. 2004; Nilsson and Loughran 2012). Eames et al. (2011) found that the tool helped both novice and experienced teachers to develop their PCK while working together. The teachers became more sensitive to students' needs (Eames et al. 2011).

Cross and Lepareur (2015) investigated the connection between PCK and students' growing understanding in physics and highlighted that there is not a linear connection between PCK and student learning, but rather that PCK must be understood in relation to the complicated and multifaceted context in which teaching is conducted. Teaching and learning is best seen as a communicative process in which the concept of didactic contract could be a way to improve understanding of the complexity of teaching and learning. Cross and Lepareur (2015) argued for the need to understand more about how the concept could be taken into account in the PCK model.

University of Lund, Lund, Sweden e-mail: eva.pennegard@uvet.lu.se

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_17

E. Pennegård (⊠)

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

One model that is suitable for explaining the connections between student outcome and teachers' PCK in action is the model of consensus (Fig. 1, Gess-Newsome 2015). This model offers explanatory power for researchers and a way to understand the complexity of teaching. It is a model of teacher professional knowledge and skill, including PCK, and influences classroom practice and student outcome.

The model takes student outcome into account as a facilitator for teacher learning. Teacher affect is recognized as a component of amplifiers and filters. The model describes teacher professional knowledge and skill (TPK & S) and illustrates schematically how the theoretical knowledge is translated into practice (Fig. 1). The model includes something described as amplifiers and filters. Both teachers and students are transmitters and recipients in a context where expectations, preconceived opinions, self-esteem, and prerequisites act as filters and amplifiers. This, in turn, affects how teachers' professional knowledge is shaped in action and how it will be perceived by students in the current classroom practice. It also affects how the teacher's professional knowledge will develop. In the model, PCK is described both as knowledge used in the planning and implementation of subject-specific teaching and as a skill or ability used while teaching takes place. The consensus model introduces a perspective that includes both a theoretical and experiencebased knowledge in PCK and the ability to translate this knowledge into practice. The model provides the possibility to investigate PCK in a classroom context while teaching. The student's perspective is included in the model as both the student's results and classroom events, which can give the teacher new signals or new knowledge that affects both the teacher's topic-specific area and the professional knowledge and skill (Gess-Newsome 2015). It was announced during the ESERA-2017 Conference that the model is undergoing further development. Papers from the conference describe how the world's PCK researchers continue to emphasize the need to further pay attention to the students' knowledge development and to link this to research on teachers' PCK (Berry et al. 2017).

From a sociocultural perspective, teachers' professional development also lies in the learning process. Vygotsky and Cole (1978) used the Russian term *Obuchenie* to explain that the teaching process has a dialectic relationship between teaching and learning. To be able to teach, you must know about how the student learns. To be able to learn, you have to teach the meaning and communicate what you learned to the teacher.

The present study seeks to examine how teachers' PCK is expressed in a science teaching practice, from both teacher and student perspectives. As such, the aim is to make the action parts of PCK more visible for teachers and students. The study aims to investigate the fields in which teachers' understanding of how students understand the teaching can be important and, in so doing, contribute to the area of professional development. The research questions for the study are the following: How do teachers reflect when reading students thoughts about which of the teachers' actions students find facilitate their learning? This chapter focuses on the second question, regarding how teachers respond to students' reflections about actions of teaching.



Fig. 1 Model of consensus (Gess-Newsome 2015). The model visualizes teacher professional knowledge and skill, including PCK and its influences on classroom practice and student outcomes. This model was used as a tool for analysis of the data in the study

## Method

This is a qualitative case study of three teachers' physics lessons in grades 7–8 in a lower secondary school in Sweden (Cohen et al. 2011). The teachers were all experienced and served as head teachers at their schools. The teachers were informed about the study, the design (Fig. 2), and the extent of their participation, and they all participated voluntarily. The parents of the students gave written consent for their child to participate in the study. The study included several analytical units in its design. These units included sound recordings, video-recorded classroom observations, teachers' protocols (CoRe), as well as students' results, interviews, and reflected conversations stimulated from video films in video clubs (Johnson and Cotterman 2015; Sherin and Han 2004; Sherin and van Es 2009; van Es 2014; van Es and Sherin 2010). Since the transcribed conversations from the video clubs were the primary sources of data, the video club research method is described further below.

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8
	2015	2016						2018
Resercher	Preparations	Planning		Video Club 1	Video Club 2	Interview	Focus interview	Feedback
Teacher		Planning	Teaching	Video Club 1		Interview	Focus interview	Feedback
Student			Teaching		Video Club 2			Feedback
		Film	Film	Film	Film	Film	Film	
Data		CoRe- reflections	T1 T2	Transcript	Transcript	Transcript	Transcript	
							CoRe- reflections	

Fig. 2 Illustration of the research design. The horizontal rows describe the logistics of the study, and the vertical columns show the different steps the activities, who attended in them, and what data it generated

#### **Research Design**

The design and logistics of the study are visualized in Fig. 2 and are referred to in the text as the research design of the study.

#### Video Club

The concept of video club was previously used in educational research studies (Nilsson and Elm 2017; Johnson and Cotterman 2015; Sherin and Han 2004; Sherin and van Es 2009; van Es 2014; van Es and Sherin 2010). In a video club, filmed sequences from the environment, in this case three lessons in physics, are used as a basis for group reflection. The participants investigate the subject matter. Video club as a method has been described mainly as a way for teachers to develop professionally. During lessons, the teacher is often highly motivated to act and interact with students, while teachers in a video club are more able to reflect and describe what happened during the lesson. In a video club, teachers have the opportunity to give words to some tacit knowledge (Sherin and Han 2004). In the present study, both teachers and students attended the video clubs (Fig. 2). The focus was on how teacher actions in the classroom facilitate students' learning.

Video club is suitable for qualitative case studies, such as the present study, where the object of interest is what a teacher does in a classroom and how students and teachers reflect on this. However, the method needs to be supplemented with additional data, such as interviews or observation notes that can contribute to a deeper understanding of the data (Jensen and Winitzky 2002). An opportunity for triangulation of data increases the possibility that interpretations become more

trustworthy; hence more sources provide greater opportunity to highlight the investigated phenomena from several angles (Bryman and Nilsson 2002).

The teachers reflected on their PCK collaboratively, with the help of the conceptual tool CoRe before teaching (step 2, Fig. 2). They taught three different aspects of physics - the energy principle, magnetism, and support surfaces - in three different classes. The lessons were video-recorded with two cameras in the classroom (step 3). The teachers and the researcher met three times in the video club to watch three video-recorded lessons (step 4). Students in each class were asked to join the researcher in similar video clubs to watch and talk about the lesson they had participated in. Six to eight students in each class were willing to contribute in the video clubs (step 5). The films were used in a video-stimulated recall interview (video club) where the participants stopped the film when they found some important teacher action they wanted to discuss, pinpoint, or criticize. The video clubs were filmed and later transcribed using Transana, a tool for transcription and analysis (Thorsteinsson and Page 2009). Before the next step, the students' transcriptions were presented to the teachers. After their reading, the teachers were interviewed (step 6) in a semi-structured way (Cohen et al. 2011). The final step in the data collection was a focus group interview (step 7) with the three teachers together (Cohen et al. 2011). All interviews were transcribed, and the transcriptions from the video clubs and interviews were the primary data for this study. As such, the data were analyzed to find how teachers identify and reflect on their PCK in action. The data also shows how the students find the teaching to facilitate their learning and how teachers reflect on information from students regarding their views on the teachers' teaching. This chapter only presents parts of the study; the focus is on how teachers reflect on their actions in a classroom based on the data from students' reflections in video club 2. Data from steps 5–8 were used to answer the following question: How do teachers reflect their teaching when listening to the students' opinions about which teacher actions in classroom facilitate their learning?

## Analysis

The study's process of analysis (step 8) had a hermeneutical and iterative approach where the data were analyzed with a qualitative content analysis method (Gadamer et al. 2004). In the hermeneutical tradition, interpretation is used as the main research method. The analysis was conducted in three phases, with the first phase using data from video club 1, the second phase using data from video club 2, and the third phase using data from the teacher interviews. The three phases of analysis enabled the triangulation of data from various sources. Gess-Newsome's (2015) "Consensus model of PCK" (Fig. 1) was used both as a methodological and a theoretical framework in order to reflect the teachers' perception and interpretations of how to transform PCK into action. The second research question is about how teachers reflect on their students' perceptions of the teacher's actions in teaching. It is the second question that the present chapter focuses on.

## Results

How do teachers reflect on their teaching when listening to students' opinions about which teacher actions in classroom facilitate their learning? Two key themes in the results highlight important aspects:

- The importance of reflection for professional development
- The importance of developing knowledge about students' knowledge and understanding

## The Importance of Reflection for Professional Development

Teachers take advantage of hearing students reflect on teaching and also benefit from participating in a video club with colleagues. They say that these conversations with colleagues contribute to their own development by giving them the opportunity to stop and reflect on the teaching that has been completed. They consider both the conversations with colleagues and getting to know students' reflections on teaching as meaningful. Teachers express that these affect them in ways that probably lead to professional development:

I think this gives me a lot; not only what the students say, but also our meetings in video clubs, where we could stop and reflect for a moment. You talk a lot about the importance of developing your content knowledge, but I don't think that is where I need to develop; instead, I need to be more responsive to the students. (Quote from teacher 3)

Teachers highlight that differences between teachers and students' reflections are interesting. Students' reflections contribute to a new perspective for teachers. Teachers notice that, in their collegial conversations, they talk about didactic aspects that they actually already know are good. They are looking for actions that they know, according to the research, facilitate student learning:

In some way, we slip into things that we already know are good. Do you see what I mean? We know it's good to reinforce, we know it's good with concepts. (Quote from teacher 2)

In their reflections, teachers express the benefit of the students' slightly different perspective on the teacher's actions. Unlike teachers, the students are not affected by educational literature and, according to the teachers, seem to be more based on their own individual perspective. To some extent, teachers are surprised that the students think so much about what the teacher does:

... they see a lot more from their own perspective. I look more at goal achievement from a class perspective. It's really interesting with students who, in a serious way, have reviewed a lesson. (Quote from teacher 2)

The fact that colleagues are talking to each other in video clubs partly helps teachers leave their own perspective by taking part in a critical and developed reasoning from colleagues. On the other hand, the teachers discuss that there are limitations in conversations between colleagues because colleagues have, to some extent, the same understanding of what, according to current research, are constructive ways of teaching in the teacher's professional context. The students' reflections enable other and new perspectives. Teachers expressed amazement and interest in the students' knowledge about teacher's actions. The students' metacognitive ability is highlighted in the result in this theme of the study:

They think about teaching, they are meta-reflecting about teaching. Not topic-specific content, but how the teacher does and doesn't. They think about why and why not. (Quote from teacher 3)

When students' voices become visible, like in this study, by the teachers reading the students' thoughts about teacher's actions in classroom, it gives the teacher new views on aspects other than those they are looking for. These perspectives help teachers to leave their own ideas of how good teaching is expressed and to see their professional practice from the student's perspective. The students' examination of the teaching adds something that the teachers are interested in and that will help teachers incorporate new knowledge into future teaching. The results show that the students' perspectives can help create a new understanding of how teachers' actions contribute to students' learning in science. The results raise awareness about aspects that the teachers have not noticed before, to such an extent that students know more about the teachers' actions and what lies behind them.

## The Importance of Developing Knowledge About Students' Knowledge and Understanding

As stated in the theme above, teachers experience the meaning of listening to students' descriptions about teachers' actions in teaching. The results show that teachers see students in a new way, to some extent. It seems like they had not previously noted that students have similar knowledge of teaching as their own colleagues. Once they did notice, however, they expressed thoughts about the possibility that students' comments could be used to develop teaching:

I have also thought about interviewing students and that it is a source of excitement if you want to develop professionally. (Quote from teacher 1)

The results show that teachers see new opportunities for professional development by involving students in the teaching itself. The teachers have not previously thought that students have so much to say about the teacher's teaching. This could indicate that teachers have mostly focused on teaching from a teacher's perspective and that they in collegial conversations get the opportunity to reflect on how teaching affects students' learning. Through various forms of assessment, teachers examine how students understand and what they have learned and adjust their teaching based on both formative and summative assessments of students' understanding. The results illustrate that the teachers, by listening to the students' comments on actions of teaching, get ideas that they could involve students in new ways, for example, by interviewing them about the actions in the teaching. Through students' reflections on teaching, teachers can use students like experts in teaching. Teachers believe that they may be more interested in asking students about the teaching to supplement their own knowledge of students' learning. The results show that students' reflections on teaching could lead teachers to view another perspective that concerns the teacher's actions but from the perspective of the students. Since teachers benefit from learning about how students learn, this information from students will further contribute to teachers' didactic skills. When teachers find out how students reflect on the teacher's actions, there is reason to believe that teachers accommodate an additional dimension of feedback that can develop their teaching.

The results also suggest that the view of teachers' actions differs between students. Some of the teachers noticed that students have different ways of expressing themselves; some have a lot to say and some students less.

Teachers reflected on questions about whether students' awareness of the teacher's actions may be related to how well the students utilize the teaching in science. The teachers problematized students' different understanding of science teaching and reflected on how that would affect students' learning:

I think it's about metacognitive ability. It is far from all students who think in those ways. The teacher is the teacher and students don't question the teaching, if it is right or wrong or appropriate or not. This category of students is more likely to put the blame on themselves when they fail in class, while those who are metacognitively aware certainly can question some actions from us teachers. (Quote from teacher 3)

The results show that, to some extent, the teachers mean that they can get a view of pupils' metacognitive ability by learning about pupils' reflections about teaching. They mean that students' thoughts about themselves as students and whether they can assimilate the teaching should reasonably be linked to their ability to reflect on the teaching. On the other hand, the teachers' description can also be interpreted as meaning that students with a good ability to describe the teacher's actions may question their learning opportunities if they do not believe that the teacher's actions favor them. According to teachers, this category of student would be more likely to place the responsibility outside themselves. This could have a negative effect if communication with the teacher is not constructive and, in such a case, could lead to a changed action that is more likely to facilitate the student's learning. The teachers believe that there is positive link between the student's awareness of the teacher's action and a beneficial learning for the student. The results also show that teachers believe that there may be a negative link between students with less awareness of the teacher's actions and their learning and a risk of blaming themselves for the lack of learning. Students who put the entire blame on themselves risk consolidating an image of themselves as negative, and instead of considering whether teaching benefits them, they think it is their own fault that they do not learn. When teachers gain access to different students' reflections, they receive important information about how students respond to the teaching and, thus, new knowledge from the source that students can offer. This knowledge from students can be translated into the teachers'

teaching practice. In conversation with students about the teacher's teaching, teachers and students come closer to one another.

## **Discussion and Conclusions**

Developing professional knowledge of teaching is a complex process. As Loughran et al. (2004) indicated, teachers need systematic tools to better capture and analyze their own teaching practice. As the present study has indicated, using students' eyes and letting them reflect on their teachers' actions provide a deeper insight into the dialectic relation between a teachers' teaching and the students' learning that Vygotsky and Cole (1978) felt was essential to teaching quality. This result could be an acknowledgement of what Cross and Lepareur (2015) described as a need to make teaching more visible to students and pinpoint the importance of explicit methods for teachers to do that. The result implies that the design of the study could be a way to facilitate what Cross and Lepareur (2015) called for, namely, understanding PCK in action within the complex context where it is conducted.

One conclusion in the study is that teachers who are given the opportunity to reflect on which teaching actions benefit students' learning believe that they get a deeper view of and understanding of students. As in other studies (Eames et al. 2011), teachers became more sensitive to student needs. Conversations between colleagues, on the other hand, tend to get stuck in known patterns, where conversations about different students and how they respond to the teaching receive a lot of focus. Using filmed lessons and strict questions about teacher actions helps teachers focus on their own actions in classroom and reflect about how the actions benefit or do not benefit different students (Sherin and Han 2004).

A further step in the design of this study is where students study lessons in the same way as teachers and where teachers get to know students' thoughts about the teacher's teaching. The teacher receives feedback from students on his or her teaching, which has probably not been received before. Student feedback helps the teacher view their teaching from a new perspective, and it also enables teachers to see the student in a slightly different way. Like Hattie (2009); Nilsson and Loughran (2012) mentioned, there is little consensus about what teacher knowledge looks like in action. It is most likely that students can help visualize that knowledge by putting the teachers' expressed PCK into words. Worth noting is the power a teacher has relative to the students regarding issues such as grade assessment and the possible concerns students can have to express themselves. The students are, in a way, in a state of dependence toward the teacher. This point needs to be considered and weighed into the benefit of the method.

The teachers noticed different levels of awareness from different students, and from that point of view, they reflect on how this knowledge helps them to do more specific prompts in a classroom. It corresponds to the need to understand how students learn, which could be a way for teachers to better teach a variety of students. Similarly, it gives students the opportunity to reflect on teachers' prompts, which could be a facilitator for their own learning. This may help students' metacognitive awareness to grow, when they are stimulated to put teachers' actions as facilitators for learning into words. In a way, this could meet the need that Cross and Lepareur (2015) formulated as a need for teachers and students to make the didactical contract visible. This point of students' metacognitive awareness would be of great interest for future studies.

This study has not pinpointed any special teacher action as the best action to facilitate student learning in science, as there seems to be weak consensus from students on that point. However, there is some agreement that the way this study is conducted seems to be a way to unpack and understand how the teachers' PCK is expressed in action in a classroom and how it is understood by students. In this case, both students and teachers agree that reflection in video clubs is a way to better understand teaching and learning and the way teaching affects both students' learning in science and teachers' learning about science teaching.

## Summary of Conclusions

- The design of the study could be a way to connect PCK to practice.
- Video-recorded lessons help teachers see themselves from a student perspective.
- The design of the study can be a model for school development in practice.
- Teachers believe that they benefit from hearing pupils' reflections on their teaching.
- Students' metacognitive ability can be extended with the help of video clubs.

## ESERA Conference 2017

The questions and discussion that arose after my presentation at the ESERA 2017 conference focused on how to understand teachers' reflections and the potential difficulty in interpreting them in a correct way due to different background, orientation, and prior knowledge. This problem is acknowledged in the current study. The argument stresses why it is not possible to provide evidence, in this study, about which teacher action(s) are recognized as the better ones. Rather, the contribution of this study is the process of learning about how students can understand teacher actions. Also of great interest to the audience was the way that students' minds were involved in the study. It seemed like there was agreement about the problem that students are often left "outside" even if they are the subject of teaching. In that way, students can be very important for making teaching understandable to teachers. Students are often neglected when teaching is discussed or developed, but they were involved to the highest extent in the present study. The working method provides opportunities to involve students in a meaningful way.

**Acknowledgments** I am very grateful for the support my supervisors, Professor Pernilla Nilsson, Halmstad University, Sweden, and Professor Nils Ekelund, Malmö University, Sweden, have given and continue to give me through all of the processes in my research education.

### References

- Berry, A., Nilsson, P., Van Driel, J., & Carlson, J. (2017). Analysing science teachers' pedagogical content knowledge: A report on the second PCK summit. Paper presented at ESERA, Dublin City University, Dublin, 21–25 August 2017. https://keynote.conference-services.net/ resources/444/5233/pdf/ESERA2017_0784_paper.pdf. Accessed 20 Dec 2018.
- Bryman, A., & Nilsson, B. (2002). Samhällsvetenskapliga metoder. Liber ekonomi.
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2011). *Research methods in education*. New York: Routledge.
- Cross, D., & Lepareur, C. (2015). PCK at Stake in Teacher–Student Interaction in Relation to Students' Difficulties. In M. Grangeat (Ed.), Understanding science teachers' professional knowledge growth (pp. 47–61). Rotterdam: Springer.
- Eames, C. W., Williams, P. J., Hume, A. C., & Lockley, J. (2011). CoRe: A way to build pedagogical content knowledge for beginning teachers. Teaching & Learning Research initiative. https://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10289/7399/CoRe%20A%20 way%20to%20build%20pedagogical.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y. Accessed 20 Dec 2018.
- Gadamer, H.-G., Weinsheimer, J., & Marshall, D. G. (2004). *Truth and method*. London: Continuum.
- Gess-Newsam, J. (2015). A model of teacher professional knowledge and skill including PCK. In A. Berry, P. Friedrichsen, & J. Loughran (Eds.), *Re-examining pedagogical content knowledge in science education* (pp. 28–42). New York: Routledge.
- Hattie, J. (2009). Visible learning: A synthesis of over 800 meta-analyses relating to achievement. London: Routledge.
- Jensen, J. W., & Winitzky, N. (2002). Exploring preservice teacher thinking: A comparison of five measures. Eric Document Reproduction Service No. ED454956, New York
- Johnson, H. J., & Cotterman, M. E. (2015). Developing preservice teachers' knowledge of science teaching through video clubs. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 26(4), 393–417. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10972-015-9429-0.
- Loughran, J., Mulhall, P., & Berry, A. (2004). In search of pedagogical content knowledge in science: Developing ways of articulating and documenting professional practice. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 41(4), 370–391. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20007.
- Nilsson, P., & Elm, A. (2017). Capturing and developing early childhood teachers' science pedagogical content knowledge through CoRes. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 28(5), 406.
- Nilsson, P., & Loughran, J. (2012). Exploring the development of pre-service science elementary teachers' pedagogical content knowledge. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 23(7), 699–721. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10972-011-9239-y.
- Sherin, M. G., & Han, S. Y. (2004). Teacher learning in the context of a video club. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 20(2), 163–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2003.08.001.
- Sherin, M. G., & van Es, E. A. (2009). Effects of video club participation on teachers' professional vision. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 60(1), 20–37. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487108328155.
- Shulman, L. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. *Educational Researcher*, 15, 4–14. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X015002004.
- Shulman, L. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. *Harvard Educational Review*, *57*(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.57.1.j463w79r56455411.

- Thorsteinsson, G., & Page, T. (2009). Empirical data collection and analysis using Camtasia and Transana. *I-manager's Journal on Educational Technology*, 6(2), 41. https://doi.org/10.26634/ jet.6.2.804.
- van Es, E. A. (2014). Viewer discussion is advised. Video clubs focus teacher discussion on student learning. *Form@re*, 14(2), 54.
- van Es, E. A., & Sherin, M. G. (2010). The influence of video clubs on teachers' thinking and practice. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 13(2), 155–176. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10857-009-9130-3.
- Vygotsky, L. S., & Cole, M. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

# Change in First Graders' Science-Related Competence Beliefs During Digitally Intensive Science Workshops



Anni Loukomies, Kalle Juuti, Jari Lavonen, and Katariina Salmela-Aro

## Introduction

The aim of this research was to examine if a set of three science and technology (S&T) workshops would promote first-grade pupils' science-related competence beliefs. Research in the field of science education has shown that a decline occurs in students' science-related attitudes as they proceed in their school path. For example, according to her extensive review of relevant literature, Christidou (2011) argues that as they advance from primary to secondary education, students rapidly lose interest in science, and they do not see science-related careers as very attractive (Tytler 2014). Tytler (2014) also summarises according to his review of the literature about science attitudes that by the age of 14, for the majority of students, the interest in pursuing further science studies has largely been formed. This fact high-lights the importance of focusing on early science experiences. The Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) framework emphasises attitudes as a key

A. Loukomies (🖂)

J. Lavonen Department of Education, Faculty of Educational Sciences, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

Centre for Education Practice Research (CEPR), University of Johannesburg, Johannesburg, South Africa

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_18

Viikki Teacher Training School, Faculty of Educational Sciences, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

Centre for Education Practice Research (CEPR), University of Johannesburg, Johannesburg, South Africa e-mail: anni.loukomies@helsinki.fi

K. Juuti · K. Salmela-Aro Department of Education, Faculty of Educational Sciences, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

component of an individual's science competence. Science competence includes, for example, interest, enjoyment and values related to science and school science. The percentage of students in Finland who reported that they 'agree' or 'strongly agree' with the statements measuring enjoyment of science learning ('I enjoy acquiring new knowledge in science') decreased on average from 64% to 56% between the PISA 2006 and 2016 measurements (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development [OECD] 2007, 2016). Further, the percentage of Finnish students who expect to work in a science-related occupation at age 30 is the lowest among the OECD countries, although the percentage increased slightly from 13% to 17% between the PISA 2006 and 2016 assessments. In general, students' low interest and engagement in science learning and science-related careers have received significant attention from policymakers and researchers (Osborne and Dillon 2008; Zever et al. 2013). The European Commission's Horizon 2020 Work Programme (European Commission 2016) emphasises that school science should better represent real scientific practices and cater more effectively to the needs and interests of young people. Moreover, the Finnish national core curriculum emphasises the importance of student engagement in science learning (Finnish National Board of Education [FNBE] 2014).

In defining competence (or ability) beliefs, we follow the expectancy-value theory (EVT) of motivation proposed by Eccles and her colleagues (e.g. Eccles 2005). According to EVT, engagement and motivation towards a certain task depend, on one hand, on an individual's expectation of success and self-related beliefs (ability or competence beliefs) and, on the other hand, on values associated with the particular task (Eccles and Wigfield 2002; Pintrich 2003). Expectancies and values are assumed to directly influence performance, persistence and task choice (Eccles and Wigfield 2002).

Task characteristics that are assumed to influence choices can be positive or negative (Eccles and Wigfield 2002), and task-related values can be seen as positive valences of a task (Chow et al. 2012). According to EVT, task-related values can be further distinguished as attainment value, intrinsic value and utility value. The first, attainment value, refers to experienced importance or significance of a topic. It refers to the perceived importance that individuals attach to performing well in, or being competent at, a task (Chow et al. 2012: 1612). The second, intrinsic value, is defined as the expected enjoyment of engaging in a specific activity or task (Chow et al. 2012). If the task holds intrinsic value, the activity itself will be the source of enjoyment, and the outcome of the task will not be perceived as extremely important. Intrinsic value has been found to be related to engagement and persistence in a task (Schunk et al. 2007). The third, utility value, is the perceived usefulness of completing a task for obtaining some instrumental benefit or facilitating the achievement of other immediate or long-term goals (Chow et al. 2012). If the task holds utility value, the activity itself may not be perceived as interesting or enjoyable, but the outcomes of completing the task will be perceived as valuable.

Furthermore, according to EVT, there can be a negative valence related to the task – in other words, the cost of engaging in the task (e.g. Eccles and Wigfield 2002; Gaspard et al. 2015) – because making one choice often eliminates other

options (Eccles and Wigfield 2002). The negative aspects of engaging in a task can be categorised as effort cost, in terms of loss of time; emotional cost, such as stress and anxiety; and social cost, such as becoming an outsider to a peer group. For example, the effort cost relates to the fact that engaging in one task means having to neglect something else and having to make choices between activities. Emotional cost means having to accept a certain amount of anxiety, stress or fear of failure in order to achieve a goal (Schunk et al. 2007). Social cost may mean, for example, time spent away from friends in order to prepare for, and perform well on, a test. If the costs become too high with respect to the expected value of performing well, an individual may abandon the task; conversely, if the task is valued high, the costs will not matter. Despite the costs, if students' attainment and utility values can be influenced and the students can identify personal reasons why an activity relates to their lives, the intervention may promote greater engagement with the topic under study (Harackiewicz et al. 2015).

Besides task-related values, expectancy and personal competence beliefs are central in EVT. Competence beliefs are defined as students' evaluations of their competence in different areas (Eccles et al. 1983). These beliefs are conceived as broad beliefs about competence in a given domain, not one's expectancies of success on a specific upcoming task (Eccles and Wigfield 2002: 119). In the present study, the emphasis was particularly on the students' science-related competence beliefs, although children and adolescents do not usually distinguish between these and expectancies, even though expectancies and competence beliefs are theoretically distinct concepts (e.g. Eccles and Wigfield 1995).

Within the field of science education research, there is a scarcity of studies on science-related competence beliefs among first-grade pupils. However, supporting the pupils' competence beliefs from primary school onwards might promote their science-related motivation throughout their whole school path, because their beliefs about their achievement play a role in directing their behaviour and effort in learning situations (Eccles 2009). However, the development of first graders' motivation has been examined in the context of other school subjects. When examining primary pupils' ability beliefs and performance in Finland, Viljaranta et al. (2016) found evidence that in the context of mathematics and reading, the first-grade children show different motivational patterns or profiles that differ from each other (p. 370). Motivational pattern or profile refers to the idea proposed in person-oriented motivational research that associations between motivational variables are not necessarily similar for all individuals, but they constitute an individual profile. Viljaranta et al. (2016: 371) even argue that when comparing beliefs in one's own abilities and intrinsic, the beliefs might play a bigger role in respect to performance in early school years. In other words, even though the intrinsic value associated with a task is low, the performance can be good if the pupil has high ability beliefs. According to a recent extensive review, Muenks et al. (2018) claim that this relationship between beliefs and performance strengthens across the school years, and even though smaller children seem to be very confident when it comes to their abilities, there is a tendency for competence beliefs to become more negative during the school years. Research related to competence beliefs does not provide a clear view

of whether it is better to have realistic or overly optimistic competence beliefs from the point of view of motivation and performance (Muenks et al. 2018).

In addition, the competence-related beliefs of children become increasingly stable as they age, and this stability makes it difficult to change negative expectancy beliefs as children get older (Muenks et al. 2018). However, the ways in which learning situations are organised and structured with respect to instructional practices strongly influence children's expectancies and competence beliefs (Muenks et al. 2018: 9). When teachers hold high generalised expectations for student achievement and students perceive these expectations, the students achieve more and experience a greater sense of esteem and competence as learners (p. 9). Moreover, interventions have the power to reshape pupils' achievement-related beliefs (Muenks et al. 2018). In the present study, first graders were chosen as the target group for competence-beliefs-promoting S&T workshops. The workshops were designed according to the principles of design-based research (Sandoval 2014; Juuti et al. 2016). The design process is described in detail in the Workshops section.

## **Research Question**

A set of three technology-intensive science workshops was organised to enhance the science and technology-related competence beliefs of first-grade pupils. We assumed that the pupils' science-related competence beliefs may be fostered with offering possibilities to succeed in targeted activities. We also examined if the enhanced feeling of competence was transferable to another context. The research question was as follows: Does the set of three workshops promote science-related competence beliefs?

#### **Context of the Study**

This research took place in Finland. The Finnish education system consists of a 9-year comprehensive curriculum, which is then followed by further studies in high school or vocational school. School starts in the year when pupils turn 7 years old; the year prior to this, all children are permitted and recommended to attend preschool. Pupils study in inclusive, heterogeneous groups, and most pupils go to a school near their home. In all groups participating in this research, there were pupils who spoke a language other than Finnish at home. Public schools (majority of the schools) are funded by municipalities, but there are also some private schools in Finland. However, for the pupils, comprehensive school is free of charge whether they go to a private or municipal school.

The national curriculum, which was revised in 2014, defines the minimum level of teaching for each subject for all pupils. The curriculum is subject-based. The

subject science is officially called environmental studies and is taught in grades 1 to 6. It integrates biology, geography, physics, chemistry and health education. In the present study, the workshops were most often related to the physics content. In the curriculum, transversal competencies are also highly emphasised. In the core curriculum, these competencies refer to an entity that encompasses knowledge, skills, attitude, values and will. Competence also means the ability to apply knowledge and skills in a given situation. The manner in which the pupils will use their knowledge and skills is influenced by the values and attitudes they have adopted and their willingness to act. Competence development is influenced not only by the contents on which the pupils work but also by how they work and how their interaction with the environment functions (Finnish National Board of Education 2014).

The transversal competencies introduced in the Finnish national core curriculum are thinking and learning to learn, cultural competence, interaction and selfexpression, taking care of oneself and managing daily life, multiliteracy, information and communications technology (ICT) competence, working life competence and entrepreneurship and participation, involvement and building a sustainable future. ICT competence is emphasised in the workshops. In the core curriculum, it is recommended the pupils are supported in familiarising themselves with various ICT applications and that they are guided in using ICT in exploratory and creative work. In this research, pupils use programming and data logging applications in order to reach the aims expressed in the core curriculum. The Finnish national core curriculum introduces multidisciplinary learning modules that integrate the perspectives of different school subjects and enrich the combination with transversal competencies. Multidisciplinary learning modules promote the achievement of goals set for basic education. To ensure that all learners can engage in exploratory work that is of interest to them, each learner must be provided with an opportunity to join a multidisciplinary learning module at least once during each school year. Schools must also provide opportunities for experimentation, exploration, active learning, physical activity and play. Cultural diversity and language awareness are also key principles that guide the development of the school culture (Finnish National Board of Education 2014). The workshops introduced in this article shared features of multidisciplinary learning modules, as they incorporated enquiry skills, programming and science content.

#### **Participants and Procedure**

A total of 97 first-grade pupils (pupils' age 7–8 years) participated in this study. Three first-grade classes in one school ((1) N = 20, (2) N = 20, (3) N = 19, 59 altogether) participated in the workshops. The school is located in a suburban area, with relatively high SES. There were 38 pupils in the control group from two other schools in the Helsinki Eastern suburban area.

Substantial research has shown that students' expectancies predict future performance, even when controlling for previous performance (Muenks et al. 2018: 7).

When teachers hold high generalised expectations for students' achievement and students perceive these expectations, the students achieve more, experience a greater sense of esteem and competence as learners and resist engaging in problem behaviours (Muenks et al. 2018: 9). The high expectations of teachers are communicated in the selection of challenging tasks for pupils to perform and through the teachers' belief in the pupils' competence to perform well in these tasks. The teachers communicate this belief in the pupils' capabilities by offering encouragement in spoken form throughout the lesson and especially in situations where the pupils are struggling with some aspect of the task. The workshops were designed according to the Finnish national core curriculum (Finnish National Board of Education 2014), especially the parts such as science content, enquiry skills and transversal competencies. The enquiry skills that first graders should adopt, according to the Finnish national core curriculum, are as follows: Science teaching in the first grade should encourage the pupils to ask questions and use classroom discussions as a starting point for small enquiry tasks. The pupils should be guided to make observations by using their senses and simple equipment and further present the results of their enquiry projects. The pupils should also be guided to act responsibly and to follow instructions. Finally, the pupils should be guided to familiarise themselves with technology and be encouraged to try, invent, build and create in collaboration with others and use ICT as a means of communicating their activities to others. These aims introduced in the Finnish national core curriculum for first-grade science were taken into account, when planning the workshops.

The designing of the teaching sequences followed design principles introduced by Sandoval (2014). He introduces a conjecture-mapping technique in order to 'specify theoretically salient features of a learning environment design and mapping out how they are predicted to work together to produce desired outcomes' (p. 2). In the present study, the elements of the conjecture map were as follows. The highlevel conjecture was to engage pupils to perform challenging tasks and, through that procedure, foster their task-related competence beliefs. This conjecture was ensured through scaffolding all the pupils to perform challenging tasks in the workshops. Verbal and concretical scaffoldings were an essential part of the design. The mediated outcome was a result of ensuring that all pupils could carry out the workshop tasks by offering support from teachers. Further, as a learning outcome, pupils' competence beliefs were measured in the competence belief questionnaire administered about a month after the workshops.

Design conjectures take the general form, 'if learners engage in this activity with these tools, through this discursive practice, then this mediating process will emerge' (Sandoval 2014: 7). In the present study, design conjecture was articulated in a form that if pupils engage in digitally intensive science workshops that involve producing electric circuits, programming robots and taking measurements, and if they are scaffolded, the pupils manage to complete the tasks and get support for their competence beliefs.

The embodiment of the design conjectures encompassed tools and materials, task structures, participant structures and discursive practices. The workshops were designed so that the tools and materials were evidently challenging for pupils.

Pupils used electrical components, Lego EV3 robots, computers and Logger Pro computer-based data logging equipment, for example. At the time of the workshops, typically, fifth graders conducted electric circuit investigations or programming practices with Lego EV3 robots. Computer-based data logging was applied occasionally at the middle school level. Many digitally intensive tools that are not used in everyday lessons were used in the workshops. The tools and materials used in the workshops are described in more detail in the section introducing the workshop content and practice.

The general task structure was intended to answer the question, 'What are the pupils expected to do?' In the present study, pupils attending the workshops were expected to perform certain tasks, one at a time. The structure of each task was designed such that pupils would have limited possibilities to compare their performance with that of others. Further, the task was designed so that it would take all pupils about the same amount of time to complete it. In the latter part of the task, there was a possibility of varying the task in order to differentiate the teaching according to the pupils' different needs. There were also several adults in the class-room to support the pupils.

In the first workshop, the pupils worked alone; in the second workshop, they worked in pairs; and in the third one, the pupils worked in a group. The tasks were designed to support the grouping of pupils in that particular situation. In the first workshop, each pupil generated their own piece of art, which they were able to take home with them; therefore, working alone was the most suitable way of working. In the second workshop, the pupils worked in pairs, because the task required negotiation and there were suitable tasks for two people. In the last workshop, four pairs of hands were needed to handle the equipment; therefore, group work was chosen as the instructional method.

The workshops exposed the pupils to discursive practices or 'ways of talking' that aimed at emphasising positive aspects of their performance. During the whole class discussions before introducing the task and after the completion of the tasks, pupils' persistence and performance of the task were praised. Furthermore, the challenge of the task was emphasised. All adults attending the situation (teacherresearcher, teacher, researcher and assistant) gave pupils verbal reassurance that they would manage to complete the challenging tasks. In the scaffolding situations, reasons for the difficulties were attributed to the complex digital tools, not to the pupils' performance. Further, in scaffolding situations, pupils were told that other pupils had faced similar difficulties and had managed well in overcoming them. Further, it was mentioned that this kind problem solving (e.g. 'Solving contiguity disturbance problems in connectors is part of working with digital tools, and now you have experienced how to solve these kind of problems') is typical in S&T-related tasks. Thus, in the workshops, pupils achieved success when performing well in a very challenging task.

Theoretical conjectures in a conjecture map take the following general form: 'if this mediating process occurs it will lead to this outcome' (Sandoval 2014: 7). In our case, the theoretical conjecture could be stated as follows: If pupils manage to perform a challenging and digitally intensive task, their competence beliefs regarding the task will increase. The challenges of the task and the teachers' beliefs in the students' competence were communicated to the pupils. The data collection methods described in the methods section were intended to examine the realisation of the theoretical conjecture.

In what follows, the workshop activities are described in detail. The activities took place during the spring semester of 2016 and included three 90-minute S&T workshops. The activities in the workshops were planned carefully to follow the Finnish national core curriculum for basic education for primary science (Finnish National Board of Education 2014); therefore, nothing outside the curriculum was included in the workshops. In other words, both experimental and control groups were taught according to the curriculum. In Finland, teachers enjoy broad autonomy with respect to implementing the curriculum and choosing activities and learning materials, and enquiry skills and hands-on experiments are strongly recommended as part of the science subject.

**First Workshop** The topic of the first workshop was electric circuits. First, pupils individually familiarised themselves with the components of an electric circuit, put the batteries into the battery case and tried to light the bulb. The components were named in a teacher-led discussion. After succeeding in this task, the next task about crafts was introduced. The instruction was to connect the components (batteries and LEDs) with a conductive aluminium tape in such a way that all LEDs would light up at the same time. The pupils were shown a model of the piece of work, which looked like a star shape. Pupils were given as much assistance as they needed. If the LEDs did not light up, pupils were assisted in determining the reason for this. The idea of connecting all the components carefully to build a circuit was emphasised. This task took up the remainder of the lesson.

In the first workshop, batteries, battery cases and bulbs, LEDs, conductive aluminium tape and cardboard were used as tools and materials in order to prepare the artefacts (Fig. 1).

**Second Workshop** The topic of the second workshop was programming. The pupils first familiarised themselves with Lego programming with Mindstorms EV3 robots and the related software. Since most Finnish children play with Lego even before they go to school, the theme of the lesson was familiar to them. However, programming with Lego EV3 did not involve much Lego building, as the robot vehicles had been assembled in advance. This is because when starting to learn to use the programming software, the components of the robot need to be in their exact places, and there is little room for creativity. Afterwards, when the basics of programming are learnt, different creations can be constructed.

The lesson began by showing the pupils three videos in which there were astonishing and complex constructions built using Lego robots. Then the pupils were given the basic instructions for using the program, how the robot could be switched on and how to download the program. They tried out these tasks together. Then the pupils received a task sheet with the instructions, which they were told to follow carefully. For the rest of the lesson, the pupils practised programming in pairs,



Fig. 1 Pupils' activities during the first workshop

downloaded their programs into the robot and followed how the robot executed the program.

In the second workshop, laptops, Lego EV3 Mindstorms software, EV3 robots (basic model), worksheets for testing the programs and programming challenges were used as tools and materials (Fig. 2).

**Third Workshop** The topic of the third workshop was related to computer-based data logging. In small groups (three to four pupils per group), the pupils used Vernier LabQuest2 data logging equipment to measure temperature changes, and they drew graphs on paper depicting their data. Certain phenomena were introduced to the pupils (e.g. water boiling, ice melting), and they were asked to record temperature changes within certain time intervals related to those phenomena. Then they constructed a graph based on the data and interpreted each other's graphs.

In the third workshop, Vernier LabQuest portable data logger, temperature probes, beakers and electric kettles were used as tools and materials. Additionally, worksheets for measurements were prepared.

Activities in the Control Group The control group studied according to the Finnish national core curriculum (2014). In Finland the teacher has a high level of autonomy in preparing the yearly plan and planning the teaching sequences. The control group followed the teacher's plans and did not take part in the workshop activities as described above (Fig. 3).

The experimental group answered a questionnaire about their competence beliefs before and after the workshops, in February and in May. The control group participated in ordinary teaching according to curriculum and answered the questionnaire twice, in February and May, as the experimental group. Taking into consideration the pupils' age, the items were highly contextual, focusing on concrete science, technology and craft activities. In the questionnaire, four items focused on the



Fig. 2 Pupils' activities during the second workshop



Fig. 3 Pupils' activities during the third workshop

workshop topics, and two items focused on other topics, and they served as control topics. The post-test took place a month after the workshops. In the questionnaire, the children were asked to evaluate how competent they felt themselves with respect to the topics included in the workshops and topics not included in the workshops (1 = not good at the activity at all, 5 = very good at the activity). The items on this topic were as follows:

# Science-Related Skills Practised in the Workshops How well do you think you can:

- Change batteries of a toy?
- Change a light bulb?
- Program a robot?
- Measure water temperature with a thermometer?

#### Science-Related Skills Outside The Workshops How well do you think you can:

- Use a sewing machine?
- Measure the amount of flour when baking?

There were one or two researchers per class instructing and guiding the data collection. Since not all first graders are very fluent readers by February, the answering proceeded as a guided activity, one item at a time, where the researcher read the item aloud and explained the unfamiliar concepts and showed pictures of the devices, if necessary. The principles of the Likert scale were explained as many times as needed, and the construct of the scale was explained. The data were analysed through a paired samples t-test.

## Results

The research question was *Does the set of three workshops promote science-related competence beliefs*? The question was answered by employing a pre-post question-naire design. In Table 1, the means and standard deviations are presented. According to the paired samples t-test, the workshops increased science-related competence beliefs related to the content of the workshops in the experimental group. However, there was no statistically significant change in the control group (see Table 2).

## Discussion

In the present study, we examined first-grade pupils' science and technology-related competence beliefs in digitally intensive workshops. In the workshops, pupils engaged in S&T activities that encompassed electricity crafting tasks, programming

	Experimental group				Control group					
		Pre Post			Pre		Post			
	Ν	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Ν	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Science-related topics in the	e woi	rkshops								
How well do you think you	can									
Change batteries of a toy?	45	2.58	1.57	3.33	1.64	35	2.89	1.73	3.03	1.58
Change a light bulb?	42	1.60	1.29	2.12	1.55	34	1.59	1.37	1.74	1.48
Program a robot?	39	1.64	1.39	4.26	0.97	30	1.83	1.42	2.43	1.61
Use a thermometer?	43	2.26	1.56	4.09	1.31	32	2.44	1.68	2.69	1.69
Topics outside the workshop	<i>25</i>									
How well do you think you	can									
Use a sewing machine?	41	2.05	1.56	2.41	1.73	34	2.00	1.58	1.71	1.32
Measure flour?	44	3.36	1.78	3.25	1.88	31	2.58	1.75	2.94	1.59

Table 1 Paired samples descriptive statistics

**Table 2** Paired samples t-test statistics (p=0.05)

	Experimental group			Control group			
	t	df	p	t	df	р	
Science-related topics in the work	shops						
How well do you think you can							
Change batteries of a toy?	-3.07	44	.004**	70	34	.492	
Change a light bulb?	-2.05	41	.047*	53	33	.599	
Program a robot?	-10.32	38	.000***	-1.78	29	.086	
Use a thermometer?	-6.38	42	.000***	83	31	.413	
Topics outside the workshops							
How well do you think you can							
Use a sewing machine?	-1.36	40	.183	1.12	33	.270	
Measure the amount of flour?	.46	43	.649	-1.38	30	.176	

with Lego EV3 devices and computer-based data logging. The workshops, which were planned to follow the national core curriculum for basic education for primary science (Finnish National Board of Education 2014), included activities that were challenging enough but planned in such a way that the pupils could manage to accomplish them. This is in line with Eccles' (2009) argument that success in moderately difficult but achievable tasks (activities that provide both a challenge and the opportunity to achieve mastery) is likely to lead to the greatest increases in expectancy-related self-concepts (p. 85).

Based on the results, we argue that with the set of workshops described in this paper, it is possible to promote first-grade pupils' science and technology-related competence beliefs. There was a statistically significant difference in the items concerned in the workshops. The results are in line with Yeager and Walton's (2011) argument that a correctly timed and planned motivational intervention may be effective in supporting pupils' self-beliefs. According to the extensive review of Muenks

et al. (2018), the competence-related beliefs of children become increasingly stable as they age, and there is a tendency for competence beliefs to become more negative during the school years. Furthermore, Viljaranta et al. (2016) claim that changes occur in the motivational patterns or profiles of children's motivation at the beginning of their schooling, even though some stability can be found in their motivational patterns already in the first grade. The increasing stability of pupils' competence beliefs makes it difficult to change negative expectancy beliefs as they get older (Muenks et al. 2018), and on the other hand, beliefs about achievement direct the pupils' behaviour and effort in learning situations (Eccles 2009). Therefore, it is crucial to try to foster positive competence beliefs in younger pupils through ensuring that the pupils realise they are doing something challenging, that they manage to complete the task and that they are praised about their perseverance and about the completed successful outcome. If there is a tendency for the competence beliefs of pupils to decline, it may be useful to ensure that these beliefs are as high and positive as possible in the early years of schooling, before they start becoming more stable. There was no statistically significant difference in the competence beliefs of the control group between measurements 1 and 2. There was either no statistically significant difference in the competence beliefs of the experimental group in the items that weren't included in the workshops. It can be interpreted that the influence of the workshops cannot be transferred into the context of other topics with first-grade pupils.

As the research data were collected when the pupils were in the first grade, this raises some validity issues, mainly related to the pupils' reading and thinking skills – that is, how well they understood the questions and how well they were able to concentrate when answering them. To diminish the probable biases, the items were read aloud to the pupils, and the researcher made sure that everyone could follow the procedure. With respect to these results, science and technology are understood in a narrow sense as a particular science-related task (e.g. programming a robot). The statistically significant change cannot be tracked outside the workshop topics based on these results. This may be related to young children's way of perceiving the world and their reduced ability to see the big picture and connections between parts. Although the workshops included many kinds of activities and were digitally intensive, it is possible to implement such an approach in ordinary teaching.

Acknowledgements This material is based upon work supported by the Finnish Academy (No. 294228 and 298323). The opinions expressed here are those of the authors and do not represent the views of the funding agency. The authors acknowledge the Finnish Academy.

## References

- Chow, A., Eccles, J., & Salmela-Aro, K. (2012). Task value profiles across subjects and aspirations to physical and IT-related science in the United States and Finland. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(6), 1612–1628. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030194.
- Christidou, V. (2011). Interest, attitudes and images related to science: Combining students' voices with the voices of school science, teachers, and popular science. *International Journal of Environmental and Science Education*, 6, 141–159.
- Eccles, J. (2005). Subjective task-value and the Eccles et al. model of achievement-related choices. In A. J. Elliot & C. S. Dweck (Eds.), *Handbook of competence and motivation*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Eccles, J. (2009). Who am I and what am I going to do with my life? Personal and collective identities as motivators of action. *Educational Psychologist*, 44(2), 78–89. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520902832368.
- Eccles, J., & Wigfield, A. (1995). In the mind of the achiever: The structure of adolescents' academic achievement-related beliefs and self-perceptions. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 21, 215–225.
- Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (2002). Motivational beliefs, values and goals. Annual Review of Psychology, 53, 109–132. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135153.
- Eccles, J., Adler, T. F., Futterman, R., Goff, S. B., & Kaczala, C. M. (1983). Expectancies, values and academic behaviors. In J. T. Spence (Ed.), *Achievement and achievement motivation*. San Francisco: W. H. Freeman.
- European Commission. (2016). http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/ wp/2016_2017/main/h2020-wp1617-intro_en.pdf. Visited 3.5.2018.
- Finnish National Board of Education. (2014). *National core curriculum for basic education*. Finnish National Board of Education, Publications 2016:5.
- Gaspard, H., Dicke, A.-L., Flunger, B., Schreier, B., Häfner, I., Trautwein, U., & Nagengast, B. (2015). More value through greater differentiation: Gender differences in value beliefs about math. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 107(3), 663–677. https://doi.org/10.1037/ edu0000003.
- Harackiewicz, J. M., Canning, E. A., Tibbets, Y., Priniski, S. J., & Hyde, J. S. (2015). Closing achievement gaps with a utility-value intervention: Disentangling race and social class. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 111(5), 745–765. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000075.
- Juuti, K., Lavonen, J., & Meisalo, V. (2016). Pragmatic design-based research Designing as a shared activity of teachers and researches. In D. Psillos & P. Kariotoglou (Eds.), *Iterative design of teaching-learning sequences: Introducing the science of materials in European schools* (pp. 35–46). Dordrecht: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1077/978-94-007-7808-5.
- Muenks, K., Wigfield, A., & Eccles, J. (2018). I can do this! The development and calibration of children's expectations for success and competence beliefs. *Developmental Review*, 48, 24–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2018.04.001.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2007). PISA 2006: Science competencies for tomorrow's world, Volume 1: Analysis. Paris: OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264040014-en.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2016). PISA 2015 results (volume I): Excellence and equity in education. Paris: OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264266490-en.
- Osborne, J., & Dillon, J. (2008). *Science education in Europe: Critical reflections*. London: The Nuffield Foundation.
- Pintrich, P. R. (2003). A motivational science perspective on the role of student motivation in learning and teaching contexts. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 95(4), 667–686. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.95.4.667.
- Sandoval, W. (2014). Conjecture mapping: An approach to systematic educational design research. Journal of the Learning Sciences, 23(1), 18–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508406.2013.7782 04.

- Schunk, D. H., Pintrich, P. R., & Meece, J. L. (2007). *Motivation in education*. Upper Saddle River: Pearson Education.
- Tytler, R. (2014). Attitudes, identity, and aspirations toward science. In N. G. Lederman & S. K. Abell (Eds.), *Handbook of research on science education* (pp. 82–103). New York: Routledge.
- Viljaranta, J., Aunola, K., & Hirvonen, R. (2016). Motivation and academic performance among first-graders: A person-oriented approach. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 49, 366–372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2016.06.002.
- Yeager, S. D., & Walton, G. M. (2011). Social-psychological interventions in education: They're not magic. *Review of Educational Research*, 81, 267–301. https://doi. org/10.3102/0034654311405999.
- Zeyer, A., Çetin-Dindar, A., Md Zain, A. N., Juriševič, M., Devetak, I., & Odermatt, F. (2013). Systemizing: A cross-cultural constant for motivation to learn science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 50(9), 1047–1067. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21101.
# Part IV Enhancing Science Teacher Education

## The Value of School Partnerships in Improving Primary Science Teaching: A Comparison of Two PD Engagement Models



Irina Kudenko, Pauline Hoyle, and Ben Dunn

#### **Introduction and Rationale**

There is a growing acceptance that subject-specific professional development (PD) has more impact on teacher practice and pupil outcomes, than generic PD (Cordingley et al. 2015). Yet schools in England, especially primary schools, are inclined to provide their teachers with PD which is delivered internally and/or with partner schools. According to the robust international study (OECD 2014), teachers, who teach single subjects in English secondary schools, engage in less subject-specific PD than their counterparts in most high-performing countries. A 2017 NFER survey of school teachers and leaders (primary and secondary) found that 75% of the surveyed staff in England want more opportunities to participate in subject-specific PD with class teachers rating the value of subject-specific PD higher than generic PD (Cordingley et al. 2018). This contrasts with senior leaders who commonly viewed subject-specific PD as less important partly due to conflicting internal priorities in schools for professional development and limited funding reducing the opportunities for teachers' PD.

Since 2010, there has been a shift in the UK education policy towards a 'schoolled self-improving' system (Department for Education 2010; Hargreaves 2010) so that schools and groups of schools have total financial management of schools, including the provision of, and funding for, PD. The policy change has had some positive effects: it has encouraged schools to facilitate teacher collaboration and

I. Kudenko (🖂)

P. Hoyle Cinnabar Consultancy, London, UK

B. Dunn National STEM Learning Network, York, UK

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_19

303

Education Development Trust, Reading, UK e-mail: ikudenko@educationdevelopmenttrust.com

collegial PD internally, increasing school-to-school collaboration and building partnerships with local community and employers. A recent review of school partnerships in the UK (Armstrong 2015) confirmed a proliferation of school-to-school collaboration and a growing diversity of partnership arrangements. Teachers are increasingly expected to work in partnerships in and across schools, making professional learning communities and collegial learning a key form of PD (Lofthouse and Thomas 2015).

However, the shift in policy has resulted in senior leaders prioritising wholeschool generic training with less emphasis on subject-specific PD, especially externally sourced expertise to support subject-specific PD (Cordingley et al. 2018). However, the internal expertise and capacity in STEM subject expertise, particularly in primary schools in England, is recognised by the accountability system (Ofsted) as generally low with many teachers lacking the knowledge and confidence to teach in engaging and exciting ways (Wellcome Trust 2014; CBI 2015). In turn, the level of expertise within English primary schools to provide expert subjectspecific PD in STEM subjects is also low. It is well established that high-quality and inspirational science teaching in primary schools helps engage young people's interest in furthering STEM-related study and careers (Hattie 2003; Ofsted 2013). Subject-specific PD for primary teachers helps increase their subject and pedagogical knowledge and ultimately improve the quality of science teaching and learning (Murphy et al. 2007). So, it is essential that teachers, particularly primary teachers, have access to subject-specific PD.

School partnerships have the potential to tap into subject expertise in partner organisations and/or collectively source external subject-specific PD. Yet, evidence indicates that like individual schools, many partnerships don't prioritise subject-specific PD. Even when partnerships focus on science-specific PD, they have varying degrees of success in terms of impact and sustainability (Armstrong 2015). It is important to understand how school partnerships can become platforms for effective and impactful subject-specific PD.

The research in this chapter compares subject-specific PD provided by schoolled collaborative partnerships with external-led subject-specific PD provided by science education experts. The research uses data from two exemplar programmes which are managed by the National STEM Learning Network (NSLN)¹ in England. NSLN is the largest national provider of a diverse range of subject-specific PD for STEM (science, technology, engineering and maths) educators across all educational phases, including primary schools. Since 2005, the Network has offered STEM educators PD facilitated by expert educational tutors who are usually external to the school. In 2013, responding to the national drive towards school-led selfimprovement, the NSLN expanded their model of subject-specific PD to include a programme of support for school partnerships wishing to work together to improve science teaching and learning.

¹The authors worked for NSLN at the time of the research. NSLN comprises of the National Science Learning Centre (NSLC) in York and up to 50 Science learning Partnerships (SLPs) throughout England together with partners in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.

### **Research Questions**

This research has compared the effectiveness of two exemplars of subject-specific PD: a school-led collaborative science-specific PD model delivered through the ENTHUSE Partnership Programme (EPP) and externally led PD for science subject leaders delivered through the Primary Science Leadership Programme (PSLP). These two different PD models share a common goal of improving the teaching and learning of science in English primary schools as well as subject-specific leadership to build their capacity for self-improvement. Our research questions are:

In what ways are the two PD engagement models (school-led collaborative subject-specific PD and externally led subject-specific PD) effective in:

- Improving teaching and learning of science in schools, especially regarding pupil outcomes in science?
- Supporting schools in building their internal capacity for leading and teaching science and establishing themselves as effective professional learning communities (PLCs)?

To answer these questions, we have examined two examples of PD programmes for primary schools facilitated by the NSLN which are reasonably close to the two PD engagement models and for which we have access to considerable data. They will be presented in the methodology section.

### **Research Background**

In this research we have drawn on the theoretical principles underpinning effective and transformative PD (Cordingley and Bell 2012; Timperley et al. 2007) and effective professional learning communities (Lofthouse and Thomas 2015; Stoll and Kools 2017). We have used these ideas when analysing the effectiveness of the two forms of PD and in drawing comparisons and conclusions.

Systematic research reviews (Coe et al. 2014; Cordingley et al. 2015, 2018) generally concur on the specific design and content features that are present in effective PD:

- · Focused on 'improving and evaluating student outcomes'
- Based on robust research and provided access to specialist (usually external) expertise
- Subject-specific and with explicit support for 'translating' the learning to practice and evaluating the outcomes
- · Relevant to the needs of individual teachers and organisations
- Continuous and sustainable, enabling teachers to focus strategically on particular areas of learning and practice and make links across various PD activities they do
- Conducive to teachers becoming active learners able to critically engage with the learning, experiment and reflect on it
- Encouraging peer support, collegial learning and practice
- Prioritised and modelled by school leadership

These principles of effective PD make an important contribution to the theoretical framework for our comparative research, yet there is a need for a wider perspective. We need to look at the relationship between effective PD and the school cultural and the organisational context in which the PD and subsequent implementation occurs. There is a tacit assumption that effective PD is conducive to school development: however, the relationship to school improvement remains unclear. To answer our second research question on how different PD models affect school capacity for self-improvement, we draw on the literature of 'schools as a learning community', making an explicit connection between PD and the school learning culture.

The school self-improvement movement requires schools to become learning organisations (SLO), to build up their internal capacity to change and adapt to new environments and circumstances (Stoll and Kools 2017: 7). To understand what makes schools and school partnerships effective and impactful, we draw on Stoll and Kools' (2017) integrated model of a SLO which offers the following characteristics of an effective professional learning community (PLC):

- · A shared vision centred on the learning of all students
- · Continuous PD opportunities for all staff
- · Team learning and collaboration among staff
- · A culture of inquiry, innovation and exploration
- · A system for collecting and exchanging knowledge and learning
- Drawing on external (including subject-specific) expertise and linking to larger learning system
- Modelling and growing learning leadership (from Stoll and Kools 2017)

This model helps us to understand how individual experiences of PD are influenced by the existing school culture, organisation of work and working relationships (Eraut 2007). We have taken into account this model together with the principles of effective PD outlined above, to construct a framework for analysing how different engagement models of PD interact with and influence school learning culture, creating distinct enablers, while focused on improving outcomes for young people. For PD to be impactful and effective, professional learning for teachers has to:

- Be relevant to their individual professional needs as well as the need of the whole organisation
- · Develop subject-specific content and pedagogical knowledge
- · Draw on external expertise and evidence from research and best practice
- continuous and collaborative
- · Include reflection, evaluation and support for implementation
- Model and grow learning leadership
- Nurture a shared vision of growth and self-improvement as well as a culture of inquiry, exploration and innovation

Schools differ greatly in their ability to plan and manage PD for their staff, and different models of PD delivery have different strengths and weaknesses in facilitating effective professional learning, implementation and school self-improvement.

For instance, PD which addresses the needs collaboratively identified by the teachers and leaders in a school is more likely to bring about cultural change within a school, especially if it is high-quality PD focused on enabling teachers to be reflective and actively involved in bringing about change to their practices across the school. School-led collaborative PD often has these features. Externally provided PD often starts from a different premise: it is designed to address an individual teacher's needs such as increasing subject content knowledge or introducing new pedagogical approaches. However, if it is unconnected to school priorities/organisational culture, its impact can be significantly reduced unless there is a commitment within the organisation to support changes in teachers' practice post-PD. PD facilitated by external subject experts, either during in-school-facilitated PD or external PD, can often become a transformative experience, which improves teacher subject or pedagogical knowledge and also changes 'hearts and minds'. PD can be effective in changing school culture and practices, developing effective professional learning communities and self-improving systems, when teachers are supported to work together to address their practice (in the case of school-based collaborative PD) or are supported to cascade their learning to colleagues (in the case of external PD).

#### Methodology

#### **Programme Background**

This comparative study focuses on two programmes of science-specific PD support for primary schools in England which, while sharing certain core features of effective PD outlined above, are very distinct in terms of the model of PD engagement that they utilise. Both programmes are facilitated by NSLN and are focused on improving the quality of science/STEM teaching and learning for the participating schools.

The first example, the ENTHUSE Partnership Programme (EPP) is a school-led collaborative PD model which encourages local schools to work together to provide subject-specific PD across a group of schools. The second example, the Primary Science Leadership Programme (PSLP), is an externally led PD model of engagement facilitated by PD tutors, who are specialists in primary science education, and it is designed to meet the needs of individual primary teachers who are new or aspire to become subject leaders in their schools.

### **ENTHUSE** Partnership Programme (EPP)

This PD programme is a 2-year school-led programme of subject-specific PD across partnerships of four to eight schools wishing to work together to raise aspirations and achievement in STEM subjects. This PD draws on and incorporates the idea of a developing a 'learning organisation'. The schools choose the focus of their partnership which has to be broadly linked to local issues of underachievement and raising pupil aspirations in STEM. Each partnership has a lead school, while each partner school has their own lead teacher who manages their input to the partnership.

Funding provided by the NSLN covers internal PD in the partnership, access to education experts, and external PD through the NSLN, access to online community groups and quality-assured resources.

The EPP began in September 2014 and continues to recruit partnerships at regular intervals. It has supported 429 schools (298 primary) across 70 partnerships. This chapter focuses on data from the first three cohorts of partnerships (22 partnerships comprising 104 primary schools) but also draws from the relevant data from cohort four schools (7 partnerships, 43 primary schools).

#### Primary Science Leadership Programme (PSLP)

The programme is an intensive residential science-specific PD for new or aspiring primary science leaders aiming to improve their subject knowledge, classroom practice and subject leadership skills. Led by experienced primary science PD tutors, this leadership programme includes nine face-to-face days over three residential periods at the National Science Learning Centre (NSLC) in York. The content and structure of PD is quality assured and includes 'gap tasks' that participants carry out in their teaching and feedback during subsequent sessions. They also design their own 'action plans', which support the application and cascading of the new learning as well as impact evaluation.

The PSLP began in 2012 and has since engaged with over 150 primary school teachers from across England. Data here focuses on the participants who undertook the PSLP during 2014–2015 (N = 60), a similar starting date for the data as the EPP.

#### **Data Overview**

This study draws from a range of impact and attainment data and evaluation tools which are summarised in Table 1. To enable data and method triangulation and to offset methodological limitations including small n-size sample or minor differences in data collection methodologies, we use a range of sources of qualitative and quantitative data, including comparative data from participants in other PD primary science-specific courses at the NSLC.

Overall, the instruments used for data collection are broadly similar; questionnaires and feedback on PD from participating teachers and leaders, reports on shortand long-term impact participants', interviews, teacher testimonies and observations of PD session by external evaluators. In addition, this research uses monitoring data

Data sources	EPP	PSLP
Data on quality and impact of programme collected by internal evaluation tools (conducted by NSLN)	Internal evaluation data PD participant feedback forms from school-to-school PD (n = 57) and externally delivered PD (n = 28)	Data collected through internal evaluation:
Data on quality and impact of programme collected by external evaluators (conducted by an independent evaluator)	Data collected by the external evaluator (CUREE):	Teacher impact survey June 2015 (n = 36)
	Teacher survey $(N = 82)$	Observation of 5 PD sessions at the NSLC
	School Leader Survey (N = 29)	Semi-structured interviews with course participants (n = 12)
	Partnership Leaders' Survey (n = 51)	PD participant feedback forms (n = 113)
	Case studies (CUREE 2017b)	
	Final evaluation report (CUREE 2017a)	
Teacher assessment of pupil attainment and progress using a common data collection tool	556 records from a sample of cohort 1 and 2(Cohort 3 data was not available in time for the research) partnership schools (n = 18)	344 records from a sample of programme participants (n = 13)
Reflective participant evaluation tools (Tools are embedded into the PD to support participants' learning, action planning, and impact evaluation – based on Guskey (2000) principles of evaluating PD)	Data from individual participants:	Data from individual participants:
	Post-PD impact reports (n = 18)	Action plans $(n = 24)$
	Partnership documents:	Post-PD impact reports (n = 59)
	Action plans completed by school leads (n = 22)	'Champagne moments' participants' written testimonies reflecting on impact (n = 39)
	Qualitative progress reports updated termly by partnership leads (n = 20)	

Table 1 Primary and secondary data used in the research

from termly programme progress reports, data and findings from the EPP external evaluation (CUREE 2017a, b).

## School Comparisons

We used nationally available school data to compare the background of schools participating in both programmes. Lead schools involved in the EPP show more positive national inspectorate ratings compared with EPP partner schools and PSLP schools. Both EPP partner schools and PSLP schools show national inspectorate ratings similar to the national average. This is unsurprising as EPP schools leading their partnerships are required to have strong leadership in STEM subjects to be part of the programme. Pupil attainment for schools in both the EPP and PSLP is marginally above the national average; however the deprivation index of these schools is significantly greater than the national average.

Taken together, this suggests the schools engaged with either the EPP or PSLP are based in areas with high levels of deprivation but, in terms of attainment and inspection data, are performing in line with or slightly above the national average. It is, however, worth noting that national school data of this type is not subject-specific; hence while the school itself may be performing above the national average, this data does not provide a targeted insight into the relevant aspects of science teaching and learning, which may be underperforming. Furthermore, this data provides a snapshot of the information regarding schools at the start of their engagement with the programme and does not show trends over time. For example, while schools engaged with the EPP and PSLP are performing slightly above the national average, trend data over time may show that these schools are in decline and are therefore seeking support to address this.

There are noticeable differences in the level of individual educators who drive the engagement of their schools with each of the programmes. PSLP participants are classroom teachers who have, or aspire to have, responsibilities for leading science; they are passionate about science and are strongly focused on improving science teaching and learning. They are reliant on senior leaders to help disseminate and implement changes across the school post-PD. The EPP is driven by senior leaders who are concerned with school improvement across all subjects. They have authority to initiate changes and join the partnership, and often view science as a temporal focus, a means to access funding and support. Around half of the partnerships have a previous history of collaboration, usually in non-science subjects, while the rest are new partnerships.

## **Comparing Programme Delivery, Outcomes and Impact**

### **Delivery and Quality**

Feedback from PSLP participants is overwhelmingly positive with over 98% reporting good or very good quality of training (the top two ratings on a four-point scale). Participants report that the training balances good subject learning with theoretical insights, practical advice and leadership skills:

I have gained considerable confidence as a Science subject leader and the course has provided a structure within which to lead the subject successfully and also ensure the remainder of the teaching team are confident in teaching Science and have the necessary support. The course, so far, will definitely help me to improve certain aspects of science throughout the school. (PSLP evaluation form) However, when invited to reflect on post-PD actions and the impact achieved, participants frequently talk about challenges acknowledging the importance of securing buy-in from colleagues and senior leaders:

[I need to] be assertive with leaders about the value of the concepts and skills gained through this training, in supporting learning in science and other areas of the curriculum. (PSLP impact report)

EPP schools draw on internal and external subject expertise. Their PD focused on subject knowledge, pedagogy, leadership, curriculum planning or joint pupil activities. EPP participants are eligible (but until recently were not required) to attend external subject-specific PD at NSLC. The programme evaluation data clearly indicates that the dispersed nature of the school-led collaborative model has challenges in supporting consistently good quality PD. The analysis of a sample of PD evaluation forms showed that only 89% of participants rated the PD as good or very good, while 11% rated it satisfactory (the second lowest rating), indicating some school-to-school CPD sessions were viewed by participants as less effective and impactful. However, when teachers on the EPP attended sessions delivered by experienced PD tutors from NSLN, their feedback on PD quality was similar to teachers attending other PD similar to PSLP at the NSLC.

Schools working in a partnership face challenges in the coordination of their PD: different priorities and timescales, different agendas and unequal input from schools across the partnership. Analysis of the programme data indicates that it is quite common for partnerships to experience setup delays and organisational problems, related to a lack of established processes for interschool collaboration:

Less CPD has taken place due to delay caused by OFSTED inspection in lead school & communication difficulties with local SLP. All original 8 partnership schools committed to project but limited CPD so far due to communication difficulties .... (EPP progress report)

The EPP provides schools with expert coaches to support the programme; these coaches report that most partnerships need support in the management and delivery of the programme as well as support to bring all the schools on board particularly where there is no history of working together.

## Impact on Teachers

We compared the survey data reported by the EPP external evaluator and impact data from the PSLP to the data reported by other participants of external subject-specific PD for primary teachers at the NSLC. We also drew from qualitative data, e.g. interviews, case studies and partnership progress reports.

Overall, there is some positive impact reported by participants across the programmes on subject content knowledge, pedagogical content knowledge and particularly on enthusiasm and confidence in teaching of science. Yet, there are some notable differences (see Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Impact on science teaching reported by teachers and leaders of EPP, PSLP participants and those who attended other residential PD for primary teachers at the NSLC. Note: EPP teachers were not asked about the impact on their enthusiasm and confidence to teach science

There is difference in the impact on subject and pedagogical knowledge reported by EPP partnership leaders (100%) and EPP classroom teachers (83%) (CUREE 2017a: 6) which could be attributed to two factors; partnership leads attended more PD sessions than other teachers in partnership schools, and they also had highquality PD from externally led experts at NSLC. The impact on subject and pedagogical knowledge on classroom teachers in EPP (83%) is more similar to the impact reported by classroom teachers of primary science PD at the NSLC (88%) but less than the impact reported by PSLP participants (100%):

It has made me think harder in science lessons to make sure all children have practical experiences of science - moving away completely from using worksheets and taking opportunities whenever they occur, for example, the solar eclipse this year. [...] Being on this course has really raised the profile of science at our school, which had been very low. I have initiated lots of new projects... winning £1000 from Rolls Royce, improving action planning, more practical hands on experience for children. (PSLP impact report)

In the EPP, 100% of the surveyed school leaders and 78% of teachers reported the changes in their teaching practice as a direct impact of the programme with the most important being 'a shift towards fostering rich scientific enquiry and a more practical approach to science' (CUREE 2017a:16). Qualitative data sources (e.g. teacher impact and partnership progress reports) provide evidence from both programmes: there is impact on the teaching of science, making it more exciting and using practical activities that foster rich scientific enquiry and development of scientific and other relevant skills.

Fifty-eight percent of EPP teachers and 81% of leaders in the EPP report an increase in their motivation to stay in teaching and better prospects for career progression compared with only around 20% of participants on other primary science PD at NSLC. This is a very significant difference, which could be attributed to the

collaborative and local nature of professional learning and its transformative impact on school culture:

All schools have reported that the targeted CPD has had a massive influence on teacher's enthusiasm, confidence and subject knowledge in science. All teacher involved are teaching through working scientifically. (Progress Report from Lead EPP School)

Many EPP schools increase their engagement with (local) STEM employers which helps them learn about the use and applications of STEM concepts: 53% of EPP teachers and 70% of EPP leaders report improved understanding of the application of STEM in employment and how to use it to contextualise teaching. This is considerably higher than in other external PD for teachers at the NSLC where about 37% report improvement in using contextualisation in their teaching of STEM subjects.

### Impact on Pupils

Both programmes had evidence showing that changes in teaching practice led to positive changes in pupil outcomes: 90% or more of participants in both programmes observed increased enthusiasm, motivation and confidence in pupils, which, according to many teacher testimonies, became a catalyst for an increase in attainment and subsequently aspirations for future careers or study. Schools reported organising whole-school events to celebrate science and its achievements which galvanised pupils' interest and engagement in STEM. Figure 2 and a quote provide an illustration of such an activity taken place in a partnership school:

Each year, the Mary Elton partnership run a STEM project during Science Week. ...In 2017, pupils arrived at school in the morning to find spacecraft debris covering the field and the area being guarded by police and the fire service. This led to the 2017 Stomp Rockets competition. (CUREE 2017a:1)

Teachers on both programmes collated attainment data on a sample of the pupils at the beginning of the programme and end of that academic year. At the beginning of each programme, teachers were also asked to use pupils' prior attainment and their professional experience of national standards to predict student performance by the end of that academic year. Figure 3 shows how teachers from both programmes assessed their pupils.

Teachers in the PSLP stated a larger positive change in the proportion of pupils working at the expected levels or above compared with those involved in the EPP. Indeed, the PSLP teachers' assessment of science attainment outperformed their expectations, with more pupils working above and less working at or below the expected level. There was significant improvement for the lower-achieving pupils: by July 2015 more than half of the lower-achieving pupils in the PSLP sample improved their attainment compared with only 18% of pupils in the EPP sample.

This finding is consistent with the differences between the programmes in the planning and implementation of PD. PSLP has fixed schedule and content CPD, including 'gap tasks' that stimulate participants to implement newly acquired prac-



Fig. 2 Example of an enthusing STEM activity organised by a school partnership



**Fig. 3** Pupil attainment data provided by course participants showing percentage of pupils working below, above or at the expected level for their age group and in relation to predicted levels of attainment. (In 2012, the national testing of pupils aged 11 in science was abolished. Consequently since 2013, unmoderated teacher assessment has been the only measure of pupils' attainment level to indicate whether a pupil is working above, below or in line with the expectations set out for children of that age.)

tices between sessions; EPP has more flexible schedule for PD and pupil activities, which, while responding to teachers' perceived needs, may delay implementation (at least in the short term) and reduce the impact on attainment. However, there may be another factor at play. The PSLP attainment data comes from the small number of pupils directly taught by programme participant; in contrast, the EPP attainment data reflects all the pupils in the school, most of whom were taught by teachers with various levels of engagement in the programme.



Fig. 4 The difference between primary schools engaged and not engaged with the EPP and PSLP in % of KS2 pupils performing above or at the expected level in KS2 teacher-assessed science

We also examined the impact on attainment at a whole-school level by analysing attainment data made available by the English Department for Education.² Similar to above, nationally available school data shows, for each school, the proportion of pupils who are working at or above age-related expectations. While the comparison of short-term attainment data from a sample of school pupils revealed a greater impact achieved by PSLP schools, the picture was reversed when we look at the national attainment data for year 6 (pupils aged 11).

We compared 'teacher-assessed science' results in schools engaged in the programmes to similar schools not engaged with either programme³ (Fig. 4). Engaged schools were matched to non-engaged schools on four aspects recorded at the beginning of the programme:

- Science attainment
- · Level of local area deprivation
- · Proportion of pupils from a disadvantaged background
- · Overall effectiveness rating from Ofsted

Schools engaged with the EPP show increases in the proportion of children performing at or above the expected level in science attainment compared with similar non-engaged schools. After 1 year of the EPP, there is a small positive difference (M = 0.78%) in pupils' attainment, which grows to a larger, significant difference (M = 3.24%) 2 years into the EPP. PSLP schools again show a small, positive dif-

²https://www.compare-school-performance.service.gov.uk/download-data

³However they may be engaged in other PD. The NSLN engages with 75% of primary schools in England in a variety of ways.

ference (0.31%) 1 year into the programme, which grows to a larger positive difference (1.75%) 2 years after the programme began.

The nationally available attainment data suggests that (a) the EPP shows a greater impact on school-level attainment over the course of the programme and beyond and (b) the PSLP shows less school-level impact in the year after the programme has been completed. The number of pupils impacted from each PD could account for some of these differences, but they can also be explained by the various types of PD: the PSLP is a leadership programme in which, as the literature indicates, leadership PD takes time to cascade to colleagues' practice and therefore impact on a wider range of pupils in a school.

#### Wider Impact

#### School-to-School Collaboration

Between the two programme examples, there is considerable difference in the extent of school-to-school collaboration. Within the PSLP, 78% of teachers reported increasing their collaboration with other primary schools, and 54% had more links with local secondary schools. However, only about a third of participants reported sharing the new learning with other schools. Collaboration is at the core of the EPP: 66% of teachers, 90% of school leaders and 92% of partnership leaders reported increased collaboration with other schools.

All schools have worked together and created strong partnerships to further science teaching. Particularly successful was the Shared Practice Days where partnership schools were paired with another to plan and team teach one or two science sessions focusing on working scientifically. (Progress Report from Lead EPP School)

#### Sustainability

The teachers in the PSLP initially report considerable impact, but this declines slightly over 3 years. A follow-up survey in April 2018 of teachers who had completed the PSLP in 2014/2015 showed that teachers continued to enjoy positive impact on their knowledge and practice and the pupils they teach. Yet, their success in implementing long-lasting changes across the school was more variable. On average they reported implementing at least half of their intended action plans, but in some cases the experience was less positive:

I have been unable to fully implement ideas due to being absent due to stress and I am no longer Science lead. (PSLP sustainability survey)

When reporting on impact at the end of the PD course in 2015, all PSLP teachers said that science became a priority in their schools. Three years after the course, five

out of six respondents said that the status of science in the schools had declined and that it is currently lower than English or maths. Some, but not all, of this could be attributed to the changes nationally in the status of science in the primary curriculum. Nevertheless, the reported impact on pupils, particularly on their enjoyment and engagement in science, was still high: two thirds of teachers confirmed that their pupils were enjoying science more than other subjects. This was firmly attributed to improvements in teaching practice achieved through the course:

We make sure that Science is as practical as possible, ensuring that learners are not faced bogged down by writing and have opportunities to develop their literacy skills and demonstrate their understanding.

As more Science can be practical, the children can seem more confident at times to explore new things and learn from misconceptions. (PSLP sustainability survey respondents).

How does it compare to EPP? According to the external evaluation report, 'partnerships were found to be highly resilient to changes in personnel and challenges around staff turnover [and] even created opportunities for further leadership development' (CUREE 2017a: 6). Seventy-four percent of partnership leaders agreed that their partnership's activities and impact would be maintained if they or other key personnel were to leave.

The evaluators observed that 'success of partnership activities and the increased profile of science within the school helped, sometimes initially less committed, headteachers to see the value in investing in science and committing more resources to match or replace the EPP funding in successive years' (CUREE 2017a: 18). Increased visibility of science and the status of a school partnership enabled some of them to successfully establish links with local businesses and seek alternative sources of funding. This expanded the scale and range of partnership activities during the EPP funding and added to their overall sustainability after the end of the funding. For instance, one partnership of six primary schools, which had a history of collaboration as well as some links to local employers, was able to significantly expand their collaborative work, acquire more financial and in-kind support from the local employers and engage more nearby schools and pupils:

Drawing on both external and internal expertise has been integral to the success of the partnership. Supported by external STEM experts, their teachers and other pupils, the children can see the practical value and application of STEM subjects. ...They meet and work with pupils from other schools and learn about the wider issues linked to each project.

It is has been possible to develop existing and new links with external STEM experts to support professional learning. One existing link was with the local engineer ... who was involved in the construction of the Wimbledon centre court retractable roof. The ENTHUSE funding supported him taking a wider role to demonstrate engineering techniques and concepts to both teachers and pupils as part of the annual competitions. (Mary Elton Group Case Study: CUREE 2017a)

A survey (March 2018) of the partnerships involved in the programme between September 2014 and July 2017 investigated the longer-term impact and sustainability of the programme. There are indications that schools continue to capitalise on what they achieved in the programme, particularly in terms of the quality of science teaching and learning. Schools report numerous 'legacies' benefiting teachers and pupils, which range from 'teaching science in an engaging way' to 'improving the status of science in school' to 'raising science attainments' for groups of pupils with disadvantaged background like 'girls from a specific minority group'.

Partnership schools reported sustained positive changes as well as continuing to carry out joint activities with other schools in the partnership (83%) and continuing to benefit from working together. However, all partnership leads responding to the survey stated that the lack of further funding was a significant barrier to sustainability, so many had to scale down their collaborations:

We've continued to meet once per term and ran training where all the schools came together. We've also shared equipment, run science days and events across the ENTHUSE schools. (EPP sustainability survey respondent)

That said, five out of the six sampled partnerships were able to retain most schools in the original partnership with two managing to add new schools to their membership:

We are carrying forward practice, skills and knowledge gained from our work with ENTHUSE supported by acknowledgement of The Wellcome Trust Awards. We are now leading a group of 20 schools on a 2017 project on rockets called 'Looking out to space – looking back to Earth'. What may be useful to know is that there is legacy [C]PD impact [...] in our case, we are continuing not only to impact within our schools but are creating our own outreach [C]PD too, which will be even more [C]PD [...] and that 'bang for your buck' has not stopped once the project is over. (EPP sustainability survey respondent)

This enabled cascading good practice and impact from the programme participants to new teachers, pupils and schools:

[The EPP] has given us the foundation to build on. Science teaching as a curriculum area is working well and we can now focus on the other STEM areas through real-life problem solving for the children. (EPP sustainability survey respondent)

#### Discussion

To answer our research questions about the impact of the two different PD engagement models and their relative advantages and shortcomings, it is useful to map them against the combined framework of what makes effective PD (Cordingley et al. 2015) and effective learning communities (Stoll and Kools 2017), which was outlined at the start of the chapter.

As exemplars of the two PD engagement models (school-led collaborative science-specific PD and external PD for science leaders), both programmes analysed in this study (EPP and PSLP) cover at least some of these eight areas of effective PD and learning communities. They both aim to improve outcomes for young people and develop subject-specific content and pedagogical knowledge; are continuous PD; include reflection, evaluation and support implementation; and model

and grow learning leadership. They are relevant to either the individual teachers' needs (PSLP) or the whole school's needs (EPP). They have differing levels of collaboration, diverse ways of drawing on external expertise and evidence from research and best practice and develop visions for growth and self-improvement in different ways and contexts.

The evidence shows that both models of PD engagement have merits and issues, with differing levels of resilience to support school improvement. The motivation behind the people who drive school participation in subject-specific PD is different, which affects the implementation and the impact. PSLP participants are (new or aspiring) subject leaders, and science teaching is their passion. They often report considerable success in improving their own teaching and outcomes for their own pupils, with some success in cascading their learning to colleagues and inspiring them to make changes in their practice. However, sometimes they encounter indifference or even resistance from colleagues including lack of support from school leaders which can reduce the impact of the PD outside of their own classroom.

In the EPP, senior leaders are the driving force and the strategic enablers of change, with the actual implementation falling on subject leaders and classroom teachers. The impact of the PD is stronger when the whole school is on-board, when they acquire a sense of ownership of the project and become willing and active collaborators (Watson 2014). However, this does not happen automatically, and the success depends on the willingness, ability and capacity of the rest of the team as well as on whether they are encouraged to work 'together' towards a shared common goal, not just commanded working 'with' (Lofthouse and Thomas 2015). The EPP experienced additional organisational obstacles and issues related to collaborative work, such as agreeing aims or priorities of actions, which can cause delays and issues with the start-up and implementation of a partnership. This is particularly common among the newly formed partnerships that have yet to establish working practices in their collaboration, without additional guidance and support.

While science or another STEM subject is the focus of an ENTHUSE Partnership, for senior leaders it is often just one of the many school priorities. There is evidence that programme can be derailed before it is fully embedded unless there is an effective senior member of staff to lead it forward. Yet, the sustainability data collected within this research gives a reason for optimism. Although the lack of a focused perspective on science can be an obstacle at the start of the EPP, the broader vision of how a school partnership in science/STEM can act as a vehicle for whole-school improvement adds to its resilience and sustainability after the funding ends.

Since working in a partnership requires schools to build their leadership capacity, this gives additional opportunities for leadership training, to observe and work with leaders from other institutions (Hadfield and Chapman 2009). This is certainly an advantage of the partnership model; however the evidence indicates that unless the leadership training draws on external expertise, research and best practice, the quality and practice of leadership may remain suboptimal. This is also the case for PD delivered by teachers to other teachers in a partnership: unless they have had training in effective PD facilitation, they are less likely to be familiar with strategies which make PD relevant, effective and impactful.

In comparison, the model of external PD for science leaders led by subject education experts enables teachers to learn from and work with expert, professional PD tutors who provide access to up-to-date knowledge and expertise in subject areas alongside effective PD practices. This intensive and immersive PD balances the learning of new subject content including cutting-edge science and pedagogical knowledge with insights into the theory of 'science of learning' (Howard-Jones et al. 2016) and with the development of reflective skills and critical analysis of how this could be applied to the teaching practice (Bolton and Delderfield 2018). The structural design of PSLP as a multi-residential course, where participants have space for learning, testing, reflecting and evaluating, gives support to effective learning. The impact is impressive gains in pupil attainment reported by PSLP participants after the first year of the programme. Data for the same period from the EPP shows less improvement in pupil outcomes, indicating that partnerships needs more time to deliver impact on pupil achievement.

Overall, in our experience PD delivered externally by professional tutors – who are often research active or at least follow research and best practice – is more likely to build on the principles of effective PD and meet the learning needs and practice of individual teachers. The inclusion of a leadership component enables sharing the principles of how to lead teams as effective professional learning communities. The programme data reviewed in this research shows that the PSLP provides subject leaders with transformative experience that affects their mind-sets and practice and, as Timperley et al. (2007) suggest, makes them well equipped to become 'movers and shakers' of subject teaching and learning as exemplified in the following quotes from course participants:

The whole course has been extremely valuable in extending my subject knowledge and in leading science in school. I have taken away some great ideas that I can use in the classroom & suggest to colleagues.

I have developed the confidence to support colleagues and have implemented a new scheme of work and assessment system for science. I have raised the profile of the subject because of my improved enthusiasm. (PSLP impact reports)

This is a transformative experience for individual teachers, but because it happens outside the school, it can limit the embedding of the learning, thus limiting the scale and sustainability of the impact on the leadership, teaching and learning of the science in the school. The effectiveness of this PD model in supporting school improvement relies on the personal qualities and capability of participants to act as change agents. This type of PD has lower resilience to changes within the school, including changes to personnel particularly at the headship level, change in school priorities, culture or other circumstances. We have evidence of limited impact on school improvement when participating teachers change roles, move to a new school or go on maternity leave, or if a new school head brought in new priorities and management styles. All of these scenarios negatively affect the scale of implementation and reduce the ability of these newly trained leaders to embed system-level improvements. The PSLP experience indicates that these vulnerabilities can be partially alleviated through embedding leadership skills alongside the subject and pedagogical knowledge.

In contrast, the school-led collaborative model can accommodate some aspects of effective PD which are more difficult to achieve in externally led PD. It is able to focus on collegiality, providing an impetus for nurturing and sustaining a shared vision of growth and self-improvement (Kruse and Seashore 2007) as well as developing a culture of inquiry, exploration and innovation (Stoll and Kools 2017). There is evidence that this has an immediate noticeable effect on teacher motivation to stay in the profession and on career progression for those leading the partnership. It can be very relevant to the need of the whole organisation; however often leaders report that it significantly increases their workload, which can become a limiting factor in the school capacity for self-improvement. A particular strength of this PD model is that it has a wide reach with the ability to improve teaching and learning in multiple schools in a locality, fostering links to local experts, communities and STEM employers, thus creating a more durable infrastructure for strong and effective professional learning communities (Armstrong 2015).

#### Conclusion

The purpose of this comparative study was to investigate the effectiveness of two PD engagement models in improving leadership, teaching and learning of science in English primary schools. We compared the design, delivery and evidence from two programmes of subject-specific PD, the ENTHUSE Partnership Programme and Primary Science Leadership Programme, as exemplars of the engagement models. To ascertain their effectiveness, we examined the outcomes of the programmes against the theoretical principles underpinning effective PD and those of schools as learning communities.

Both exemplar programmes were found to be successful in terms of improving the leadership, teaching and learning of science with some evidence of impact on pupil outcomes, partly explained by some common features of each programme. However, there were key differences in the programmes which led to different challenges and advantages and consequently differing types of impact. The strength of PSLP is that it incorporates high-quality external expertise in the content and delivery of PD providing individual teachers with the motivation and skills to improve their teaching and outcomes for pupils in their classes. However, the major issue is that because it is delivered externally to the school, it is not always as effective on the leadership of science, changing colleagues' practice and hence impacting on pupil outcomes throughout the school over a period of time. The partnership model has the opposite issue: it has a potential to create an infrastructure for collegial learning throughout and across schools to improve the leadership and teaching of the subject; however unless this model is supported with strong input from external experts, research and effective practice, the potential of impact on outcomes for pupils are not guaranteed.

A good understanding of the advantages of these PD engagement models can be used to develop delivery models, tackle their limitations and reinforce their stronger features. The NSLN has consequently revised the design and delivery of the two programmes discussed in this paper trialling a more 'blended' approach of PD engagement combining the stronger elements of each programme. Consequently since 2017, all EPP schools are required to engage with at least one externally led residential PD at the National STEM Learning Centre, enabling teachers to access work placements in industry or academia and engage with the STEM Ambassadors programme to support career education and contextual learning. The PSLP is further supporting participants in the development of effective strategies for embedding and cascading their learnings across their school. They are actively encouraged to increase their collaboration with local schools, using funding opportunities and programmes provided by NSLN and its partners. It will need several years to ascertain the impact of these changes on each programme, but the feedback from participants of both programmes looks very positive.

### References

- Armstrong, P. (2015). Effective school partnerships and collaboration for school improvement: A review of the evidence. Research report. Department for Education. http://dera.ioe. ac.uk/24523/1/DFE-RR466_-_School_improvement_effective_school_partnerships.pdf. Accessed 11 Dec 2018.
- Bolton, G., & Delderfield, R. (2018). *Reflective practice: Writing and professional development* (5th ed.). London: Sage.
- Coe, R., Aloisi, C., Higgins, S., & Major, L. E. (2014). What makes great teaching? Review of the underpinning research. London: Sutton Trust. http://www.suttontrust.com/wp-content/ uploads/2014/10/What-Makes-Great-Teaching-REPORT.pdf. Accessed 11 Dec 2018.
- Confederation of British Industry. (2015). *Tomorrow's world: Inspiring primary scientists*. CBI. http://www.cbi.org.uk/tomorrows-world/HOME.html. Accessed 11 Dec 2018.
- Cordingley, P., & Bell, M. (2012). Understanding what enables high quality professional learning: A report on the research evidence. Centre for the Use of Research and Evidence in Education (CUREE) and Pearson School Improvement. http://www.curee.co.uk/files/ publication/%5Bsite-timestamp%5D/CUREE-Report.pdf. Accessed 11 Dec 2018.
- Cordingley, P., Higgins, S., Greany, T., Buckler, N., Coles-Jordan, D., Crisp, B., Saunders, L., & Coe, R. (2015) Developing Great Teaching: Lessons from the international reviews into effective professional development. Teacher Development Trust. http://tdtrust.org/wp-content/ uploads/2015/10/DGT-Full-report.pdf. Accessed 11 Dec 2018.
- Cordingley, P., Greany, T., Crisp, B., Seleznyou, S., Bradbury, M., & Perry, T. (2018) Developing Great subject teaching: Rapid evidence review of subject specific continuing professional development in the UK. Wellcome Trust. https://wellcome.ac.uk/sites/default/files/developinggreat-subject-teaching.pdf. Accessed 11 Dec 2018.
- CUREE. (2017a). External evaluation of the ENTHUSE Partnership Programme (EPP): Final report. Centre for the Use of Research and Evidence in Education and STEM Learning. https://www.stem.org.uk/system/files/elibrary-resources/2017/08/ENTHUSE-partnershipsprogramme-final-report_0.pdf. Accessed 11 Dec 2018.
- CUREE. (2017b). External evaluation of the ENTHUSE Partnership Programme (2014-2017): Case study: Mary Elton Group. Centre for the Use of Research and Evidence in Education

and STEM Learning. https://www.stem.org.uk/system/files/elibrary-resources/2017/08/Mary-Elton-case-study_0.pdf. Accessed 11 Dec 2018.

- Department for Education. (2010). *The Importance of Teaching*. Cm.7980. https://www.gov.uk/ government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/175429/CM-7980.pdf. Accessed 11 Dec 2018.
- Eraut, M. (2007). Learning from other people in the workplace. Oxford Review of Education, 33(4), 403–422. https://doi.org/10.1080/03054980701425706.
- Guskey, T. R. (2000). Evaluating professional development. Thousand Oaks: Corwin Press.
- Hadfield, M., & Chapman, C. (2009). Leading school-based networks. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Hargreaves, D. H. (2010). Creating a self-improving school system. Nottingham: National College for Leadership of Schools and Children's Services.
- Hattie, J. A. C. (2003). Teachers make a difference: What is the research evidence? Paper presented at the Building Teacher Quality: What does the research tell us? ACER Research Conference, Melbourne, Australia. http://research.acer.edu.au/research_conference_2003/4/. Accessed 11 Dec 2018.
- Howard-Jones, P. A., Varma, S., Ansari, D., Butterworth, B., De Smedt, B., Goswami, U., ... & Thomas, M. S. (2016). The principles and practices of educational neuroscience: Comment on Bowers (2016). *Psychological Review*, 123, 620 – 627. https://doi.org/10.1037/rev0000036
- Kruse, S., & Seashore, K. (2007). Developing collective understanding over time: Reflections on building professional community. In L. Stoll & K. Seashore (Eds.), *Professional learning communities: Divergence, depth and dilemmas* (pp. 106–118). Maidenhead: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Lofthouse, R., & Thomas, U. (2015). Concerning collaboration: Teachers' perspectives on working in partnerships to develop teaching practices. *Professional Development in Education*, 43(1), 36–56. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2015.1053570.
- Murphy, C., Neil, P., & Beggs, J. (2007). Primary science teacher confidence revisited: Ten years on. *Educational Research*, 49, 415–430. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131880701717289.
- NFER. (2017). Annual Teaching Omnibus Survey. https://www.nfer.ac.uk/teacher-voice-omnibussurvey/. Accessed 24 May 2018.
- OECD. (2014). TALIS 2013 results: An international perspective on teaching and learning. OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264196261-en
- Ofsted. (2013). Maintaining curiosity: A survey into science education in schools. http://www.gov. uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/379164/Maintaining_20curiosit y_20a_20survey_20into_20science_20education_20in_20schools.pdf. Accessed 11 Dec 2018.
- Stoll, L., & Kools, M. (2017). The school as a learning organisation: A review revisiting and extending a timely concept. *Journal of Professional Capital and Community*, 2(1), 2–17. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPCC-09-2016-0022.
- Timperley, H., Wilson, A., Barrar, H., & Fung, I. (2007). Teacher professional learning and development: Best evidence synthesis iteration. Wellington: Ministry of Education.
- Watson, C. (2014). Effective professional learning communities? The possibilities for teachers as agents of change in schools. *British Educational Research Journal*, 40(1), 18–29. https://doi. org/10.1002/berj.3025.
- Wellcome Trust. (2014). Primary Science: Is it missing out? Recommendations for reviving primary science. https://wellcome.ac.uk/sites/default/files/primary-science-is-it-missing-outwellcome-sep14.pdf. Accessed 11 Dec 2018.

## A Design-Based Process in Characterizing Experienced Teachers' Formative Assessment Enactment in Science Classrooms



Hannah Sevian 🕞 and Vesal Dini 🕞

### Introduction

The initiation-response-evaluation (IRE) discourse pattern in classrooms is pervasive and well documented (Mehan 1979). In this pattern, the teacher initiates a question, students respond, and then the teacher evaluates this response. In spite of extensive science education reform efforts over decades, and the implementation of a wide variety of highly developed hands-on science curricula, studies have repeatedly shown that the IRE pattern persists and classroom science learning remains largely procedural without challenging students to make sense of what they are learning (Banilower et al. 2013; Roth and Garnier 2007). Compounding this problem is that many experienced science teachers consider that their teaching is well aligned with high levels of inquiry in their classrooms. Teachers report engaging their students in questioning, modeling, and communicating evidence several times per month, yet observations reveal that the teachers' definitions of inquiry vary and they often map their classroom practices onto vague notions of inquiry activity (Capps et al. 2016). In fact, it is rare that sense-making activities for students get connected to laboratory-based activities in the classroom and discourse in classrooms that promotes such sense-making is even more rare (Weiss et al. 2003). These persistent problems suggest that teachers could benefit from practical tools to help them attend to sense-making in science classrooms, with specific guidance for experienced teachers to reflect on their own discourse practices.

The aim of this chapter is to share our design-based research approach to addressing the following problem of practice: *There is a lack of practical guidance for science teachers in enacting formative assessment (FA) to support students' sensemaking.* In an urban partnership that includes middle and high school science

H. Sevian  $(\boxtimes) \cdot V$ . Dini

College of Science and Mathematics, University of Massachusetts Boston, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: hannah.sevian@umb.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_20

teacher leaders, school district administrators, and science education researchers (Szteinberg et al. 2014), we converged on this problem of practice that combines the perspectives of multiple stakeholders. In the statement of this problem of practice, we intend *practical* to mean based on the practices of experienced science teachers, *guidance* to mean that it is clearly defined and easy for classroom teachers to use, *enacting* to mean that it is about options that teachers can take in their instructional decisions, *support* to honor the teacher as agent in achieving the goals of learning for students, and *sense-making* to recognize that student learning benefits when students are protagonists in their learning. In the work reported here, we focus on the process among teachers and researchers that led to a resource to address our problem of practice. The resource provides guidance for experienced teachers in examining their own classroom FA practice as well as an instrument for researchers to study science teachers' FA enactment.

#### **Design-Based Research Approach**

Through this problem of practice, we seek to address important problems facing teachers working in the complex environments of science classrooms. We therefore followed the approach of design-based research (DBR), which was developed "to address theoretical questions about the nature of learning" situated in real-world contexts and "derive research findings from formative evaluation" (Collins et al. 2004: 16).

DBR assumes the entanglement of the design of a learning environment—which may take the form of an instructional approach, type of assessment, or learning activity (Anderson and Shattuck 2012)—with the development of a related learning theory (Brown 1992). DBR stipulates that such design and development should take place in naturalistic settings and be carried out in an iterative process of designing, enacting, analyzing, and redesigning (The Design-Based Research Collective 2003). In a DBR process, not only does this iterative process of design evolve, but there is also a major product goal of communicating how enactments are connected to outcomes of interest in the particular context under study. Our explanations here are crafted for the purpose of guiding fellow practitioners.

We extended our DBR approach to create what Bereiter (2014) called principled practical knowledge (PPK), which is systematic, coherent, and explanatory, but its main purpose is practical guidance. Our aim in this was to "increase the generalizability of knowledge produced through design work and provide a ladder leading to sometimes radical design improvement" (Bereiter 2014: 1). From analyzing researchers' DBR processes, Bereiter identified three stages that help put the production of PPK into context: (1) a practical observation emerging from the DBR experience; (2) a reasonably coherent and generalizable explanation of what has been observed, which may still be limited; and (3) basic research to form results

from the second stage into theory. Bereiter points to the second stage as representing PPK, "which is both a foundation for further design advances and a stimulus for theoretical research" (p. 11). We describe our DBR process in terms of Bereiter's stages. After an initial description of Stage 1 (practical observation), we concentrate on the second cycle that took place in Stage 2 (generalizable explanation), because it points toward the integration of results into theory.

### **Practical Observation**

The current team includes five grades 6–12 science teacher leaders from different schools in a large urban school district, two school district administrators (the director and associate director of the district's science, technology, and engineering department), and three science education researchers at a public university in the same city (a chemistry professor, a physics education postdoc, and a doctoral student studying chemistry education). Some members of this team have collaborated for up to 14 years, while others more recently joined the team 2–3 years ago. Members of the team observe in each other's classrooms, both in person and through video, and design and lead professional development (PD) for science teachers and administrators in the school district as well as nationally. A 6-year history is condensed into a story of the process, aided by field notes collaboratively recorded by one of the researchers and one of the teachers.

Development of our practical observation (the product of Stage 1) took shape through several half- and full-day meetings over 1 year. The design team determined that four groups of stakeholders were necessary to forming a practical observation of *the FA practices of science teachers*: teachers, students, school district personnel, and science education researchers. Initially, we followed a process of identifying questions that the team considered to be important, and then observing critically in our own and each other's classrooms, considering how our students experienced FA, and opening discussions with colleagues about PD and resources for FA that they wished for. Our questions evolved over time as we read and discussed current research (Coffey et al. 2011; Colestock and Sherin 2015; Furtak et al. 2014; Talanquer et al. 2015) and reported on our informal investigations.

At the conclusion of this practical observation, we developed a characterization of the problem of practice at the intersection of four stakeholders' priorities. We also agreed upon a definition of FA based on our review of literature: "the process used by teachers and students to recognize and respond to student learning in order to enhance that learning, during the learning" (Bell and Cowie 2001). With reference to Talanquer et al. (2015), we identified three aspects of teachers' approaches to FA that we wanted to better understand: noticing, interpreting, and acting.

#### **Generalizable Explanation**

The design team turned next to developing cycles of validation to study the problem of practice, with the goal of creating a coherent explanation that would accomplish two aims: to strengthen theory on attending to students' sense-making and to offer specific guidance for experienced teachers to help them assess their own discourse practices in support of students' sense-making.

### Focus Groups Analyzing Student Work

In our first cycle, we aimed to characterize how experienced science teachers notice and interpret students' ideas, how they propose to act on their interpretations, and how they consider FAs to make possible the enhancement of learning during the learning. Following a review of literature, we designed an approach to collecting data via focus groups of experienced chemistry teachers who analyzed students' written artifacts from an open-ended FA designed to uncover students' thinking about how to control chemical reactions. Five focus groups (23 teachers in total) discussed what the teachers paid attention to in the student work, how they interpreted it, what actions they would take based on this, and how the FA could be improved to better capture students' thinking. Analysis of the focus group data resulted in an initial model (Fig. 1) of FA enactment that characterized how teachers evaluate student thinking and plan actions based upon their evaluation (Clinchot et al. 2017). In this model, the teacher initially notices student thinking, either in a descriptive or inferential manner. Next, the teacher interprets what is noticed, either with an evaluative or interpretive approach. Finally, the teacher acts upon what has been interpreted, either by remediating to correct errors or by responding to the disciplinary content in students' thinking.

Outcomes of this first cycle included that it is productive to define scales within noticing, interpreting, and acting, as others have done (Lineback 2015; Talanquer et al. 2015). We found that the teachers' positions on these scales tended to occur in clusters, and we formed four composite "FA personalities" of the most prevalent clusters (Clinchot et al. 2017). These analyses led us to recognize that noticing and interpreting are closely linked and difficult to analyze separately.



Fig. 1 Initial model of formative assessment enactment

#### **Development of an FA Enactment Resource**

In our second cycle, we focused on how FA is enacted by teachers in their classrooms. We expanded the process to include more informants, including the design team, 9 teachers who participated in a 6-month series of PD workshops, and 42 science teacher leaders who participated in a 2-day retreat. We carried out this cycle in a back-and-forth process that oscillated among using the emerging resource to develop and lead PD, collecting data in teachers' classrooms, asking teachers to use the developing resource to analyze their own videos, and further developing the resource through analysis of classroom videos and analysis of field notes from PD. We describe the product of this cycle and how it emerged via four phases. The phases are not design iterations, i.e., they were not marked by articulations of findings in relation to the problem of practice. Rather, the phases are marked by advancements in critical elements of the design-based process, especially the complexities, challenges, and major learnings in each phase (Collins et al. 2004).

#### Phase 1: The Design Team's Beginning FA Enactment Model

During the first and longest phase, the design team focused on forming an initial FA enactment resource and planning for a district-level PD that would serve to test its usefulness. This work took place at monthly entire-group meetings, as well as more frequent meetings of the researchers in between.

At the beginning, we clarified our understanding around the purpose of FA to ensure common grounding. We built from Bell and Cowie (2001) who specify that FA enhances learning during the learning process. This pushed us to examine classroom discourse (Lemke 1990). As a way to gather experience with this approach, the teacher leaders on the team video recorded FA in their own classrooms. Using these videos, the team explored the rhythm of FA as it unfolds in discourse among a teacher and students. As a way to organize the interactions, the team considered FA as moving in cycles where the teacher first elicits students' ideas, notices something about them, interprets some kind of meaning, and then acts, after which this cycle repeats (Ruiz-Primo and Furtak 2007; Windschitl et al. 2018).

The design team recognized that the PD would require attention to both domaingeneral (e.g., promoting claims-evidence reasoning) and domain-specific teaching (e.g., exploring the difference between melting and dissolving in chemistry). We recognized that the dimensions of our FA enactment model (noticing/interpreting and acting) could address both of these, because the way we were framing noticing/ interpreting requires attention to the substance of students' thinking (Coffey et al. 2011). We first considered teacher noticing/interpreting to exist on a spectrum from evaluative (i.e., seeing student responses through a lens of correct or incorrect) to inferential (i.e., treating students' ideas as having sensible origins) (Talanquer et al. 2015) and acting to occur on a spectrum from what we called at that time prescriptive (i.e., guiding to particular ideas through directive discourse) to responsive (i.e., creating opportunities for proactive student thinking). As a way to investigate these in the context of classroom videos and determine parts of videos to use during the PD, researchers on the team brought several videos with transcripts from different design team teachers' classrooms. The team tried to understand the students' thinking evident in the videos and then characterize teachers' acts as prescriptive or responsive. Together, we learned it is important to begin video analysis by unpacking the sense in students' ideas so as to mitigate the urge to comment on what a teacher should have done. Starting with a scheme based on Lineback's (2015) idea of focus and activity redirections, team members proposed different teaching acts to be included under the prescriptive or responsive categories and gradually refined that list over time.

During one of our meetings involving the review of a classroom video, the team ended up in extensive discussion with the teacher about his moves and what motivated his choices. Because the teachers on the design team found this conversation valuable, we identified this approach as a useful way to learn more about PD participants' intentions and noticings. Planning ahead to Phase 3, we asked teachers who were going to participate in a 6-month PD series to video record FA in their own classrooms and conduct self-interviews about the learning goals of their FAs.

The teachers on the design team also found it very helpful to think about different types of moves a teacher could choose to make; thus we wanted to present the resource as a toolkit of choices. The teachers also appreciated that a choice depends on understanding not only the students' thinking but also the context of the thinking that they worked to unpack. For example, the teachers pointed out that there are affective aspects to supporting students' meaning making, such as affirming progress or empathizing with struggle. They also brought up contextual influences in the form of dilemmas teachers face (Windschitl 2002), such as the pedagogical dilemma of time pressure imposed by preparing students for standardized tests.

The team, however, grappled with the grain size of coding. Although coding of individual teaching moves was beneficial because it helped teachers focus on their choices in those moments, the team questioned whether line-by-line coding of noticing/interpreting would be productive in the PD. To mitigate the concern, we decided to focus on teaching moves at the extremes of the prescriptive-responsive spectrum. We chose contrasting cases of videos from the classrooms of two design team teachers. Each video demonstrated a well-executed FA activity in which students discussed open-ended chemistry problems. One teacher (Kitty) used mostly prescriptive teaching moves, and the other (Thomas) used mostly responsive teaching moves. Kitty asked students a series of leading questions in quick succession to move them to a specific idea. The students responded to the questions in short utterances, either agreeing or introducing new questions that spurred Kitty to respond in the same ways. Thomas facilitated a discussion by listening carefully to students' ideas, rephrasing them as necessary, highlighting inconsistencies, and challenging students to resolve differences.

Phase 1 was marked by the following insights: (1) it is necessary to unpack the complexities of teachers' choices behind their teaching moves beginning with

openly discussing what could be the sense behind students' ideas, and (2) focusing on clear-cut contrasting cases of the extremes of the teaching spectrum helps teachers articulate the logic behind their choices.

#### Phase 2: Testing the Initial FA Enactment Resource

Having worked out a preliminary FA enactment resource, the design team tested it with 42 preK-12 science teacher leaders throughout the district at a day-long retreat. The retreat was led by the design team's teacher leaders. This arrangement for facilitation was intentional because it foregrounds the agency of teachers in making decisions about their FA practices (Stroupe 2017).

The FA enactment resource was used in two main activities at this workshop to probe its usefulness in teachers first examining other teachers' FA practice, and then practicing decisions about how FA practices could be different. In the first activity, teachers experienced two engaging lessons about electrochemistry while taking the role of learners (the topic was chosen because few teachers knew it well). These lessons had deliberately designed teaching moves at prescriptive or responsive extremes. The teachers recounted their experiences as learners and then compared the teaching moves in each lesson. Considering their role as students, the prescriptive teaching moves engendered feelings of passivity and comfort in the way information was presented in a scaffolded manner. In contrast, when in the role of student, they experienced the responsive moves as animated argumentation, requiring selfreliance and peer input to figure things out, and feeling frustrated as they lingered in confusion. Imagining what it would be like to teach in each way, they likened prescriptive teaching to a teacher's ship carrying its passenger students to a destination and spoke of responsive teaching as facilitating discussion through questioning, repeating, and seeking clarification of student ideas. Teachers' descriptions of the student and teacher perspectives established that the resource would be effective in helping teachers account for both perspectives.

In the following activity, teachers worked with the two videos (of Thomas and Kitty) previously chosen. Teachers at the workshop *first* analyzed the students' thinking (saying what they noticed and interpreted) and then examined each teacher's actions using the resource that specifies different kinds of prescriptive and responsive teaching moves collected in Phase 1. Many teachers struggled to focus on identifying the sense in the students' thinking, instead gravitating toward commenting on teaching moves, the coding of which teachers found easier and more natural. This prompted the design team to consider how to better support teachers to notice/interpret in ways that attend to sense in students' thinking.

Phase 2 was marked by this insight: there is benefit in connecting learners' experiences in prescriptive vs. responsive extremes with deliberately orchestrated teaching moves.

#### Phase 3: Further Development of the Model in PD

The FA enactment resource, specifically the dimensions of noticing/interpreting and acting, was further tested by teachers in a full-day PD workshop during a 6-month PD program with nine K-12 science teachers. Participants used the FA enactment resource to analyze *their own* videos. The teachers were asked to video record an FA activity in their classroom from their own vantage point (using chest harnesses to which their smartphones are attached). Each 10–20-minute recording included the teacher's launch of the FA, interactions with students, and a wrap-up of the activity. Before examining their own teaching moves and those of a colleague, teachers extensively analyzed their videos for students' thinking. As a lead-in to analyzing their teaching moves, participants were first oriented to the acting portion of the FA enactment resource while looking at some of Thomas's and Kitty's moves.

We gleaned four insights from Phase 3. First, the teachers continued to be challenged to focus on the substance of student thinking in considering teaching moves and imagining other possibilities. During the first part of the workshop, which had the exclusive purpose to make sense of students' thinking, teachers primarily evaluated students' ideas as correct or incorrect. They also appeared to be much more comfortable discussing domain-general (e.g., is the student making claims and supporting with evidence) than domain-specific matters (e.g., how is the student thinking about hydrogen bonding). The design team recognized a need to better support noticing/interpreting, particularly the disciplinary substance of students' thinking (Richards and Robertson 2016). We decided for a future phase to create short video segments showing student discussion up to the point of, but not including, the teacher's move, to open space for teachers to discuss multiple possible moves based exclusively on their interpretations of student thinking. This takes advantage of teachers' inclinations to focus on teaching moves, but places emphasis on identifying evidence of students' thinking and the teacher's interpretations of it.

Second, the design team found that care must be taken to prevent dichotomous thinking with respect to teaching acts. That is, teachers perceived prescriptive teaching to be bad and responsive teaching to be good. In a concluding discussion with the teachers at the end of the workshop, participants and the design team came to the idea that the difference between the two is who is doing the sense-making (in prescriptive moves, sense-making is at the teacher's initiative, while in responsive moves the student is the protagonist) and that there are appropriate times to use one or the other. A benefit of first watching the videos from Thomas and Kitty was that participants engaged in examining their own videos more productively because both teachers taught effectively in the two extremes. We also recognized that there were negative connotations associated with some of the vocabulary that contributed to teachers' interpretations of the types of teaching acts. We revised wording in the model to reflect teachers' intentions for why they may intentionally choose particular actions. We changed prescriptive to directive, since the latter is more descriptive of the intention behind this type of advancing act, i.e., the teacher intends to direct students toward a particular science view.

Third, the participants were universally appreciative of the opportunity to systematically reflect and comment on their teaching moves using the FA enactment resource and of the opportunity to contribute to this resource by suggesting additions to the resources as they examined their videos. In this sense, a dual practitioner/ researcher lens helped reduce the vulnerability threat in examining their classroom practice with peers. Examining each other's videos with common codes helped to lift teachers from the uniqueness of their classrooms into discussing generalized experiences across classrooms.

Fourth, during the discussions teachers had about videos that they had separately analyzed prior, most teachers elaborated on the context behind their moves. We noticed that, particularly when there were emotions (e.g., frustration, surprise, concern, joy) in the teachers' written comments about their own teaching moves, they would give contextual explanations that expanded upon ongoing issues spanning multiple lessons with particular students. We recognized an important synergy between teachers' explanations of their moves and our interpretations of them. For the research, we built in a mechanism for interviewing teachers.

#### Phase 4: Researchers' Refinement of the Coding Framework

The experiences of Phases 1–3 allowed researchers on the design team to analyze complementary data sources that would provide valuable perspectives on teachers' FA enactment. These sources included teachers' self-interviews about the FA activity, classroom video recordings of the activity, their analysis of specific videos within the activity, field notes taken by researchers at all PD meetings, and anonymous evaluations administered by external evaluators after each workshop. Using a well-defined process, each of the researchers on the design team systematically analyzed these data sources by documenting aspects of teachers' purposes for their FA from their self-interviews, using a coding scheme to characterize teaching moves from their classroom videos, and assessing teachers' in-the-moment purposes and noticings from their comments on videos.

The details of this analysis and findings are presented elsewhere (Dini et al. 2019); here we describe the outcomes, which included three main developments in improving the FA enactment resource. The first development related to a challenge of differentiating eliciting and advancing actions. When analyzing teaching moves, we sometimes found it difficult to discern whether the teacher's intention was to find out more about students thinking (*eliciting*) or to advance it toward canonical understanding (*advancing*).

The following exchange illustrates this issue. The teacher (codenamed Terra) is discussing with a student (codenamed D1910) differences between parallel and series circuits. The student is comparing three circuits and refers to one in which two resistors are connected in parallel with a voltage source:

1. **D1910:** Doesn't the current equal each other when it's parallel (referring to the two branches after the ammeter in the circuit)?

- 2. *Terra:* So you're saying the current here equals the current here (pointing to two points in the circuit).
- 3. D1910: Yeah.
- 4. *Terra:* Okay. And then if you wanted to compare that current (in the circuit of interest) to this current (in another circuit), what would you get? How would you do that?

In this moment, Terra may have intended to learn about D1910's understanding of current, but she also appears to have advanced it by implicitly requesting that D1910 provide reasoning to justify her thinking. In this sense, such a question can play a dual role of informing the teacher about a student's ideas and advancing the student's understanding of scientific practice. Terra is acting to uncover more about the student's thinking (i.e., eliciting); however, without knowing more about Terra's explicit intentions in asking the question in turn 4, it is difficult to say whether she is also trying to advance D1910's thinking.

The second development was the recognition that a FA enactment does not take place in a linear manner (Fig. 1). Rather, it takes place as complex nonlinear sequences of teacher noticing/interpreting followed by eliciting or advancing acts. The resource was modified accordingly, to guide teachers to understand the centrality of noticing/interpreting student thinking in an FA enactment, and the two kinds of acts that follow from it: eliciting or advancing (Fig. 2).

The third development was that teachers can have multiple and often simultaneous purposes while enacting a FA (e.g., developing students' content understanding, attending to students' learning processes, cultivating students' agency). Overarching purposes are often filtered by contextual influences that shift and shape teachers' in-the-moment purposes. And in-the-moment purposes can also be individualized to particular students and can grow out of specific teacher-student relationships. For instance, the same teacher (Terra) communicated an overarching aim for her FA to learn whether her students could remember and apply circuit rules to an open-ended



Fig. 2 A summarized version of the FA enactment resource emerging from Cycle 2

conceptual problem. In the course of interacting with one group of struggling students, Terra focused on supporting the students' reasoning. Immediately after this, she moved to another struggling group and simply explained the rule and had them move ahead on the problem from that point. In discussing this with Terra, we learned that contextual influences clearly shifted and shaped her in-the-moment purpose with each group. Terra and other teachers found the opportunity to reflect on these purposes and associated influences—often implicitly operating—very useful in learning to become more intentional about their FA practice.

Phase 4 was marked by these insights: (1) a single move can sometimes be both eliciting and advancing, (2) in-the-moment purposes shift and also shape teaching moves, and (3) a teacher's in-the-moment purposes often are specific to individual students, incorporating disciplinary content-, general-, and domain-specific processes and affect-related goals that the teacher has for the student.

#### Values of the Design-Based Process

The FA enactment resource was a concrete product that emerged from the PD and represents the PPK described by Bereiter (2014). Bereiter describes PPK as being both procedural and declarative. It is knowledge that is able to be "communicated symbolically, argued about, combined with other propositions to form larger structures, and so on" (p. 5). Rather than being a codification of practice, it is for the purpose of solving problems. The PD guided and opened space for teachers to focus on the substance of student thinking and reflect on their teaching acts in relation to this. The teachers imagined different possible ways of supporting their students, including in enacting different kinds of eliciting and advancing (Fig. 2). Teachers valued the FA enactment resource for the lens it provided to see and characterize their classroom discourse, and how that discourse supported or hindered student learning.

Having teachers contemplate the combination of their in-the-moment purposes and the larger purposes of their lessons supported them in understanding the decision-making around teaching acts that were often taken on a subconscious level. They appreciated that the FA enactment resource characterized the different types of actions that teachers have in their own repertoires and can employ intentionally and strategically in order to support student outcomes. In subsequent design team meetings with the district science administrators, we learned that what teachers value the most in the FA enactment resource, as well as its use in PD, is the capacity it develops in teachers to lead from the classroom.

The team's design-based process also contributed to theory on attending to students' sense-making. Rather than starting with the design of elicitation questions, as many current models of FA suggest (e.g., Ruiz-Primo and Furtak 2007; Windschitl et al. 2018), we learned that the teacher's noticing and interpreting is central to FA enactment. Honoring the teacher as the agent in achieving the goals of learning for students emerged as the most important commitment in the articulation of the problem of practice addressed by our process. Based on this, we advance a further hypothesis that teachers can enact more intentional teaching moves when they have the power to recognize when it is beneficial for students or the teacher to be doing the sense-making in a given learning situation.

Acknowledgments This research was supported by US NSF award DRL-1621228. The authors recognize the contributions of the other members of the design team whose work is described here: Scott Balicki, Gregory Banks, Michael Clinchot, Robert Huie, Rebecca Lewis, Pamela Pelletier, Raúl Orduña Picón, and Holly Rosa.

#### References

- Anderson, T., & Shattuck, J. (2012). Design-based research: A decade of progress in education research? *Educational Researcher*, 41(1), 16–25. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X11428813.
- Banilower, E. R., Smith, P. S., Weiss, I. R., Malzahn, K. A., Campbell, K. M., & Weis, A. M. (2013). *Report of the 2012 national survey of science and mathematics education*. Horizon Research, Inc. (NJ1).
- Bell, B., & Cowie, B. (2001). The characteristics of formative assessment in science education. Science Education, 85(5), 536–553. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.1022.
- Bereiter, C. (2014). Principled practical knowledge: Not a bridge but a ladder. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 23(1), 4–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508406.2013.812533.
- Brown, A. L. (1992). Design experiments: Theoretical and methodological challenges in creating complex interventions. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 2, 141–178. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15327809jls0202_2.
- Capps, D. K., Shemwell, J. T., & Young, A. M. (2016). Over reported and misunderstood? A study of teachers' reported enactment and knowledge of inquiry-based science teaching. *International Journal of Science Education*, 38(6), 934–959. https://doi.org/10.1080/095006 93.2016.1173261.
- Clinchot, M., Ngai, C., Huie, R., Talanquer, V., Lambertz, J., Banks, G., ... & Sevian, H. (2017). Better formative assessment. *The Science Teacher*, *84*(3), 69–75.
- Coffey, J. E., Hammer, D., Levin, D. M., & Grant, T. (2011). The missing disciplinary substance of formative assessment. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 48(10), 1109–1136. https:// doi.org/10.1002/tea.20440.
- Colestock, A., & Sherin, M. G. (2015). What teachers notice when they notice student thinking: Teacher identified purposes for attending to student thinking. In A. Robertson, R. Scherr, & D. Hammer (Eds.), *Responsive science teaching* (pp. 126–144). New York: Routledge.
- Collins, A., Joseph, D., & Bielaczyc, K. (2004). Design research: Theoretical and methodological issues. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 13(1), 15–42. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15327809jls1301_2.
- Design-Based Research Collective. (2003). Design-based research: An emerging paradigm for educational inquiry. *Educational Researcher*, 32(1), 5–8. https://doi.org/10.3102/00131 89X032001005.
- Dini, V., Sevian, H., Caushi, K., & Orduña Picón, R. (2019). *Characterizing the formative assessment enactment of experienced science teachers* (Manuscript submitted for publication).
- Furtak, E., Morrison, D., & Kroog, H. (2014). Investigating the link between learning progressions and classroom assessment. *Science Education*, 98(4), 640–673. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21122.
- Lemke, J. L. (1990). Talking science: Language, learning, and values. Norwood: Ablex Publishing.

- Lineback, J. E. (2015). The redirection: An indicator of how teachers respond to student thinking. Journal of the Learning Sciences, 24(3), 419–460. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508406.2014.93 0707.
- Mehan, H. (1979). Learning lessons. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Richards, J., & Robertson, A. D. (2016). A review of the research on responsive teaching in science and mathematics. In A. Robertson, R. Scherr, & D. Hammer (Eds.), *Responsive science teaching* (pp. 36–155). New York: Routledge.
- Roth, K., & Garnier, H. (2007). What science teaching looks like: An international perspective. *Educational Leadership*, 64(4), 16–23.
- Ruiz-Primo, M. A., & Furtak, E. M. (2007). Exploring teachers' informal formative assessment practices and students' understanding in the context of scientific inquiry. *Journal of Research* in Science Teaching, 44(1), 57–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20163.
- Stroupe, D. (2017). Ambitious teachers' design and use of classrooms as a place of science. Science Education, 101(3), 458–485. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21273.
- Szteinberg, G., Balicki, S., Banks, G., Clinchot, M., Cullipher, S., Huie, R., ... & Sevian, H. (2014). Collaborative professional development in chemistry education research: Bridging the gap between research and practice. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 91(9), 1401–1408. https:// doi.org/10.1021/ed5003042.
- Talanquer, V., Bolger, M., & Tomanek, D. (2015). Exploring prospective teachers' assessment practices: Noticing and interpreting student understanding in the assessment of written work. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 52(5), 585–609. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21209.
- Weiss, I. R., Pasley, J. D., Smith, P. S., Banilower, E. R., & Heck, D. J. (2003). Looking inside the classroom. Chapel Hill: Horizon Research Inc.
- Windschitl, M. (2002). Framing constructivism in practice as the negotiation of dilemmas: An analysis of the conceptual, pedagogical, cultural, and political challenges facing teachers. *Review of Educational Research*, 72(2), 131–175. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543072002131.
- Windschitl, M., Thompson, J., & Braaten, M. (2018). Ambitious science teaching. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Pub Group.

## Teachers' Training in Developing Nanoscience and Nanotechnology Teaching Modules in the Context of a Community of Learners



**Giannis Sgouros and Dimitris Stavrou** 

## **Background of the Study**

We live in a fast-changing society in which cutting-edge technological applications are pervasive in various aspects of our daily routine. In this context our knowledge and skills often become outdated. Science education is called upon to address the challenge of engendering citizens more compatible with the latest scientific advances and social demands (DeBoer 2000). In this perspective, teachers as agents of any reform need to be knowledgeable in ever-changing contexts and confront with the increasing demands at their profession (Anderson and Helms 2001). Teachers' knowledge and skills in introducing contemporary scientific topics, such as the nanoscience and nanotechnology (NST), is a crucial aspect in any initiative of integrating them in school curricula. They need to participate in professional development (PD) programs in order to update their pedagogical approaches in interpreting and transforming scientific topics which are innovative to them, in a way meaningful for their students. Considering that content-specific pedagogical content knowledge (PCK, Shulman 1987) includes teachers' knowledge on students' topic-specific understanding, the development of PCK is an important goal in a PD program (Van Driel and Berry 2012).

Nevertheless, defining the features of an effective PD program has been the subject of continuing debate in science education research literature (Loucks-Horsley et al. 2009). The scholars have reached to a consensus and highlight the benefits as teachers participate in collaborative settings (Vescio et al. 2008). The features of the supportive conditions, the collective learning and sharing of individual practice in these settings, contribute to their professional development (Vangrieken et al. 2017).

G. Sgouros  $(\boxtimes) \cdot D$ . Stavrou

Department of Primary Education, University of Crete, Rethymno, Greece e-mail: sgouros@sch.gr

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_21
Recently, teachers' participation in curriculum design teams has attracted major interest in educational practice as a way to comply with the aforementioned features (Voogt et al. 2011). Many scholars suggest that teachers' engagement in the process of designing and developing curriculum materials positively affects not only the curriculum implementation but their professional development as well (Coenders et al. 2010). In this respect many studies have focused, among others, on the supportive activities, the role of the facilitator and the optimal conditional factors that promote teachers' professional learning in these settings (Becuwe et al. 2016; Huizinga et al. 2015).

Nevertheless, there are only a limited number of studies that focus on the processes that supply opportunities for teachers' professional learning, as they participate in collaborative curriculum design teams (Voogt et al. 2011). Further research is needed, on issues regarding the composition of the design teams and the nature of the design task, in order to delve deeper into how these settings contribute to teachers' professional learning (Voogt et al. 2016). Within this framework, teachers' collegial interactions in collaborative settings have attracted major interest in recent studies (Horn and Little 2010; Jones et al. 2013a), as they are considered important factors that support their professional learning and improvement.

Bearing in mind the complex nature of teachers' learning, many scholars have tried to model their professional change as they are engaged in PD programs (e.g., Guskey 2002; Desimone 2009). The Interconnected Model of Professional Growth (IMPG, Clarke and Hollingsworth 2002) is an empirically founded model which conceptualizes teachers' change as a cyclic process of reciprocal interaction among various domains which encompass teacher's world. This model has attracted major interest in current research literature in the realm of teachers' education (Hamza et al. 2018; Voogt et al. 2011; Wongsopawiro et al. 2017) as it supports the identification of teacher's professional change and its representation by particular sequences of change. Given these insights, the IMPG constitutes a supportive framework in the analysis of those studying teachers' professional change.

Developing a teaching module in NST topics could be an interesting design task from an educational perspective. The NST is a contemporary scientific field that promises to have extensive implications for the entire society as it applies the unique properties of matter at the nanoscale to create new products and technologies (Roco 1999). It has attracted science education researchers' interest due to its contribution in technological and scientific literacy of future generations (Hingant and Albe 2010). Introducing the NST topics in school can be also useful for the social and ethical development of the students (Sadler 2004) since it incorporates applications that instigate discussions on their social implications (Levinson 2006). Recent studies investigate the role of Responsible Research and Innovation (RRI, Owen et al. 2012) as a framework for negotiating the social implications of the NST (Blonder et al. 2016). RRI was originally conceived as a European policy that would regulate the processes of scientific research and technological innovation in order to confine the risks of their applications and to inspire people's trust toward them. Therefore, it consists of six dimensions, i.e., engagement of all societal actors, gender equality, science education, open access, ethics and governance (European Commission 2012).

Science education researchers have also shifted their focus on out-of-school learning settings, such as science centers and museums, in order to engage students in science teaching (Pedretti 2002). They suggest that engaging students in the process of developing a science exhibit motivates them to learn more on the related topic and to acquire new knowledge by analyzing information from various sources (D'Acquisto and Scatena 2006). As regards the NST, many efforts have been made in order to enhance the incorporation of the NST in science museums, to advance the educational programs in research centers and to develop teaching materials (Bell 2016).

Introducing the NST topics in school, negotiating aspects of RRI, and bridging formal and out-of-school learning settings constitute an educational innovation for teachers, as these approaches are novelties compared to their everyday teaching practice. Taking under consideration that any educational innovation ultimately relies on teachers, they should be considered as equal participants and active interpreters throughout the reform process (Pintó et al. 2003). Unfortunately, many scholars highlight teachers' inadequacy in teaching fundamental NST topics (Jones et al. 2008) and negotiating aspects of RRI (De Vocht et al. 2017).

Toward this end, a counter body of research has been carried out aiming to familiarize pre-college students and in-service science teachers with the NST topics (e.g., Blonder et al. 2014; Jones et al. 2013b). A review on the related empirical studies indicates that even when teachers' understanding on fundamental concepts of NST is achieved, they do not acquire the competency to effectively facilitate their students' learning in this field (Bryan et al. 2015). Wischow et al. (2013) suggest that the PD programs should not only emphasize on the content knowledge and the PCK regarding the NST but should also promote reflective practices throughout an iterative cycle of design, development, and field testing of instructional materials. Moreover, the interdisciplinary nature of the NST highlights the need to support teachers in developing instructional materials which will integrate connections of ideas among different disciplines, so as to support their students in developing integrated knowledge structures related to the NST (Stevens, Delgado and Krajcik 2010).

## Aim of the Study

This study focuses on teachers' PD in NST topics, toward designing and developing a teaching module in a specialized collaborative setting. More specifically, in the framework of the IRRESISTIBLE EU-project (http://www.irresistible-project.eu), a Community of Learners (CoL, Loucks-Horsley et al. 2009) was established. Within this framework, in-service teachers collaborated with researchers and experts from different scientific disciplines in order to develop a teaching module in NST topics.

The aim of this study is to highlight teachers' interactions with colleagues in the CoL, as they confront with the emerged challenges in the process of designing and developing a teaching module in NST topics which integrates aspects of RRI and incorporates exhibits' development. More specifically, this study aims to identify the mediating processes which are induced from the aforementioned interactions and contribute on teachers' professional change. *Teacher's change* in this study is conceptualized as a process of professional learning as they are engaged in planned learning experiences (Clarke and Hollingsworth 1994). Given these insights, the research question in this study is:

How do teachers change professionally as they design and develop a teaching module in NST topics, in the context of a CoL?

#### Method

The research framework in this study is a model for designing teacher education settings, the *Educational Reconstruction for Teacher Education* (ERTE, Van Dijk and Kattmann 2007, Fig. 1). Addressing the kind of thinking in terms of the model, it is necessary to study teachers' knowledge and beliefs regarding the representation of subject matter in a way that is meaningful for their students. Moreover, it is



Fig. 1 The model of educational reconstruction for teacher education. (Van Dijk and Kattmann 2007)

important to study teachers' knowledge regarding students' topic-specific preconceptions and difficulties along with the appropriate representations so as to overcome these difficulties. The aforementioned studies are incorporated in the component pedagogical content knowledge studies (right component shown in Fig. 1) as teachers *design learning environments* (left component shown in Fig. 1) for their students. In this study, teachers were challenged to bring the NST-related issues and educationally oriented issues into balance following the principles of the Model of Educational Reconstruction (MER) (Duit et al. 2012). MER is a framework for improving teaching and learning of science which also provides a guide for planning science instruction in school practice (incorporated in the left component shown in Fig. 1). The educational ideas that emerge from the PCK studies can be interpreted and reconstructed in order to develop teacher education settings, namely, the educational construction of teacher education (component on the top of the model shown in Fig. 1) and ultimately to improve teacher education. In this respect, the new educational ideas can flow into teachers' individual knowledge and teaching practice, highlighting the iterative process of the ERTE model.

Following the principles of ERTE, we conducted a recursive elaboration on the components of this model, as shown in Fig. 2.

More specifically, a review on the research literature regarding the empirical studies on teacher education was the starting point in order to develop the CoL as a context for teachers' PD (arrow 1 shown in Fig. 2). The next step was to engage teachers in the process of analyzing and clarifying NST topics considering students' perspectives in order to design and develop a teaching module (arrow 2 shown in Fig. 2, for further detail see Stavrou et al. 2018). The recursive process of developing



Fig. 2 The recursive process of ERTE as it was conducted in this study

the module in conjunction with the study of aspects of teachers' PCK (arrow 3 shown in Fig. 2), supplied valuable feedback (arrows 4a, 4b shown in Fig. 2) in order to reflect on the features of the CoL and the processes therein that facilitate teachers' professional change.

The CoL in this study consisted of members with different credentials and diverse expertise aiming to supply teachers with qualified feedback considering their task. More specifically the members of this group were:

- *Five in-service teachers* (two chemistry teachers, two physics teachers, and one teacher of primary education) with teaching experience ranged from 12 to 28 years. All of them were highly qualified individuals since four of them had a PhD in science education and one of them a PhD in chemistry. Teachers participated in this study voluntarily, and the conduction of the research had been approved by the National Institute of Educational Policy.
- Four science education researchers.
- *Two researchers from the field of NST* with expertise in the recent advancements in this field.
- Three experts in science communication.

The shared task among the CoL members was to design and to develop an inquirybased teaching module in NST topics that incorporates aspects of RRI and out-ofschool learning environments (i.e., science centers and science museums). The final deliverable after implementation was the development of science exhibits by the students.

#### **Research Design**

The process of design, implementation, and evaluation of the module was 1-year long in a period of time and was divided into three interrelated phases, as shown in Fig. 3.

Since the members of the CoL were located in different districts of Greece, ten virtual meetings and three workshops were conducted in order to facilitate the collaboration and the exchange of ideas and materials among the CoL members.

In more detail:

1. *In Phase A* (Plan & Prepare), a series of six virtual meetings were carried out. In each meeting the CoL members were familiarized with an aspect regarding the module's development. More specifically, the topics discussed during the virtual

April-May '14	June '14	July-Sept. '14	Oct. '15	OctMarch'15	April '15
6 Virtual meetings	1 st workshop	4 Virtual meetings	2 nd workshop	Implementation	3 nd workshop
Plan & Prep	are	Design		Implement & R	Reflect

Fig. 3 The different phases and the timeline of the PD program in this study

meetings were (i) NST as a science content, (ii) research in science education regarding the teaching and learning of the NST, (iii) inquiry-based learning in science education, (iv) aspects of RRI, (v) principles for developing science exhibits, and (vi) integration of WEB 2.0 tools in science teaching. Each topic was introduced by the attendant expert which had developed and distributed before the meetings a specially developed document, highlighting the main aspects of the topic under inspection. In a following 3-day workshop, the CoL members participated in guided visits in science laboratories and science museums. They were familiarized with nano-products and related applications along with interactive science exhibits. Furthermore, they had the opportunity to interact with exemplary teaching materials, according to the latest literature review, which have been used in teaching and learning of the NST topics.

2. *In Phase B* (Design), teachers' proposed guidelines for the module's design were the subject under inspection in a new round of four virtual meetings. The CoL members had the chance to contribute in group discussions, to swap ideas and to reflect on the proposals of their colleagues. Subsequently, the teachers presented their teaching modules in a new 2-day workshop, and the teaching module was finalized as an outcome of intense interactions and constructive collaboration among the CoL members.

The module (which is briefly presented in Table 1) consisted of seven 90-minutes lessons oriented toward the 5E instructional model of inquiry-based science education (Bybee et al. 2006). Nevertheless, apart from the 5E stages of Bybee (i.e., engagement, exploration, explanation, elaboration, and evaluation), the module was enhanced with an additional stage of exchange, in which students were challenged to communicate the acquired knowledge by designing and developing a science exhibit. Elaborating further on the content of the module's structure (for more detail see Stavrou et al. 2018), students' engagement in NST topics (lessons 1 and 2) took place through videos which present current applications related to the NST and through a visit in a science museum in order to interact with NST-related exhibits. During lessons 3 and 4, students were engaged in hands-on activities, e.g., measuring

Engage	Lesson 1	Introduction
	Lesson 2	Visiting the science museum
Explore and explain	Lessons 3 and 4	Nanoscience applications: self-cleaning materials
		How small is nano?
		Size-dependent properties
Elaborate	Lesson 5	RRI issues:
		Newspaper articles
	Lesson 6	Visiting the research center
		Discussion with experts on NST and RRI
		issues
Exchange and evaluate	Lesson 7	Construction of exhibits

 Table 1
 Main structure of the module

the dimensions of everyday objects in nanometers and using surface area-to-volume ratio in order to interpret the properties of hydrophobic nanomaterials and the change of nanogold colloids' optical properties. In the following two lessons (5 and 6), students were engaged in discussions concerning ethical aspects of the NST such as safety, toxicity, or difficulty of nanomaterials' disposal and governance and ethical issues in science, e.g., transparency of scientific research and funding. In the final lesson, students were engaged in the process of designing and developing interactive exhibits in order to communicate their knowledge and major concerns, as regards the applications of the NST.

3. *In Phase C* (Implement & Reflect), the module was appropriately adjusted and implemented by the five teachers in their classes, i.e., in a primary school class (aged 11–12), in two lower secondary classes (aged 14–15), and in two upper secondary classes (aged 16–17). In a final 2-day workshop, teachers shared their experiences from students' reflections during module's implementation. This process triggered the negotiation of the team on finalizing the teaching module.

#### **Data Collection**

Video recordings of the CoL meetings (three workshops and ten virtual meetings) and semi-constructed interviews with teachers after the second workshop (prior the implementation phase) were used for data collection. The interviews focused on teachers' views regarding the specific features of the CoL (i.e., composition of the team, interactions with colleagues, material and information supplied) that primarily supported them in order to accomplish their task.

#### Data Analysis

Data analysis started with the transcription of the video recordings of the CoL meetings and teachers' interviews which comprised 40 h of audiovisual data.

The next step was to utilize the IMPG in order to analyze the transcribed data from the video recordings so as to record teachers' professional change in this context. According to the authors of this model (Clarke and Hollingsworth 2002), teachers' change can begin at any point of this process via belief, practice or change in students' outcomes. This model conceptualizes teachers' professional change as a cyclic process of reciprocal interaction among the External Domain (source of information, stimulus or support), the Personal Domain (teachers' knowledge, beliefs and attitudes), Domain of Practice (professional experimentation) and Domain of Consequence (salient outcomes), through the mediating processes of *reflection* and *enactment*. Enactment denotes the translation of a belief or a

pedagogical model into action, while reflection denotes an active and careful consideration of teachers, in something previously encountered.

The IMPG was adapted in this study for the analysis of the transcribed data, as shown in Fig. 4 (numbers on the arrows indicate the correlations among the domains).

More specifically, External Domain in this study consists of the CoL members, while Personal Domain comprises teachers' knowledge, beliefs, and personal perspectives. According to the authors of the IMTPG, the Domain of Practice includes all forms of professional experimentation since teachers' professional practice is not ended in classroom teaching. This is significant in this study, since it focuses on teachers' professional change in the process of designing and developing a teaching module and not on direct and specific change in classroom practice. Domain of Consequence comprises teachers' considerations on students' perspectives during the module's development or toward their reflections after the module's implementation. Reasonably, teachers' professional change is cultivated throughout the affordances and constraints offered by the Change Environment which in this study was the context of the CoL. In our analysis the term enactment has been broadened in terms of teacher's contribution with distinct ideas and proposals during the discussions of the team regarding the module's design and development. Respectively, reflection is conceived as teachers' process to look back on their intentions or practice regarding the module's development and make it the object of purposeful critical thinking. Given the power of the IMPG as an interrogatory tool, criteria were established in order to register the correlations among the district domains of the model, as they emerged from the transcribed data. Indicatively, examples of the criteria which have been used in order to establish the correlations among the domains are given in Table 2.



Correlation	Criterion	Example
PD to DP (arrow 4, Fig. 4)	Teacher shares a belief/concern or pose an idea/ suggestion powered by his/her knowledge/experience regarding module's detailed	I think it would be interesting to start with a video presenting impressive nano applications and then to show them real nanomaterials and to ask them: Would you
	development	use these materials?
ED to PD (arrow 2, Fig. 4)	Teacher reflects on external information or stimuli regarding the topic under inspection	What I am thinking, considering what [name of an expert] have just said, is that our students will change their attitudes toward visiting science museums hereinafter. They will value museums differently.

Table 2 Criteria used to establish correlations among the domains of the IMPG

Note: PD  $\rightarrow$  Personal Domain, ED  $\rightarrow$  External Domain, DP  $\rightarrow$  Domain of Practice

Table 3 Categorization of the topics under inspection on teachers' interactions with colleagues in the CoL  $\,$ 

Emerged codes	Criterion
Strategies for specific science topics (teaching material)	Issues regarding the supply, the adaptation, the conceptual power, or the evaluation of simulations, models, activities, or experiments
Science-specific strategies (inquiry and out-of-school learning features)	Issues regarding the implementation of inquiry and the integration of out-of-school learning features in the module
Science content (NST/RRI)	Issues regarding the clarification and the elaboration of concepts regarding NST and RRI
Exhibits	Issues regarding exhibit development

The next step was to develop pictorial representations of the IMPG for every teacher and for each phase of the professional development program. The emerged representations were primarily studied for each teacher individually in conjunction with the study of the transcribed interview. Subsequently, a comparative analysis among teachers' pictorial representations of the IMPG was conducted in order to identify the overarching features of the emerged correlations.

Since we were interested on how teachers' interactions supply opportunities for their professional learning, there were quantitative estimates of the frequency in which teachers purposefully interact with other teachers or experts (namely, researchers in NST, researchers in science education, and experts in science communication) in the CoL, on issues regarding the emerged challenges in the process of the module's development.

Concurrently, we registered and analyzed the topics under inspection during their collegial interactions, as shown in Table 3. Given the shared task of developing a teaching module, teachers' collegial discussions focused on issues regarding the different aspects of the module (e.g., NST, RRI, science exhibits) and the way that they can be educationally reconstructed following the principles of MER. In this respect, these topics unveil teachers' effort to interpret and transform the acquired knowledge, in a module that will facilitate their students' understanding. Considering this perspective, the aforementioned topics are correlated with aspects of the PCK.

In this study the process of data coding was oriented toward the aspects of PCK as they have been conceived by Magnusson et al. (1999). More specifically the component *Strategies for specific science topics* comprises issues regarding the activities, the experiments, the simulations, and models considering NST instruction, namely, the teaching material (as shown in Table 3). Respectively, the component *Science-specific strategies* in Magnusson's model comprises issues regarding the development of an inquiry-based module along with issues considering the integration of out-of-school learning features. Issues regarding teachers' familiarization with the NST topics and the aspects of RRI constitute the prerequisite knowledge base (component *Science content* in Table 3) for teachers in order to develop the teaching module. Finally, issues regarding teachers' perspectives as regards the development of science *Exhibits* were registered as a distinct code, considering that exhibits are an integral part of the implementation process.

## **Results**

#### Teachers' Interactions with Colleagues in the CoL

The dynamic of teachers' interactions with colleagues in the CoL toward the different phases of the module's design and development is shown in Fig. 5. The findings indicate that in *Phase A* (Plan & Prepare), teachers address their personal



Fig. 5 Teachers' interactions with colleagues in the CoL toward the different phases of the module's development

perspectives considering the module's design to the plenary of the CoL. It is noteworthy that the scores of this component possess comparatively high values as the process of the module's detailed development and implementation proceeds. It seems that considering teachers as professionals and equal members in a team with qualified colleagues, i.e., researchers and experts from different disciplines, motivates them to share their teaching practice and to address their new educational ideas to the plenary of the CoL. In *Phase B* (Design), teachers' interest for interaction progressively shifts to the teachers of the team, as they anticipate feedback, regarding the module's detailed development from colleagues which they consider *experts* of the classroom context.

In *Phase C* (Implement & Reflect), this component in teachers' interactions sustains notably high scores as they anticipate teachers' reflections on the implementation process in order to validate their personal perspectives regarding the accomplished task.

Teachers-experts interactions are mainly upgraded in *Phase A* (Plan & Prepare) given that the teachers in this phase are interested on analyzing and clarifying aspects of the module, e.g., NST and RRI, which are innovative to them. As the process of the module's development proceeds in *Phase B* (Design), these interactions are restricted on issues regarding the balanced integration of these aspects in the module. In the *Phase C* (Implement & Reflect), teachers-experts interactions are primarily focused on issues regarding the development of the exhibits.

## Topics Under Inspections During Teachers' Collegial Interactions in the CoL

The frequency in which specific issues regarding the module's development attract teachers' interest, during their interactions with colleagues, is portrayed in Fig. 6.

In detail, during *Phase A* (Plan & Prepare), teachers focus their interest mainly on the supply of the exemplary teaching material (component Strategies for specific science topics shown in Fig. 6). In *Phase B* (Develop), they shift their interest on the proper modification and adaptation of the available teaching material considering students' perspectives and the context of implementation, i.e., their grade. In *Phase C* (Implement & Reflect), teachers' concerns focus on evaluating the teaching material in terms of engaging their students in the module and facilitating their understanding in the NST topics.

Secondarily, but not of minor importance, is teachers' concerns on embodying aspects of an inquiry method (component Science-specific strategies shown in Fig. 6) in a module that integrates features which are innovative to them from an educational perspective. Incorporating out-of-school settings in a module which integrates NST topics and issues related to risk assessment and ethics of NST's applications seems a challenging process even for experienced in-service teachers.



Fig. 6 Aspects of PCK that attracted teachers' interest and major concerns during their collegial interactions in the CoL

Teachers' interest in broadening their knowledge base regarding the science content of the NST and the aspects of RRI (component Science Content shown in Fig. 6) is primarily upgraded in *Phase A*, while issues regarding the development of science exhibits attract their interest mainly in *Phase C*.

## Discussion

In this section we discuss the main research question of this study which is: *How do teachers change professionally as they design and develop a teaching module in NST topics, in the context of a CoL?* The abovementioned findings supply insights which support the descriptive elaboration of the mediating processes which develop the sequences of teachers' professional change in this context, in terms of the IMPG. More specifically:

In *Phase A* (Plan & Prepare), teachers enact the information and stimulus received from the external domain (arrow 1 shown in Fig. 4) during the first round of the virtual meetings by interacting primarily with the experts in the CoL. During the first workshop, they contribute in group discussions by reflecting primarily on issues regarding the analysis and the clarification of the exemplary teaching material (arrow 2 shown in Fig. 4). Concurrently, they address their educational ideas regarding the module's design to the plenary of the CoL considering students' perspectives (arrow 8 shown in Fig. 4).

In *Phase B* (Design), teachers enact the acquired knowledge and their informed pedagogical approaches in their teaching practice (arrow 4 shown in Fig. 4), as they structure in detail their teaching module. Their interactions mainly with peer teachers in the CoL supply them with valuable feedback regarding their educational approaches and supply them with the opportunity to experience the practical alternatives of their colleagues. The abovementioned interactions trigger multiple reflection processes that challenge their personal intentions and impact their initial perspectives (arrow 5 and arrow 2, respectively, shown in Fig. 4), as regards the process of developing a teaching module that effectively supports their students' understanding in NST topics (arrow 8 shown in Fig. 4).

In *Phase C* (Implement & Reflect), teachers enact their refined ideas and personal perspectives during the process of properly adjusting the shared structure of the module, in order to implement it in school (arrow 4 shown in Fig. 4). The implementation process supplied them with valuable feedback on students' perspectives as regards the prevailing features of the module which effectively engaged them in the implementation process and facilitated their understanding (arrow 6 shown in Fig. 4). Interacting with peer teachers on the related experiences regarding the module's implementation process, trigger multiple reflection processes which stimulate them in validating their personal perspectives (arrow 2 shown in Fig. 4) regarding the accomplished task and end up in the process of finalizing the module.

#### Conclusions

This study unearths teachers' interactions with their colleagues in the context of a CoL as they design and develop a teaching module in NST topics. The findings indicate that as they confront to the challenges of a task that constitutes an educational innovation for them, they progressively shift their interest for interaction among the qualified members of the CoL, as they anticipate feedback on their personal interests and major concerns in each phase of the module's development. During these interactions teachers are engaged in activities and processes that support their professional learning.

More specifically, in the context of the CoL they are engaged in reflection processes considering the teaching experiences and the practical alternatives of the peer teachers. Concurrently, they have the opportunity to clarify issues that are innovative to them, i.e., contemporary scientific topics and research-based approaches for its educational reconstruction, with researchers in NST and in science education. These interactions upscaled their skills in order to introduce contemporary scientific topics in class, given that the shared structure of the module documents a balanced integration of the different aspects, e.g., formal inquiry-based activities and experiments with out-of-school settings features. Given these insights, the findings in this study suggest that such interactions are promising in order to reform experienced teachers' practical knowledge with regard to implement an educational innovation in their classrooms, confirming the findings of Van Driel et al. (2001). Furthermore the findings in this study highlight teachers' collegial interactions on issues regarding the teaching material used for NST instruction. Indicatively, teachers reflect on their personal orientations in utilizing the available resources and share the rationale on its educational integration in the module, i.e., by providing collegial feedback (in *Phase B*) and its evaluation considering students' reactions after implementation (in *Phase C*). These interactions triggered stimulating dialogues that inspired them to synthesize new educational ideas regarding the interpretation and the transformation of cutting-edge science topics in a way meaningful to their students. The abovementioned interactions offered opportunities that cultivate aspects of their curriculum design expertise (Richey et al. 2001), confirming recent findings in contemporary research literature (Huizinga et al. 2015; Voogt et al. 2016).

A key contribution of this study is that it unearths the mediating processes, as they are induced by teachers' interactions in the CoL, which develop the sequences of their professional change, in terms of the IMPG, in the context of a curriculum design team. It is noteworthy that *reflection* is indicated as the mediating process that raises major impact on teachers' personal perspectives regarding the development of innovative teaching material (Personal Domain of the IMPG). *Enactment* is primarily a process that supports them in reforming their teaching practice, in terms of the design task, by integrating the acquired knowledge and research-based pedagogical approaches in the teaching module. In this respect, this study identifies the mechanisms that contribute to teachers' professional learning as they design and develop innovative curriculum material in the context of the CoL.

Given these insights, this study contributes in the existed knowledge regarding teachers' professional learning in cutting-edge science topics, in conjunction with the literature regarding the development of their expertise in collaborative curriculum material design. It contributes in empirical research literature regarding teachers' professional development to implement educational innovations in school.

#### References

- Anderson, R. D., & Helms, J. V. (2001). The ideal of standards and the reality of schools: Needed research. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 38(1), 3–16. https://doi. org/10.1002/1098-2736(200101)38:1<3::AID-TEA2>3.0.CO;2-V.
- Becuwe, H., Tondeur, J., Pareja Roblin, N., Thys, J., & Castelein, E. (2016). Teacher design teams as a strategy for professional development: The role of the facilitator. *Educational Research* and Evaluation, 22(3–4), 141–154. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803611.2016.1247724.
- Bell, L. (2016). Nanoscale Informal Science Education in the U.S.—NISE Net. In K. Winkelmann & B. Bhushan (Eds.), *Global perspectives of nanoscience and engineering education* (pp. 277– 311). Cham: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-31833-2.
- Blonder, R., Parchmann, I., Akaygün, S., & Albe, V. (2014). Nanoeducation: Zooming into teacher professional development programmes in nanoscience and technology. In C. Bruguière, A. Tiberghien, & P. Clément (Eds.), *Topics and trends in current science education. 9th ESERA conference selected contributions* (pp. 159–174). New York: Springer. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-94-007-7281-6_10.

- Blonder, R., Zemler, E., & Rosenfeld, S. (2016). The story of lead: A context for learning about Responsible Research and Innovation (RRI) in the chemistry classroom. *Chemistry Education Research and Practice*, 17, 1145–1155. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6RP00177G.
- Bryan, L., Magana, A., & Sederberg, D. (2015). Published research on pre-college students' and teachers' nanoscale science, engineering, and technology learning. *Nanotechnology Reviews*, 4(1), 7–32.
- Bybee, R. W., Taylor, J. A., Gardner, A., Vanscotter, P., Powell, J. C., Westbrook, A., & Landes, N. (2006). *The BSCS 5E instructional model: Origins, effectiveness and applications*. Colorado Springs: BSCS.
- Clarke, D. J., & Hollingsworth, H. (1994). Reconceptualising teacher change. In G. Bell, B. Wright, N. Leeson, & J. Geake (Eds.), *Challenges in mathematics education: Constraints on construction*, Vol. 1: Proceedings of the 17th annual conference of the Mathematics Education Research Group of Australasia (pp. 153–164). Lismore: Southern Cross University.
- Clarke, D., & Hollingsworth, H. (2002). Elaborating a model of teacher professional growth. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 18(8), 947–967. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0742-051X(02)00053-7.
- Coenders, F., Terlouw, C., Dijkstra, S., & Pieters, J. (2010). The effects of the design and development of a chemistry curriculum reform on teachers' professional growth: A case study. *Journal* of Science Teacher Education, 21(5), 535–557.
- D'Acquisto, L., & Scatena, M. (2006). K-12 Curators: What kids learn by designing exhibitions. Exhibitionist, 25(2), 38–45.
- De Vocht, M., Laherto, A., & Parchmann, I. (2017). Exploring teachers' concerns about bringing responsible research and innovation to European science classrooms. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 28(4), 326–346.
- DeBoer, G. E. (2000). Scientific literacy: Another look at its historical and contemporary meanings and its relationship to science education reform. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 37(6), 582–601. https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-2736(200008)37:6<582::AID-TEA5>3.0.CO;2-L.
- Desimone, L. M. (2009). Improving impact studies of teachers' professional development: Toward better conceptualizations and measures. *Educational Researcher*, 38(3), 181–199.
- Duit, R., Gropengießer, H., Kattmann, U., Komorek, M., & Parchmann, I. (2012). The model of educational reconstruction–A framework for improving teaching and learning science. In D. Jorde & J. Dillon (Eds.), *Science education research and practice in Europe* (pp. 13–37). Rotterdam: Sense Publishers.
- European Commission. (2012). Responsible Research and Innovation. http://ec.europa.eu/ research/science-society/document_library/pdf_06/responsible-research-and-innovation-leaflet_en.pdf. Accessed 24-01-2015.
- Guskey, T. R. (2002). Professional development and teacher change. *Teachers and Teaching*, 8(3), 381–391. https://doi.org/10.1080/135406002100000512.
- Hamza, K., Piqueras, J., Wickman, P. O., & Angelin, M. (2018). Who owns the content and who runs the risk? Dynamics of teacher change in teacher–researcher collaboration. *Research in Science Education*, 48(5), 963–987.
- Hingant, B., & Albe, V. (2010). Nanosciences and nanotechnologies learning and teaching in secondary education: A review of literature. *Studies in Science Education*, 46(2), 121–152. https:// doi.org/10.1080/03057267.2010.504543.
- Horn, I. S., & Little, J. W. (2010). Attending to problems of practice: Routines and resources for professional learning in teachers' workplace interactions. *American Educational Research Journal*, 47(1), 181–217. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831209345158.
- Huizinga, T., Handelzalts, A., Nieveen, N., & Voogt, J. (2015). Fostering teachers' design expertise in teacher design teams: Conducive design and support activities. *Curriculum Journal*, 26(1), 137–163. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585176.2014.990395.
- Jones, M., Tretter, T., Taylor, A., & Oppewal, T. (2008). Experienced and novice teachers' concepts of spatial scale. *International Journal of Science Education*, 30(3), 409–429.

- Jones, M. G., Gardner, G. E., Robertson, L., & Robert, S. (2013a). Science Professional Learning Communities: Beyond a singular view of teacher professional development. *International Journal of Science Education*, 35(10), 1756–1774. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2013.7 91957.
- Jones, M., Blonder, R., Gardner, G., Albe, V., Falvo, M., & Chevrier, J. (2013b). Nanotechnology and Nanoscale Science: Educational challenges. *International Journal of Science Education*, 35, 1490–1512. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2013.771828.
- Levinson, R. (2006). Towards a theoretical framework for teaching controversial socio-scientific issues. *International Journal of Science Education*, 28(10), 1201–1224.
- Loucks-Horsley, S., Stiles, K. E., Mundry, S., Love, N., & Hewson, P. W. (2009). Designing professional development for teachers of science and mathematics. Thousand Oaks: Corwin Press.
- Magnusson, S., Krajcik, J., & Borko, H. (1999). Nature, sources, and development of pedagogical content knowledge for science teaching. In J. Gess-Newsome & N. G. Lederman (Eds.), *Examining pedagogical content knowledge* (pp. 95–132). Dordrecht: Springer. https://doi. org/10.1007/0-306-47217-1_4.
- Owen, R., Macnaghten, P., & Stilgoe, J. (2012). Responsible research and innovation: From science in society to science for society, with society. *Science and Public Policy*, 39(6), 751–760. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scs093.
- Pedretti, E. (2002). T. Kuhn meets T. Rex: Critical conversations and new directions in science centres and science museums. *Studies in Science Education*, 37(1), 1–42.
- Pintó, R., Ametller, J., Couso, D., Sassi, E., Monroy, G., Testa, I., & Lombardi, S. (2003). Some problems encountered in the introduction of innovations in secondary school science education and suggestions for overcoming them. *Mediterranean Journal of Educational Studies*, 8(1), 113–134.
- Richey, R. C., Fields, D. C., & Foxon, M. (2001). Instructional design competencies: The standards. New York: ERIC Clearinghouse on Information and Technology.
- Roco, M. C. (1999). Nanoparticles and nanotechnology research. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research*, 1(1), 1–6.
- Sadler, T. D. (2004). Informal reasoning regarding socioscientific issues: A critical review of research. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 41(5), 513–536. https://doi.org/10.1002/ tea.20009.
- Shulman, L. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. *Harvard Educational Review*, *57*(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.57.1.j463w79r56455411.
- Stavrou, D., Michailidi, E., & Sgouros, G. (2018). Development and dissemination of a teaching learning sequence on nanoscience and nanotechnology in a context of communities of learners. *Chemistry Education Research and Practice*, 19(4), 1065–1080. https://doi.org/10.1039/ c8rp00088c.
- Stevens, S. Y., Delgado, C., & Krajcik, J. S. (2010). Developing a hypothetical multi-dimensional learning progression for the nature of matter. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 47(6), 687–715.
- Van Dijk, E. M., & Kattmann, U. (2007). A research model for the study of science teachers' PCK and improving teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23(6), 885–897.
- Van Driel, J. H., & Berry, A. (2012). Teacher professional development focusing on pedagogical content knowledge. *Educational Researcher*, 41(1), 26–28. https://doi.org/10.3102/00131 89X11431010.
- Van Driel, J. H., Beijaard, D., & Verloop, N. (2001). Professional development and reform in science teaching: The role of teachers' practical knowledge. *Journal of Research on Science Teaching*, 38(2), 137–155.
- Vangrieken, K., Meredith, C., Packer, T., & Kyndt, E. (2017). Teacher communities as a context for professional development: A systematic review. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 61, 47–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.10.001.

- Vescio, V., Ross, D., & Adams, A. (2008). A review of research on the impact of professional learning communities on teaching practice and student learning. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24(1), 80–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2007.01.004.
- Voogt, J., Westbroek, H., Handelzalts, A., Walraven, A., McKenney, S., Pieters, J., & De Vries, B. (2011). Teacher learning in collaborative curriculum design. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27(8), 1235–1244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2011.07.003.
- Voogt, J. M., Pieters, J. M., & Handelzalts, A. (2016). Teacher collaboration in curriculum design teams: Effects, mechanisms, and conditions. *Educational Research and Evaluation*, 22(3-4), 121–140. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803611.2016.1247725.
- Wischow, E. D., Bryan, L. A., & Bodner, G. M. (2013). Secondary science teachers' development of pedagogical content knowledge as a result of integrating nanoscience content in their classroom. *Cosmos*, 8, 187–209.
- Wongsopawiro, D. S., Zwart, R. C., & van Driel, J. H. (2017). Identifying pathways of teachers' PCK development. *Teachers and Teaching*, 23(2), 191–210.

## Developing Pre-service Teachers' Competencies of the Management of Students' Allergies in the School Environment



Iztok Devetak 🕞, Sonja Posega Devetak 🕞, and Tina Vesel Tajnšek 🕞

## Introduction

Allergies are increasingly recognised as a serious, global public health concern. They are one of the most common chronic paediatric diseases, placing a significant burden on the health system and contributing substantially to the impaired quality of life and to school absences. The most severe systemic allergic reaction that requires immediate management is anaphylaxis. The most common causes of anaphylaxis in children are food and insect stings (bees, wasps). Recent developments in the general public's understanding of health issues have increased the need for developing teachers' adequate medical competencies. Evidence suggests that the majority of anaphylaxis occurs outside health institutions and, consequently, parents, pre-school and school employees (especially teachers), and children must be well educated about what anaphylaxis is and how it should be treated before medical personnel arrive at the scene. However, far too little attention has been given to adequately inform these stakeholders about how to manage children's severe allergic reactions in the school environment. Another significant point in understanding the teachers' role in managing medical issues in pre-schools and schools is the fact that legislation is lacking in this field.

The major objective of this chapter was to present Slovene pre-service teachers' competencies about managing allergic reactions. The important aim is also to show

S. P. Devetak

Department of Paediatrics, General and Teaching Hospital Izola, Izola, Slovenia

T. Vesel Tajnšek

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

I. Devetak (🖂)

Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia e-mail: iztok.devetak@pef.uni-lj.si

Department of Allergology, Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, University Children's Hospital, University Medical Centre, Ljubljana, Slovenia

E. McLoughlin et al. (eds.), *Bridging Research and Practice in Science Education*, Contributions from Science Education Research 6, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17219-0_22

the effects of a short educational programme in allergy management that can be implemented to develop these competencies before pre-service teachers enter their profession. However, this chapter does not present the development of teachers' competencies to teach science in schools, but it illustrates the importance of teachers' specific medical knowledge to function as competent caregivers to allergic children in school environment. This context can be framed as a science education for pre-service teachers at university level.

## **Teachers' Competencies**

Eurydice¹ attempted to establish some parameters in distinguishing between knowledge and competencies that individuals should develop during their education (Key Competencies 2002).

Lundvall and Johnson (1994) determined four types of knowledge important to the knowledge-based economy: 'know-what' (factual, codifiable knowledge that can be transferable), 'know-why' (scientific understanding and the impact of science on humanity), 'know-how' (the capability of performing certain tasks), and 'knowwho' (knowing which people possess the necessary know-what, know-why, and know-how).

Due to the decreasing need to remember facts (declarative knowledge) and the simultaneously constantly increasing amount of this information, the growing need for mastering instruments/tools/procedures through which we can select the correct process and use information is a reality. The concept of competence is being applied to this kind of knowledge, combining the above-presented types of knowledge. In education, *key competencies* are essential, and Eurydice (Key Competencies 2002) reports that 'the majority of experts seem to agree that for a competence to deserve attributes such as "key", "core", "essential", or "basic", it must be necessary and beneficial to any individual and to society as a whole'. The report also stresses the importance of someone to be able to:

Successfully integrate into a number of social networks while remaining independent and personally effective in familiar as well as new and unpredictable settings. Finally, since all settings are subject to change, a key competencies must enable people to constantly update their knowledge and skills in order to keep abreast of fresh developments. (Key Competencies 2002).

Following these assumptions, the importance of competencies to the teacher is even greater, because teachers can influence students' well-being and development (conative and cognitive) in the school environment. However, teachers' competencies can be defined as general (those that are obtained by general pre-service teacher education, these competencies are transferable to different fields of teachers' actions

¹Eurydice is a network that supports and facilitates European cooperation in the field of lifelong learning by providing information on education systems and policies in 38 countries and by producing studies on issues common to European education systems.

sonal knowledge, and lifelong learning, comprising personal and interpersonal aspects) and specific (those that are developed by specific courses in pre-service teacher education; teachers can use them to teach specific subjects). Razdevšek Pučko (2005) summarised a Eurydice study, identifying 'new teachers' competencies, which are (1) teaching by using up-to-date information-communication technology, (2) special needs students' integration, (3) teaching in multicultural environments, (4) school management and administrative work, and (5) conflict management. It can be concluded that competence includes the knowledge, skills, and attitudes required for performing tasks in a particular profession, and the person has acquired them with formal and continuous professional education, at work or elsewhere (Može 2005). It is also important to emphasise that, since competencies are observable, they can also be measured. It is possible to assess teacher's competency for working in the teaching profession by observing his/her work and by his/ her performance or by teachers' self-reporting their views on the competencies needed for successful teaching.

## **Teachers' Medical Competencies and Students' Allergies**

Following the general teachers' competencies addressed above, a broader view of teaching profession can be identified. Taking into account integrating different special needs students into the school environment, the need for teachers' additional competencies emerges. The competencies discussed in this chapter refer to teachers' different medical knowledge and skills as well as attitudes towards these topics. Allergic reactions in children are a serious health issue in kindergarten and school settings (Muraro et al. 2010; Muraro et al. 2014a, b, c). They can manifest in multiple ways, including life-threatening anaphylaxis (Grabenhenrich et al. 2016). Anaphylaxis can be described as a rapidly developing severe, life-threatening systemic allergic reaction, in which the immune system responds to otherwise harmless substances and can result in death. The most common causes of anaphylaxis in children include food, insect stings (bees, wasps), and medicines. The reaction may begin within minutes of exposure and can rapidly progress to cause airway constriction, skin and intestinal symptoms, and altered heart rhythms. The skin is involved in 80% of anaphylactic incidents in the form of itching, skin rash, and generalised redness or swelling under the skin's surface (angioedema). In other cases, the respiratory system may be involved, in the form of irritation and inflammation inside the nose (acute rhinitis) or asthma; the digestive tract (nausea, vomiting, stomach cramps, or diarrhoea) or the cardiovascular system (palpitations, increased heart rate, or low blood pressure) may be involved. These may lead to dizziness, loss of consciousness, and in the worst scenario, to respiratory or cardiac arrest. The only way to avoid an allergic reaction due to food is to avoid the foods that cause the reaction. For anaphylaxis, the administration of intramuscular adrenaline is the first-line treatment (Muraro et al. 2014a, b, c).

Food allergies are common among school children, with an estimated overall prevalence of 4–7% (Muraro et al. 2010). Up to 18% of children with food allergies experience various allergic reactions to food, including anaphylaxis, in the school environment (Eigenmann and Zamora 2002; Mehl et al. 2005; Grabenhenrich et al. 2016). Medical records show that 61% of English schools have at least one child at risk of anaphylaxis (Bohlke et al. 2004). At the same time, several studies (Bansal et al. 2005; Ercan et al. 2012; Polloni et al. 2013; Kilger et al. 2015; Hogue et al. 2016; Polloni et al. 2016), including the EUROPREVALL study (Le et al. 2014), have identified a low level of teachers' knowledge and skills for managing children at risk of anaphylaxis in schools. More specifically, in the EUROPREVALL project, which included 190 schools in 8 countries, students' food allergies were recognised in 23% of schools, food labels were read in 17% of schools, and 26% of schools had adrenaline auto-injectors, but only 53% of school employees knew how to administer them, and only 11% of them used them when indicated (Le et al. 2014). Mahl et al. (2005) concluded that only 12% of teachers can correctly apply epinephrine auto-injector and that 75% of children with anaphylaxis do not receive adequate first aid.

The importance of the knowledge of school personnel in preventing and recognising children's allergic reactions and providing first aid is pointed out in recommendations of the European Academy of Allergology and Clinical Immunology (EAACI) (Muraro et al. 2014a, b, c) and others, such as guidelines recommended by the Australasian Society of Clinical Immunology and Allergy (ASCIA) (Vale et al. 2015) and guidelines for the USA (Sheetz et al. 2004). Similar guidelines were also presented by Polloni et al. (2013). Guidelines also emphasise the importance of the continuous education of in-service teachers' and other school personnel (principals, administrative support personnel, cooks, etc.) in managing students' potential severe allergic reactions in the school environment. However, attempts to implement effective educational models to improve teachers' medical competencies regarding providing first aid to students with severe allergic reactions are rare (Muraro et al. 2010; Muraro et al. 2014a, b, c). It can be summarised (Litarowsky et al. 2004; Patel et al. 2006; Luu et al. 2012; Wahl et al. 2015; Lanser et al. 2016) that educational programmes in managing children's allergic reactions improve parents' and kindergarten or school employees' knowledge and skills about allergy and adrenaline auto-injector application, but there is a lack of reports on the long-term effects of education (Muraro et al. 2014a, b, c) and scarce data on how often these educational programmes must be repeated to secure adequate teachers' medical competencies. It is important to emphasise that even short training courses in allergy and anaphylaxis management for school personnel significantly improve participants' knowledge about this topic (Polloni et al. 2013), but there are insufficient data about the persistence of this knowledge after a longer time.

Another issue, but one that has received very little attention, when providing care for a child with an allergy might be that they are dealing with bullying (Lieberman et al. 2010; Shemesh et al. 2013; Muraro et al. 2014a, b, c), reduced quality of life (Avery et al. 2003), and impaired school performance (Muraro et al. 2010).

Lieberman et al. (2010) were the first to explore bullying among food-allergic paediatric patients, finding that 86% reported bullying. Further studies (Shemesh et al. 2013) showed that 45.4% of children and 36.3% of parents reported bullying and that food-allergic students have approximately two times higher probability of being bullied in verbal, relational, social, or physical ways than their nonallergic peers (Muraro et al. 2014a, b, c). Bullying has significant negative consequences on victims, including psychosomatic complaints and academic, emotional, and behavioural problems (Reijntjes et al. 2010; Ttofi et al. 2011; Gini and Pozzoli 2013). However, educational programmes, to develop teachers' competencies to observe, cope, and prevent bullying a child with an allergy by their peers, are still lacking.

## Allergic Student in Kindergarten and in School: Slovenian Context

In Slovenia, courses in allergy management are provided for parents and kindergarten/school personnel (Šoster Križnik et al. 2015) and also for pre-service teachers (Posega Devetak et al. 2016a, b). The preliminary results are promising, with participants reporting enhanced theoretical ability, a willingness to undertake the appropriate first-line management of anaphylaxis in children, and a sense of being able to do so. To put the need for implementing adequate educational models for teachers and pre-service teachers (while they are educated at university to become teachers) into perspective, it should be pointed out that in Slovenia in recent years, adrenaline auto-injectors (AAI) have been prescribed for 260-350 children per year, with 120-150 being prescribed for the first time (Vesel et al. 2015). There are currently no nurses employed in kindergartens or schools in Slovenia. There are 850 kindergartens, 450 primary, and 180 secondary schools in Slovenia. However, according to a comprehensive school health education programme, Preventive Health Programmes for Children and Adolescents, developed by The National Institute of Public Health (NIJZ), registered nurses employed by local health institutions can be important stakeholders and providers of various health educational programmes when they are invited to the school (Pucelj et al. 2016). Legislation on the issue of food allergies and anaphylaxis is rarely present in different countries with the exception being some countries with fatalities due to anaphylaxis, e.g. in Canada defined in Sabrina's Law from 2005 or in England's guidance on the use of adrenaline auto-injectors in schools from 2017 available at https://www.gov.uk/ government/publications/using-emergency-adrenaline-auto-injectors-in-schools.

Currently, as in the majority of countries, there is no law that regulates what is expected from the teachers in Slovenia regarding this issue, although (1) parents and public and medical personnel expect teachers to be able to prevent and manage student's allergic reactions, and (2) studies suggest that school boards in legislated environments can make greater efforts to support students at risk for anaphylaxis in comparison to non-legislated environments (Cicutto et al. 2012).

## Pre-service Teachers Understanding of Allergic Child Management in Schools

Pre-service teachers are essential stakeholders for successful education outcomes regarding developing competencies for managing allergic children before they become in-service teachers. According to the available literature, one major study has been done on the knowledge and attitudes of pre-service teachers regarding managing allergic children in the school environment (Devetak et al. 2018). Results indicated problems that pre-service teachers in Slovenia have about managing students' allergic reactions in school. Following the conclusion of this study, the educational programme on allergic reactions was developed for all pre-service teachers engaged into the master programme at the University of Ljubljana, Faculty of Education, Slovenia. It is important to emphasise that the education on allergic reactions is currently routinely available only to pre-service home economics teachers, who will also be responsible for planning and providing food for children in schools (Posega Devetak et al. 2016a, b).

The purpose of the cross-sectional, descriptive study (Devetak et al. 2018) was to explore the current understanding of allergic child management among pre-service teachers in Slovenia. The aim was also to understand the impact of different factors (i.e. gender, study programme, participation in an allergy education programme, and attitude towards child health topics) on pre-service teachers' knowledge and allergy management competencies. However, some specific conclusions are summarised here, and, to aid in understanding the results, some research framework considering the participants, instrument, and research design is presented below.

In the context of this study, 572 pre-service teachers participated; 319 (56%) of the participants were enrolled in the first year and 253 (44%) in the fourth year. Seven per cent of participants are male and 93% female. They were on average 21.5 years old (SD = 2.7 years). All participants were undergraduate pre-service teachers enrolled in the study programmes in the 2014/2015 academic year at the Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana; 41.8% of the participants were enrolled in undergraduate programmes with some science background (i.e. two-subject pre-service teachers of biology, chemistry, physics, and home economics, as well as pre-service primary school teachers whose programme includes some basic biology, chemistry, and physics). The others (58.2%) had no science courses. A total of 15.6% of the participants were studying to become pre-school teachers (group 1); 21.9% to become subject teachers (group 2); 33% to become social pedagogy, special education, or art teachers (group 3); and 29.5% to become primary school teachers (group 4). According to their reports, 27.8% of the participants had allergies.

The Teachers' Health Competencies Development-Allergy Questionnaire (THCDAQ) was applied in the sample; it was developed specifically for this study. Some items were based on a questionnaire used by Polloni et al. (2013) and adapted to the Slovenian context. The questionnaire was developed by a multidisciplinary team of experts from the field of paediatric allergology and science education. The final version comprised a total of 34 multiple-choice and open-ended items, divided

into 4 groups: (1) 6 items about participants' general information; (2) 11 Attitude items on Child Health issues (AMCH); (3) 10 knowledge items on Managing Children's Allergic Disease (MCAD), including the prevention, recognition, and management of anaphylaxis, asthma, and food allergies (participants could achieve from one to ten points by solving items in the MCAD part of the instrument); and (4) 7 items that measure pre-service teachers' Self-Perceived Allergy Management Competencies (SPAMC).

The results show that pre-service students' understanding of managing child's allergic diseases was average (M = 59.4%; SD = 16.1% success). The highest achievement scores were on prevention of food allergies and asthma management (80%) and the lower on anaphylaxis identification (48.3%) and management of anaphylaxis. Sixty-three per cent of pre-service teachers would choose correct position, less than a half (41.3%) correct order of actions during anaphylaxis, less than one quarter (23.8%) knew adrenaline was the most important drug for anaphylaxis, and only 4.9% would know how to use an auto-injector. The highest average knowledge on the management of child's allergy and anaphylaxis was identified in the subject teacher's group (M = 63.3%, SD = 15.5%) and the lowest average knowledge level in the group of social pedagogy, special education, or art teachers (M = 55.6%, SD = 16.4%). The differences were significant: F(3,568) = 6.4,  $p = \le 0.0001$ . There was no significant difference regarding the duration of education, science background, or self-allergy reports in pre-service teachers' knowledge about managing students' allergic reactions. 98.9% of pre-service teachers were aware that understanding allergy concepts was important. Eighty-five per cent of them showed positive attitudes towards learning more about different children's health issues, and only 17.1% of pre-service teachers think that they are not responsible for students' health in the classroom. 34.3% of the pre-service teachers expressed that they have not received any information, and only 5.4% of the preservice teachers do not see the importance of additional education. The differences in MCAD score between pre-service teacher groups presented above (aware/not aware of importance of medical competencies, positive attitude/not positive attitude for medical education, responsible/not responsible for students' well-being, received/not received information on health issues, important/not important medical education) were not significant, except the statistically significant score on MCAD between students who expressed high or low interest for developing adequate medical competencies (t = -3.15 (df = 570); p = 0.002).

The conclusions of this study indicate that the duration of education, science background, or having an allergy had no impact on the knowledge of how to manage children with allergies among pre-service teachers. As expected, pre-service teachers' understanding of managing children's allergic reactions was average, as education on allergic reactions is currently only routinely available to a small group of pre-service home economics teachers at the Faculty of Education in Ljubljana. The low level of pre-service teachers' knowledge seemed comparable to the results of Lanser et al. (2016), or even lower than, the level determined in certain previous studies involving in-service teachers (Polloni et al. 2013; Polloni et al. 2016). A subgroup of pre-service teachers who received 2 h of basic allergy training

maintained higher knowledge about allergy management, even after 26 months (a longer time than the described interventions in some other published European studies (Patel et al. 2006). Even though pre-service teachers are familiar with adrenalin auto-injectors, they do not feel competent to use them. The results emphasise the need for specific educational interventions and improvements in school health policies to support schools to deal with allergic students, thus ensuring their safety and psychological well-being.

Practical topics such as the side effects of adrenaline and its intramuscular application should, therefore, be specifically addressed, as such issues might represent important obstacles to caregivers for administering adrenaline to a child in need. Furthermore, as already recommended by the EAACI (Muraro et al. 2014a, b, c), a broader coordinated national and EU strategy, including such areas as defining legal aspects (as also pointed out by our participants), should be developed. The introduction of a well-defined law on the management of anaphylaxis is an important and necessary step, as demonstrated elsewhere (Cicutto et al. 2006).

It is essential to emphasise that developing an efficient, effective educational programme for teachers regarding anaphylaxis, which could also be repeated by other tutors and therefore broadly disseminated across Slovenia, should also be important from the point of view of public health. This is especially necessary because the wider availability of adrenaline auto-injectors in primary schools has been recently authorised by paediatricians and the National Institute of Public Health in Slovenia (Veninšek Perpar et al. 2018). Therefore, the adequate development of pre-service teachers' and teachers' competencies for managing children's severe allergic reactions is needed.

# **Pre-service Teachers' Competencies Developed by the Implementation of the Educational Programme: The Evaluation Study**

The conclusions presented by Devetak et al. (2018) were the basis for developing the educational programme for pre-service teachers to stimulate the development of medical competencies of pre-service teachers at the beginning of their 1-year master programme at the Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana.

The main purpose of this evaluation pre-post design study was to analyse how a short theoretical and practical intervention programme could influence the preservice teachers' knowledge about allergies with an emphasis on the importance of anaphylaxis. It is important to understand teachers' abilities to help students in a potentially life-threatening situation caused by severe allergic reactions that can happen in the school environment.

The research question that was addressed in this study was: *Does a short theoretical and practical intervention programme significantly influence pre-service teachers' knowledge about allergic diseases with an emphasis on anaphylaxis?*  The sample consisted of 62 post-graduate pre-service primary and lower secondary school teachers (all female; average age 24.8; SD = 1.1). Similar to the first study, in the second one, 27.4% of pre-service teachers reported that they have allergies.

The instrument used in the second study was Teachers' Health Competencies Development-Anaphylaxis Management Questionnaire (THCDAMQ). It comprises eight attitude items on managing children's anaphylaxis and seven knowledge items about anaphylaxis. The instrument was developed for this research. The content validity of the THCDAMQ was confirmed by three independent experts in paediatric allergology and science education. Specific parts of the THCDAMQ showed satisfactory reliability (Cronbach  $\alpha$  was 0.44 for pretest, 0.51 for post-test, and 0.49 for delayed test).

The research design of this study was a typical pre-post design (Fig. 1), applied in October 2016. THCDAMQ was applied in groups three times, before the intervention, immediately after, and 14 days after the intervention. Students were questioned anonymously in written form. Statistical analysis using Excel and SPSS (parametric and nonparametric tests to determine the significance of the differences) was conducted.

More detailed description of the educational programme in allergy management (presented in the grey square of the research design in Fig. 1) is provided here. The course had the same structure providing information on causes, pathophysiology, and recognition of anaphylaxis and treating of anaphylaxis with emphasise on intramuscular adrenaline. The course lasted about 90 min. With the support of PowerPoint presentation the ex-cathedra lectures with students' active participations in forms of questions and in pair discussions provided details about the anaphylaxis as a rapidly developing severe, life-threatening systemic allergic reaction, in which the immune system responds to otherwise harmless substances. Students got information about food (cow milk, egg, peanuts, tree nuts, wheat, soy, fish, seafood); insect stings and drugs are most frequent causes of anaphylaxis in children. The reaction may begin within minutes of exposure and can rapidly progress to cause airway constriction, skin and intestinal symptoms, and altered heart rhythms. In severe cases, it can result in complete airway obstruction, shock, and death. Anaphylaxis can affect several body systems simultaneously. The skin is involved



Fig. 1 The research design for the evaluation study

in 80% of anaphylactic incidents in the form of itching, skin rash, and generalised redness or swelling under the skin's surface (angioedema). In other cases the respiratory system may be involved, in the form of irritation and inflammation inside the nose (acute rhinitis) or asthma; the digestive tract (nausea, vomiting, stomach cramps, or diarrhoea) or the cardiovascular system (with palpitations, increased heart rate or low blood pressure) may be involved. These may lead to dizziness, loss of consciousness, and in the worst scenario, to respiratory or cardiac arrest. Clinical criteria for diagnosis of anaphylaxis were also included in teaching (Table 1).

Students were also informed about the proper managing of child with anaphylaxis. This consists of (1) emergency call on 112; (2) proper positioning of child, in most cases, especially when hypotensive, lying down with elevated legs, when vomiting lying on the side, and in case of breathing difficulties, sitting position; (3) applying adrenaline auto-injector; and (4) call to parents. Individual emergency plans and legal aspects of management of allergic child in school environment were also explained.

After the presentation of allergic reactions' theoretical background, students were exposed to the discussion and solving specific cases and answering questions about the topic. These questions were similar to those used in pre- and post-tests, and they were used to repeat the most important aspects of managing child's allergic reactions.

After the lecture students were separated into working groups of eight. Each group has a teaching assistant, and each student practically tries to apply tester of adrenaline auto-injector person to person according to the instructions. If a student was not successful in applying the auto-injector, the teaching assistant tells him to repeat the application.

After the education programme in allergy management, THCDAMQ was applied. Some of the items in the THCDAMQ were similar to those in the study presented by Devetak et al. 2018. The results show that, also in this educational

Table 1 Clinical	criteria for	diagnosis	of anaph	ylaxis (San	pson et al.	2006)
------------------	--------------	-----------	----------	-------------	-------------	-------

			-		 					 			-		-		
 		0.000.00	AL 100	1 a	1 × × + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	<b>1</b>		- 44	 X	 	 CONTRACTOR OF A	0.000	100.000	A	A 100		
	<b>F 1 N</b> /				 IV/ IV/ VU'U'I	•••	-		 	 	 / \\\/ 1 F1/F	111-00	/ • F •	101111		1110	
	/				 				 	 	 						
<b>VIICIU</b>		111/31/3		1112	 				 * * * * *	 	 V/ VV 1112			1.5.1.1.1.1		1110	/1
					- / p												
	~				~ .												

1. Sudden onset of the disease (in minutes or hours) involving the skin, mucous membranes, or both (e.g. generalised urticaria, pruritis, flushing, swollen lips, tongue, or uvula) and at least one of the following:

a. Impairment of the skin or mucous membranes (e.g. generalised urticaria, itching, redness, swelling)

b. Impairment of the respiratory system (e.g. difficulties in breathing, cough, hoarsens, cyanosis)

c. Impairment of the cardiovascular system (e.g. hypotension, collapse)

d. Persistent gastrointestinal symptoms (colic abdominal pain, vomiting)

3. Hypotension after exposing the patient to a known allergen (in minutes to hours)

a. Impairment of respiratory system (e.g. difficulties in breathing, cough, hoarsens, cyanosis)

b. Impairment of the cardiovascular system (e.g. hypotension, collapse)

^{2.} Two or more of the following, which occur rapidly after exposing the patient to likely allergen (in minutes to hours):

programme on allergic reactions evaluation study, pre-service teachers showed positive attitudes towards learning more about different children's health issues (91.9%). All of them expressed the opinion that child health topics should be very important for each teacher and they all wanted to increase their health competencies. 90.3% thought that the teacher should be responsible for pupils' health issues during school time. Seventy-one per cent reported that they had not been exposed to any activities that would promote their health competencies' development. Similar results were also obtained in the study by Devetal et al. (2018). The results of the Friedman test indicated that there was a statistically significant difference in THCDAMQ scores ( $\chi^2$  (2, N = 37) = 48.127,  $p \le 0.000$ ) between pre-intervention (Md = 3; IQR 2-4.5), post-intervention (Md = 6; IQR 6-6), and 14-day follow-up (Md = 6; IQR 6-6). Key findings suggest that the anaphylaxis educational programme had a positive effect on students' knowledge and attitudes towards children with allergic reactions in school. It is also important to emphasise that pre-service teachers retained stable basic knowledge about anaphylaxis 14 days after the intervention, so it is possible to assume that the intervention is successful with regard to knowledge retention. Similar results were also obtained by (Patel et al. 2006; Lanser et al. 2016; Wahl et al. 2015), but the participants of the educational programme were in-service teachers, and their knowledge retention was not as stable as in our study. The intervention course also had a positive effect on preservice teachers' attitudes towards schoolchildren's allergy.

#### Conclusion

The purpose of this chapter was to introduce two studies of pre-service knowledge and attitudes towards managing children's potentially life-threatening allergic reactions in the school environment. Poorly developed teachers' competencies for managing children's allergies can pose a significant problem to the well-being of children in the pre-school and school environment.

In the first study, pre-service teachers expressed the need for developing medical competencies. The duration of undergraduate education, science background, and having an allergy did not influence the level of knowledge regarding the management of allergic children. Pre-service teachers showed an average level of knowledge and skills about allergic child management (e.g. how to recognise if a child has severe allergic reaction, they do not know how to manage this situation and when and how to apply adrenaline by auto-injector if the child has this medicine prescribed by the paediatric allergist), but they expressed a high level of positive attitude and a need to be educated about these topics.

However, the first study showed a need for effective educational programmes capable of developing adequate health competencies, as kindergarten and school personnel are expected to be able to provide first aid in the kindergarten/school environment. As mentioned above, teachers' health competencies (theoretical knowledge, practical skills, and attitudes) influence their values, behaviours, communication, aims, and practices in schools. Due to these aspects, a model of teachers' key medical competencies (KMC) for students' allergy management was developed and presented on a specific case of managing allergic reactions in the school environment (Fig. 2). This model could be adapted to other medical topics because teachers might be needed as first responders, e.g. in cases of injuries, intoxications, infection, fever, or pain occurring in children or when other chronic diseases or conditions worsen in the classroom demanding immediate response (e.g. in epilepsy, diabetes, asthma, behaviour, emotional disorders, etc.).

Following this model, a second study was developed, and the main findings showed the importance of a short but effective educational programme for preservice master students before entering their profession in schools. It was also determined that students show a significant level of knowledge 14 days after the educational programme intervention. It is evident that basic training on allergy and anaphylaxis supports pre-service teachers in remembering specific facts also after a longer time after the intervention. This could mean that these pre-service teachers will be able to act more efficiently if they encountered an anaphylactic reaction during their teaching at the school.

If we expect teachers to effectively offer their students first aid in different medical situations, we should provide European legislation that school staff would be indemnified against prosecution for the consequences of administering first aid including applying emergency medication. There is currently no European legislation dealing specifically with the allergic child at school. National legislation varies considerably between European countries. A central issue is the conflict that



Fig. 2 Model of teachers' key medical competencies (KMC) - students' allergy management

exists between the teachers' legal responsibilities and liabilities in administering medication at school and the child's need for care and privacy.

Under current regulations, teachers have no specific obligations in terms of child health protection because of their lack of medical training. Teachers, therefore, do not have any particular liability above and beyond that of anyone who happens to be present when a child needs care.

Further research into developing teachers' health competencies (following the model in Fig. 2) in different areas of medicine should be conducted. It is also important to emphasise that further research should provide evidence about preservice teachers' competencies for students' allergy management in the school environment after some months to confirm the persistence of acquired knowledge and to determine the adequate frequency of applications of an educational programme to refresh teachers' medical competencies. There is also a need to develop further and validate a multidisciplinary educational programme. Pre- and in-service teachers' quality of life when they teach an allergic child and how preand in-service teachers perceive allergic students' quality of life that can influence students' school achievements should also be explored. Some preliminary results for Slovenian pre-service teachers' quality of life have already been presented (Posega Devetak et al. 2017). Results show that pre-service teachers recognised reduced health-related quality of life of allergic children and expressed also their lower health-related quality of life when taking care for allergic child. There was also no significant correlation between knowledge and health-related quality of life assessment. Following these results health-related quality of life issues should be included into recommendation for the management of allergic child in school, besides training how to prevent, recognise, and manage allergic reactions. It is also necessary to bear in mind that a university elective course for pre-service teachers for developing basic medical competencies should be developed, implemented, and evaluated in the future, leading pre-service teachers to adequately manage medical issues in school environment.

#### References

- Avery, N. J., King, R. M., Knight, S., & Hourihane, J. O. (2003). Assessment of quality of life in children with peanut allergy. *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology*, 14(5), 378–382.
- Bansal, P. J., Marsh, R., & Patel, B. (2005). Recognition, evaluation, and treatment of anaphylaxis in the child care setting. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology, 94*(1), 55–59. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1081-1206(10)61286-0.
- Bohlke, K., Davis, R. L., DeStefano, F., Marcy, S. M., Braun, M. M., & Thompson, R. S. (2004). Epidemiology of anaphylaxis among children and adolescents enrolled in a health maintenance organization. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 113(3), 536–542. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jaci.2003.11.033.
- Cicutto, L., Julien, B., Li, N. U., Nguyen-Luu, N. U., Butler, J., Clarke, A., et al. (2012). Comparing school environments with and without legislation for the prevention and management of anaphylaxis. *Allergy*, 67(1), 131–137. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1398-9995.2011.02721.x.

- Devetak, I., Posega Devetak, S., & Vesel, T. (2018). Future teachers' attitudes and knowledge regarding the management of the potential pupils' life-threatening allergic reactions in Slovenian schools. *Slovenian Journal of Public Health*, 57(3), 124–132. https://doi. org/10.2478/sjph-2018-0016.
- Eigenmann, P. A., & Zamora, S. A. (2002). An internet based survey on the circumstances of food induced reactions following the diagnosis of IgE-mediated food allergy. *Allergy*, 57(5), 449–453. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1398-9995.2002.13494.x.
- Ercan, H., Ozen, A., Karatepe, H., Berber, M., & Cengizler, R. (2012). Primary school teachers' knowledge about and attitudes toward anaphylaxis. *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology*, 23(5), 428–432. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3038.2012.01307.x.
- Gini, G., & Pozzoli, T. (2013). Bullied children and psychosomatic problems: A meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 132(4), 720–729. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-0614.
- Grabenhenrich, L. B., Dölle, S., Moneret-Vautrin, A., Köhli, A., Lange, L., Spindler, T., et al. (2016). Anaphylaxis in children and adolescents: The European anaphylaxis registry. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 137(4), 1128–1137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaci.2015.11.015.
- Hogue, S. L., Goss, D., Hollis, K., Silvia, S., & White, M. V. (2016). Training and administration of epinephrine auto-injectors for anaphylaxis treatment in US schools: Results from the EpiPen4Schools(®) pilot survey. *Journal of Asthma and Allergy*, 9, 109–115. https://doi. org/10.2147/JAA.S106567.
- Key Competencies (2002). Survey 5. Brussels: Eurydice, European Unit. http://www.edmide.gr/ KEIMENA%20E.U/key%20competences%20Europe.pdf
- Kilger, M., Range, U., & Vogelberg, C. (2015). Acute and preventive management of anaphylaxis in German primary school and kindergarten children. *BMC Pediatrics*, 15, 159. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12887-015-0477-6.
- Lanser, B. J., Covar, R., & Bird, J. A. (2016). Food allergy needs assessment, training curriculum, and knowledge assessment for child care. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology, 116*(6), 533–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anai.2016.03.031.
- Le, T. M., Kummeling, I., Dixon, D., Barreales Tolosa, L., Ballmer-Weber, B., Clausen, M., et al. (2014). Low preparedness for food allergy as perceived by school staff: A EuroPrevall survey across Europe. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice*, 2(4), 480–482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaip.2014.02.019.
- Lieberman, J. A., Weiss, C., Furlong, T. J., Sicherer, M., & Sicherer, S. H. (2010). Bullying among pediatric patients with food allergy. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology, 105*(4), 282– 286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anai.2010.07.011.
- Litarowsky, J. A., Murphy, S. O., & Canham, D. L. (2004). Evaluation of an anaphylaxis training program for unlicensed assistive personnel. *The Journal of School Nursing*, 20(5), 279–284. https://doi.org/10.1177/10598405040200050601.
- Lundvall, B., & Johnson, B. (1994). The learning economy. *Journal of Industry Studies*, 1(2), 23–42. https://doi.org/10.1080/1366271940000002.
- Luu, N. U. N., Cicutto, L., Soller, L., Joseph, L., Waserman, S., St-Pierre, Y., et al. (2012). Management of anaphylaxis in schools: Evaluation of an epinephrine auto-injector (EpiPenW) use by school personnel and comparison of two approaches of soliciting participation. *Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology,* 8, 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/1710-1492-8-4.
- Mehl, A., Wahn, U., & Niggemann, B. (2005). Anaphylactic reactions in children A questionnaire based survey in Germany. *Allergy*, 60(11), 1440–1445. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1398-9995.2005.00909.x.
- Može, M. (2005). National Vocational Qualifications in Nursing Care. Slovenian Nursing Review, 39(1), 39–45.
- Muraro, A., Clark, A., Beyer, K., Borrego, L. M., Borres, M., Lødrup Carlsen, K. C., et al. (2010). The management of the allergic child at school: EAACI/ GA2LEN task force on the allergic child at school. *Allergy*, 65(6), 681–689. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1398-9995.2010.02343.x.

- Muraro, A., Agache, I., Clark, A., Sheikh, A., Roberts, G., Akdis, C. A., et al. (2014a). Managing patients with food allergy in the community. In A. Muraro & G. Roberts (Eds.), *EAACI guidelines, food allergy and anaphylaxis* (pp. 245–249). Zurich: EAACI. https://doi.org/10.1111/ all.12441.
- Muraro, A., Polloni, L., Lazzarotto, F., Toniolo, A., Baldi, I., Bonaguro, R., et al. (2014b). Comparison of bullying of food-allergic versus healthy schoolchildren in Italy. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 134(3), 749–751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2014.05.043.
- Muraro, A., Roberts, G., Worm, M., Bilò, M. B., Brockow, K., Fernández Rivas, M., et al. (2014c). EAACI food allergy and anaphylaxis guidelines group anaphylaxis: Guidelines from the European academy of allergy and clinical immunology. *Allergy*, 69(8), 1026–1045. https://doi. org/10.1111/all.12437.
- Patel, B. M., Bansal, P. J., & Tobin, M. C. (2006). Management of anaphylaxis in child care centers: Evaluation 6 and 12 months after an intervention program. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology*, 97(6), 813–815. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1081-1206(10)60974-X.
- Polloni, L., Lazzarotto, F., Toniolo, A., Ducolin, G., & Muraro, A. (2013). What do school personnel know, think and feel about food allergies? *Clinical and Translational Allergy*, 3, 39. https:// doi.org/10.1186/2045-7022-3-39.
- Polloni, L., Baldi, I., Lazzarotto, F., Bonaguro, R., Toniolo, A., Celegato, N., et al. (2016). School personnel's self-efficacy in managing food allergy and anaphylaxis. *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology*, 27(4), 356–360. https://doi.org/10.1111/pai.12550.
- Posega Devetak, S., Devetak, I., & Vesel, T. (2016a). Pre-service teachers' opinion and knowledge on management of an allergic child. *Allergy*, 71(Suppl S102), 577–578. https://doi. org/10.1111/all.12978.
- Posega Devetak, S., Devetak, I. & Vesel, T. (2016b). Evaluation of the anaphylaxis post-graduate teacher intervention programme. *Food Allergy and Anaphylaxis Meeting: FAAM 2016*, p. 1. http://www.eaaci.org/meetings/FAAM2016-Abstracts/abstracts/FAAM_2016_PP114.pdf. Accessed 8 Apr 2018.
- Posega Devetak, S., Devetak, I. & Vesel, T. (2017). Pre-service teachers' perception of allergic students' quality of life. *EAACI Congress*, p1. http://scientific.eaaci.org/site/ authors/?trackid=0#!. Accessed 5 Apr 2018.
- Pucelj, V., Peternel, L., Drglin, Z., Torkar, T., Hafner, A., Koprivnikar, H., et al. (2016). Skupaj za zdravje – Za boljše zdravje in zmanjševanje neenakosti v zdravju otrok in mladostnikov; Program vzgoje za zdravje za otroke in mladostnike (0 do 19 let). [Together for health – To improve health and reduce inequalities in the health of children and adolescents; Health education program for children and adolescents (0 to 19 years).] http://www.skupajzazdravje.si/ media/program.vzgoje.za.zdravje.za.otroke.in.mladostnike.pdf. Accessed 14 Jan 2018.
- Razdevšek Pučko, C. (2005). Kompetence učiteljev [Teachers' competences], Conference on the renewal of study programs. http://www.pef.uni-lj.si/bologna/dokumenti/. Accessed 18 May 2018.
- Reijntjes, A. H. A., Kamphuis, J. H., Prinzie, P., & Telch, M. J. (2010). Peer victimization and internalizing problems in children: A meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 34(4), 244–252. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-014-9855-z.
- Sampson, H. A., Munoz-Furlong, A., Campbell, R. L., Adkinson, N. F., Bock, S. A., Branum, A., et al. (2006). Second symposium on the definition management of anaphylaxis: Summary report-second National Institute of and Infectious Disease/Food Allergy Anaphylaxis Network symposium. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 117(2), 391–397. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jaci.2005.12.1303.
- Sheetz, A. H., Goldman, P. G., Millett, K., Franks, J. C., McIntyre, C. L., Carroll, C. R., et al. (2004). Guidelines for managing life-threatening food allergies in Massachusetts schools. *Journal of School Health*, 74(5), 155–160. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2004.tb08212.x.
- Shemesh, E., Annunziato, R. A., Ambrose, M. A., Ravid, N. L., Mullarkey, C., Rubes, M., et al. (2013). Child and parental reports of bullying in a consecutive sample of children with food allergy. *Pediatrics*, 131(1), e10–e17. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-1180.

- Šoster Križnik, E., Deisinger, L., Maslar, M., Obermayer, A., & Vesel, T. (2015). Knowledge and mindset on anaphylaxis management in children and teenagers among caregivers in Slovenia. *Clinical and Translational. Allergy*, 5(Suppl 3), O4. https://doi. org/10.1186/2045-7022-5-S3-O4.
- Ttofi, M. M., Farrington, D. P., Losel, F., & Loeber, R. (2011). Do the victims of school bullies tend to become depressed later in life? A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Journal of Aggression, Conflict and Peace Research*, 3(2), 63–73. https://doi. org/10.1108/17596591111132873.
- Vale, S., Smith, J., Said, M., Mullins, R. J., & Loh, R. (2015). ASCIA guidelines for prevention of anaphylaxis in schools, pre-school and childcare: 2015 update. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 51(10), 949–954. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpc.12962.
- Veninšek Perpar, I., Hojs, A., Uršič, S., Pohar, M., Pibernik, T., Ranfl, M., et al. (2018). Priporočila za ukrepanje v osnovnih šolah ob nujnih stanjih in nenadno nastalih bolezenskih znakih [Recommendations for action in primary schools in case of emergency situations and suddenly occurring illnesses]. http://www.nijz.si/sl/publikacije/priporocila-za-ukrepanje-v-osnovnihsolah-ob-nujnih-stanjih-in-nenadno-nastalih. Accessed 14 Feb 2018.
- Vesel, T., Koren Jeverica, A., Accetto, M., Toplak, N., Kuhar, M., & Glavnik, V. (2015). Prescribing adrenaline auto-injectors in Slovenian children. *Clinical and Translational Allergy*, 5(Suppl 3), P109. https://doi.org/10.1186/2045-7022-5-S3-P109.
- Wahl, A., Stephens, H., Ruffo, M., & Jones, A. L. (2015). The evaluation of a food allergy and epinephrine autoinjector training program for personnel who care for children in schools and community settings. *Journal of School Nursing*, 31(2), 91–98. https://doi. org/10.1177/1059840514526889.